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CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Annual Report on Form 10-K (this "Annual Report") contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities Litigation
Reform Act of 1995. Forward-looking statements are all statements other than those of historical fact. These statements may include, among others,
statements regarding our expectations, plans or intentions, such as those relating to management strategies, future financial performance, and capital
allocation. The words "believe," "expect," "expectation," "anticipate," "may," "could," "should," "intend," "seek," "estimate," "plan," "target," "project,"
"likely," "will," "forecast," "outlook," or other similar words, phrases or expressions, among others, generally identify forward-looking statements, which
speak only as of the date the statements are made. The matters discussed in these forward-looking statements are inherently subject to risks,
uncertainties and other factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from those projected, anticipated or implied in the forward-looking
statements. In particular, information included under "Risk Factors," "Financial Statements and Supplementary Data," and "Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" contain forward-looking statements. Where, in any forward-looking statement, an expectation
or belief as to future results or events is expressed, such expectation or belief is based on the current plans and expectations of our management and is
expressed in good faith and believed to have a reasonable basis, but there can be no assurance that the expectation or belief will result or be achieved
or accomplished. Whether any such forward-looking statements are in fact achieved will depend on future events, many of which are beyond our control.
Comparisons of results for any prior periods are not intended to express any future trends, or indications of future performance, unless expressed as
such, and should only be viewed as historical data.

Factors, risks, trends and uncertainties that could cause actual results or events to differ materially from those anticipated include the matters described
under "Risk Factors" and "Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations," in addition to the following other
factors, risks, trends and uncertainties:

• changes in the enforcement of existing laws and regulations and the adoption of new laws and regulations that may unfavorably impact our
business, and failures to comply with existing or new laws or regulations, including those related to consumer protection, as well as an increased
focus on our industry by federal and state regulatory authorities;

• our ability to execute on our multi-year strategic plan and achieve the benefits and outcomes we expect, including improving our business,
centralizing key processes such as customer lease decisioning and payments, real estate optimization, enhancing our e-commerce platform and
digital acquisition channels, enhancing and growing BrandsMart, and optimizing our cost structure;

• our ability to attract and retain key personnel;

• our ability to manage cybersecurity risks, disruptions or failures in our information technology ("IT") systems and to protect the security of
personal information of our customers and employees;

• weakening general market and economic conditions, especially as they may affect retail sales, increased interest rates, unemployment and
consumer confidence or spending levels;

• the concentration of our stores in certain regions or limited markets;

• the current inflationary environment could result in increased labor, raw materials or logistics costs that we are unable to offset or accelerating
prices that result in lower lease volumes;

• any future potential pandemics, as well as related measures taken by governmental or regulatory authorities to combat the pandemic;

• business disruptions due to political and economic instability resulting from global conflicts such as the Russia-Ukraine conflict and related
economic sanctions and the conflict in Israel, Palestine and surrounding areas, as well as domestic civil unrest;

• challenges faced by our business, including commoditization of consumer electronics, our high fixed-cost operating model and the ongoing labor
shortage;

• increased competition from direct-to-consumer and virtual lease-to-own competitors, as well as from traditional and online retailers and other
competitors;

• increases in lease merchandise write-offs;

• the Company may fail to realize the benefits expected from the acquisition of Interbond Corporation of America, doing business as BrandsMart
U.S.A., including projected synergies;

• the acquisition of BrandsMart U.S.A. may create risks and uncertainties which could materially and adversely affect our business and results of
operations;

• our ability to successfully acquire and integrate businesses and to realize the projected results and expected benefits of
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acquisitions or strategic transactions;

• our ability to maintain or improve market share in the categories in which we operate despite heightened competitive pressure;

• our ability to improve operations and realize cost savings;

• our ability to access the capital markets or raise capital, if needed;

• our ability to protect our intellectual property and other material proprietary rights;

• changes in our services or products;

• negative reputational and financial impacts resulting from future acquisitions or strategic transactions;

• restrictions contained in our debt agreements;

• other factors described in this Annual Report and from time to time in documents that we file with the SEC.

You should read this Annual Report completely and with the understanding that actual future results may be materially different from expectations. All
forward-looking statements made in this Annual Report are qualified by these cautionary statements. These forward-looking statements are made only as
of the date of this Annual Report, and we do not undertake any obligation, other than as may be required by law, to update or revise any forward-looking
or cautionary statements to reflect changes in assumptions, the occurrence of events, unanticipated or otherwise, and changes in future operating results
over time or otherwise.
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PART I

ITEM 1. BUSINESS

Unless otherwise indicated or unless the context otherwise requires, all references in this Annual Report on Form 10-K to the "Company," "our
Company," "The Aaron's Company," "we," "us," "our" and similar expressions are references to The Aaron’s Company, Inc. and its consolidated
subsidiaries.

Our Company

The Company is a leading, technology-enabled, omni-channel provider of lease-to-own ("LTO") and retail purchase solutions of furniture, electronics,
appliances, and other home goods across its brands: Aaron's, BrandsMart U.S.A., BrandsMart Leasing, and Woodhaven Furniture Industries
("Woodhaven"). Aaron’s offers a direct-to-consumer lease-to-own solution through its 1,243 Company-operated and franchised stores in 47 states and
Canada, as well as its e-commerce platform. BrandsMart U.S.A. is one of the leading appliance retailers in the country with 11 retail stores in Florida and
Georgia. BrandsMart Leasing offers lease-to-own solutions to customers of BrandsMart U.S.A. Woodhaven is the Company's furniture manufacturing
division.

On April 1, 2022, the Company completed the previously announced transaction to acquire 100% ownership of Interbond Corporation of America, doing
business as BrandsMart U.S.A. The Company paid total consideration of $230 million in cash under the terms of the agreement and additional amounts
for working capital adjustments and transaction related fees.

Management believes that the acquisition will strengthen the Company's ability to deliver on its mission of enhancing people’s lives by providing easy
access to high quality furniture, appliances, electronics, and other home goods through affordable lease to own and retail purchase options. Management
also believes that value creation opportunities include leveraging the Company's LTO expertise to provide BrandsMart U.S.A.'s customers enhanced
payment options and offering a wider selection of products to millions of Aaron’s customers, as well as generating procurement savings and other cost
synergies.

The following table presents store count by ownership type:

Stores as of December 31 2023 2022 2021

Company-operated Aaron's Stores 1,019 1,034 1,074 

Franchisee-operated Aaron's Stores 224 232 236 

BrandsMart U.S.A. Stores 11 10 — 

Systemwide Stores 1,254 1,276 1,310 

The following table presents the composition of Company-operated Aaron's Stores as of December 31, 2023:

Company-operated Aaron's Store Types as of December 31, 2023 GenNext Legacy Total

Store 186 605 791 

Hub 58 56 114 

Showroom 10 104 114 

Total 254 765 1,019 

The typical layout for a Company-operated Aaron's store is a combination of showroom, customer service and warehouse space, generally comprising
6,000 to 15,000 square feet. Certain Company-operated Aaron's stores consist solely of a showroom.

BrandsMart U.S.A. stores average approximately 96,000 square feet and have been included in this table subsequent to the acquisition date of April 1,
2022.

Strategic Priorities

Our management team is committed to executing against the following multi-year strategic priorities to further transform and grow the overall business:

• Transform the Aaron's Business

• Promote our Value Proposition to Retain and Attract New Customers to our Brand  – We continue to invest in e-commerce,
innovative marketing campaigns, and our lease decisioning and digital platforms to illustrate our value proposition to new and existing
customers. Such initiatives and investments include:

◦ Making investments to drive growth and consumer traffic through our e-commerce customer acquisition channel by investing in
enhancements that provide a fully transactional, mobile, and

1
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seamless shopping experience that includes broader product selections, all of which are intended to attract new and younger
customers.

◦ Utilizing a broad spectrum of traditional and digital marketing communications in both English and Spanish, ranging from direct
mail, social media, display, and local market media, all allowing us to customize messages around price, value, and payment
flexibility. The Company is also increasing its local marketing and promotional focus on weekly payment offerings to attract more
customers and gain market share.

◦ Continuing investments in lease decisioning and other digital platforms that allow us to optimize lease portfolio performance and
lease renewal rate through analytics, machine learning, and operational practices. Other digital investments, aimed at
enhancing the customer's experience and improving customer payment activity, include digital payment and servicing platforms.

• Align the Aaron's Store Footprint to our Customer Opportunity – We continue to invest in our market strategy capabilities to make
better-informed, evidence-driven decisions around store location and the optimization of operating expenses. We regularly review our
Aaron's real estate portfolio, which we expect will increase profitability through repositioning, remodeling, and consolidating our existing
stores via our next-generation store concept ("GenNext"). The GenNext store concept features include larger showrooms and/or re-
engineered store layouts, updated signage, expanded product assortment, enhanced technology-enabled shopping and checkout, and
an innovative operating model. We have also enhanced our market optimization strategy with a new "Hub and Showroom" model which
leverages existing infrastructure to more efficiently serve markets by combining servicing capabilities of multiple stores into a "hub" store
while converting other nearby stores into "showrooms" that focus exclusively on sales activities.

We expect that our market optimization program, together with our aarons.com e-commerce platform and increased use of technology to
better serve our customers, will continue to enable us to reduce store operating costs and lower working capital requirements while
better serving our existing markets, and attracting new customers through expansion into new markets in the future. As of December 31,
2023, we have 254 GenNext stores in our portfolio with plans to open up to an additional 20 GenNext concept stores and 10 showrooms
during 2024.

• Enhance and Grow BrandsMart

• Grow Addressable Market - The acquisition of BrandsMart U.S.A. broadens our customer reach and significantly expands our total
addressable market. Our BrandsMart growth initiatives include:

◦ Capturing share in adjacent geographic markets by opening new BrandsMart stores. In 2023, we opened one new store, and we
expect to open 1-2 new stores each year going forward.

◦ Making investments to drive growth and customer traffic by investing in enhanced customer payment and financing programs,
improved online shopping experience, enhanced digital marketing strategies, and expanded product selection.

• Achieve Transaction Synergies  - We continue to make progress in executing our synergy initiatives in connection with the acquisition
of BrandsMart U.S.A. in order to drive meaningful value-creation opportunities for the Company.

• Enterprise Initiatives

• Strengthen Operational Efficiencies and Optimize Cost Structure - During the third quarter of 2022, the Company initiated an
operational efficiency and optimization restructuring program intended to reduce the Company's overall costs. This program includes the
optimization of store support center functions, multi-unit store oversight, store labor and operations, supply chain, and the expansion of
the Hub and Showroom model, as well as other reductions in real estate and third party spend. Management believes that implementing
this program will help the Company optimize its cost profile, allocate capital resources towards long-term strategic objectives, and
generate incremental value for shareholders.

• Further environmental, social, and governance initiatives ("ESG") – We continue to invest in building a people-focused workplace
culture and in opportunities to make a positive impact on the environment and the communities where our customers and team
members live and work. To do this, we continue to enhance our compliance, enterprise risk management, corporate governance,
diversity and inclusion, and environmental management programs and have developed roadmaps for enhancing these programs in 2024
and beyond.
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Business Segments

For all periods prior to April 1, 2022, the Company only had one operating and reportable segment. Effective as of April 1, 2022 and in connection with the
acquisition of BrandsMart U.S.A., the Company updated its reportable segments to align with the current organizational structure and the operating
results that the chief operating decision maker regularly reviews to analyze performance and allocate resources, which includes two operating and
reportable segments: the Aaron's Business and BrandsMart, along with an Unallocated Corporate category for remaining unallocated costs. The
Company has retroactively adjusted, for all periods presented, its segment disclosures to align with the current composition of reportable segments.

The Aaron's Business segment is comprised of (i) Aaron's branded Company-operated and franchise-operated stores; (ii) aarons.com e-commerce
platform ("aarons.com"); (iii) Woodhaven; and (iv) BrandsMart Leasing (collectively, the "Aaron’s Business").

The retail store and e-commerce operations of BrandsMart U.S.A. (excluding BrandsMart Leasing) comprise the BrandsMart segment (collectively,
"BrandsMart").

Aaron’s Business Segment

Since its founding in 1955, Aaron's has been committed to serving the overlooked and underserved customer with a dedication to inclusion and improving
the communities in which it operates. Through a portfolio of approximately 1,240 stores and its aarons.com e-commerce platform, Aaron's, together with
its franchisees, provide consumers with LTO and retail purchase solutions for the products they need and want, with a focus on providing its customers
with unparalleled customer service, high approval rates, lease plan flexibility, and an attractive value proposition, including competitive monthly payments
and total cost of ownership, as compared to other LTO providers.

Woodhaven manufactures and supplies a significant portion of the upholstered furniture leased and sold in Company-operated and franchised Aaron's
stores.

Launched in 2022, BrandsMart Leasing offers LTO purchase solutions to customers of BrandsMart U.S.A.

BrandsMart Segment

Founded in 1977, BrandsMart U.S.A. is one of the leading appliance and consumer electronics retailers in the southeast United States ("U.S.") and one
of the largest appliance retailers in the country with 11 stores in Florida and Georgia and a growing e-commerce presence on brandsmartusa.com. The
operations of BrandsMart U.S.A. (other than BrandsMart Leasing) comprise the BrandsMart segment.

The operating results of our reportable segments may be found in (i) Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations and (ii) Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.

Competitive Assets

We have a unique set of physical and intangible assets developed over decades in the retail and LTO market, which are difficult, expensive, and time
consuming to replicate. We have developed a comprehensive strategy to leverage these assets including the following:

• Our Aaron's brand and physical presence in over 670 unique markets – With nearly 70 years in business, Aaron's is recognized nationwide
as a leader in the LTO marketplace. This brand recognition has led to an approximate 65% repeat customer rate for the new leases we enter
into, and as of December 31, 2023, our Company-operated and franchised stores had approximately 0.9 million customers with active leases.
We believe that having delivery trucks located throughout our network enables us to successfully serve diverse markets including rural, suburban,
and urban markets, helping mitigate the impact of local economic disruptions resulting from specific industry economic cycles, weather, and other
disruptive events.

• Industry leading technology and analytics at the Aaron's Business – The Company has invested in technology to improve the customer
experience and its operational execution. These investments include platforms for enhanced data analytics, data-enabled lease decisioning,
digital customer onboarding, centralized payment processing and an e-commerce website that allows the customer to review and select
merchandise, complete the lease application and, if approved, complete the LTO agreement and make lease payments online. Our technology-
enabled platforms simplify the transaction and provide customers with enhanced transparency and flexibility throughout their lease, and provide
management with information needed to optimize the financial performance of the business.

• BrandsMart U.S.A.'s competitive pricing and strong brand recognition – BrandsMart U.S.A.'s best in class pricing, broad product
assortment and strong storefront presence and brand awareness within the Florida and Georgia markets positions the brand to thrive among its
competitors.
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• Management teams with deep industry experience and customer relationships – The Company's Aaron's branded stores are managed by
a group of tenured managers and multi-unit leaders who have deep knowledge of the LTO transaction, as well as experience with our overlooked
and underserved customer base. Our high levels of customer service within the Aaron's Business are enhanced by years of relationship building
and LTO industry experience that is hard to replicate. Our average management tenure for the Aaron's Business operations is as follows: 9 years
for store managers; 12 years for regional managers; 20 years for divisional vice presidents; and 25 years for our Chief Store Operations Officer.
The Company's BrandsMart stores are managed by a group of tenured managers who have deep knowledge of retail operations. Our average
management tenure for the BrandsMart operations is as follows: 25 years for general managers; 17 years for store managers; and 24 years for
vice presidents of key functional areas.

• Last-mile, reverse logistics and refurbishment capabilities – Through both the Aaron's and BrandsMart businesses we are able to offer our
customers prompt delivery, in-home set-up, product repair or replacement services, and reverse logistics (with respect to the Aaron's business)
for the products our customers obtain from us. Our Aaron's stores also include refurbishment operations for returned merchandise, allowing us to
provide pre-leased products for lease or sale in our stores and maximize lease merchandise utilization. We have approximately 2,000 delivery
trucks located throughout our Aaron's Business network enabling us to provide last-mile and reverse logistics capabilities in our markets. While
BrandsMart product deliveries are primarily outsourced through third-party logistics firms, each BrandsMart store has two to three trucks to assist
with delivery, installation, and servicing of product.

• In-house upholstered furniture manufacturing – Under our Woodhaven Furniture Industries ("Woodhaven") manufacturing division, we have
the capacity to manufacture approximately 1.1 million furniture units per year, utilizing over 738,000 square feet of manufacturing capacity in six
primary furniture facilities. In-house manufacturing provides control over quality and construction, fast response to changing customer tastes and
market trends, exclusive products, reduced inventory fulfillment lead times, and mitigation of inventory supply disruptions.

Operations

Aaron's Business Omni-channel Operations

We are committed to providing our customers with an exceptional omni-channel platform which includes an in-store and online shopping experience that
allows Aaron’s to engage customers in ways that are convenient and preferable for them. This platform includes a digital guided experience of the
customer's LTO transaction through data-enabled lease decisioning, digital servicing and payment options, as well as a digitally streamlined shopping
experience on our e-commerce website, aarons.com. Through aarons.com, customers can shop over 10,000+ products, apply for a lease, complete the
lease transaction, and access online self-service of lease payments and account management. As a result of our technology-enabled omni-channel
strategy, we are attracting new and younger customers to our brand, and many of the aarons.com transactions come from individuals who previously had
not shopped at Aaron's.

As of December 31, 2023, we have stores located in 47 states and Canada, and our portfolio is comprised of 1,019 company-operated locations and 224
franchised locations, which are owned and operated by independent franchisees on a licensed basis. We have developed a distinctive store concept
including specific merchandising standards, store designs, and flexible payment options, all designed to appeal to our customer base. Our typical store
layout is a combination of showroom, customer service and warehouse space, generally comprising 6,000 to 15,000 square feet. Our GenNext store
concept generally features larger showrooms and/or re-engineered store layouts, increased product selection, technology-enabled shopping and
checkout, and a refined operating model. Most stores have at least two trucks for prompt last-mile delivery, service and return of product. We have also
enhanced our market optimization strategy with a new Hub and Showroom model which leverages existing infrastructure to more efficiently serve
markets by combining servicing capabilities of multiple stores into a "hub" store while converting other nearby stores into "showrooms" that focus on sales
activities.

We have various levels of leadership that oversee our business operations, including divisional vice presidents and regional managers. At the individual
store level, the general manager is primarily responsible for managing and supervising all aspects of store operations, including (a) customer relations
and account management, (b) deliveries and pickups, (c) warehouse and inventory management, (d) merchandise selection, (e) employment decisions,
including hiring, training, and terminating store team members, and (f) certain marketing initiatives. General managers also administer the process of
returning merchandise including making determinations with respect to inspection, product repair or replacement, sales, reconditioning and subsequent
re-leasing.

We use management information systems to facilitate customer orders, lease renewal payments, merchandise returns and inventory monitoring.
Substantially all of our stores are network-linked directly to corporate headquarters enabling us to monitor single store performance on a daily basis. This
network system assists the general manager in (a) tracking merchandise on the showroom floor and warehouse, (b) minimizing delivery times, (c)
assisting with product purchasing, and (d) matching customer needs with available inventory.
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By leveraging our investments in technology, including aarons.com, data-enabled lease decisioning, and our omni-channel customer service and
payment platforms, we believe that we can serve our existing markets through a more efficient store portfolio while continuing to provide the high level of
service our customers expect.

BrandsMart Operations

Our BrandsMart store operations are committed to providing our customers with best-in-class pricing and a broad product assortment, which, along with
our dedicated and knowledgeable sales team members, drives a positive customer service experience that differentiates BrandsMart from other retailers.
BrandsMart's omni-channel platform includes an in-store and online shopping experience that allows BrandsMart U.S.A. to engage customers in ways
that are convenient and preferable for them. This platform includes streamlined shopping experiences on the BrandsMart e-commerce website,
brandsmartusa.com, which allows customers to shop over 6,000+ products, access product ratings and reviews, compare prices and opt for direct
shipping or same or next day in-store pick-up. Site visitors are also able to sign up for our membership program to access competitive member pricing.

As of December 31, 2023, we have 11 BrandsMart U.S.A. stores across Florida and Georgia. Our BrandsMart stores average approximately 96,000
square feet, with a combination of showroom and warehouse space. While BrandsMart product deliveries are primarily outsourced through third-party
logistics firms, each BrandsMart store has two to three trucks to assist with delivery, installation, and servicing of product.

We have various levels of leadership that oversee our BrandsMart business operations. At the individual store level, team member success is driven by a
predominantly commission-based compensation structure. The store layout is designed such that each product category is segregated as a department,
which allows for dedicated sales managers with specific product knowledge to oversee each department. Each store also typically has at least two
managers to assist with and oversee operational and sales efforts. The store general manager is primarily responsible for managing and supervising all
aspects of store operations, and the Chief of Staff is responsible for managing the seamless operations of all stores and the supporting store support
center functions.

BrandsMart Leasing

Launched in 2022, BrandsMart Leasing is an in-house LTO purchase solution that is offered to customers of BrandsMart U.S.A. In addition to traditional
credit offerings, BrandsMart U.S.A. customers have the option to apply for an LTO plan through BrandsMart Leasing, which provides the option to
acquire ownership of merchandise through a renewable LTO plan, usually 12 to 18 months, typically by making weekly, semi-monthly, or monthly lease
renewal payments. BrandsMart Leasing is supported by proprietary centralized lease decisioning technology, described further below.

Lease Agreement Approval and Decisioning

Our lease decisioning platforms are core to managing the risk of our LTO portfolio. We have developed proprietary lease approval processes with
respect to our Aaron's and BrandsMart Leasing operations through a fully automated technology-driven algorithm-enabled centralized digital decisioning
platform, which is designed to improve our customer experience by streamlining and standardizing the lease decisioning process and shortening
transaction times. Customers receive lease approval decisions either online at aarons.com or at an Aaron's Company-operated and franchise retail
location enabling them to shop with approval where they choose, or by applying in-store at a BrandsMart U.S.A. location. Our lease decisioning platforms
have allowed us to optimize approval rates, lease payment amounts, full ownership conversions, write-offs, and revenue outcomes. We believe
continuous innovation and frequent enhancements to our lease decisioning platforms are competitively advantageous.

At the core of the lease decisioning platforms are the Aaron's lease decisioning models. Our models development efforts utilize modern Artificial
Intelligence and Machine Learning techniques. We utilize a multitude of traditional and alternative data sources in the model training process in an effort
to maximize the predictive power of the decisioning models, while working with appropriate internal and external resources to assure compliant and
consistent results. The combination of modern data science techniques and a wide breadth of data produces models that are capable of analyzing lease
applications immediately to produce decisions in real time for each lease application.

The second pillar of our lease decisioning platforms is a robust set of post-model processes that determine the appropriate lease amounts depending on
the risk associated with the lease application. Higher scored applications are eligible for larger lease payments and thus a broader range of merchandise
categories.

Lastly, our lease decisioning platforms include fraud prevention processes. Our fraud prevention processes focus on identity and the digital file
associated with lease applications. To reduce our synthetic fraud risk exposure, we evaluate risks associated with emails, phones, and devices used in
an application. Depending on the fraud risk level of each lease application, we may employ automated knowledge-based authentication. We believe this
authentication reduces our fraud risk while still offering a streamlined lease application experience for the consumer.
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We continue to enhance our decisioning capabilities by adopting an iterative "test and learn" approach and expect that we will continue to drive positive
outcomes through incremental enhancements. In addition to utilizing this decisioning platform, Aaron's stores may occasionally complete the lease
approval process by verifying the applicant’s employment, or other reliable sources of income, and using personal references, which was the approval
method used by our stores prior to the implementation of our data-enabled digital decisioning platform and is used in our Canadian operated stores.

Merchandising

The Aaron's Business and BrandsMart operations employ a merchandising strategy that spans three primary key product categories: furniture, home
appliances and electronics. We have long-term relationships with many well-known and aspirational brands, including Samsung®, LG®, Whirlpool®,
Apple®, GE®, HP®, JBL®, and Ashley®. We purchase merchandise directly from manufacturers and local distributors at competitive prices. One of our
largest suppliers is our own Woodhaven Furniture Industries manufacturing division, which supplies a significant portion of the upholstered furniture
leased and sold in the Aaron's branded Company-operated and franchised stores, which we have introduced in BrandsMart U.S.A. stores. In recent
years, we have strategically focused on growing the revenue contribution of certain merchandise categories to align with macro-economic expansion in
these categories and attract new customers. In addition, we continue to increase our product offerings through expanded assortment on aarons.com and
brandsmartusa.com, our e-commerce shopping platforms.

The following table shows the percentage of our Aaron's Business segment revenues attributable to different merchandise categories:

Year Ended December 31,

Aaron's Business Merchandise Category 2023 2022 2021

Furniture 41 % 41 % 43 %

Appliances 32 % 31 % 31 %

Consumer Electronics 24 % 25 % 23 %

Other 3 % 3 % 3 %

The following table shows the percentage of our BrandsMart segment revenues attributable to different merchandise categories:

Year Ended December 31,

BrandsMart Merchandise Category 2023 2022

Appliances 53 % 55 %

Consumer Electronics 36 % 35 %

Other 11 % 10 %

Marketing and Advertising

Our marketing efforts target previous, existing, and potential new customers through a variety of traditional and digital media channels including online
search, TV, radio, digital video, and direct mail, with a combination of brand and promotional messaging in both English and Spanish. We continue to test
new ways to engage potential customers and identify audience segments that find our retail and LTO options appealing. Given BrandsMart's storefront
presence and strong brand awareness and recognition within the Florida and Georgia markets, regional marketing strategies are effective in appealing to
BrandsMart's audience segments.

With our fast-growing Aaron's and BrandsMart e-commerce businesses, we focus heavily on digital marketing including search, display, and social media
to help drive traffic to both stores and our e-commerce websites. Our e-commerce marketing is dynamically managed on a daily basis and is growing as
a share of spend relative to traditional marketing channels.

We continue to refine and expand our overall contact strategy to grow our consolidated customer base. We test various types of advertising and
marketing campaigns and strategies, analyze the results of those tests and, based on our learnings, refine those campaigns and strategies to attempt to
maximize their effectiveness with current and potential customers. By understanding optimal offers and products to promote to current and former
customers, along with potential prospects, we look to continue improvements in marketing return on investment. With respect to existing customers,
direct mail and email serve as the primary tools we utilize in our marketing strategies. With respect to marketing to potential customers, our primary tools
currently include digital, direct mail, traditional broadcast and search advertising.
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Franchising

As of December 31, 2023, we had 55 franchisees, who operate a total of 224 Aaron's franchised store locations. We have existing agreements with our
current franchisees to govern the operations of franchised stores. Our standard agreement is for a term of 10 years, with one ten-year renewal option,
and requires our franchisees to operate in compliance with our policies and procedures. In collaboration with our franchisees, we are able to refine,
further develop and test operating standards, marketing concepts and product and pricing strategies that we believe will ultimately benefit our Company-
operated stores. Franchisees are obligated to remit to us royalty payments of 6% of the weekly cash revenue collections from their stores.

From time to time, we may enter into franchise agreements with new franchisees or purchase store locations from our franchisees. We have purchased
306 store locations from our franchisees since January 1, 2017. We have not entered into a franchise agreement with a new franchisee in more than five
years. We will continue to assess opportunities to both acquire existing franchise locations and franchise new markets that we wish to develop.

Some qualifying franchisees took part in a financing arrangement we established with several financial institutions to assist our existing franchisees in
establishing and operating their store(s). Under that arrangement, which was originally established in 1994, we provide guarantees to the financial
institutions that provide the loan facilities for amounts outstanding under this franchise financing program. On December 31, 2023, the maximum amount
that the Company would be obligated to repay in the event franchisees defaulted was $4.9 million, all of which would be due within the next two years.
However, due to franchisee borrowing limits, we believe any losses associated with defaults would be substantially mitigated through recovery of lease
merchandise and other assets. Since the inception of the franchise loan program in 1994, the Company's losses associated with the program have been
immaterial. The Company believes that any future amounts to be funded by the Company in connection with these guarantees will be immaterial.

Manufacturing

Woodhaven Furniture Industries, our domestic manufacturing division, was established in 1982. Woodhaven consists of six furniture facilities totaling
approximately 738,000 square feet of manufacturing space. Our in-house manufacturing capabilities help to ensure that during periods of supply chain
volatility, we are better positioned to provide our stores with suitable inventory to meet customer demand. The majority of the items Woodhaven produces
continue to be leased or sold through our Aaron's and BrandsMart stores, including franchised stores. However, we also manufacture and sell furniture
products through other channels.

Woodhaven is a vertically integrated operation. Vertical integration enables us to better manage product availability, quality and cost with processes that
include (a) digital design, construction and rendering, as well as physical prototyping, (b) cut and sew operations to process fabric and rolled goods into
covers, (c) frame mills to process 100% of our frame components with hardwood and engineered panels, (d) foam fabrication operations to control foam
and fiber quality, (e) product testing to assure product standards are met, and (f) multiple locations and material sources that support our business
continuity planning.
Woodhaven produces upholstered living-room furniture (including sofas, chairs, sleepers and sectional sofa and ottoman collections in a variety of natural
and synthetic fabrics). The furniture produced by our integrated manufacturing operations incorporates features that we believe result in enhanced
durability and improved LTO operational support, as compared to furniture we would otherwise purchase from third parties. These features include (a)
standardized components, (b) reduced number of parts and features susceptible to wear or damage, (c) more resilient foam, (d) durable fabrics and
sturdy frames that translate to longer life and higher residual value, and (e) exclusive products and features that provide market differentiation. The
division also provides replacement covers for all styles and fabrics of its upholstered furniture, as well as other parts, for use in reconditioning leased
furniture that has been returned, so that our stores can continue to offer that furniture to our customers at a relatively low price point.

Woodhaven is also able to generate ancillary income and right-size production by selling furniture to third parties, including national and regional retailers,
e-commerce distributors, and student housing developers. During each of the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, 23%, 21%, and 18%,
respectively, of total non-retail sales, which we define as sales of new merchandise to third-party channels, were generated by Woodhaven through these
channels.

Lease Renewal

We continue to emphasize renewals-related compliance training, monitoring, and improvement initiatives, to ensure compliance with federal and state
laws and regulations and our internal policies. One of the factors in the success of our operations is timely management of lease renewal payments,
which are monitored by general managers and team members and our centralized Customer Retention team members. Customers who fail to make lease
renewal payments are contacted within a few days after their renewal date to discuss arrangement for future payments in order to keep their agreements
active. When we have been unable to reach the customer by telephone, we may visit those customers at their residences to encourage them to keep
their agreement active or potentially return the lease merchandise. Careful attention to managing lease renewal payments is particularly important in LTO
operations, where the customer has the option to cancel the agreement at the conclusion of each periodic payment term by returning the product
covered by the agreement, and each contractually due payment is considered a
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renewal of the agreement. Approximately 90% of the payments that we collect are via payment card options such as debit and credit cards for our Aaron's
Business and BrandsMart Leasing customers, respectively, which allows our store team members to be more productive and increase operational
efficiencies. At the Aaron's Business, we continue to encourage customers to take advantage of the convenience of enrolling in our automatic payment
program, and approximately 56% of our customer lease agreements are enrolled for automatic payments as of December 31, 2023.

The provision for lease merchandise write-offs as a percentage of consolidated lease revenues was 5.8%, 6.4% and 4.2% in 2023, 2022 and 2021,
respectively.

Customer Success

We believe our strong focus on customer satisfaction generates repeat business and long-lasting relationships with our customers and a high likelihood
that our customers will recommend the Aaron's and BrandsMart brands to friends and family. Our strong culture of customer service begins with our team
members and requires that we develop skilled, empathetic team members who value our customers and who possess and project a genuine desire to
understand and serve our customers’ needs. To meet this requirement, we maintain and continuously enhance a comprehensive team member
development program for both new and tenured team members. This development program and our commitment to diversity and inclusion is designed to
enable our team members to provide a friendly and welcoming environment for our customers as well as a compliant, consistent, and helpful customer
service experience. Further details can be found within the "Human Capital Management" section below.

At the Aaron's Business our customers receive multiple complimentary service benefits. These benefits vary according to applicable state law but
generally include early purchase options, free delivery and set-up, free relocation of product to a new address within a specified geographic area,
reinstatement options, product repair or replacement, access to digital tools to manage their account, and other discounts and benefits. Unlike traditional
transactional retail sales, we have the unique opportunity over the span of the LTO agreement to build a closer relationship with our customers, often
celebrating, assisting, and supporting them through significant moments in their lives. During the year ended December 31, 2023, approximately 65% of
the new lease agreements we entered into were with repeat customers. Customers who begin agreements online also have the support and service of a
local store throughout the duration of the agreement.

Our Aaron's branded store-based operations also offer customers the option to obtain a membership in the Aaron’s Club Program (the "Club Program").
The benefits to customers of the Club Program are separated into three general categories: (a) lease protection benefits; (b) health & wellness discounts;
and (c) dining, shopping, and consumer savings. Club Program enrollment is optional and may be canceled by the member at any time. The lease
protection benefits may provide Club Program members with lease payment waivers for up to four months or a maximum of $1,000 on active customer
lease agreements if the customer becomes unemployed or ill; replacement of the product if the product is stolen or damaged by an act of God; waiver of
remaining lease payments on lease agreements where any member named on the lease agreement dies; and/or product repair or replacement for an
extended period after the customer takes ownership. Club Program benefits vary by state.

At BrandsMart, our customers receive a number of complimentary service benefits, including a 30-day price guarantee on most items and the ability to
return or exchange eligible products within the specified return period. Customers also have access to sign-up for exclusive member benefits, which
include alert notifications on sales and promotions and special financing offers. BrandsMart also offers our customers other benefits for additional costs,
including delivery, installation and a product protection plan that can be purchased at the point of sale that provides extended warranty coverage on
eligible product purchases. If a product under warranty needs repair, BrandsMart's service team will repair the product or work directly with the
manufacturer to replace it. BrandsMart also offers repair and servicing of products that are not covered under warranty for a low cost.

E-commerce and Store-based Operation's Distribution Channels

At the Aaron's Business, e-commerce and store businesses utilize our 13 fulfillment centers to control merchandise and offer our customers a wide
product assortment. These centers average approximately 150,000 square feet, giving us approximately 1,950,000 square feet of logistics capacity
outside of our network of Aaron's stores. Our BrandsMart e-commerce and store operations utilize three distribution centers for its Florida and Georgia
store operations, which provide BrandsMart with approximately 1,000,000 square feet of logistics capacity outside of the BrandsMart U.S.A. stores.

We believe that our network of fulfillment centers provides a strategic advantage over our competitors. Our distribution system allows us to deliver
merchandise promptly to our stores to quickly meet customer demand and effectively manage inventory levels. Most of our contiguous U.S. stores are
within a 250-mile radius of a fulfillment center, facilitating timely shipment of products to the stores and fast delivery of orders to customers.

We realize freight savings and inventory productivity through centralized distribution of merchandise by using fulfillment centers. We use various contract
carriers to make deliveries weekly to our stores nationwide. A fleet of approximately 2,000
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store-based delivery trucks provide industry leading heavy goods last mile delivery and reverse logistics for returned products and the servicing of
products.

Human Capital Management

We believe in being an inclusive workplace for all of our team members and are committed to having a diverse workforce that is representative of the
customers that choose to shop with us in-store or online and the communities in which we operate our businesses. We believe that a variety of
perspectives enriches our culture, leads to innovative solutions for our business, enables us to better meet the needs of a diverse customer base, and
reflects the communities we serve. Team members are encouraged and supported to create value and drive professional and personal growth, and we
are committed to respecting each other in all interactions.

On December 31, 2023, we employed 9,071 full-time and part-time team members, the majority of which were full-time team members. Approximately
6,441 of our team members were Aaron's store, fulfillment center, service center or divisional/regional staff; 1,385 of our team members were BrandsMart
store and warehouse staff; 329 of our team members were Woodhaven staff; and 916 of our team members were store support center staff supporting
Aaron’s, BrandsMart, and Woodhaven. None of our team members are covered by a collective bargaining agreement, and we believe that our relations
with team members are good, driven by our commitment to listen, learn, and continually improve.

Diversity and Inclusivity

Our aim is to develop inclusive leaders and an inclusive culture, while also recruiting, developing, mentoring, training, and retaining a diverse workforce,
including a diverse group of management-level team members. The information in the tables below summarizes our gender, ethnicity and race diversity,
and age metrics as of December 31, 2023 for our total workforce and management (which we define as management level employees and above).

Year Ended December 31, 2023

Male Female Undisclosed

Total Workforce 66.9 % 31.8 % 1.3 %

Management 69.4 % 30.2 % 0.4 %

Year Ended December 31, 2023

Hispanic or
Latino White

Black or African
American

Native Hawaiian
or Pacific
Islander Asian

American Indian
or Alaskan

Native
Two or More

Races Undisclosed

Total Workforce 20.2 % 35.2 % 27.6 % 0.3 % 1.0 % 0.9 % 2.1 % 12.7 %

Management 16.1 % 47.5 % 18.8 % 0.3 % 1.1 % 0.6 % 1.7 % 13.9 %

Year Ended December 31, 2023

Baby Boomer Gen-X Millennial Post Millennial/Gen-Z

Total Workforce 7.9 % 28.6 % 45.2 % 18.3 %

Management 8.3 % 48.9 % 40.6 % 2.2 %

Born between 1946 – 1964 (i.e., Baby Boomer)

Born between 1965 – 1980 (i.e., Gen X)

Born between 1981 – 1996 (i.e., Millennial)

Born in 1997 or later (i.e., Post Millennial/Gen Z)

As noted in our Code of Conduct, we maintain an inclusive work environment where differences are valued and respected. We make employment
decisions based on merit, and we prohibit any form of discrimination or conduct based on race, color, sex, sexual orientation, gender identity, gender
expression, national origin, age, religion, disability, pregnancy, veteran status, military duty, genetic information, or any other factor protected by
applicable law.

Fostering a diverse and inclusive environment and creating a true sense of belonging are among our top priorities. Our vision starts with our belief that we
are stronger together. We believe our best future is one we build together. We embrace diverse backgrounds, experiences, and perspectives. We are
passionate about creating a community where everyone is valued and has opportunities to thrive. To support these efforts, we are dedicated to building
diversity, inclusion, and belonging into all aspects of our operations and company culture.

Our diversity and inclusion initiatives for Aaron's include the following, and we look forward to extending many of these
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initiatives to our BrandsMart segment in the near future:

• Delivering on our Diversity and Inclusion vision, designed with the support and guidance of a strategic consulting firm, through our Diversity and
Inclusion strategic priorities that include:

• Developing, retaining, and attracting team members from diverse backgrounds;

• Fostering a supportive environment that builds trust and makes team members feel comfortable;

• Actively listening to the voice of team members to champion the best ideas; and

• Enhancing communication channels to facilitate collaboration and promote transparency;

• Responding to Aaron's Business team member sentiments regarding Diversity and Inclusion gathered through an all-employee voluntary and
anonymous survey, available to more than 9,000 Aaron's Business team members, one-on-one interviews and focus groups, and leadership
culture sessions to inform future Diversity and Inclusion planning and programming, which resulted in actions that included, but were not limited
to, adding two new Employee Business Resource Groups ("EBRGs") in the fourth quarter of 2022 with the creation of Aaron’s Veterans and
Allies and Aaron’s Disability Education Collective;

• Sponsoring and participating in several local and national events that provide best practices and latest thinking around inclusion;

• Providing opportunities for team members to serve on boards and participate in roundtables focused on diversity;

• Including Diversity and Inclusion training in required quarterly compliance training for all team members ;

• Providing access to unconscious bias training for all people leaders across the Aaron's Business through an e-learning platform;

• Providing executive sponsorship and other support to each of the Aaron's Business EBRGs, each of which allow a safe space for traditionally
underrepresented team members and their allies to connect and discuss experiences, provide educational and motivational events, enable
mentorship opportunities for team members, provide professional development opportunities, and support the Company’s objectives related to
developing team members and creating diversity awareness. Our active EBRGs include:

• Aaron's Women's Leadership Network (AWLN), whose mission is to connect team members who want to attract, develop, and advance
talented women leaders at Aaron’s;

• Aaron's Black Leadership Exchange (ABLE), whose mission is to exchange information and ideas that foster personal and professional
development of Black team members while strengthening our connection with our customers and community;

• Aaron's Pride Alliance (PRIDE), whose mission is to increase awareness, inclusion and well-being of lesbian, gay, bisexual,
transgender, and questioning team members at Aaron’s, and to provide resources for community members and allies;

• Inspiring Growth and Unity at Aaron's for Latinos/Hispanics (IGUAL), whose mission is to create a foundation that empowers Latinos at
Aaron’s by advocating for the betterment of the Latino community, both internally and externally, with various areas of focus such as
business transformation, engagement, growth and leadership development within the organization;

• Aaron's Veterans and Allies (AVA), whose mission is to connect veterans and allies within Aaron’s for the purpose of providing support
and education, engaging the communities we serve, and fostering personal and professional development through mentorships and
access to resources; and

• Aaron's Disability Education Collective (ADEC), whose mission is to connect disabled team members and their allies within Aaron’s to
provide support, education, and tools for interactions with the disabled community, engage with the communities we serve to support
and advocate for the disabled community, and support disabled team members with both personal and professional growth
opportunities;

• Sponsoring or attending various community-focused events benefiting underserved communities and representing causes identified by team
members;

• Engaging the Aaron's Business Diversity and Inclusion Council, which includes leaders from multiple functional areas and executive leadership,
to provide management with support and oversight to our EBRGs;

• Celebrating cultural events for our Aaron's Business team members led by our EBRGs, including, but not limited to, Black History Month,
Women's History Month, National Hispanic Heritage Month, LGBTQIA+ Pride Month, Día de los Muertos, Juneteenth, International Day for
Tolerance, International Women's Day, Martin Luther King, Jr. Day,
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Veteran's Day, National Disability Independence Day, BIPOC Mental Health Awareness Month, and National Crown Day;

• Utilizing diversity job boards to advertise job opportunities within the Aaron's Business;

• Participating in the Metro Atlanta Chamber's ATL Action for Racial Equity; and

• Conducting a talent review process designed to utilize a multi-factor approach to understand the talents of our Aaron's Business field leadership
team members and their potential to become future Company leaders.

Development and Career Opportunities

We believe in providing an environment where team members have clear growth and development opportunities. To help facilitate that growth, we
provide tools, resources and programs that adapt and grow with our team members. Our efforts include:

• Providing all Aaron’s Business store support center team members and all Aaron's Business management access to a library of more than
20,000 third-party courses enabling the development of new skills that contribute to career growth and development. Team members consumed
more than 4,100 hours of learning via this third-party platform in 2023. In addition, this learning content is scanned and reviewed internally,
leading to targeted library content that focuses on curriculum determined to be of greatest relevance and importance to the organization;

• Delivering an in-house designed continuous learning program to avail Aaron's store team members a career path with the destination of their
choosing while using custom learning solutions designed to build and reinforce competencies and proficiencies throughout all levels of their
career. The learning takes a blended approach involving formal courses, self-directed learning, and structured on-the-job training. In addition, the
curriculum features internal experts educating and coaching others;

• Coordinating and deploying training to our management-level team members in 2023, including compliance, ethics and leadership training;

• Providing team members with ongoing training on critical issues such as safety and security, compliance, ethics and integrity, and information
security; and

• Gathering engagement feedback from our team members on a regular basis and responding to that feedback in a variety of ways including
personal, one-on-one interactions, team meetings, leadership communications, and town hall meetings with team members, led by senior
executives.

Health and Well-being Offerings

We aim to enhance the well-being of our team members by providing comprehensive benefits that go beyond traditional offerings. We are committed to
taking care of the whole employee, recognizing their diverse needs and aspirations. Through a range of thoughtful benefits, we empower our team
members to prioritize not only their individual health but also the well-being of their families. Our goal is to foster a workplace culture that supports healthy
and prosperous ways of living, promoting balance between personal and professional life. Our efforts include:

• Offering health, dental, and vision benefits for all eligible team members, including our eligible hourly store-based, fulfillment center,
manufacturing, and call-center team members;

• Matching team members’ 401(k) plan contributions of up to 5% of eligible pay after one year of service;

• Providing paid time off (including volunteer activities in the community for eligible team members);

• Providing employee discounts for merchandise purchased;

• Providing confidential counseling for Aaron's Business team members through our Employee Assistance Program ("EAP");

• Providing a comprehensive suite of well-being offerings, including unlimited health coaching sessions, unlimited financial coaching sessions with
a certified financial planner, and emotional support through our EAP counseling sessions and unlimited behavioral health coaching sessions via
text, at no cost to our Aaron's Business team members;

• Providing paid parental leave to eligible Aaron's Business team members – maternity, paternity and adoption;

• Offering a tuition reimbursement program that provides eligible Aaron’s Business team members up to $3,000 per year (increased from $1,500 in
prior years) for courses related to current or future roles at the Company; and

• Offering an employee stock purchase program for eligible Aaron's Business team members with a lookback and discount.

15



We strive to help team members maintain job stability so they are encouraged to stay with the Company and positioned to grow their skills and
knowledge on the job. To reduce team member turnover, we engage in surveys with team members, conduct stay interviews to help identify any issues
before they cause a team member to leave the Company, and review exit interview data, hotline calls and root cause analysis to help deter turnover.

Compliance Management Program

As a company with a formal Compliance Management Program, we maintain a robust program with oversight of policy and procedures, training, third
party oversight, issues management, and monitoring and testing. The Compliance Management Program fosters collaboration between line of business
owners to create a culture of compliance by assisting the business owners with establishing and maintaining current policies and procedures that align
with the Company’s goals, strategy, and business objectives, including adherence to applicable laws and regulations.

We are committed to compliance with all applicable federal, state, provincial and local laws and regulations and conduct ongoing monitoring for new laws,
regulations, and regulatory activity that impact our industry, business, or operational risk. We have mechanisms in place for consumers to submit
complaints or feedback.

Compliance training is completed for new hires during onboarding and supplemented with annual and periodic refresher training thereafter to reinforce
core compliance principles. Our compliance training is customized to our risk profile, business strategy and operations. Training of the Board of Directors,
management and other team members is essential. Our training is comprehensive and specifically tailored to the particular responsibilities of the team
members receiving it.

Under our Compliance Management Program, we are making ongoing improvements to our compliance-related policies and procedures, training, third
party oversight, issues management, and testing and monitoring programs. This program is overseen by the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors as
well as our management-level Compliance Committee.

Health and Safety of Team Members and Customers

The Company takes the safety of our team members and our customers seriously. The Company's policies and training programs support our health and
safety practices. Throughout the year, team members complete safety and compliance training relevant to their role. Completion of required safety and
compliance training is closely managed to ensure that team members have the required skills and knowledge to perform safely and ethically. The
following summarizes the Company's Health & Safety Programs:

• Health & safety teams providing program oversight and continued maturation efforts;

• Required annual and new hire formal safety training curriculum;

• Business unit driver qualification programs;

• Continued investment in equipment and technology to provide our team members with the safest experience;

• Reporting on safety Key Performance Indicators to field and senior management regularly;

• Oversight and governance by our Safety Committee made up of key executives and other members of management; and

• Environmental, Health & Safety Audit Program for our Aaron's Business fulfillment centers, service centers and manufacturing operations.

Our business has been, and may in the future be, impacted by a pandemic or other health crises. We continually evaluate our existing prevention
controls and the need for different or additional controls, and conduct periodic inspections at our stores to identify unhealthy conditions, work practices,
and work procedures to help ensure compliance with our policies and procedures.

Labor Practices and Human Rights

All of our team members earn more than the federal minimum wage. The average hourly wage of a full-time hourly operations employee in our Company-
operated stores, fulfillment and service centers, and divisional support staff, as of December 31, 2023, is $16.28, with a meaningful portion of those team
members earning an average hourly wage of $17.20 or more. The average total compensation and benefits for a full-time hourly operations employee in
our Company-operated stores, fulfillment and service centers, and divisional support staff is approximately $35,000 including wages, bonuses and
benefits, such as paid time off. Also, more than 97% of our Company-operated stores, fulfillment and service centers, and divisional support staff team
members are eligible to earn an incentive payment which allows us to meaningfully reward our high performing team members.

In addition to team member surveys and the analysis of exit interview data to deter turnover and support our team members in their job stability and
growth, we maintain a Team Member Hotline, available 24 hours a day, through which team members may report (including anonymous reporting, if
desired by the team member) concerns via phone or via an online portal. All
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reported matters are taken seriously and routed to the appropriate departments (i.e., Human Resources, Compliance, or Legal) for review, investigation,
and closure after appropriate resolution. The 2023 annualized voluntary turnover rate in all corporate, stores, fulfillment centers and warehouse
operations was 63%, and the 2023 annualized involuntary turnover rate in all corporate stores, fulfillment centers and warehouse operations was 33%.

The Company respects the rights of workers who offer services and create the products that we purchase from our suppliers.  We communicate our
expectations to provide us with safe, energy-efficient, high-quality products, and we hold our suppliers to a high standard because we strive to be an
example of good human rights and labor practices throughout our business activities. We take care in the selection of our suppliers, and the Company
also communicates its expectations on social conditions, worker safety and integrity in the workplace, and compliance with applicable laws through
Aaron's Supplier Code of Conduct. The Supplier Code of Conduct outlines Aaron's expectations with respect to hiring practices, forced labor, child labor,
discrimination, and other labor rights. Aaron's expects its suppliers to conduct their business with a high level of integrity, and maintain accurate records
to demonstrate that compliance. Specifically, Aaron's requires its suppliers, in accordance with applicable laws, to meet the following standards per the
Supplier Code of Conduct and conditions:

• Treat all workers with dignity and respect;

• Provide a safe, healthy, and clean work environment;

• Provide safe and healthy housing if supplier provides residential housing for its team members;

• Provide a discrimination, harassment, and punishment free environment;

• Pay workers at least the minimum wage and benefits required;

• Follow minimum working hour restrictions;

• Prohibit child labor, forced labor and human trafficking; and

• Comply with applicable laws (including any changes from time to time).

One of Aaron's largest suppliers is our own Woodhaven Furniture Industries manufacturing division, which supplies a significant portion of the
upholstered furniture we lease or sell in Aaron's stores. All of Woodhaven's operations are based in the U.S., creating U.S. jobs, and all of the products
manufactured are made in the U.S.

In December 2022, the Company adopted a Human Rights Policy that affirms our commitment to operating our business in a manner that recognizes the
importance of human rights both locally and abroad. As such, the Company believes in upholding fundamental human rights and operating in compliance
with human rights laws. The Company does not use or condone the use of slave labor or human trafficking. The Company also believes that team
members should be treated fairly and with dignity by providing a work environment that is free from conduct that can be considered harassing,
discriminatory, intimidating and/or disruptive, including sexual harassment. The Company does not tolerate harassment or discrimination and is
committed to a workplace that fosters respect and dignity for all.

From time to time, we are party to legal proceedings arising in the ordinary course of business, including those alleging employment discrimination,
violations of wage-and-hour laws, or violations of other laws affecting the employment relationship. During 2023, the total amount we paid to resolve
proceedings alleging employment claims was immaterial to our earnings. In our efforts to have all team members comply with applicable employment-
related laws, to drive positive workplace conduct, to strive to foster a fair and equitable workplace, and to reduce the number of employment
discrimination claims brought against us, we provide a variety of resources, including diversity, non-discrimination and anti-harassment training as part of
the Company’s mandatory compliance training, for all eligible Aaron's Business team members, including team members in our call centers, fulfillment
and service centers, store support center, and stores. We also have a team member hotline accessible to our team members via phone or the internet so
that any concerns can be investigated promptly and thoroughly.

Working Capital

Our LTO model results in us remaining the owner of merchandise on lease until the customer obtains ownership of the item; therefore, our most
significant working capital asset is lease merchandise currently on lease. Our store-based and e-commerce LTO and retail operations also require us to
maintain significant levels of retail and lease merchandise inventories available for lease and retail purchase to provide the service levels demanded by
our customers and to ensure timely delivery of our products. Consistent and dependable sources of liquidity are required to maintain such merchandise
levels. We believe our cash on hand, operating cash flows, and availability under our credit agreement is adequate to meet our normal liquidity
requirements.

Raw Materials

The principal raw materials we use in furniture manufacturing at Woodhaven are fabric, foam, fiber, metal components, plywood, oriented strand board
and hardwood. All of these materials are purchased in the open market from unaffiliated
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sources. We have a diverse base of suppliers; therefore, we are not dependent on any single supplier. The sourcing of raw materials from our suppliers
is not overly dependent on any particular country. While we have not had any material interruptions in our manufacturing operations due to current
macroeconomic conditions impacting the pricing and availability of raw materials, there can be no assurances that disruptions to our supply of raw
materials will not become more significant, or that the costs of those raw materials will not increase significantly going forward due to inflation or other
factors related to current macroeconomic conditions.

Seasonality

Our revenue mix for the Aaron's Business is moderately seasonal. The first quarter of each year generally has higher lease renewal rates and
corresponding lease revenues than any other quarter. Our customers will also more frequently exercise the early purchase option on their existing lease
agreements or purchase merchandise during the first quarter of the year. We believe that each is primarily due to the receipt by our customers in the first
quarter of federal and state income tax refunds. In addition, lease portfolio size typically increases gradually in the fourth quarter as a result of the holiday
season. We expect these trends to continue in future periods.

Due to the seasonality of our business, results for any quarter or period are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be achieved for a full fiscal
year.

Discussion regarding seasonality trends for BrandsMart will be included when prior year comparable periods are included in the financial results.

Competition

We operate in a highly competitive market with competition from national, regional and local operators of direct-to-consumer LTO stores and websites,
virtual LTO and rent-to-rent companies, Buy Now, Pay Later companies, traditional and e-commerce retailers (including many that offer layaway
programs, point of sale financing, and title or installment lending), traditional and online sellers of used merchandise, and various types of consumer
finance companies that may enable our customers to shop at traditional or online retailers, as well as with rental stores that do not offer their customers a
purchase option. We also compete with retail stores for customers desiring to purchase merchandise for cash or on credit. Competition is based primarily
on product selection and availability, customer service, payment amounts, store location and terms, as well as total cost of merchandise ownership, the
number and frequency of payments in lease ownership plans, and other factors.

The Lease-to-Own Business Model

The LTO model offers customers an attractive alternative to traditional methods of purchasing furniture, appliances, electronics, computers and a variety
of other products and accessories. In a standard LTO transaction, the customer has the option to acquire ownership of merchandise through a renewable
LTO plan, usually 12 to 24 months, typically by making weekly, semi-monthly, or monthly lease renewal payments. The customer also has the option to
cancel the agreement at any time without penalty by returning the merchandise to the lessor and only making payments required for the accrued lease
period. If the customer renews the lease for each periodic renewal period through the completion of the lease ownership plan, they then obtain
ownership of the item. In addition, LTO transactions typically include early ownership options, free delivery and in-home set-up of the merchandise, free
repairs for defective merchandise, and other benefits.

An LTO agreement provides flexibility, affordable payments, and no long-term commitment, and is available to all customers who are approved, including
those who are credit challenged. Other consumers who find the LTO model appealing are those who have a temporary need for merchandise, those who
want to try a product at home before committing to the full cost of ownership, and those who, despite access to credit, do not wish to incur additional debt.
We believe the LTO value proposition results in high customer loyalty and repeat purchase behavior, which reduces customer acquisition costs and
improves customer lifetime value.

18



LTO businesses benefit from relatively stable, renewable lease revenues and predictable cash flows provided by pools of lease agreements originated in
prior periods. Our renewable lease revenue streams help insulate the business in times of macro-economic disruption and reduce reliance on current
period sales and customer traffic for cash flows as compared to other retailing models. During the year ended December 31, 2023, approximately 65% of
the Company's total revenue was generated from recurring revenue streams related to our contracted lease payments.

Our Market Opportunity

Our Aaron's Business core customer base is principally comprised of overlooked and underserved consumers in the U.S. and Canada with limited
access to traditional credit sources. Historically, during economic downturns, our customer base expands due to tightened credit underwriting by banks
and credit card issuers, as well as employment-related factors which may impact customers’ ability to otherwise purchase products from traditional
retailers using cash or traditional financing sources. We have Aaron's stores strategically located in over 670 unique markets across the U.S. and
Canada and are within five miles of 38.5% of U.S. households. Our stores are designed and merchandised to appeal to customers across different types
of markets, including urban, suburban, and rural markets.

BrandsMart U.S.A. is the low-price leader and retailer of choice for consumers looking to purchase appliances, consumer electronics, and other
household goods in the key markets we serve, primarily south Florida and Georgia. We believe our competitive position in both price and selection is a
meaningful differentiator in attracting new and repeat customers from across the income and credit spectrum.

Government Regulation

Our LTO operations are extensively regulated by and subject to the requirements of various federal, state, provincial, and local laws and regulations, and
are subject to oversight by various government agencies. In general, such laws regulate applications for leases, pricing, late charges and other fees,
lease disclosures, advertising content, lease agreement provisions, penalties, price tags, lease renewal, reinstatement and collection procedures, and
related areas.

Violations of certain provisions of these laws may result in material penalties. We are unable to predict the nature or effect on our operations or earnings
of unknown future legislation, regulations and judicial decisions or future interpretations of existing and future legislation or regulations relating to our
operations. Further, there can be no assurance that future laws, decisions or interpretations will not have a material adverse effect on our business,
results of operations or financial condition.

At the present time, no federal law specifically regulates the LTO transaction. Federal legislation to regulate the transaction has been proposed from time
to time. In addition, certain elements of the business including matters such as renewal activity, marketing disclosures to customers and customer
contact may be subject to federal laws, regulation, and/or oversight by federal regulators.

There has been increased legislative and regulatory attention in the U.S., at both the federal and state levels, on LTO products specifically and on
financial services products offered to near-prime and subprime consumers in general, which may result in an increase in legislative regulatory efforts
directed at the LTO industry. We cannot predict whether any such legislation or regulations will be enacted and what the impact would be on us.

Additional regulations at both the state and federal level are under consideration, as the attention placed on financial services products and consumer
debt transactions, including consumer debt collection practices, has grown significantly.

We believe we are in material compliance with all applicable laws and regulations. Although we are unable to predict the results of any regulatory
initiatives, we do not believe that existing and currently proposed regulations will have a material adverse impact on our business, results of operations or
financial condition.

Federal regulatory authorities are increasingly focused on the subprime financial and credit-restricted marketplace within which much of our LTO
customer base obtains products and services. Any of these agencies may propose and adopt new regulations, or interpret existing regulations, in a
manner that could result in significant adverse changes in the regulatory landscape for businesses such as ours. In addition, with increasing frequency,
federal and state regulators are holding businesses like ours to higher standards of training, monitoring and compliance.

Federal regulatory agencies and state attorneys general have increasingly directed investigations or regulatory initiatives toward the LTO industry, or
toward certain companies within the industry, as demonstrated by recent federal and state regulatory enforcement actions against LTO industry
participants.

In addition to federal regulatory oversight, currently, nearly every state and most provinces in Canada specifically regulate LTO transactions via state or
provincial statutes, including states and provinces in which we currently operate our stores. Most LTO laws require LTO companies to disclose to their
customers the total number of payments, the amount and timing of each payment, the total amount of all payments to acquire ownership of any item, any
other charges that may be imposed and miscellaneous other items. The more restrictive state LTO laws may limit the retail price for an item, the total
amount that a customer may be charged for an item, or regulate the "cost-of-rental" amount that LTO companies may charge on LTO
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transactions, generally defining "cost-of-rental" as the amount paid for lease ownership in excess of the "retail" price of the goods. Our long-established
policy in all states is to disclose the terms of our LTO transactions as a matter of good business ethics and customer service. We believe we are in
material compliance with the various state LTO laws.

Available Information

We make available free of charge on our website,  www.aarons.com, our Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports
on Form 8-K and amendments to those reports and the Proxy Statement for our Annual Meeting of Shareholders.

The SEC maintains a website that contains reports, proxy and information statements, and other information regarding issuers that file electronically with
the SEC at http://www.sec.gov.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

The Company’s business is subject to certain risks and uncertainties. Any of the following risk factors to one or more of our business segments could
cause our actual results to differ materially from historical or anticipated results. These risks and uncertainties are not the only ones we face, but
represent the risks that we believe are material. There may be additional risks that we currently consider not to be material or of which we are not
currently aware, and any of these risks could cause our actual results to differ materially from historical or anticipated results.

Summary of Risk Factors

Risks Related to Our Business

• In addition to being subject to various existing federal, state and provincial laws and regulations, we may be subject to new or additional laws and
regulations that could expose us to government investigations, pricing restrictions, fines, penalties or other government-required payments,
significant additional costs or compliance-related burdens that could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations or
financial condition.

• From time to time we are subject to regulatory and legal proceedings which seek material damages or seek to place significant restrictions on our
business operations. These proceedings may be negatively perceived by the public and materially and adversely affect our business, liquidity
and financial condition.

• Judicial or regulatory decisions may restrict or eliminate the enforceability of certain types of contractual provisions designed to limit costly
litigation, such as mandatory arbitration clauses and class action waivers as dispute resolution methods, which could have a material adverse
effect on our business.

• Product safety and quality control issues, including product recalls, could harm our reputation, divert resources, reduce sales and increase costs.

• The current inflationary environment has adversely impacted, and could continue to adversely impact, our business through increased costs and
the acceleration of prices beyond the norm resulting in lower lease volumes.

• Our inability to recruit, select, train and retain qualified team members or violations by us of employment or wage and hour laws or regulations
could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations or financial condition.

• The loss of the services of our key executives, or our inability to attract, develop and retain key talent could have a material adverse effect on our
business and operations.

• If we do not maintain the privacy and security of customer, employee or other confidential information, due to cybersecurity-related risks or
otherwise, we could incur significant costs, litigation, regulatory enforcement actions and damage to our reputation.

• If our IT systems are impaired as of a ransomware incident or other cyber incident, our business could be interrupted, our reputation could be
harmed and we may experience lost revenues and increased costs and expenses.

• We may incorporate artificial intelligence ("AI") solutions into our platforms, decisioning technology, products, productivity tools, services, and
features, and these applications may become more important in our operations over time. Our competitors or other third parties may incorporate
AI into their products more quickly or more successfully than us, which could impair our ability to compete effectively and adversely affect our
results of operations. Additionally, if our AI applications are based on data, algorithms, or other inputs that are flawed, or if they assist in
producing content, analyses, or recommendations that AI applications assist in producing are or are alleged to be deficient, inaccurate, or biased,
our business, financial condition, and results of operations may be adversely affected. The use of AI applications has resulted in, and may in the
future result in, cybersecurity incidents that implicate the personal data of end users of such applications. Any such cybersecurity incidents
related to our use of AI applications
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could adversely affect our reputation and results of operations. AI also presents emerging ethical issues, and if our use of AI becomes
controversial, we may experience brand or reputational harm, competitive harm, or legal liability. The rapid evolution of AI, including the potential
regulation of AI by government or other regulatory agencies, will require significant resources to develop, test, and maintain our platforms
decisioning technology, products, productivity tools, services, and features in order to implement AI ethically and minimize any unintended or
harmful impacts.

Risks Related to the BrandsMart U.S.A. Acquisition

• The BrandsMart U.S.A. acquisition may create risks and uncertainties which could materially and adversely affect our business and results of
operations.

• We may be unable to realize the anticipated synergies from the BrandsMart U.S.A. acquisition or may incur additional and/or unexpected costs
in order to realize them.

Risks Related to Operations and Strategy

• The commoditization of certain product categories, increasing competition, a decentralized, high-fixed-cost operating model, adverse
consequences to our supply chain function from decreased procurement volumes, and lower lease volumes could have a material adverse effect
on our results of operations.

• We are implementing a multi-year strategic plan within our business designed to strengthen and grow our business and generate capital for
investment by growing revenue, further reducing costs and strengthening operating margins, and there is no guarantee that such plan will be
successful.

• Our growth strategies may be unsuccessful if we are unable to identify and complete future acquisitions and successfully integrate acquired
businesses or assets.

• We could lose our access to third-party data sources, including, for example, those sources that provide us with data that we use as inputs into
our centralized decisioning tools, which could cause us competitive harm.

• We must successfully order and manage our inventory to reflect customer demand and anticipate changing consumer preferences and buying
trends or our revenue and profitability will be adversely affected.

• Our competitors could impede our ability to attract new customers, or cause current customers to cease doing business with us.

• Our proprietary algorithms and customer lease decisioning tools used to approve customers depend, in part, on customer behavior, and
unexpected changes in such behavior could cause such algorithms and decisioning tools to no longer be indicative of our customers' ability to
perform under their lease agreements with us.

• Our business and operations are subject to risks related to climate change.

Risk Related to the LTO Industry

• The transactions offered to consumers by our businesses may be negatively characterized by consumer advocacy groups, the media and
government officials, and if those negative characterizations become increasingly accepted by consumers, demand for our services and the
transactions we offer could decrease.

Risks Related to our Franchisees

• We may engage in, or be subject to, litigation with our franchisees.

• Operational compliance and other failures by our franchisees may adversely impact us.

• Our ability to enforce our rights against our franchisees may be adversely affected by applicable laws, which could impair our growth strategy and
cause our franchise revenues to decline.

• Changes to current law with respect to the assignment of liabilities in the franchise business model could materially and adversely affect our
profitability.

Risks Related to Ownership of Our Common Stock

• We cannot guarantee the timing, amount or payment of dividends on our common stock.

• As a public company, we are required to maintain effective internal control over financial reporting in accordance with Section 404 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act and our failure to do so could materially and adversely affect us.

• Our amended and restated bylaws designate the Georgia State-wide Business Court in the State of Georgia as the exclusive forum for certain
litigation, which may limit our shareholders’ ability to choose a judicial forum for disputes with us.
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• Certain provisions in our articles of incorporation and bylaws, and of Georgia law, may deter or delay an acquisition of us.

General Risks

• The success of our business is dependent on factors impacting consumer spending that are not under our control, including general economic
conditions, and unfavorable economic conditions in the markets where we operate could result in increases in lease merchandise write-offs,
among other things, which could materially and adversely affect our financial performance.

• The geographic concentration of our store locations may have an adverse impact on our financial performance due to economic downturns and
severe weather events in regions where we have a high concentration of stores.

• Our current insurance program may expose us to unexpected costs, including casualty and accident-related self-insured losses, and negatively
affect our financial performance.

Risks Related to Our Business

Legal and Regulatory Risks

Federal and state regulatory authorities are increasingly focused on consumer-facing industries, including LTO and retail, and in addition to
being subject to various existing federal, state and provincial laws and regulations, we may be subject to new or additional federal, state and
provincial laws and regulations (or changes in interpretations of existing laws and regulations) that could expose us to government
investigations, pricing restrictions, fines, penalties or other government-required payments by us, significant additional costs or compliance-
related burdens that could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations or financial condition.

Federal regulatory authorities such as the Federal Trade Commission (the "FTC") and the Consumer Financial Protection Bureau are increasingly
focused on the subprime financial marketplace in which the LTO industry operates, and these federal agencies, as well as state regulatory authorities,
may propose and adopt new regulations, or interpret existing regulations in a manner, that could result in significant adverse changes in the regulatory
landscape for businesses such as our Aaron's and BrandsMart Leasing businesses that include LTO. In addition, we believe federal and state regulators
are increasingly holding LTO businesses to higher standards of monitoring, disclosure and reporting, regardless of whether new laws or regulations
governing the LTO industry have been adopted. We expect this increased focus by federal and state regulatory authorities to continue to intensify.
Regulators and courts may apply laws or regulations to our businesses in inconsistent or unpredictable ways that may make compliance more difficult,
expensive and uncertain. This increased attention at the federal and state levels, as well as the potential for scrutiny by certain municipal governments,
could increase our compliance costs significantly and materially and adversely impact the manner in which we operate. For more information, see
"Business—Government Regulation."

Nearly every state, the District of Columbia, and most provinces in Canada specifically regulate LTO transactions. Furthermore, certain aspects of our
business segments, such as the content of our advertising and other disclosures to customers about our LTO transactions, our lease renewal and
collection practices (as well as those of third parties), the manner in which we contact our customers, our customer lease decisioning process regarding
whether to lease merchandise to customers, and any payment information we may decide to furnish to consumer reporting agencies are subject to
federal and state laws and regulatory oversight.

In addition, the manner in which we process and store certain customer, employee and other information are subject to federal and state laws and
regulatory oversight. For example, the California Consumer Privacy Act of 2018 (the "CCPA"), has changed the manner in which our LTO and retail
transactions with California residents are regulated with respect to the manner in which we collect, store and use consumer data, and has resulted in
increased regulatory oversight and litigation risks and increased our compliance-related costs in California. In addition, the California Privacy Rights Act
("CPRA"), significantly modified the CCPA, by expanding consumers’ rights with respect to certain personal information and creating a new state agency
to oversee implementation and enforcement efforts. Many of the CPRA’s provisions became effective on January 1, 2023. Moreover, other states have
adopted or may adopt privacy-related laws whose restrictions and requirements differ from those of the CCPA and CPRA, requiring us to design,
implement and maintain different types of state-based, privacy-related compliance controls and programs simultaneously in multiple states, thereby
further increasing the complexity and cost of compliance.

Many of these laws and regulations are evolving, creating unclear and inconsistent requirements across various jurisdictions, and complying with them is
difficult, expensive and uncertain. Furthermore, legislative or regulatory proposals regarding our industry, or interpretations of them, may subject us to
"headline risks" that could negatively impact our business in a particular market or in general and, therefore, may adversely affect our share price. New
laws and regulations (or differing interpretations of existing regulations), if adopted, could also adversely impact or current operations and the regulatory
landscape for businesses such as ours.
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We have incurred and will continue to incur substantial costs to comply with federal, state and provincial laws and regulations. In addition to compliance
costs, we may incur substantial expenses to respond to federal, state and provincial government investigations and enforcement actions, proposed fines
and penalties, criminal or civil sanctions, and private litigation, including those arising out of our or our franchisees’ alleged violations of existing laws
and/or regulations.

Additionally, as we execute on our strategic plans, we may continue to expand into complementary businesses that engage in retail, financial or lending
services, or LTO or rent-to-rent transactions involving products that we do not currently offer our customers, all of which may be subject to a variety of
statutes and regulatory requirements in addition to those regulations currently applicable to our legacy operations, which may impose significant costs,
limitations or prohibitions on the manner in which we currently conduct our businesses as well as those we may acquire in the future.

From time to time we are subject to regulatory and legal proceedings which seek material damages or seek to place significant restrictions on
our business operations. These proceedings may be negatively perceived by the public and materially and adversely affect our business,
liquidity and financial condition.

We are subject to legal and regulatory proceedings from time to time which may result in material damages or place significant restrictions on our
business operations, and/or divert our management’s attention from other business issues and opportunities and from our ongoing strategic plan to
improve our performance. There can be no assurance that we will not incur material damages or penalties in a lawsuit or other proceeding in the future
and/or significant defense costs related to such lawsuits or regulatory proceedings. Significant adverse judgments, penalties, settlement amounts,
amounts needed to post a bond pending an appeal or defense costs could materially and adversely affect our liquidity and financial condition. It is also
possible that, as a result of a present or future governmental or other proceeding or settlement, significant restrictions will be placed upon, or significant
changes made to, our business practices, operations or methods, including pricing or similar terms. Any such restrictions or changes may adversely
affect our profitability or increase our compliance costs.

Judicial or regulatory decisions may restrict or eliminate the enforceability of certain types of contractual provisions designed to limit costly
litigation, such as mandatory arbitration clauses and class action waivers as dispute resolution methods, which could have a material adverse
effect on our business.

To attempt to limit costly and lengthy consumer, employee and other litigation, including class actions, we require customers entering into LTO
transactions and team members across all business segments to sign arbitration agreements and class action waivers, many of which offer opt-out
provisions. Recent judicial and regulatory actions have attempted to restrict or eliminate the enforceability of such agreements and waivers. If we are not
permitted to use arbitration agreements and/or class action waivers, or if the enforceability of such agreements and waivers is restricted or eliminated, we
could incur increased costs to resolve legal actions brought by customers, team members and others, as we would be forced to participate in more
expensive and lengthy dispute resolution processes, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our business.

Product safety and quality control issues, including product recalls, could harm our reputation, divert resources, reduce sales and increase
costs.

The products we lease and sell through our business segments are subject to regulation by the United States Consumer Product Safety Commission and
similar state regulatory authorities, as well as regulatory authorities in Canada. Such products could be subject to recalls and other actions by these
authorities. Such recalls and voluntary removal of products can result in, among other things, lost sales, diverted resources, potential harm to our
reputation and increased customer service costs, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations or financial condition.
In addition, given the terms of our lease agreements with our customers, in the event of such a product quality or safety issue, customers who have
leased the defective merchandise from us could terminate their lease agreements for that merchandise and/or not renew those lease agreements, which
could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations or financial condition, if we are unable to recover those losses from the vendor
who supplied the defective merchandise.

Inflation Risk

The current inflationary environment has adversely impacted and could continue to adversely impact our business through increased costs
to attract and retain talent, increased raw materials costs, increased logistical costs to get product from suppliers to customer’s homes and
the acceleration of prices beyond the norm resulting in lower lease volumes.

Our financial performance has been adversely impacted and could continue to be adversely impacted by relative rates of inflation, which are subject to
market conditions. The ongoing labor shortages have increased the costs to attract and retain talent. Sign-on bonuses, enhanced wages and other
inducements related to labor rates have increased our costs and are expected to continue to increase our costs, which could have an adverse effect on
our margins and profitability. Commodities and other raw goods used in some of our products, including our Woodhaven manufactured products, can be
subject to availability constraints and price volatility caused by supply conditions, government regulations and general economic conditions and other
unpredictable factors, which may further increase our costs. Our logistical costs related to both domestic and overseas freight
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transporting and shipping our merchandise to our distribution centers and store locations and delivery to our customers may increase. Additionally, the
cost of construction materials we use to build and remodel our stores is also subject to price volatility based on market and economic conditions. Higher
construction material prices could increase the capital expenditures needed to construct our new store concept or for re-engineering or remodeling an
existing store and, as a result, could increase the investment required.

We have limited or no control over many of these inflationary forces on our costs. These inflationary pressures could impact our net sales and earnings. If
the price of goods changes as a result of inflation, we may be unable to adjust our retail prices and lease payments accordingly, which could adversely
impact our earnings. Changes in prices could also negatively impact our sales and earnings if our competitors react more aggressively or if our customers
curtail entering into sales and lease agreements for the merchandise we offer or enter into agreements that generate less revenue for us, resulting in
lower lease volumes.

Talent Management Risks

We depend on hiring an adequate number of hourly team members to run our business and are subject to government laws and regulations
concerning these and our other team members, including wage and hour regulations. Our inability to recruit, select, train and retain qualified
team members or violations by us of employment or wage and hour laws or regulations could have a material adverse effect on our business,
results of operations or financial condition.

Our workforce is comprised primarily of team members who work on an hourly basis. To grow our operations and meet the needs and expectations of our
customers, we must attract, select, train, and retain a large number of hourly team members, while at the same time controlling labor costs. These
positions have historically had high turnover rates, which can lead to increased training, retention and other costs. In certain areas where we operate,
there has historically been significant competition for team members, including from retailers distribution centers, delivery services and restaurants. In
addition, the competitive nature of the hourly labor market, including an increasing number of jobs, whether in-person or remote work, and increasing
wage rates for those jobs, may make it more difficult for us to attract candidates for our open hourly positions. The lack of availability of an adequate
number of hourly team members, or our inability to attract and retain them, or an increase in wages and benefits to attract and retain current team
members, could adversely affect our business, results of operations or financial condition. We are subject to applicable rules and regulations relating to
our relationship with our team members, including wage and hour regulations, health benefits, unemployment and payroll taxes, overtime and working
conditions and immigration status. Accordingly, federal, state or local legislated increases in the minimum wage, as well as increases in additional labor
cost components such as employee benefit costs, workers’ compensation insurance rates, compliance costs and fines, would increase our labor costs,
which could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations or financial condition.

The loss of the services of our key executives, or our inability to attract, develop and retain key talent could have a material adverse effect on
our business and operations.

We believe that we have benefited substantially from our current executive leadership and that the unexpected loss of their services in the future could
adversely affect our business and operations. We also depend on the continued services of the rest of our management team. The loss of certain of these
individuals without adequate replacement could adversely affect our business. Further, we believe that the unexpected loss of certain key talent in the
future could have a material adverse effect on our business and operations. We do not carry key business person life insurance on any of our key
business personnel. The inability to attract, develop and retain qualified individuals, or a significant increase in the costs to do so, could have a material
adverse effect on our operations.

Cyber-Security and Technology Risks

If we do not maintain the privacy and security of customer, employee or other confidential information, due to cybersecurity-related "hacking"
attacks, ransomware, intrusions into our systems by unauthorized parties or otherwise, we could incur significant costs – including the loss
of some or all of our IT systems, litigation, regulatory enforcement actions and damage to our reputation, any of which could have a material
adverse effect on our business, results of operations or financial condition.

Our business involves the collection, processing, transmission and storage of customers’ personal and confidential information, as well as confidential
information about our team members, among others. Much of this data constitutes confidential personally identifiable information ("PII") which, if
unlawfully accessed, either through a "hacking" attack or otherwise, could subject us to significant liabilities as further discussed below.

Companies like us that possess significant amounts of PII and/or other confidential information have experienced a significant increase in cybersecurity
risks in recent years from increasingly aggressive and sophisticated cyberattacks, including hacking, computer viruses, malicious or destructive code,
ransomware, social engineering attacks (including phishing and impersonation), denial-of-service attacks and other attacks and similar disruptions from
the unauthorized use of or access to IT
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systems. Our IT systems are subject to constant attempts to gain unauthorized access in order to disrupt our business operations and capture, destroy or
manipulate various types of information that we rely on, including PII and/or other confidential information. In addition, various third parties, including
franchisees, team members, contractors or others with whom we do business may attempt to circumvent our security measures in order to obtain such
information, or inadvertently cause a breach involving such information. Any significant compromise or breach of our data security, whether external or
internal, or misuse of PII and/or other confidential information may result in significant costs, litigation and regulatory enforcement actions and, therefore,
may have a material adverse impact on our business, results of operations or financial condition. Further, if any such compromise, breach or misuse is
not detected quickly, the effect could be compounded.

While we have implemented information security systems and processes (including engagement of third-party security services) to protect against
unauthorized access to or use of secured data and to prevent data loss and theft, there is no guarantee that these procedures are adequate to safeguard
against all data security breaches or misuse of the data. In addition, certain of our confidential information, and information regarding our customers, may
be gathered, processed, and or/stored through, or on, the networks or other systems of third-party vendors or service providers whom we have engaged.
While we endeavor to conduct due diligence on those third parties regarding their data security and protection policies and procedures, and the methods
they use to safeguard such information, we ultimately do not, and are unable to, manage or control those third parties' efforts to safeguard against data
security breaches or misuse of data, or data loss or theft, that may involve our confidential information or the confidential information of our customers.
We maintain private liability insurance intended to help mitigate the financial risks of such incidents, but there can be no guarantee that insurance will be
sufficient to cover all losses related to such incidents, and our exposure resulting from any serious unauthorized access to, or use of, secured data, or
serious data loss or theft, could far exceed the limits of our insurance coverage for such events. Further, a significant compromise of PII and/or other
confidential information could result in regulatory penalties and harm our reputation with our customers and others, potentially resulting in a material
adverse effect on our business, results of operations or financial condition.

The regulatory environment related to information security, data collection and use, and consumer privacy is increasingly rigorous, with new and
constantly changing requirements applicable to our business, and compliance with those requirements could result in additional costs. For example, the
CCPA (as amended by the CPRA), has changed the manner in which our transactions with California residents are regulated with respect to the manner
in which we collect, store and use consumer and employee data; exposed our operations in California to increased regulatory oversight and litigation
risks; and increased our compliance-related costs. Moreover, other states have adopted or may adopt privacy-related laws whose restrictions and
requirements differ from those of the CCPA and CPRA. Compliance with changes in consumer privacy and information security laws may result in
significant expense due to increased investment in technology, the development of new operational processes and oversight. Failure to comply with
these laws subjects us to potential regulatory enforcement activity, fines, private litigation including class actions, and other costs. We also have data
privacy and security-related contractual obligations that might be breached if we fail to comply. A significant privacy breach or failure to comply with
privacy and information security laws could have a material adverse effect on our reputation, business, results of operations or financial condition.

We also believe successful data breaches or cybersecurity incidents at other companies, whether or not we are involved, could lead to a general loss of
customer confidence that could negatively affect us, including harming the market perception of the effectiveness of our security measures or financial
technology in general.

If our or third-party IT systems are impaired or we otherwise lost the ability to utilize our or third-party IT systems, our business could be
interrupted, our reputation could be harmed and we may experience lost revenues and increased costs and expenses, any of which could
have a material adverse impact on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

We rely on our and third-party IT systems to carry out our in-store and e-commerce customer lease decisioning process and to process lease and retail
transactions with our customers, including tracking and processing lease payments on merchandise, processing retail transactions and lease or credit
applications, and other important functions of our business. Failures of our systems, such as "bugs", crashes, internet failures and outages, operator
error, or catastrophic events such as a cybersecurity incident or ransomware, could seriously impair our ability to operate our business, and our business
continuity and contingency plans related to such IT failures may not be adequate to prevent that type of serious impairment. If our or third-party IT
systems are impaired, our business (and that of our franchisees) could be interrupted, our reputation could be harmed, we may experience lost revenues
or sales, including due to an interruption to our data-enabled customer lease decisioning and lease renewal and collection functions, and we could
experience increased costs and expenses to remediate the problem. As we continue to centralize more of our operations, the risks and potential
unfavorable impacts of systems failures will become more significant, and there can be no assurances that we can successfully mitigate such heightened
risks.

Risks Related to BrandsMart U.S.A. Acquisition

The BrandsMart U.S.A acquisition may create risks and uncertainties which could materially and adversely affect our business and results of operations.
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Since the consummation of the BrandsMart acquisition, we have experienced significantly more sales, and have more assets and employees than we did
prior to the transaction. The integration process requires us to expend significant capital and significantly expand the scope of our operations and financial
systems. Our management is required to devote a significant amount of time and attention to the process of integrating the operations of our business
with that of the BrandsMart business. There is a significant degree of difficulty and management involvement inherent in that process.

These difficulties include:

• integrating the operations of the BrandsMart business while carrying on the ongoing operations of the Aaron's and Woodhaven businesses;

• developing, launching, and managing an in-house LTO purchase solution, BrandsMart Leasing;

• managing a significantly larger company than before consummation of the BrandsMart business;

• the possibility of faulty assumptions underlying our expectations regarding the integration process, including, among other things, unanticipated
delays, costs or inefficiencies;

• the effects of unanticipated liabilities;

• operating a more diversified business;

• integrating two separate business cultures;

• attracting and retaining the necessary personnel associated with the BrandsMart business;

• maintaining relationships with suppliers;

• the challenge of integrating complex systems, IT systems, data privacy and security systems and our ability to maintain the privacy and security
of BrandsMart's customer, employee or other confidential information;

• creating uniform standards, controls, procedures, policies and information systems and controlling the costs associated with such matters;

• integrating information, purchasing, accounting, finance, sales, billing, payroll and regulatory compliance systems; and

• integrating compliance with the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, including implementing internal controls over financial reporting.

If any of these factors limit our ability to integrate the BrandsMart business into our operations successfully or on a timely basis, the expectations of
future results of operations, including certain run-rate synergies expected to result from the BrandsMart U.S.A. acquisition, might not be met. As a result,
we may not be able to realize the expected benefits that we seek to achieve from the BrandsMart U.S.A acquisition, which could also affect our ability to
service our debt obligations. In addition, we may be required to spend additional time or money on integration that otherwise would be spent on the
development and expansion of our larger Aaron's Business, including efforts to further expand our product selection.

We may be unable to realize the anticipated synergies from the BrandsMart U.S.A. acquisition or may incur additional and/or unexpected
costs in order to realize them.

There can be no assurance that we will be able to realize the anticipated synergies from the BrandsMart U.S.A. acquisition in the anticipated amounts or
within the anticipated timeframes or costs expectations or at all. We have implemented a series of initiatives that we expect to result in recurring, annual
run-rate synergies. We have incurred, and expect to incur, one-time, non-recurring costs to achieve such synergies. These or any other cost savings or
operational improvements that we realize may differ materially from our estimates. We cannot provide assurances that these anticipated synergies will be
achieved or that our programs and improvements will be completed as anticipated or at all. In addition, any cost savings that we realize may be offset, in
whole or in part, by reductions in revenues or through increases in other expenses.

Risks Related to Operations and Strategy

We face many challenges which could have a material adverse effect on our overall results of LTO and retail operations, including the
commoditization of certain product categories, increasing competition from a growing variety of sources, a decentralized, high-fixed-cost
operating model, adverse consequences to our supply chain function from decreased procurement volumes and from supply chain
disruptions, and with respect to the LTO business, lower lease volumes, and thus, less recurring revenues written into our customer lease
portfolio.

Our business currently faces and may face new challenges relating to the commoditization of certain product categories. For example, due to an
increasing supply of electronics, and retail strategies that include implementing frequent price-lowering sales and using certain electronics as “loss
leaders” to increase customer traffic in stores, there is significant price-based competition or “commoditization” of electronics, particularly for televisions.
We do not expect the commoditization of the electronics category to subside and it may expand to other product categories with increasing frequency in
the future, including
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appliances and furniture. We also face competition from national, regional and local operators of direct-to-consumer LTO stores and websites, virtual LTO
and rent-to-rent companies, Buy Now, Pay Later companies, traditional and e-commerce retailers (including many that offer layaway programs, point of
sale financing, and title or installment lending), traditional and online sellers of used merchandise, and various types of consumer finance companies that
may enable our customers to shop at traditional or online retailers, as well as with rental stores that do not offer their customers a purchase option. We
also compete with retail stores for customers desiring to purchase merchandise for cash or on credit. This increasing competition from these sources
may reduce our market share as well as our operating margins, and may have a material adverse effect on our overall results of operations. Many of the
competitors discussed above have more advanced and modern e-commerce, logistics and other technology applications and systems that offer them a
competitive advantage in attracting and retaining customers for whom we compete, especially with respect to younger customers. In addition, those
competitors may offer a larger selection of products and more competitive prices.

We believe the significant increase in the amount and type of competition, as discussed above, may result in LTO customers curtailing entering into
sales and lease ownership agreements for the types of merchandise we offer, or entering into agreements that generate less revenue for us, resulting in
lower revenue and profits, or entering into lease agreements with our competitors.

Our business has a decentralized, high fixed cost operating model due to, among other factors, our significant labor related to our selling and lease
renewal and collections functions, the costs associated with our last-mile delivery, our fulfillment centers and related logistics functions, and our
manufacturing operations. That model may result in negative operating leverage in a declining revenue environment, as we may not be able to reduce or
"deleverage" those fixed costs in proportion to any reduction in the revenues of our business, if at all, and our failure to do so may adversely affect our
overall results of operations.

In addition, our supply chain function and financial performance may suffer adverse consequences related to the decreases we have experienced, and
may continue to experience, in the volume of merchandise we purchase from third party suppliers, due to, among other factors, our store closures,
declining sales of merchandise to franchisees, and lower lease volumes. Those consequences may include, for example, smaller discounts from our
vendors, or the elimination of discount programs previously offered to us, which may have an adverse impact on our results of operations. Declining
merchandise purchase volumes have caused us to rationalize and consolidate, and may result in us further rationalizing and consolidating, vendors for
certain product categories, and we may not effectively implement those vendor consolidation initiatives, which could lead to disruptions to our supply
chain, including delivery delays or unavailability of certain types of merchandise for our stores and our franchisees’ stores.

We have experienced and may continue to experience increases in the costs we incur to purchase certain merchandise that we offer for sale or lease to
our customers, due to tariffs, increases in prices for certain commodities, supply chain disruptions, and increases in the costs of transportation and
shipping the merchandise to our distribution centers and store locations. We have limited or no control over many of these inflationary forces on our costs.
In addition, we may not be able to recover all or even a portion of such cost increases by increasing our merchandise prices, fees, or otherwise, and even
if we are able to increase merchandise prices or fees, those cost increases to our customers could result in the customers curtailing entering into sales
and lease ownership agreements for the types of merchandise we offer, or entering into agreements that generate less revenue for us, resulting in lower
revenues and profits.

If we are unable to successfully address these challenges, our overall business, results of operations or financial condition may be materially and
adversely affected as well.

We are implementing a multi-year strategic plan within our business designed to strengthen and grow our business and generate capital for
investment by growing revenue, further reducing costs and strengthening operating margins, and there is no guarantee such plan will be
successful.

Our multi-year strategic plan for our business includes a number of key initiatives to grow revenue, further reduce costs and improve profitability, and
operating margins, including centralizing and investing in key processes, such as customer lease decisioning and payments, rationalizing and
repositioning real estate, enhancing our e-commerce platforms and digital optimization channels, enhancing and growing BrandsMart, achieving
BrandsMart synergies announced at the acquisition date, and optimizing our cost structure. There is no guarantee that these initiatives will be successful.
For example, we may not be successful in our attempts to attract new customers to our brand, develop the technology needed to further enhance our
customers’ experiences with us, or align our store footprint with market opportunities due to an inability to secure new store locations, or otherwise.

With respect to centralizing key processes, we have implemented a data-enabled customer lease decisioning process in all of our company-operated
Aaron's stores and within our BrandsMart Leasing business, and in the franchised Aaron's stores as well. We may not execute the procedural and
operational changes and systems necessary to successfully implement the centralized decisioning initiative, and it is possible that data-enabled customer
lease decisioning will not be as effective or accurate as the decentralized, store-based decisioning process we historically used in our business.
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Regarding our real estate strategy, the buildout of our new Aaron's store concept and operating model includes geographically repositioning a significant
number of our store locations into larger buildings and/or into different geographic locations that we believe will be more advantageous, and also re-
engineering and remodeling certain existing stores, to provide for larger selections of merchandise and other more complex features. We expect to incur
significant capital costs, including build-out or remodeling costs for this new store concept and operating model and exit costs from the termination of
current leases and sale of current properties. We have not historically managed or operated stores with larger footprints or more complex, reengineered
stores and operating models, and thus, we expect that our management team and store team members for those locations will need to adjust to
managing and operating larger, more complex stores, and there can be no assurances that those stores will be successful. In addition, we are exploring a
new "Hub and Showroom" model to improve operational efficiencies in select markets. This is a new strategy and we have not historically managed and
operated stores in this capacity and thus there can be no assurances that this "Hub and Showroom" model will be successful.

Our BrandsMart U.S.A. strategy consists of maintaining our current store locations and expanding our reach to additional markets by opening one or two
new stores per year. With each store, we expect to incur significant capital costs, including building and development costs, and to enter into a multi-year
lease.

There can be no assurance that the real estate component of our strategy will be successful. For example, we may not be successful in transitioning the
customers of our stores that are closed or repositioned to other stores that remain open or to our new store concept and operating model, and thus, could
experience a reduction in revenue and profits associated with such a loss of customers. In addition, we may not be able to identify and secure a sufficient
number of store locations that are able to support our new Aaron's store concept and/or our new BrandsMart U.S.A. stores, at reasonable lease rates and
terms, or at all.

Our e-commerce platforms also are a significant component of our strategic plan and we believe they will drive future growth of both segments. However,
to promote our products and services and allow customers to transact online and reach new customers, we must effectively maintain, improve and grow
our e-commerce platforms and digital acquisition channels. While we believe our aarons.com e-commerce platform currently is superior to those of our
traditional LTO competitors, many of the traditional, virtual and "big-box" retailers and other companies with whom we compete have more robust e-
commerce platforms and logistics networks than ours, and have more resources to dedicate to improving and growing their e-commerce platforms. In
addition, although we continue to make improvements to our BrandsMart U.S.A. e-commerce platform, we may not have the same e-commerce platforms
and logistics as our larger nationwide competitors. For both our business segments, there can be no assurance that we will be able to effectively compete
against those companies’ e-commerce platforms and logistics networks, or maintain, improve or grow our e-commerce platform in a profitable manner.

There can be no guarantee that our strategy for our business, and our current or future business improvement initiatives related thereto, will yield the
results we currently anticipate (or results that will exceed those that might be obtained under prior or other strategies). We may fail to successfully execute
on one or more elements of our current strategy, even if we successfully implement one or more other components. In addition, the estimated costs and
charges associated with these initiatives may vary materially and adversely based upon various factors.

If we cannot address these challenges successfully, or overcome other critical obstacles that may emerge as we continue to pursue our current strategy,
it may adversely impact our business, results of operations or financial condition.

Our growth strategies may be unsuccessful if we are unable to identify and complete future acquisitions and successfully integrate acquired
businesses or assets.

We will consider potential acquisitions on a selective basis. From time-to-time we may approach, or may be approached by, other public companies or
large privately-held companies to explore consolidation opportunities. There can be no assurance that we will be able to identify suitable acquisition
opportunities in the future or that we will be able to consummate any such transactions on terms and conditions acceptable to us.

In addition, it is possible that we will not realize the expected benefits from any completed acquisition over the timeframe we expect, or at all, or that our
existing operations will be adversely affected as a result of acquisitions. Acquisitions entail certain risks, including:

• unrecorded liabilities of acquired companies and unidentified issues that we fail to discover during our due diligence investigations or that are not
subject to indemnification or reimbursement by the seller;

• greater than expected expenses such as the need to obtain additional debt or equity financing for any transaction;

• unfavorable accounting treatment and unexpected increases in taxes;

• adverse effects on our ability to maintain relationships with customers, team members, suppliers or other key stakeholders;

• inherent risk associated with entering a geographic area or line of business in which we have no or limited experience;
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• difficulty in assimilating the operations and personnel of an acquired company within our existing operations, including the consolidation of
corporate and administrative functions;

• the challenge of integrating complex systems, IT systems, data privacy and security systems and our ability to maintain the privacy and security
of customer, employee or other confidential information;

• difficulty in conforming standards, controls, procedures and policies, business cultures and compensation structures;

• difficulty in identifying and eliminating redundant and underperforming operations and assets;

• loss of key team members of the acquired company;

• operating inefficiencies that have a negative impact on profitability;

• impairment of goodwill or other acquisition-related intangible assets;

• failure to achieve anticipated synergies or receiving an inadequate return of capital; and

• strains on management and other personnel time and resources to evaluate, negotiate and integrate acquisitions.

Our failure to address these risks or other problems encountered in connection with any future acquisition could cause us to fail to realize the anticipated
benefits of the acquisitions, cause us to incur unanticipated liabilities and harm our business generally. In addition, if we are unable to successfully
integrate our acquisitions with our existing business, we may not obtain the advantages that the acquisitions were intended to create, which may
materially and adversely affect our business, results of operations, financial condition, cash flows, our ability to introduce new services and products and
the market price of our stock.

We would expect to pay for any future acquisitions using cash, capital stock, indebtedness and/or assumption of indebtedness. To the extent that our
existing sources of cash are not sufficient, we would expect to need additional debt or equity financing, which involves its own risks, such as the dilutive
effect on shares held by our stockholders if we financed acquisitions by issuing convertible debt or equity securities, or the risks associated with debt
incurrence.

Acquisitions place strains on our management and other personnel time and resources, and require timely and continued investment in facilities,
personnel and financial and management systems and controls. We may not be successful in implementing all of the processes that are necessary to
support any of our growth initiatives, which could result in our expenses increasing disproportionately to our incremental revenues, causing our operating
margins and profitability to be adversely affected.

We could lose our access to third-party data sources, including, for example, those sources that provide us with data that we use as inputs
into our centralized decisioning tools, which could cause us competitive harm and have a material adverse effect on our business, results of
operations or financial condition.

Our Aaron's Business and BrandsMart Leasing businesses are heavily dependent on data provided by third-party providers such as customer attribute
data provided by external sources, including for use as inputs in our centralized decisioning tools. Our centralized decisioning tools rely on these third-
party data providers for data inputs that are a critical part of our centralized decisioning processes. Our data providers could experience outages or
otherwise stop providing data, provide untimely, incorrect or incomplete data, or increase the costs for their data for a variety of reasons, including a
perception that our systems are insecure as a result of a data security breach, regulatory concerns or for competitive reasons. We could also become
subject to increased legislative, regulatory or judicial restrictions or mandates on the collection, disclosure, retention or use of such data, in particular if
such data is not collected by our providers in a way that allows us to legally use the data. If we were to lose access to this external data or if our access or
use were restricted or were to become less economical or desirable, our business, and our centralized decisioning processes in particular, would be
negatively impacted, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations or financial condition. We cannot provide
assurance that we will be successful in maintaining our relationships with these external data source providers or that we will be able to continue to obtain
data from them on acceptable terms or at all. Furthermore, we cannot provide assurance that we will be able to obtain data from alternative sources if our
current sources become unavailable.

We must successfully order and manage our inventory to reflect customer demand and anticipate changing consumer preferences and
buying trends or our revenue and profitability will be adversely affected.

The success of our business depends upon our ability to successfully manage our inventory and to anticipate and respond to merchandise trends and
customer demands in a timely manner. We cannot always accurately predict consumer preferences and they may change over time. We must order
certain types of merchandise, such as electronics, well in advance of seasonal increases in customer demand for those products. The extended lead
times for many of our purchases may make it difficult for us to respond rapidly to new or changing product trends or changes in prices. If we misjudge
either the market for our merchandise, our customers’ product preferences or our customers’ leasing or buying habits, our revenue may decline
significantly, and we may not have sufficient quantities of merchandise to satisfy customer demand or we may be required to mark down excess
inventory, either of which would result in lower profit margins. In addition, our level of profitability and
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success in the LTO business depends on our ability to successfully re-lease or sell our inventory of merchandise that is returned by customers that are
unwilling or unable to continue making their lease renewal payments, or otherwise.

Our competitors could impede our ability to attract new customers, or cause current customers to cease doing business with us, which could
have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations or financial condition.

The industries in which we operate are highly competitive and highly fluid, particularly in light of the sweeping new regulatory environment we are
witnessing from regulators such as the FTC, among others, as discussed above.

Our competitors include national, regional and local operators of direct-to-consumer LTO stores and websites, virtual LTO and rent-to-rent companies,
Buy Now, Pay Later companies, traditional and e-commerce retailers (including many that offer layaway programs, point of sale financing, and title or
installment lending), traditional and online sellers of used merchandise, and various types of consumer finance companies that may enable our customers
to shop at traditional or online retailers, as well as with rental stores that do not offer their customers a purchase option. We also compete with retail
stores for customers desiring to purchase merchandise for cash or on credit. Our competitors in the traditional and virtual sales and lease ownership and
traditional retail markets may have significantly greater financial and operating resources and greater name recognition in certain markets. Greater
financial resources may allow our competitors to grow faster than us, including through acquisitions. This in turn may enable them to enter new markets
before we can, which may decrease our opportunities in those markets. Greater name recognition, or better public perception of a competitor’s
reputation, may help them divert market share away from us, even in our established markets. Some competitors may be willing to offer competing
products on an unprofitable basis in an effort to gain market share, which could compel us to match their pricing strategy or lose business. In addition,
some of our competitors may be willing to lease certain types of products that we will not agree to lease, enter into customer leases that have services,
as opposed to goods, as a significant portion of the lease value, or engage in other practices related to pricing, compliance, and other areas that we will
not, in an effort to gain market share at our expense. Our inability to attract new customers, or loss of current customers, could have a material adverse
effect on our business, results of operations or financial condition.

Our proprietary algorithms and customer lease decisioning tools used to approve customers depend, in part on customer behavior, and
unexpected changes in such behavior could cause such algorithms and decisioning tools to no longer be indicative of our customers' ability
to perform under their lease agreements with us.

We assume behavior and attributes observed for prior customers, among other factors, are indicative of performance by future customers. Unexpected
changes in behavior caused by macroeconomic conditions, including, for example, the United States economy experiencing a prolonged recession and
job losses related to the global pandemic, the reduction of any government stimulus programs, the impacts of a prolonged inflationary period, the impacts
from, and governmental responses to, the resumption of any eviction proceedings, the resumption of student loan payments, availability of alternative
products or other factors, and changes in consumer behavior relating thereto, could lead to increased incidence and costs related to lease merchandise
write-offs. Due to the nature of the inherent risk in modeling customer behavior, our customer lease decisioning process may require adjustments and the
application of greater management judgment in the interpretation and adjustment of the results produced by our decisioning tools and we may be unable
to accurately predict and respond to the impact of a prolonged economic downturn or changes to consumer behaviors, which in turn may limit our ability
to manage risk, avoid lease merchandise write-offs and could result in our accounts receivable allowance being insufficient.

Our business and operations are subject to risks related to climate change.

The long-term effects of global climate change present both physical risks (such as extreme weather conditions or rising sea levels) and transition risks
(such as regulatory or technology changes), which are expected to be widespread and unpredictable. These changes could over time affect, for example,
the availability and costs of products, commodities and energy (including utilities), which in turn may impact our ability to procure goods or services
required for the operation of our business at the quantities and levels we require. Our stores, distribution centers and fulfillment centers may be impacted
by the physical risks of climate change, and we face the risk of losses incurred as a result of physical damage, loss or spoilage of inventory and business
interruption caused by such events. In addition, consumers leaving coastal areas and those areas most impacted by climate change and relocating could
cause greater concentration of our customers in certain markets potentially increasing our costs relating to our store relocation strategy if we have to
relocate additional stores. We also use natural gas, diesel fuel, gasoline and electricity in our operations, all of which could face increased regulation as a
result of climate change or other environmental concerns. Regulations limiting greenhouse gas emissions and energy inputs may also increase in coming
years, which may increase our costs associated with compliance and merchandise. These events and their impacts could adversely affect our business,
results of operations or financial condition.

Risks Related to the LTO Industry

The transactions offered to consumers by our LTO business may be negatively characterized by consumer advocacy groups, the media and
certain federal, state, provincial and local government officials. If those negative
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characterizations become increasingly accepted by consumers, demand for our services and the transactions we offer could decrease and
our business, results of operations or financial condition could be materially and adversely affected.

Certain consumer advocacy groups, media reports, federal and state regulators, and certain candidates for political offices have asserted that laws and
regulations should be broader and more restrictive regarding LTO transactions. These consumer advocacy groups and media reports generally focus on
the total cost to a consumer to acquire an item, which is often alleged to be higher than the interest typically charged by banks or similar lending
institutions to consumers with better credit histories. This "cost-of-rental" amount, which is generally defined as the amount paid for lease ownership in
excess of the "retail" price of the goods, is from time to time characterized by consumer advocacy groups and media reports as predatory or abusive
without discussing the benefits associated with our LTO programs or the lack of viable alternatives for our customers’ needs. Although we strongly
disagree with these characterizations, if the negative characterization of these types of LTO transactions becomes increasingly accepted by consumers,
demand for our products and services could significantly decrease, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations or
financial condition. Additionally, if the negative characterization of these types of transactions is accepted by regulators and legislators, or if political
candidates who have a negative view of the LTO industry are ultimately elected, we could become subject to more restrictive laws and regulations and
more stringent enforcement of existing laws and regulations, any of which could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations or
financial condition. The vast expansion and reach of technology, including social media platforms, has increased the risk that our reputation could be
significantly impacted by these negative characterizations in a relatively short amount of time. If we are unable to quickly and effectively respond to such
characterizations, we may experience declines in customer loyalty and traffic, which could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of
operations or financial condition. Additionally, any failure by our competitors, including smaller, regional competitors, or our franchisees, for example, to
comply with the laws and regulations applicable to the traditional and/or e-commerce models, or any actions by those competitors that are challenged by
consumers, advocacy groups, the media or governmental agencies or entities as being abusive or predatory could result in our business being
mischaracterized, by implication, as engaging in similar unlawful or inappropriate activities or business practices, merely because we operate in the same
general industries as such competitors.

Risks Related to Our Aaron's Business Franchisees

We may engage in, or be subject to, litigation with our franchisees.

Although we believe we generally enjoy a positive working relationship with our franchisees, the nature of the franchisor-franchisee relationship may give
rise to litigation with our franchisees. In the ordinary course of business, we are the subject of complaints or litigation from franchisees, usually related to
alleged breaches of contract or wrongful termination under the franchise arrangements. We may also engage in future litigation with franchisees to
enforce the terms of our franchise agreements and compliance with our brand standards as determined necessary to protect our brand, the consistency
of our products and the customer experience. In addition, we may be subject to claims by our franchisees relating to our franchise disclosure documents,
including claims based on financial information contained in those documents. Engaging in such litigation may be costly, time-consuming and may distract
management and materially adversely affect our relationships with franchisees. Any negative outcome of these or any other claims could materially
adversely affect our business, results of operations or financial condition and may damage our reputation and brand. Furthermore, existing and future
franchise-related legislation could subject us to additional litigation risk in the event we terminate or fail to renew a franchise relationship.

Operational and other failures by our franchisees may adversely impact us.

Qualified franchisees who conform to our standards and requirements are important to the overall success of our business. Our franchisees, however, are
independent businesses and not team members, and consequently we cannot and do not control them to the same extent as our company-operated
stores. Our franchisees may fail in key areas, or experience significant business or financial difficulties, which could slow our growth, reduce our franchise
revenues, damage our reputation, expose us to regulatory enforcement actions or private litigation and/or cause us to incur additional costs. If our
franchisees experience business or financial difficulties, including, for example, in connection with inflation, rising interest rates, the slowing of consumer
demand, labor shortages, and business disruptions due to the ongoing Russia-Ukraine conflict and the conflict in Israel, Palestine and surrounding areas,
we could suffer a loss of franchisee fees, royalties, and revenues and profits derived from our sales of merchandise to franchisees, and could suffer
write-downs of outstanding receivables those franchisees owe us if they fail to make those payments to us. If we fail to adequately mitigate any such
future losses, our business, results of operations or financial condition could be adversely impacted.

We are subject to laws that regulate franchisor-franchisee relationships. Our ability to enforce our rights against our franchisees may be
adversely affected by these laws, which could impair our growth strategy and cause our franchise revenues to decline.

As a franchisor, we are subject to regulation by the FTC, state laws and certain Canadian provincial laws regulating the offer and sale of franchises. Our
failure to comply with applicable franchise regulations could cause us to lose franchise fees and ongoing royalty revenues. Moreover, state and provincial
laws that regulate substantive aspects of our relationships with
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franchisees may limit our ability to terminate or otherwise resolve conflicts with our franchisees or enforce contractual duties or rights we believe we have
with respect to our franchisees.

Changes to current law with respect to the assignment of liabilities in the franchise business model could materially and adversely affect our
profitability.

As of December 31, 2023, we have 55 franchisees that operate a total of 224 stores. One of the legal foundations fundamental to the franchise business
model has been that, absent special circumstances, a franchisor is generally not responsible for the acts, omissions or liabilities of its franchisees. In
recent years, established law has been challenged and questioned by the plaintiffs’ bar and certain regulators, and the outcome of these challenges and
new regulatory positions remains unknown. If these challenges and/or new positions are successful in altering currently settled law, it could significantly
change the relationship between us and our franchisees and the way we and other franchisors conduct business and adversely impact our profitability.

For example, a determination that we are a joint employer with our franchisees or that franchisees are part of one unified system with joint and several
liability under the National Labor Relations Act, statutes administered by the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission, OSHA regulations and other
areas of labor and employment law could subject us and/or our franchisees to liability for the unfair labor practices, wage-and-hour law violations,
employment discrimination law violations, OSHA regulation violations and other employment-related liabilities of one or more franchisees. Furthermore,
any such change in law would create an increased likelihood that certain franchised networks would be required to employ unionized labor, which could
impact franchisors like us through, among other things, increased labor costs and difficulty in attracting new franchisees. In addition, if these changes
were to be expanded outside of the employment context, we could be held liable for other claims against franchisees. If such changes occur, our
operating expenses may increase as a result of required modifications to our business practices, increased litigation, governmental investigations or
proceedings, administrative enforcement actions, fines, penalties and civil liability, which could materially and adversely affect our results of operations.

Risks Related to Ownership of Our Common Stock

We cannot guarantee the timing, amount or payment of dividends on our common stock.

Although we expect to continue to pay a regular quarterly cash dividend, the timing, declaration, amount and payment of future dividends to shareholders
will fall within the discretion of our Board. Our Board regularly evaluates our capital allocation strategy and dividend policy, and any future determination
regarding the payment of dividends will depend on many factors, including financial condition, liquidity, earnings, our ability to retain future earnings in
order to fund operations and future growth, capital requirements, debt service obligations, corporate strategy, regulatory constraints, industry practice,
statutory and contractual restrictions and other factors deemed relevant by our Board. No assurance can be given that cash dividends will continue to be
declared and paid, and, if declared and paid, the amount of such dividends.

As a public company, we are required to maintain effective internal control over financial reporting in accordance with Section 404 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act and our failure to do so could materially and adversely affect us.

We are subject to the reporting requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the "Exchange Act"), the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and the Dodd-Frank
Act and are required to prepare our financial statements according to the rules and regulations required by the SEC. In addition, the Exchange Act
requires that we file annual, quarterly and current reports. Our failure to prepare and disclose this information in a timely manner or to otherwise comply
with applicable law could subject us to penalties under federal securities laws, expose us to lawsuits and restrict our ability to access financing. In
addition, the Sarbanes-Oxley Act requires, among other things, that we establish and maintain effective internal controls and procedures for financial
reporting and disclosure purposes. Internal control over financial reporting is complex and may be revised over time to adapt to changes in our business,
or changes in applicable accounting rules.

As more fully disclosed in Item 9A. "Controls and Procedures", management has concluded that, because of a material weakness in internal controls
within the BrandsMart segment, which we acquired on April 1, 2022, our disclosure controls and procedures were not effective as of December 31, 2023.
The material weakness related to the design of information technology general controls ("ITGCs") related to user access, program change or appropriate
segregation of duties for certain IT applications within the segment that were deemed ineffective. This ineffective design impacted controls over the
completeness and accuracy of information used in the segment's business process controls resulting in the impacted controls also being deemed
ineffective. The material weakness did not result in any errors, however it was not remediated as of December 31, 2023. The material weakness will not
be considered remediated until the applicable remedial controls operate for a sufficient period of time and management has concluded, through testing,
that these controls are operating effectively. We cannot be certain that these measures will be successful or that we will be able to prevent future material
weaknesses.

Failure to remediate any material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting or other matters affecting our internal controls may cause us to
be unable to report our financial information on a timely basis or may cause us to restate previously issued financial information, and thereby subject us to
adverse regulatory consequences, including sanctions or investigations
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by the SEC, violations of applicable stock exchange listing rules, and litigation brought by our shareholders and others. There could also be a negative
reaction in the financial markets due to a loss of investor confidence in us and the reliability of our financial statements. Confidence in the reliability of our
financial statements could also suffer if we or our independent registered public accounting firm reports a material weakness in our internal control over
financial reporting. This could have a material and adverse effect on us by, for example, leading to a decline in our share price and impairing our ability to
raise additional capital, and also could result in litigation brought by our shareholders and others.

Our amended and restated bylaws designate the Georgia State-wide Business Court in the State of Georgia as the exclusive forum for certain
litigation, which may limit our shareholders’ ability to choose a judicial forum for disputes with us.

Pursuant to our amended and restated bylaws, unless we consent in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, to the fullest extent permitted by law,
the sole and exclusive forum for any shareholder (including a beneficial owner) to bring (a) any derivative action or proceeding brought on behalf of The
Aaron's Company, (b) any action asserting a claim of breach of a fiduciary or legal duty owed by any current or former director, officer, employee,
shareholder, or agent of The Aaron's Company to The Aaron's Company or The Aaron's Company shareholders, including a claim alleging the aiding and
abetting of any such breach of fiduciary duty, (c) any action asserting a claim against the Company, its current or former directors, officers, team
members, shareholders, or agents arising pursuant to any provision of the Georgia Business Code or our articles of incorporation or bylaws (as either
may be amended from time to time), (d) any action asserting a claim against us, our current or former directors, officers, team members, shareholders, or
agents governed by the internal affairs doctrine, or (e) any action against us, our current or former directors, officers, team members, shareholders, or
agents asserting a claim identified in O.C.G.A. § 15-5A-3 shall be the Georgia State-wide Business Court. Our amended and restated bylaws also
provide that, to the fullest extent permitted by law, if any action the subject matter of which is within the scope of the foregoing exclusive forum provisions
is filed in a court other than the Georgia State-wide Business Court, such shareholder shall be deemed to have consented to (i) the personal jurisdiction
of the Georgia State-wide Business Court in connection with any action brought in any such foreign court to enforce these exclusive forum provisions and
(ii) having service of process made upon such shareholder in any such action by service upon such shareholder’s counsel in the foreign action as agent
for such shareholder. Our amended and restated bylaws also provide that the foregoing exclusive forum provisions do not apply to any action asserting
claims under the Exchange Act or the Securities Act. These exclusive forum provisions will require our shareholders to bring certain types of actions or
proceedings in the Georgia State-wide Business Court in the State of Georgia and therefore may prevent our shareholders from bringing such actions or
proceedings in another court that a shareholder may view as more convenient, cost-effective, or advantageous to the shareholder or the claims made in
such action or proceeding, and may discourage the actions or proceedings covered by these exclusive forum provisions.

Certain provisions in our articles of incorporation and bylaws, and of Georgia law, may deter or delay an acquisition of us.

Our articles of incorporation and bylaws, and Georgia law, contain provisions that are intended to deter coercive takeover practices and inadequate
takeover bids by making such practices or bids more expensive to the acquiror and to encourage prospective acquirors to negotiate with our Board rather
than to attempt a hostile takeover. These provisions include rules regarding how shareholders may present proposals or nominate directors for election at
shareholder meetings and the right of our Board to issue preferred stock without shareholder approval. Georgia law also imposes some restrictions on
mergers and other business combinations between any holder of 10 percent or more of our outstanding common stock and us.

We believe that these provisions will help to protect our shareholders from coercive or otherwise unfair takeover tactics by requiring potential acquirers to
negotiate with our Board and by providing our Board with more time to assess any acquisition proposal. These provisions are not intended to make us
immune from takeovers. However, these provisions will apply even if the offer may be considered beneficial by some shareholders and could deter or
delay an acquisition that our Board determines is not in our best interests or the best interests of our shareholders. Accordingly, in the event that our
Board determines that a potential business combination transaction is not in the best interests of us and our shareholders but certain shareholders
believe that such a transaction would be beneficial to us and our shareholders, such shareholders may elect to sell their shares in us and the trading price
of the Company's common stock could decrease.

In addition, an acquisition or further issuance of our stock could trigger the application of Section 355(e) of the Code. Under the November 29, 2020 Tax
Matters Agreement entered into in connection with the spin-off transaction, the Company would be required to indemnify PROG Holdings, Inc. for the
resulting tax, and this indemnity obligation might discourage, delay or prevent a change of control that may be considered favorable.

Shareholders’ percentage of ownership in us may be diluted in the future.

In the future, shareholders' percentage ownership in us may be diluted because of equity issuances for acquisitions, capital market transactions or
otherwise, including equity and stock-based awards that we will be granting to our directors, officers and
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team members. Such awards have a dilutive effect on our earnings per share, which could adversely affect the market price of our common stock.

In addition, our amended and restated articles of incorporation allow us to issue, without approval of our shareholders, one or more classes or series of
preferred stock having such designation, powers, preferences and relative, participating, optional and other special rights, including preferences over our
common stock respecting dividends and distributions, as our Board generally may determine. The terms of one or more classes or series of preferred
stock could dilute the voting power or reduce the value of our common stock. Similarly, the repurchase or redemption rights or liquidation preferences we
could assign to holders of preferred stock could affect the residual value of our common stock.

General Risks

The success of our business is dependent on factors impacting consumer spending that are not under our control, including general
economic conditions, and unfavorable economic conditions in the markets where we operate could result in increases in lease merchandise
write-offs, among other things, which could materially and adversely affect our financial performance.

The success of our business is dependent on factors impacting consumer spending that are not under our control, including general economic conditions
in the markets where we operate, such as levels of employment, consumer disposable income, rising interest rates, consumer debt and availability of
credit, cost of food, energy, and housing and inflationary trends related thereto, recessions and fears of economic downturns, business disruptions due to
political or economic instability, including global conflicts such as the Russia-Ukraine conflict and related economic sanctions and the conflict in Israel,
Palestine and surrounding areas, domestic civil unrest, and consumer confidence in general, all of which are beyond our control. Unfavorable general
economic conditions, due to any one or more of these or other factors, could cause our customers and potential customers to forego purchasing or
leasing merchandise from us, or to decrease the amount of merchandise that they otherwise may purchase or lease from us, especially with respect to
merchandise considered to be discretionary items. Such unfavorable economic conditions and their related impact on our customers’ confidence could
result in lower lease renewal rates, fewer new leases being entered into, increases in product returns, decreases in collections, and increases in lease
merchandise write-offs, which could materially and adversely affect our business and financial results, including our revenue and profitability.

The geographic concentration of our store locations may have an adverse impact on our financial performance due to economic downturns
and severe weather events in regions where we have a high concentration of stores.

The concentration of our stores in certain regions or limited markets may expose us to increased risk of adverse economic developments compared to a
more geographically diverse store portfolio. In addition, our store operators are subject to the effects of adverse acts of nature, such as winter storms,
hurricanes, hail storms, strong winds, extreme heat, earthquakes and tornadoes. Such events have previously caused flooding and other damage,
particularly in specific geographic areas, including in Florida and Texas, two of our large markets. In addition to the occurrence of natural disasters, acts
of violence, terrorism or civil unrest could result in physical damage to our properties (some of which may be excluded from insurance coverage), the
temporary closure of stores or distributions centers and/or temporary disruptions to our business. Such events may, depending upon their location and
severity, unfavorably impact our business continuity.

Our current insurance program may expose us to unexpected costs, including casualty and accident-related self-insured losses, and
negatively affect our financial performance.

Our insurance coverage is subject to deductibles, self-insured retentions, limits of liability, policy exclusions and the related terms and conditions
underlying such policies, and similar provisions that we believe are prudent based on our overall operations. We may incur certain types of losses that we
cannot insure or which we believe are not economically reasonable to insure, such as theft, damage or destruction of merchandise that is on-lease to our
customers and not in our possession, and pandemic diseases. If we incur these losses and they are material, our business could suffer. Certain material
events may result in sizable losses for the insurance industry and adversely impact the availability of adequate insurance coverage or result in excessive
premium increases. To offset negative cost trends in the insurance market, we may elect to self-insure, accept higher deductibles or reduce the amount
of coverage in response to these market changes. In addition, we self-insure a portion of expected losses under our workers’ compensation, general
liability, and group health insurance programs. Unanticipated changes in any applicable actuarial assumptions and management estimates underlying
our recorded liabilities for these self-insured losses, including potential increases in medical and indemnity costs, could result in significantly different
expenses than expected under these programs, which could have an unfavorable effect on our financial condition and results of operations. Although we
continue to maintain insurance for certain types of catastrophic events, including property loss and cybersecurity incidents, we are self-insured for losses
up to the amount of our deductibles and self-insured retentions.

We are subject to sales, income and other taxes, which can vary by jurisdiction and be difficult and complex to calculate due to the nature of
our business. A failure to correctly calculate and pay such taxes could result in substantial tax liabilities and a material adverse effect on our
results of operations.
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The application of indirect taxes, such as sales tax, is a complex and evolving issue. Many of the fundamental statutes and regulations that impose these
taxes were established before the growth of the e-commerce industry and, therefore, in many cases it is not clear how existing statutes apply to us. In
addition, governments are increasingly looking for ways to increase revenues, which has resulted in evolving interpretations of existing tax laws,
discussions about tax reform and other legislative actions to increase tax revenues, including through indirect taxes. This also could result in other
adverse changes in interpretations of existing sales, income and other tax regulations. For example, from time to time, some taxing authorities in the
United States have notified us that they believe we owe them certain taxes imposed on transactions with our customers. Although these notifications
have not resulted in material tax liabilities to date, there is a risk that one or more jurisdictions may be successful in the future, which could have a
material adverse effect on our results of operations.

Employee misconduct could harm us by subjecting us to monetary loss, significant legal liability, regulatory scrutiny, and reputational harm.

Our reputation is critical to maintaining and developing relationships with our existing and potential customers and third parties with whom we do
business. There is a risk that our team members could engage in misconduct that adversely affects our reputation and business, or fail to follow our
compliance policies and procedures related to business operations, including with respect to lease originations and lease renewal and collections. For
example, if one of our team members engages in discrimination or harassment in the workplace, or if an employee were to engage in, or be accused of
engaging in, illegal or suspicious activities including fraud or theft of our customers’ information, we could suffer direct losses from the activity and, in
addition, we could be subject to regulatory sanctions and suffer serious harm to our reputation, financial condition, customer relationships and ability to
attract future customers. Employee misconduct could prompt regulators to allege or to determine based upon such misconduct that we have not
established adequate supervisory systems and procedures to inform team members of applicable rules or to detect violations of such rules. The
precautions that we take to prevent, detect, and remediate misconduct may not be effective in all cases. Misconduct by our team members who are
directly or indirectly associated with our business, or even unsubstantiated allegations of misconduct, could result in a material adverse effect on our
reputation and our business.

ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.

ITEM 1C. CYBERSECURITY

Risk Management and Strategy

As a part of the Company’s overall risk management and compliance programs, we have developed an enterprise cybersecurity program designed to
identify, protect, detect, respond to and recover from cybersecurity and other data security threats. This enterprise cybersecurity program is based in-part
on, and its maturity is measured using, the U.S. Department of Commerce’s National Institute of Standards and Technology (NIST) Cybersecurity
Framework (CSF). Our enterprise cybersecurity program classifies potential threats by risk levels and we typically prioritize our threat mitigation efforts
based on those risk classifications, while focusing on maintaining the resiliency of our systems. In recent years, we have increased our investments in our
ability to identify, protect, detect, respond to and recover from cybersecurity and other data privacy risks within our environment. In the event we identify a
potential cybersecurity, privacy or other data security issue, we have defined procedures for responding to such issues, including procedures that
address when and how to engage with Company management, our Board of Directors, third-party advisors, other stakeholders and law enforcement
when responding to such issues.

With respect to cybersecurity and other data privacy risks associated with third parties, the Aaron's Business has a Third Party Oversight Program that
manages the risk of our third party relationships. We assess our vendors' compliance with applicable laws, regulations, and industry standards and
negotiate appropriate contractual provisions to mitigate risk. We expect each of our vendors to appropriately manage its internal risks as well as risks the
relationship poses to our Company.

We also understand the importance of collecting, storing, using, sharing and disposing of personal information in a manner that complies with all
applicable laws. To facilitate compliance with those laws, we have privacy policies in place regarding our treatment of customer data in both our offline
and online retail environments, as well as policies relating to the protection of employee and vendor data. Our policies provide explanations of the types
of information we collect, how we use and share information, and generally describe the measures we take to protect the security of that information. Our
policies also describe how customers may initiate inquiries and raise concerns regarding the collection, storage, sharing and use of their personal data. In
addition, our team members also must complete mandatory training to understand the behaviors and technical requirements necessary to safeguard
information resources at the Company.

Some of the other steps we have taken to detect, identify, classify and attempt to mitigate data security and privacy risks include:
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• Establishing a new Cyber Incident Sub-Committee of the management level Disclosure Committee that is responsible for evaluating the
Company’s disclosure obligations relating to matters of cybersecurity and related incidents.

• Adopting and periodically reviewing and updating information security and privacy policies and procedures;

• Conducting targeted audits and penetration tests throughout the year, using both internal and external resources;

• Conducting security maturity posture assessments, including engaging an industry-leading, nationally-known third party to independently
evaluate our information security maturity on a regular basis;

• Utilizing technologies, processes, and capabilities designed to protect our systems and data and detect potential suspicious activity;

• Complying with the Payment Card Industry Data Security Standard;

• Adopting a vendor risk management program, which includes receiving the results of cybersecurity and data privacy audits conducted on certain
vendors, classifying vendor, service provider or business partner risk based on several factors and evaluating and monitoring related risk
mitigation efforts;

• Providing security and privacy training and awareness to all of our team members;

• Conducting periodic phishing simulations to test our team members’ responses to suspicious emails and to inform targeted cyber awareness
training; and

• Maintaining cyber liability insurance.

We have experienced targeted and non-targeted cybersecurity attacks and incidents in the past that have resulted in unauthorized persons gaining
access to our information systems, and we could in the future experience similar attacks. To date, no cybersecurity attack or incident, or any risk from
cybersecurity threats, has materially affected or has been determined to be reasonably likely to materially affect the Company or our business strategy,
results of operations, or financial condition. For additional information regarding the risks from cybersecurity threats we face, see the section captioned
"Risks Relating to Our Business – Cyber-Security and Technology Risks" under Part I, Item 1A "Risk Factors" above.

Governance

Our Board of Directors recognizes the important role of information security and mitigating cybersecurity and other data security threats, as part of our
efforts to protect and maintain the confidentiality and security of customer, employee and vendor information, as well as non-public information about our
Company. Although our full Board of Directors has ultimate responsibility with respect to risk management oversight, the Audit Committee of our Board of
Directors is charged with, among other matters, overseeing risks attendant to the identification and mitigation of cybersecurity risks.

As part of this risk oversight role, our full Board of Directors and the Audit Committee periodically receive reports from management, external professional
advisors and others regarding various types of risks faced by the Company and the Company’s risk mitigation efforts related thereto, including
cybersecurity risks and related mitigation efforts. The Board and the Audit Committee receive presentations from management regarding trends in
cybersecurity risks and risk mitigation initiatives and plans, including briefings on recent and notable breaches at other companies and key takeaways
and lessons learned that are applicable to our business. The Board and the Audit Committee also review key cybersecurity-related benchmarks for the
Company. Furthermore, our Board of Directors and Audit Committee review our cybersecurity-related investments, initiatives and plans with
management.

In addition, we have a dedicated team of employees overseeing our day-to-day cybersecurity and data privacy initiatives, led by our Chief Information
Security Officer, in consultation with internal and external attorneys and other professional advisors. Our cybersecurity and data privacy employees have
a vast background in cybersecurity, including prior relevant experience in government entities, network security, cybersecurity consulting firms, and a
variety of industry standard certifications.

We also have an Enterprise Information Security Steering Committee (EISSC) comprised of a cross-functional group of senior executives and other team
members that meets on a regular basis to provide oversight with respect to our cybersecurity and data privacy identification, protection, detection,
response and recovery-related efforts. The EISSC and other senior personnel, including the Audit Committee and our Board of Directors, are informed of
cybersecurity incidents as prescribed by the Company’s incident response plan and related processes, procedures, and standards.

Our internal audit function, along with external consultants, are also participants in our cybersecurity risk identification and analysis processes. Our Chief
Information Security Officer regularly provides updates to the Audit Committee and to our Board of Directors regarding the status and effectiveness of our
cybersecurity and data privacy programs.
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ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

The Company leases retail store and warehouse space for most of its store-based operations, as well as corporate office space for store and e-
commerce supporting functions, under operating leases expiring at various times through 2038. Most of the leases contain renewal options for additional
periods ranging from one to 20 years or provide for options to purchase the related property at predetermined purchase prices that do not represent
bargain purchase options. The Company also has leased properties for furniture manufacturing, fulfillment centers, and service centers across the U.S.

The typical layout for a Company-operated Aaron's store is a combination of showroom, customer service and warehouse space, generally comprising
6,000 to 15,000 square feet. Certain Company-operated Aaron's stores consist solely of a showroom. Below is a summary of our Aaron's Business
Company-operated stores by location:

Stores Stores

Alaska 2 Mississippi 27

Alabama 30North Carolina 62

Arkansas 10New Hampshire 5

Arizona 25New Jersey 9

California 32New Mexico 19

Colorado 8 Nevada 5

Connecticut 9 New York 31

Delaware 1 Ohio 58

Florida 76Oklahoma 24

Georgia 68Oregon 20

Iowa 1 Pennsylvania 34

Idaho 7 Rhode Island 2

Illinois 18South Carolina 32

Indiana 25Tennessee 41

Kansas 6 Texas 143

Kentucky 6 Utah 2

Louisiana 40Virginia 34

Massachusetts 13Vermont 3

Maryland 10Washington 16

Maine 7 West Virginia 1

Michigan 27Wyoming 1

Missouri 13Canada 16

Total Company-operated Aaron's Stores 1,019 

BrandsMart U.S.A. stores average approximately 96,000 square feet. Below is a summary of our BrandsMart U.S.A stores by location:

Stores

Florida 8

Georgia 3

Total BrandsMart U.S.A. Stores 11

Our principal executive office is located at 400 Galleria Parkway SE, Suite 300, Atlanta, Georgia 30339. Below is a list of our principal facilities that are
operational as of December 31, 2023:

LOCATION SEGMENT, PRIMARY USE AND HOW HELD SQ. FT.

Atlanta, Georgia Executive/Administrative Offices – Leased 74,000 

Ft. Lauderdale, Florida Administrative Offices – Leased 25,150 

Various properties in Cairo and Coolidge,
Georgia

Furniture Manufacturing, Furniture Parts Warehouse, Administration and
Showroom – Primarily Owned

738,000 

We believe that all of our facilities are well maintained and adequate for their current and reasonably foreseeable uses.
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ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

In Jacob Atkinson v. Aaron’s, LLC dba Aaron’s Sales & Lease Ownership, LLC , Civil Action No. 2:23-cv-01742-BJR (W.D. Wash.), filed on October 11,
2023, currently before the United States District Court for the Western District of Washington, plaintiff alleges that the Company violated Washington’s
Equal Pay and Opportunity Act, RCW 49.58.110, because certain of the Company’s job postings did not include a wage scale or salary range. Because
the statute is new, issues including standing, applicability as to who it covers, and the constitutionality of the statutory penalty have not been determined.
Plaintiff seeks injunctive and declaratory relief and also seeks certification of a putative class. On January 22, 2024, the Company filed a motion to
dismiss the lawsuit.

The assessment as to whether a loss is probable or reasonably possible, and as to whether such loss or a range of such losses is estimable, often
involves significant judgment about future events, and the outcome of litigation is inherently uncertain. Other than as described above, there is no
material pending or threatened litigation against the Company that remains outstanding as of December 31, 2023. For further information, see Note 10 in
the accompanying consolidated financial statements under the heading "Legal Proceedings," which discussion is incorporated by reference in response
to this Item 3.

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable.
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PART II

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY

Market Information, Holders, and Dividends

The Aaron's Company, Inc. is listed on the NYSE under the symbol "AAN".

The number of shareholders of record of the Company's common stock at February 21, 2024 was 251.

Dividends will be payable only when, and if, declared by our Board and will be subject to our ongoing ability to generate sufficient income and free cash
flow, any future capital needs and other contingencies. Under the Credit Facility (as defined in Note 8 of the accompanying consolidated financial
statements), we may pay cash dividends in any year so long as, after giving pro forma effect to the dividend payment, we maintain compliance with our
financial covenants and no event of default has occurred or would result from the payment.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

The following table presents our share repurchase activity for the three months ended December 31, 2023:

Period
Total Number of Shares

Purchased
Average Price
Paid per share

Total Number of Shares
Purchased as Part of Publicly
Announced Plans or Programs

Maximum Dollar Value of
Shares that May Yet Be

Purchased Under the Plans
or Programs

October 1, 2023 through October 31, 2023 — $ — — $ 127,033,496 

November 1, 2023 through November 30, 2023 1,945 8.07 1,945 127,017,800 

December 1, 2023 through December 31, 2023 — — — 127,017,800 

Total 1,945 1,945 

Share repurchases are conducted under authorizations made from time to time by our Board. The most recent authorization was publicly announced
on March 2, 2022, which increased the Company's share repurchase authorization amount to $250.0 million from the previous authorized amount of
$150.0 million, and extended the maturity date by one year to December 31, 2024. Subject to the terms of our Board's authorization and applicable law,
repurchases may be made at such times and in such amounts as the Company deems appropriate through December 31, 2024. Repurchases may be
discontinued at any time.

1

1 
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Performance Graph

Comparison of 37 Month Cumulative Total Return*
Among The Aaron's Company, Inc., the S&P Smallcap 600 Index, and the S&P 600 Specialty Retail Index

*$100 invested on 11/30/2020 in stock or index, including reinvestment of dividends for the fiscal period ending December 31, 2023.

The line graph above and the table below compare, for the period immediately after the separation and distribution date (as described in the 2022
Annual Report) through the remainder of the fiscal year ending December 31, 2020 and the fiscal years ending December 31, 2021, December 31, 2022
and December 31, 2023, the dollar change in the cumulative total shareholder returns (assuming reinvestment of dividends) on the Company's common
stock with that of the S&P Smallcap 600 Index and the S&P 600 Specialty Retail Index. We regularly evaluate our Peer Group Indexes to ensure each is
reflective of our Company's business operations and characteristics. Prior to 2022, the Company's Peer Group indexes consisted of the S&P Smallcap
600 Index and the S&P 600 Retailing Index. During the year ended December 31, 2022, management elected to update the indexes for the Company's
Peer Group to include the S&P 600 Specialty Retail Index, as it was determined to better align with the Company for benchmarking and performance
incentive purposes.

11/30/2020 12/31/2020 12/31/2021 12/31/2022 12/31/2023

The Aaron's Company, Inc. $ 100.00 $ 98.80 $ 130.33 $ 65.13 $ 62.03 

S&P Smallcap 600 100.00 108.32 137.37 115.26 $ 133.76 

S&P 600 Specialty Retail Index 100.00 108.42 181.12 142.31 $ 178.66 

ITEM 6. [RESERVED]

Not applicable.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following Management's Discussion and Analysis ("MD&A") should be read in conjunction with other documents filed by The Aaron's Company, Inc.
("the Company") with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC") and the audited Consolidated Financial Statements and corresponding notes
thereto included in Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. A review of the Company’s fiscal 2023 performance compared to fiscal 2022 appears
below under "Results of Operations," "Overview of Financial Position," and "Liquidity and Capital Resources." A review of the Company’s fiscal 2022
performance compared to fiscal 2021 can be found in Item 7 of the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2022, filed
with the SEC on March 1, 2023, which is hereby incorporated by reference.

This MD&A contains forward-looking statements and the matters discussed in these forward-looking statements are subject to risk, uncertainties, and
other factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from those made, projected or implied in the forward-looking statements. Please see "Risk
Factors" and "Cautionary Statement Concerning Forward-Looking Statements" for a discussion of the uncertainties, risks, and assumptions associated
with these statements included in Item 1A of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Business Overview

The Company is a leading, technology-enabled, omni-channel provider of lease-to-own ("LTO") and retail purchase solutions of furniture, appliances,
electronics, and other home goods across its brands: Aaron's, BrandsMart U.S.A., BrandsMart Leasing, and Woodhaven Furniture Industries
("Woodhaven").

As of December 31, 2023, the Company's operating and reportable segments are the Aaron's Business and BrandsMart, each as described below.

The Aaron's Business segment is comprised of (i) Aaron's branded Company-operated and franchise operated stores; (ii) its e-commerce platform
("aarons.com"); (iii) Woodhaven; and (iv) BrandsMart Leasing (collectively, the "Aaron’s Business").

The operations of BrandsMart U.S.A. (excluding BrandsMart Leasing) comprise the BrandsMart segment (collectively, "BrandsMart").

Aaron's Business Segment

Since its founding in 1955, Aaron's has been committed to serving the overlooked and underserved customer with a dedication to inclusion and improving
the communities in which it operates. Through a portfolio of approximately 1,240 stores and its aarons.com e-commerce platform, Aaron's, together with
its franchisees, provide consumers with LTO and retail purchase solutions for the products they need and want, with a focus on providing its customers
with unparalleled customer service, high approval rates, lease plan flexibility, and an attractive value proposition, including competitive monthly payments
and total cost of ownership, as compared to other LTO providers.

Woodhaven manufactures and supplies a significant portion of the upholstered furniture leased and sold in Company-operated and franchised Aaron's
stores.

Launched in 2022, BrandsMart Leasing offers LTO purchase solutions to customers of BrandsMart U.S.A.

BrandsMart Segment

Founded in 1977, BrandsMart U.S.A. is one of the leading appliance and consumer electronics retailers in the southeast United States and one of the
largest appliance retailers in the country with 11 stores in Florida and Georgia and a growing e-commerce presence on brandsmartusa.com.

BrandsMart U.S.A. Acquisition

On April 1, 2022, the Company completed the previously announced transaction to acquire a 100% ownership of Interbond Corporation of America, doing
business as BrandsMart U.S.A. The Company paid total consideration of $230 million in cash under the terms of the agreement and additional amounts
for working capital adjustments and transaction related fees. Consideration transferred also included the off-market value associated with certain
operating leases entered into in
conjunction with the transaction. The results of BrandsMart, which is presented as a separate reportable segment, have been included in the Company's
consolidated results from the April 1, 2022 acquisition date.

Management believes that the BrandsMart U.S.A. acquisition will strengthen the Company's ability to deliver on its mission of enhancing people’s lives
by providing easy access to high quality furniture, appliances, electronics, and other home goods through affordable lease to own and retail purchase
options. Management also believes that value creation opportunities include leveraging the Company's lease-to-own expertise to provide BrandsMart
U.S.A.'s customers enhanced payment options and offering a wider selection of products to millions of Aaron’s customers, as well as generating
procurement savings and other cost synergies.
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Multi-Year Strategic Plan

Our management team is committed to executing against the following multi-year strategic priorities to further transform and grow the overall business:

• Transform the Aaron's Business

• Promote our Value Proposition to Retain and Attract New Customers to our Brand  – We continue to invest in e-commerce,
innovative marketing campaigns, and our lease decisioning and digital platforms to illustrate our value proposition to new and existing
customers. Such initiatives and investments include:

◦ Making investments to drive growth and consumer traffic through our e-commerce customer acquisition channel by investing in
enhancements that provide a fully transactional, mobile, and seamless shopping experience that includes broader product
selections, all of which are intended to attract new and younger customers.

◦ Utilizing a broad spectrum of traditional and digital marketing communications in both English and Spanish, ranging from direct
mail, social media, display, and local market media, all allowing us to customize messages around price, value, and payment
flexibility. The Company is also increasing its local marketing and promotions focus on weekly payment offerings to attract more
customers and gain market share.

◦ Continuing investments in lease decisioning and other digital platforms that allow us to optimize lease portfolio performance and
lease renewal rate through analytics, machine learning, and operational practices. Other digital investments, aimed at
enhancing the customer's experience and improving customer payment activity, include digital payment and servicing platforms.

• Align the Aaron's Store Footprint to our Customer Opportunity – We continue to invest in our market strategy capabilities to make
better-informed, evidence-driven decisions around store location and the optimization of operating expenses. We regularly review our
Aaron's real estate portfolio, which we expect will increase profitability through repositioning, remodeling, and consolidating our existing
stores via our next-generation store concept ("GenNext"). The GenNext store concept features include larger showrooms and/or re-
engineered store layouts, updated signage, expanded product assortment, enhanced technology-enabled shopping and checkout, and
an innovative operating model. We have also enhanced our market optimization strategy with a new "Hub and Showroom" model which
leverages existing infrastructure to more efficiently serve markets by combining servicing capabilities of multiple stores into a "hub" store
while converting other nearby stores into "showrooms" that focus exclusively on sales activities.

We expect that our market optimization program, together with our aarons.com e-commerce platform and increased use of technology to
better serve our customers, will continue to enable us to reduce store operating costs and lower working capital requirements while
better serving our existing markets, and attracting new customers through expansion into new markets in the future. As of December 31,
2023, we have 254 GenNext stores in our portfolio with plans to open up to an additional 20 GenNext concept stores and 10 showrooms
during 2024.

• Enhance and Grow BrandsMart

• Grow Addressable Market - The acquisition of BrandsMart U.S.A. broadens our customer reach and significantly expands our total
addressable market. Our BrandsMart growth initiatives include:

◦ Capturing share in adjacent geographic markets by opening new BrandsMart stores. In 2023, we opened one new store, and we
expect to open 1-2 new stores each year going forward.

◦ Making investments to drive growth and customer traffic by investing in enhanced customer payment and financing programs,
improved online shopping experience, enhanced digital marketing strategies, and expanded product selection.

• Achieve Transaction Synergies  - We continue to make progress in executing our synergy initiatives in connection with the acquisition
of BrandsMart U.SA. in order to drive meaningful value-creation opportunities for the business.

• Enterprise Initiatives

• Strengthen Operational Efficiencies and Optimize Cost Structure - During the third quarter of 2022, the Company initiated an
operational efficiency and optimization restructuring program intended to reduce the Company’s overall costs. This program includes the
optimization of store support center functions, multi-unit
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store oversight, store labor and operations, supply chain, the expansion of the Hub and Showroom model, as well as other reductions in
real estate and third party spend. Management believes that implementing this program will help the Company optimize its cost profile,
allocate capital resources towards long-term strategic objectives, and generate incremental value for shareholders.

• Further environmental, social, and governance initiatives ("ESG") - We continue to invest in building a people-focused workplace
culture and in opportunities to make a positive impact on the environment and the communities where our customers and team
members live and work. To do this, we continued to enhance our compliance, enterprise risk management, corporate governance,
diversity and inclusion, and environmental management programs and have developed roadmaps for continuing to enhance these
programs in 2024 and beyond.

Restructuring Programs

As management continues to execute on its long-term strategic plan, additional benefits and charges are expected to result from our restructuring
programs. The extent of any future charges related to our restructuring programs are not currently estimable and depend on various factors including the
timing and scope of future cost optimization initiatives.

Real Estate Repositioning and Optimization Restructuring Program

During the first quarter of 2020, the Company initiated a real estate repositioning and optimization program to optimize our Company-operated Aaron's
store portfolio via our GenNext store concept, which features larger showrooms and/or re-engineered store layouts, increased product selection,
technology-enabled shopping and checkout, and a refined operating model. We expect that this strategy, together with our aarons.com e-commerce
platform and increased use of technology to better serve our customers, will enable us to reduce store operating costs while continuing to better serve our
existing markets, as well as attract new customers and expand into new markets in the future.

Since initiation, the program has resulted in the closure, consolidation or relocation of a total of 250 Company-operated Aaron's stores through 2023. This
program also resulted in the closure of one administrative store support building and a further rationalization of our store support center staff, which
included a reduction in employee headcount in those areas to more closely align with current business conditions.

During 2023, the Company opened 43 new GenNext locations. Combined with the 211 locations open at the beginning of the year, total GenNext stores
contributed 29.7% of total lease revenues and fees and retail revenues for the Aaron's Business segment in 2023. As of December 31, 2023, we have
identified approximately 12 remaining stores for closure, consolidation, or relocation that have not yet been closed and vacated, which are generally
expected to close in 2024. We will continue to evaluate our Company-operated Aaron's store portfolio to determine how to best rationalize and reposition
our store base to better align with marketplace demand.

While not all specific locations have been identified under the real estate repositioning and optimization restructuring program, the Company's current
strategic plan is to remodel, reposition and consolidate our Company-operated Aaron's store footprint over the next two to three years. We believe that
such strategic actions will allow the Company to continue to successfully serve our markets while continuing to utilize our growing aarons.com shopping
and servicing platform. Management expects that this strategy, along with our increased use of technology, will enable us to reduce store count while
retaining a significant portion of our existing customer relationships and attract new customers.
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Since inception of the real estate repositioning and optimization program, the Company has incurred charges of $70.8 million under the plan. These
cumulative charges are primarily comprised of operating lease right-of-use asset and fixed impairment charges, losses recognized related to contractual
lease obligations, and severance related to reductions in store support center and field support staff headcount. We expect future restructuring expenses
(reversals) due to potential future early buyouts of leases with landlords, as well as continuing variable occupancy costs related to closed stores.

Operational Efficiency and Optimization Restructuring Program

During the third quarter of 2022, the Company initiated an operational efficiency and optimization restructuring program intended to reduce the
Company’s overall costs. Management believes that implementing this restructuring program will help the Company sharpen its operational focus,
optimize its cost profile, allocate capital resources towards long-term strategic objectives, and generate incremental value for shareholders through
investments in technological capabilities, and fulfillment center and logistics competencies. The program resulted in the closure or consolidation of 38
Company-operated Aaron's stores during the year ended December 31, 2023. This program also includes the Hub and Showroom model to optimize
labor in markets, store labor realignments, optimization of the Company's supply chain, the centralization and optimization of store support center,
operations, and multi-unit store oversight functions, as well as other real estate and third party spend costs reductions.

Total net restructuring expenses under the Operational Efficiency and Optimization Restructuring Program related to the initiatives described above were
$6.4 million during the year ended December 31, 2023. Such expenses were recorded within the Unallocated Corporate category for segment reporting
and were comprised mainly of professional advisory fees, severance, operating lease right-of-use asset impairment charges, fixed asset impairment
charges and continuing variable occupancy costs incurred related to closed stores. Management expects future restructuring expenses (reversals) due to
potential early buyouts of leases with landlords, as well as continuing variable occupancy costs related to closed stores.

In January 2024, the Company completed a headcount reduction of its store support center to more closely align with current business conditions
resulting in the recognition of $2.1 million in severance charges. Additional cost saving initiatives are planned to improve earnings in 2024 and later years.

Operating Segment Performance

As discussed above, the Company conducts its operations through two primary operating business segments: the Aaron’s Business and BrandsMart.
Effective April 1, 2022, the Company changed its composition of reportable segments to align the reportable segments with the current organizational
structure, which includes separate segments for the Aaron's Business and BrandsMart, along with an Unallocated Corporate category for remaining
unallocated costs including equity-based compensation, interest income and expense, information security, executive compensation, legal and
compliance, corporate governance, accounting and finance, human resources and other corporate functions. The Unallocated Corporate category also
includes acquisition-related costs, restructuring charges, goodwill impairment charges, and separation costs for which the individual operating segments
are not being evaluated.

The Company evaluates segment performance based primarily on revenues and earnings (loss) from operations before unallocated corporate costs,
which are evaluated on a consolidated basis and not allocated to the Company's business segments. Intersegment sales between BrandsMart and the
Aaron's Business pertaining to BrandsMart Leasing, are completed at retail prices. Since the intersegment profit affects cost of goods sold, depreciation
and lease merchandise valuation, they are adjusted when intersegment profit is eliminated in consolidation.

The Company has retroactively adjusted, for all periods presented, its segment disclosures to align with the current composition of reportable segments.
The discussion of the results of operations for segment performance measures within the "Segment Performance" sections throughout this
Management's Discussion and Analysis do not include unallocated corporate expenses.

Fiscal Year 2023 Highlights

We have been actively monitoring the impact of the current challenging macroeconomic environment, including inflation, rising interest rates, the slowing
of consumer demand, labor shortages, and business disruptions due to political or economic instability, including global conflicts such as the Russia-
Ukraine conflict and related economic sanctions and the conflict in Israel, Palestine and surrounding areas, on all aspects of our business. We anticipate
that demanding market conditions, including reduced consumer demand and elevated levels of inflation, will continue throughout 2024 and beyond. We
anticipate that these headwinds will be partially mitigated by our cost cutting and real estate repositioning and optimization strategies further described
above.

The following summarizes significant highlights from the year ended December 31, 2023:

• Consolidated revenues were $2.14 billion in 2023 compared to $2.25 billion in 2022, a decrease of 4.9%. This decrease is primarily due to a year
over year decline in the Aaron's Business segment of $157.0 million, partially offset by a full-year inclusion of BrandsMart in the Company's
consolidated results.
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• Total revenues for the Aaron's Business were $1.55 billion in 2023 compared to $1.70 billion in 2022, a decrease of 9.2%. This decrease is
primarily driven by a lower lease portfolio size throughout the year, as well as a lower exercise of early purchase options and lower retail and
non-retail sales.

• The lease portfolio size, excluding BrandsMart Leasing, began 2023 at $126.5 million, down 7.2% compared to the beginning of 2022, and ended
2023 at $117.7 million, down 7.0% compared to the end of 2022.

• E-commerce revenues, increased 6.6% at the Aaron's Business and by 2.9% at BrandsMart during the year ended December 31, 2023.

• During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company opened 43 new GenNext locations. Combined with the 211 locations open at the
beginning of the year, total GenNext stores contributed 29.7% of total lease and retail revenues for the Aaron's Business during the year ended
December 31, 2023.

• The loss before income taxes was $1.1 million during the year ended December 31, 2023 and was negatively impacted by restructuring charges
of $15.6 million, BrandsMart U.S.A. acquisition-related costs of $3.6 million, and acquisition-related intangible amortization expense of $10.3
million.

• Diluted earnings per share for the year ended December 31, 2023 were $0.09 compared with diluted losses per share of $0.17 in 2022.

• The Company repurchased 608,007 shares of common stock for $6.5 million during the year ended December 31, 2023.

Key Performance Metrics

The following table presents store activity by ownership type:

2023 2022 2021

Company-operated Aaron's Stores

Company-operated Aaron's stores open at January 1, 1,034 1,074 1,092 

Opened — — — 

Added through acquisition — — 11 

Closed, sold or merged (15) (40) (29)

Company-operated Aaron's stores open at December 31, 1,019 1,034 1,074 

GenNext (included in Company-Operated) 254 211 116

Franchised Aaron's Stores

Franchised Aaron's stores open at January 1, 232 236 248 

Purchased by the Company — — (11)

Closed, sold or merged (8) (4) (1)

Franchised Aaron's stores open at December 31, 224 232 236 

BrandsMart U.S.A. Stores

BrandsMart U.S.A. stores open at January 1, 10 — — 

Purchased by the Company — 10 — 

Opened following the acquisition 1 — — 

BrandsMart U.S.A. stores open at December 31, 11 10 — 

The typical layout for a Company-operated Aaron's store is a combination of showroom, customer service and warehouse space, generally comprising
6,000 to 15,000 square feet. Certain Company-operated Aaron's stores consist solely of a showroom.

BrandsMart U.S.A. stores average approximately 96,000 square feet and have been included in this table subsequent to the acquisition date of April 1,
2022.

The following table presents Company-operated Aaron's stores by type:

1

2

1 

2 
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Company-operated Aaron's Store Types as of December 31, 2023 GenNext Legacy Total

Store 186 605 791 

Hub 58 56 114 

Showroom 10 104 114 

Total 254 765 1,019 

Aaron's Business

Lease Portfolio Size. Our lease portfolio size for the Aaron's Business, excluding BrandsMart Leasing, represents the total balance of collectible lease
payments for the next month derived from our aggregate outstanding customer lease agreements at a point in time. As of the end of any month, the
lease portfolio size is calculated as the lease portfolio size at the beginning of the period plus collectible lease payments for the next month derived from
new lease agreements originated in the period less the reduction in collectible lease payments for the next month primarily as a result of customer
agreements that reach full ownership, customer early purchase option exercises, lease merchandise returns, and write-offs. Lease portfolio size provides
management insight into expected future collectible lease payments. The Company ended the fourth quarter of 2023 with a lease portfolio size for all
Company-operated Aaron's stores of $117.7 million, a decrease of 7.0% compared to the lease portfolio size as of December 31, 2022.

Lease Renewal Rate. Our lease renewal rate for the Aaron's Business, excluding BrandsMart Leasing, for any given period represents the weighted
average of the monthly lease renewal rates for each month in the period. The monthly lease renewal rate for any month is calculated by dividing (i) the
lease revenues collected or renewed related to leased merchandise for such month by (ii) the lease portfolio size as of the beginning of such month. The
lease renewal rate provides management insight into the Company's success in retaining current customers within our customer lease portfolio over a
given period and provides visibility into expected future customer lease payments and the related lease revenue. The lease renewal rate for 2023 was
87.1%, compared to 87.5% for 2022.

BrandsMart

Comparable Sales. We believe that changes in comparable sales is a key performance indicator for the BrandsMart operating segment as it provides
management insight into the performance of existing stores and e-commerce business by measuring the change in sales for a particular period over the
comparable prior period. Comparable sales includes retail sales generated at BrandsMart stores (including retail sales to BrandsMart Leasing), e-
commerce sales initiated on the website or app, warranty revenue, gift card breakage, and sales of merchandise to wholesalers and dealers, as
applicable. Comparable sales excludes service center related revenues.

Comparable sales for the year ended December 31, 2023 have not been provided, as a comparable period was not included in the prior period
consolidated results as of December 31, 2022, due to the completion of the BrandsMart acquisition on April 1, 2022.

Key Components of Loss Before Income Taxes

In this management’s discussion and analysis section, we review our consolidated results. The financial statements for the year ended December 31,
2023 and comparable prior year period are consolidated financial statements of the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiaries, and are based on the
financial position and results of operations of the Company. The results of BrandsMart, which is presented as a separate reportable segment, have been
included in the Company's consolidated results from the April 1, 2022 acquisition date.

For the year ended December 31, 2023 and the comparable prior year period, some of the key revenue, cost and expense items that affected loss before
income taxes were as follows:

Revenues. We separate our total revenues into four components: (a) lease revenues and fees; (b) retail sales; (c) non-retail sales; and (d) franchise
royalties and other revenues. Lease revenues and fees primarily include all revenues derived from lease agreements at both our Aaron's and BrandsMart
Leasing brands and fees from our Aaron's Club program. Lease revenues and fees are recorded net of a provision for uncollectible accounts receivable
related to lease renewal payments from lease agreements with customers. Retail sales primarily include the sale of merchandise inventories from our
BrandsMart operations and the related warranty revenues, as well as the sale of both new and pre-leased merchandise from our Company-operated
Aaron's stores. Non-retail sales primarily represent new merchandise sales to our Aaron's franchisees and, to a lesser extent, sales of Woodhaven
manufactured products to third-party retailers. Franchise royalties and other revenues primarily represent fees from the sale of franchise rights and royalty
payments from franchisees, as well as other related income from our franchised stores. Franchise royalties and other revenues also include revenues
from leasing Company-owned real estate properties to unrelated third parties, as well as other miscellaneous revenues.
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Depreciation of Lease Merchandise and Other Lease Revenue Costs . Depreciation of lease merchandise and other lease revenue costs is comprised of
the depreciation expense associated with depreciating merchandise held for lease and leased to customers by our Company-operated Aaron's stores,
aarons.com and BrandsMart Leasing, as well as the costs associated with the Aaron's Club program.

Retail Cost of Sales. Retail cost of sales includes cost of merchandise inventories sold through our BrandsMart U.S.A. stores and the depreciated cost of
merchandise sold through our Company-operated Aaron's stores. Retail cost of sales for the BrandsMart segment during the year ended December 31,
2022 includes a one-time $23.1 million non-cash charge for a fair value adjustment to the acquired merchandise inventories.

Non-Retail Cost of Sales. Non-retail cost of sales primarily represents the cost of merchandise sold to our Aaron's franchisees and, to a lesser extent, the
cost of Woodhaven's manufactured products sold to third-party retailers.

Personnel Costs. Personnel costs represents total compensation costs incurred for services provided by team members of the Company with the
exception of compensation costs that are eligible for capitalization.

Other Operating Expenses, Net. Other operating expenses, net includes occupancy costs (including rent expense, store maintenance and depreciation
expense related to non-manufacturing facilities), shipping and handling, advertising and marketing, intangible asset amortization expense, professional
services expense, bank and credit card related fees and other miscellaneous expenses. Other operating expenses, net also includes gains or losses on
sales of Company-operated stores and delivery vehicles, fair value adjustments on assets held for sale and gains or losses on other transactions
involving property, plant and equipment. Other operating expenses, net excludes costs that have been capitalized or that are a component of the
Company's restructuring programs.

Provision for Lease Merchandise Write-offs. Provision for lease merchandise write-offs represents charges incurred related to estimated and actual lease
merchandise write-offs.

Restructuring Expenses, Net.  Restructuring expenses, net are comprised principally of closed store operating lease right-of-use asset impairment and
operating lease charges, fixed asset impairment charges, professional advisory fees, and expenses related to workforce reductions. Such costs are
recorded within the Unallocated Corporate category of segment reporting. Refer to Note 11 of the accompanying consolidated financial statements for
further discussion of restructuring expenses, net.

Impairment of Goodwill. Impairment of goodwill is the full write-off of the goodwill balance at the Aaron's Business reporting unit that occurred during the
year ended December 31, 2022. Refer to Note 3 of the accompanying consolidated financial statements for further discussion of the interim goodwill
impairment assessment and the resulting impairment charge. This impairment charge was recorded within the Unallocated Corporate category of
segment reporting.

Separation Costs. Separation costs represent employee-related expenses associated with the 2020 spin-off transaction, including employee-related
costs, incremental stock-based compensation expense associated with the conversion and modification of unvested and unexercised equity awards and
other one-time expenses incurred by the Company to operate as an independent, standalone public entity. Such costs are recorded within the
Unallocated Corporate category of segment reporting.

Acquisition-Related Costs. Acquisition-related costs primarily represent third-party consulting, banking and legal expenses associated with the
acquisition of BrandsMart U.S.A. in April 2022. Such costs are recorded within the Unallocated Corporate category of segment reporting.

Interest Expense. Interest expense consists primarily of interest on the Company's variable rate borrowings, commitment fees on unused balances of the
Credit Facility (as defined below), as well as the amortization of debt issuance costs. Such costs are recorded within the Unallocated Corporate category
of segment reporting.

Other Non-Operating Income (Expense), Net. Other non-operating income (expense), net includes the impact of foreign currency remeasurement, as well
as gains and losses resulting from changes in the cash surrender value of Company-owned life insurance related to the Company’s deferred
compensation plan. This activity also includes earnings on cash and cash equivalent investments.
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Consolidated Results of Operations – Years Ended December 31, 2023 and 2022
The results of BrandsMart, which is presented as a separate reportable segment, have been included in the Company's consolidated results from the
April 1, 2022 acquisition date.

  Change

 Year Ended December 31, 2023 vs. 2022

(In Thousands) 2023 2022 $ %

REVENUES:

Lease Revenues and Fees $ 1,399,514 $ 1,529,125 $ (129,611) (8.5)%

Retail Sales 620,665 585,624 35,041 6.0 

Non-Retail Sales 96,710 110,531 (13,821) (12.5)

Franchise Royalties and Other Revenues 23,001 24,154 (1,153) (4.8)

2,139,890 2,249,434 (109,544) (4.9)

COSTS OF REVENUES:

Depreciation of Lease Merchandise and Other Lease Revenue
Costs 466,648 513,659 (47,011) (9.2)

Retail Cost of Sales 471,946 474,879 (2,933) (0.6)

Non-Retail Cost of Sales 81,977 99,123 (17,146) (17.3)

1,020,571 1,087,661 (67,090) (6.2)

GROSS PROFIT 1,119,319 1,161,773 (42,454) (3.7)

Gross Profit % 52.3% 51.6%

OPERATING EXPENSES:

Personnel Costs 507,819 515,144 (7,325) (1.4)

Other Operating Expenses, Net 498,019 490,143 7,876 1.6 

Provision for Lease Merchandise Write-Offs 81,495 97,564 (16,069) (16.5)

Restructuring Expenses, Net 15,597 32,717 (17,120) (52.3)

Impairment of Goodwill — 12,933 (12,933) (100.0)

Separation Costs 201 1,204 (1,003) (83.3)

Acquisition-Related Costs 3,638 14,616 (10,978) (75.1)

1,106,769 1,164,321 (57,552) (4.9)

OPERATING PROFIT (LOSS) 12,550 (2,548) 15,098 nmf

Interest Expense (15,512) (9,875) 5,637 57.1 

Other Non-Operating Income (Expense), Net 1,904 (2,320) 4,224 nmf

LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAXES (1,058) (14,743) 13,685 92.8

INCOME TAX BENEFIT (3,881) (9,463) (5,582) (59.0)

NET EARNINGS (LOSS) $ 2,823 $ (5,280) $ 8,103 nmf

nmf—Calculation is not meaningful
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Revenues. Total consolidated revenues were $2.14 billion during the year ended December 31, 2023, a $109.5 million decrease compared to the year
ended December 31, 2022. This decrease was primarily due to a $157.0 million decrease in revenues at the Aaron's Business segment during the year
ended December 31, 2023, as further discussed in the "Segment Performance" section below. This decrease was partially offset by full year results from
the BrandsMart segment in 2023.

Gross Profit.  Consolidated gross profit for the Company was $1.12 billion during the year ended December 31, 2023, a $42.5 million decrease
compared to the prior year period. This decrease was primarily driven by an $84.7 million decrease in gross profit at the Aaron's Business segment
during the year ended December 31, 2023, as further discussed in the "Segment Performance" section below. This decrease was partially offset by full
year results from the BrandsMart segment in 2023. Gross profit for the BrandsMart segment during 2022 includes a one-time $23.1 million non-cash
charge for a fair value adjustment to the acquired merchandise inventories.

As a percentage of total consolidated revenues, consolidated gross profit increased to 52.3% during 2023 compared to 51.6% in 2022 primarily due to
higher gross profit margin on non-retail sales in the Aaron's Business segment and the non-cash charge in the BrandsMart segment mentioned above.

Personnel Costs. Personnel costs decreased by $7.3 million due primarily to the optimization of store labor, store support, and operational oversight
functions at both business segments, partially offset by an increase in incentive based compensation and the BrandsMart segment contributing a full year
of personnel cost expense in 2023.

Other Operating Expenses, Net. Information about certain significant components of other operating expenses, net for the consolidated Company is as
follows:

Change

 Year Ended December 31, 2023 vs. 2022

(In Thousands) 2023 2022 $ %

Occupancy Costs $ 226,526 $ 215,431 $ 11,095 5.2 %

Other Miscellaneous Expenses, net 115,021 119,599 (4,578) (3.8)

Shipping and Handling 64,126 70,144 (6,018) (8.6)

Advertising Costs 41,361 39,121 2,240 5.7 

Bank and Credit Card Related Fees 33,382 31,081 2,301 7.4 

Professional Services 16,351 17,102 (751) (4.4)

Intangible Amortization 10,348 9,330 1,018 10.9 

Gains on Dispositions of Store-Related Assets, net (9,096) (11,665) 2,569 22.0 

Other Operating Expenses, net $ 498,019 $ 490,143 $ 7,876 1.6 %

As a percentage of total revenues, other operating expenses, net increased to 23.3% for the year ended December 31, 2023 from 21.8% for the same
period in 2022.

Occupancy costs increased during the year ended December 31, 2023 primarily due to the acquisition of BrandsMart U.S.A., which resulted in
occupancy costs of $41.1 million in the BrandsMart segment during the year ended December 31, 2023, as compared to $31.1 million for the nine
months ended December 31, 2022. Occupancy costs were also impacted by higher rent and depreciation of property, plant, and equipment associated
with newer Company-operated Aaron's store locations under our repositioning and optimization initiatives. These increases were partially offset by lower
maintenance and utility costs as well as lower occupancy costs due to the net reduction of 55 Company-operated Aaron's stores during the 24-month
period ended December 31, 2023.

Other miscellaneous expenses, net primarily represent the depreciation of IT-related property, plant and equipment, software licensing expenses,
franchisee-related reserves, and other expenses. The decrease in this category during the year ended December 31, 2023 is primarily due to the receipt
in January 2023 of a $3.8 million settlement of a class action lawsuit related to alleged anti-competitive conduct by several manufacturers of cathode ray
tubes, partially offset by the acquisition of BrandsMart U.S.A, which included a full year of results for the year ended December 31, 2023.

Shipping and handling costs decreased during the year ended December 31, 2023 primarily due to lower fuel and distribution costs driven by inflationary
and other economic pressures that were present during the year ended December 31, 2022, as well as lower product deliveries and returns during the
year ended December 31, 2023 as compared to the same period in 2022.

Advertising costs increased primarily due to higher spend to support the new store opening at BrandsMart U.S.A., partially offset by a decrease in
advertising spend at the Aaron's Business, including an increase in vendor marketing credits eligible to be applied as a reduction of advertising costs.
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Bank and credit card related fees increased primarily due to the acquisition of BrandsMart U.S.A., which resulted in bank and credit card related fees of
$13.3 million in the BrandsMart segment during the year ended December 31, 2023, as compared to $9.8 million for the nine months ended
December 31, 2022.

Intangible amortization increased primarily due to the amortization of intangible assets acquired in the BrandsMart U.S.A. acquisition for the full year
ended December 31, 2023, as compared to only nine months during the year ended December 31, 2022.

Gains on dispositions of store-related assets, net decreased primarily due to gains of $8.5 million recognized during the year ended December 31, 2022
related to sale and leaseback transactions for seven Company-owned Aaron's store properties. During year ended December 31, 2023, the Company
recognized gains of $5.4 million related to sale and leaseback transactions for five Company-owned Aaron's store properties.

Provision for Lease Merchandise Write-offs. The provision for lease merchandise write-offs as a percentage of lease revenues and fees for the Aaron's
Business was 5.8% for the year ended December 31, 2023 compared to 6.4% for the comparable period in 2022. Although economic pressures within
the broader macroeconomic environment continued to impact the liquidity of our customers which resulted in lower lease renewal rates, decisioning
enhancements made prior to 2023 contributed to lower write-offs of lease merchandise and a lower provision for lease merchandise write-offs, as
compared to the year ended December 31, 2022.

Restructuring Expenses, Net.  Restructuring activity for the year ended December 31, 2023 resulted in expenses of $15.6 million, which were primarily
comprised of $7.1 million of continuing variable occupancy costs incurred related to previously closed stores, $4.1 million of operating lease right-of-use
asset and fixed asset impairment for Company-operated Aaron's stores identified for closure in 2023, and $2.4 million of professional advisory fees and
other charges. Restructuring expenses for the year ended December 31, 2022 were $32.7 million, which were primarily comprised of $16.2 million of
operating lease right-of-use asset and fixed asset impairment for Company-operated Aaron's stores identified for closure in 2022 as well as an
administrative building in Kennesaw, Georgia, $7.2 million of continuing variable occupancy costs incurred related to previously closed stores, $4.9
million of professional advisory fees related to costs optimization initiatives, and $3.1 million of severance charges related to reductions in store support
center staff.

Separation Costs. Separation costs recognized during the years ended December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022 were $0.2 million and $1.2 million,
respectively, and primarily represent incremental stock-based compensation expense associated with the conversion and modification of unvested and
unexercised equity awards, employee-related expenses associated with the 2020 spin-off transaction and other one-time expenses incurred by the
Company to operate as an independent, separate public entity. These costs will be fully expensed in the first quarter of 2024.

Acquisition-Related Costs. Acquisition-related costs recognized during the years ended December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022 were $3.6 million
and $14.6 million, respectively, and primarily represent third-party consulting, banking and legal expenses associated with the acquisition of BrandsMart
U.S.A.

Operating Profit (Loss)

Interest Expense. Interest expense increased to $15.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2023 from $9.9 million for the year ended December 31,
2022. Interest expense for the year ended December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022 consists primarily of interest on the Company's variable rate
borrowings under the Credit Facility (defined below) and commitment fees on unused balances, as well as the amortization of debt issuance costs.

Other Non-Operating Income (Expense), Net.  Other non-operating income (expense), net, includes (a) net gains and losses resulting from changes in the
cash surrender value of Company-owned life insurance related to the Company's deferred compensation plan; (b) the impact of foreign currency
remeasurement; and (c) earnings on cash and cash equivalent investments. The changes in the cash surrender value of Company-owned life insurance
resulted in net gains of $1.9 million and net losses of $2.3 million during the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. Foreign currency
remeasurement net losses resulting from changes in the value of the U.S. dollar against the Canadian dollar and earnings on cash and cash equivalent
investments were not significant in 2023 or 2022.

Income Tax (Benefit) Expense

The Company recorded a net income tax benefit of $3.9 million during the year ended December 31, 2023 compared to an income tax benefit of $9.5
million for the same period in 2022. The effective tax rate increased to 366.8% for the year ended December 31, 2023 compared to 64.2% for the same
period in 2022. The net income tax benefit recognized in 2023 and resulting increase in the effective tax rate was primarily due to a loss before income
taxes of $1.1 million during the year ended December 31, 2023 as a result of the factors further described above, as well as the impact of a deferred
income tax benefit of $5.3 million generated by the remeasurement of state deferred tax assets and liabilities in connection with an election to file a
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consolidated state income tax return and a change in the expected state apportionment percentages related to the election to treat Aaron's, LLC, a
subsidiary of the Company, as a corporation for income tax purposes effective January 1, 2023.

Segment Performance – Years Ended December 31, 2023 and 2022

Aaron's Business Segment Results

Revenues. The following table presents revenue by source for the Aaron's Business segment for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022:  

 Year Ended December 31, Change

(In Thousands) 2023 2022 $ %

Lease Revenues and Fees $ 1,399,514 $ 1,529,125 $ (129,611) (8.5)%

Retail Sales 27,248 39,693 (12,445) (31.4)

Non-Retail Sales 96,710 110,531 (13,821) (12.5)

Franchise Royalties and Fees 22,312 23,376 (1,064) (4.6)

Other 689 778 (89) (11.4)

Total Revenues - Aaron's Business $ 1,546,473 $ 1,703,503 $ (157,030) (9.2)%

The decreases in lease revenues and fees and retail sales during the year ended December 31, 2023 were primarily due to a lower average lease
portfolio size during the period, a lower lease renewal rate, lower exercise of early purchase options, and lower retail sales during the year ended
December 31, 2023 compared to the prior year period.

E-commerce revenues increased 6.6% compared to the prior year period and were 18.7% and 15.9% of total lease revenues and fees during the years
ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

The decrease in non-retail sales is primarily due to comparatively lower lease merchandise inventory purchases by Aaron's franchisees stemming from
lower customer demand during 2023. Non-retail sales also decreased due to the reduction of 12 franchised stores during the 24-month period ended
December 31, 2023.

The decrease in franchise royalties and fees is primarily the result of a lower lease portfolio size at Aaron's franchisees during the period, due in part to
the reduction of 12 franchised stores during the 24-month period ended December 31, 2023, lower early purchase options, and lower retail sales.

Gross Profit and Earnings Before Income Taxes

 Year Ended December 31, Change

(In Thousands) 2023 2022 $ %

Gross Profit $ 976,547 $ 1,061,266 $ (84,719) (8.0)%

Earnings Before Income Taxes 99,041 122,220 (23,179) (19.0)

As a percentage of total revenues, gross profit for the Aaron's Business increased to 63.1% during the year ended December 31, 2023 compared to
62.3% for the comparable period in 2022. The factors impacting the change in gross profit are discussed below.

Gross profit for lease revenues and fees for the Aaron's Business was $0.9 billion and $1.0 billion during the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022,
respectively, which represented a gross profit margin of 66.6% and 66.4% for the respective periods. The increase in gross profit margin is primarily due
to a decreasing mix of lower margin early payout revenue in 2023 as compared to 2022.

Gross profit for retail sales for the Aaron's Business was $7.1 million and $10.7 million during the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022,
respectively, which represented a gross profit margin of 26.2% and 27.0% for the respective periods. The decline in gross profit margin is primarily an
unfavorable mix shift from retail sales of new merchandise to retail sales of returned merchandise in 2023 as compared to 2022.

Gross profit for non-retail sales for the Aaron's Business was $14.7 million and $11.4 million during the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022,
respectively, which represented a gross profit margin of 15.2% and 10.3% for the respective periods. The increase in gross profit percentage is primarily
due to a reduction in inventory costs during the year ended December 31, 2023, combined with pricing initiatives implemented by the Company.

Earnings before income taxes for the Aaron's Business segment decreased by $23.2 million during the year ended December 31, 2023 compared to the
prior year period primarily due to the $84.7 million decrease in gross profit, partially offset by lower personnel costs and other operating expenses at the
Aaron's Business.
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BrandsMart Segment Results

 Year Ended December 31, Change

(In Thousands) 2023 2022 $ %

Retail Sales $ 604,413 $ 552,465 $ 51,948 9.4 %

Gross Profit 143,660 101,364 42,296 41.7

Loss Before Income Taxes (5,029) (11,171) 6,142 55.0

Revenues. BrandsMart segment revenues, entirely comprised of retail sales, have been included in the Company's consolidated results from the April 1,
2022 acquisition date and were $604.4 million and $552.5 million during the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. This increase was
primarily driven by a full year of results being reflected for the year ended December 31, 2023, including the impact of a new BrandsMart store that
opened in the third quarter of 2023, compared to only nine months for the year ended December 31, 2022, partially offset by a decline in average ticket
and transaction volume.

Gross Profit. Gross profit for retail sales for the BrandsMart segment has been included in the Company's consolidated results from the April 1, 2022
acquisition date and was $143.7 million and $101.4 million during the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. As a percentage of
revenues, gross profit for the BrandsMart segment was 23.8% and 18.3% during the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. The
increase in gross profit margin was primarily driven by a one-time $23.1 million non-cash charge for a fair value adjustment to the acquired merchandise
inventories during the year ended December 31, 2022.

Loss Before Income Taxes. The BrandsMart segment reported a loss before income taxes of $5.0 million and $11.2 million during the years ended
December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. The results for the BrandsMart segment during the year ended December 31, 2022 reflect a one-time $23.1
million non-cash charge for a fair value adjustment to the acquired merchandise inventories.

Overview of Financial Position

The primary changes in the consolidated balance sheets from December 31, 2022 to December 31, 2023 include:

• Cash and cash equivalents increased $31.3 million to $59.0 million at December 31, 2023. For additional information, refer to the "Liquidity and
Capital Resources" section below.

• Debt decreased $48.5 million primarily due to repayments of $119.7 million on the Company's outstanding borrowings, partially offset by $71.1
million in proceeds from the Company's Revolver and Term Loan during the year ended December 31, 2023. Refer to the "Liquidity and Capital
Resources" section below for further details regarding the Company’s financing arrangements.

• Treasury shares increased $9.0 million due primarily to the Company's repurchase of 608,007 shares of common stock for $6.5 million during
the year ended December 31, 2023.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

General

Our primary uses of capital have historically consisted of (a) buying merchandise; (b) personnel expenditures; (c) purchases of property, plant and
equipment, including leasehold improvements for our new store concept and operating model; (d) expenditures related to corporate operating activities;
(e) income tax payments; and (f) expenditures for acquisitions. The Company also periodically repurchases common stock and pays quarterly cash
dividends. In 2023, uses of capital have included purchases, including leasehold improvements and merchandise inventory, associated with the opening
of a new BrandsMart store.

We currently expect to finance our primary capital requirements through cash flows from operations, and as necessary, borrowings under our Revolving
Facility. The Credit Facility (defined below) provides for a $175 million term loan (the "Term Loan") and a $375 million revolving credit facility (the
"Revolving Facility"), which includes (i) a $35 million sublimit for the issuance of letters of credit on customary terms, and (ii) a $35 million sublimit for
swing line loans on customary terms.

As of December 31, 2023, the Company had $59.0 million of cash and $331.0 million of availability under its $375.0 million Revolving Facility which is
further described in Note 8 to the accompanying consolidated financial statements.
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Cash Provided by Operating Activities

Cash provided by operating activities was $180.4 million and $170.4 million during the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. The
increase in operating cash flows was primarily driven by improved consolidated earnings results as well as lower lease merchandise purchases for the
year ended December 31, 2023 compared to the year ended December 31, 2022. The increases in cash provided by operating activities were partially
offset by a lower average lease portfolio size and a lower lease renewal rate during the year ended December 31, 2023 compared to 2022. Other
changes in cash provided by operating activities are discussed above in our discussion of results for the year ended December 31, 2023.

Cash Used in Investing Activities

Cash used in investing activities was $76.9 million and $351.4 million during the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

The $274.5 million decrease in investing cash outflows was primarily due to the purchase consideration of $265.6 million in 2022 related to the
BrandsMart U.S.A. acquisition, as well $13.6 million lower cash outflows for purchases of property, plant and equipment primarily related to GenNext
initiatives in 2023 compared to 2022, partially offset by $4.2 million lower proceeds from the sale of property, plant and equipment during the year ended
December 31, 2023, compared to the prior year period.

Cash (Used in) Provided by Financing Activities

Cash used in financing activities was $72.2 million during the year ended December 31, 2023 compared to cash provided by financing activities of $185.9
million during the year ended December 31, 2022. The $258.1 million change in financing cash flows during the year ended December 31, 2023 was
primarily due to the Company's borrowings under the Term Loan (defined above) and the Revolving Facility (defined above) that occurred during April
2022 to finance the BrandsMart U.S.A. acquisition, as well as a higher amount of repayments on the Company's outstanding borrowings during the year
ended December 31, 2023, compared to 2022. This was partially offset by $6.9 million lower outflows related to the repurchase of the Company's
common stock during the year ended December 31, 2023 compared to 2022, net repayments of $15.5 million under the Company's inventory financing
agreement during the year ended December 31, 2022, and debt issuance costs of $2.8 million being paid in 2022.

Share Repurchases

During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company repurchased 608,007 shares of the Company's common stock for a total purchase price of
$6.5 million. The total shares outstanding as of December 31, 2023 were 30,361,434 compared to 30,619,658 as of December 31, 2022. On March 2,
2022, the Company's Board of Directors increased the share repurchase authorization to $250.0 million from the original $150.0 million plan and
extended the maturity to December 31, 2024. As of December 31, 2023, we have the authority to purchase additional shares of $127.0 million up to our
remaining authorization limit.

Dividends

At its November 2023 meeting, our Board approved a quarterly dividend of $0.125 per share, which was paid to shareholders on January 4, 2024.
Aggregate dividend payments for the year ended December 31, 2023 were $15.0 million. We expect to continue paying this quarterly cash dividend,
subject to further approval from our Board. Although we expect to continue to pay a quarterly cash dividend, the timing, declaration, amount and payment
of future dividends to shareholders falls within the discretion of our Board. We cannot guarantee that we will pay a dividend in the future or continue to
pay any dividend.

On February 26, 2024, our Board declared a regular cash dividend of $0.125 per share, payable on April 3, 2024, to shareholders on record as of March
14, 2024.

Debt Financing

As of December 31, 2023, the total available credit under our $375.0 million Credit Facility (defined below) was $331.0 million, which reflects borrowings
of $169.5 million under the Term Loan, $25.0 million of outstanding borrowings under the Revolving Facility and $19.0 million for our outstanding letters
of credit.

On April 1, 2022, the Company entered into a new unsecured credit facility (the "Credit Facility") which replaced its previous $250 million unsecured
credit facility. The Credit Facility provides for a $175 million Term Loan and a $375 million Revolving Facility, which includes (i) a $35 million sublimit for
the issuance of letters of credit on customary terms, and (ii) a $35 million sublimit for swing line loans on customary terms. The Company borrowed $175
million under the Term Loan and $117 million under the Revolving Facility to finance the BrandsMart U.S.A. acquisition.
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Borrowings under the Revolving Facility and the Term Loan bear interest at a rate per annum equal to, at the option of the Company, (i) the forward-
looking term rate based on the Secured Overnight Financing Rate ("SOFR") plus an applicable margin ranging between 1.50% and 2.25%, based on the
Company’s Total Net Debt to EBITDA Ratio (as defined in the Credit Facility agreement), or (ii) the base rate plus an applicable margin, which is 1.00%
lower than the applicable margin for SOFR loans.

The loans and commitments under the Revolving Facility mature or terminate on April 1, 2027. The Term Loan amortizes in quarterly installments,
commencing on December 31, 2022, in an aggregate annual amount equal to (i) 2.50% of the original principal amount of the Term Loan during the first
and second years after the closing date, (ii) 5.00% of the original principal amount of the Term Loan during the third, fourth and fifth years after the
closing date, with the remaining principal balance of the Term Loan to be due and payable in full on April 1, 2027.

The Credit Facility contains customary financial covenants including (a) a maximum Total Net Debt to EBITDA Ratio of 2.75 to 1.00 and (b) a minimum
Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio of 1.75 to 1.00.

If we fail to comply with these covenants, we will be in default under these agreements, and all borrowings outstanding could become due immediately.
Under the Credit Facility and the Franchise Loan Facility (as defined below), we may pay cash dividends in any year so long as, after giving pro forma
effect to the dividend payment, we maintain compliance with our financial covenants and no event of default has occurred or would result from the
payment. We are in compliance with all of these covenants at December 31, 2023.

On February 23, 2024, the Company amended its revolving credit and term loan agreement (the "Credit Facility") to, among other things: (i) decrease the
Revolving Facility commitment from $375 million to $275 million, (ii) include a Security Agreement consisting of a first priority lien (subject to Permitted
Liens) on certain agreed upon assets of the Borrower and Guarantors, including a pledge of the capital stock of all existing and future Material
Subsidiaries of Holdings and excluding Real Property, and (iii) amend the existing Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio to lower the required minimum
threshold.

Commitments

During the year ended December 31, 2023, we made net income tax payments of $11.7 million. During the year ending December 31, 2024, we
anticipate making estimated cash payments of $9.0 million for federal income taxes and $1.0 million for state income taxes.

The Tax Cuts and Jobs Act of 2017, which was enacted in December 2017, provides for 100% expense deduction of certain qualified depreciable assets,
including lease merchandise inventory, purchased by the Company after September 27, 2017 (but would be phased down starting in 2023). Because of
our sales and lease ownership model, in which the Company remains the owner of merchandise on lease, we benefit more from bonus depreciation,
relatively, than traditional furniture, electronics and appliance retailers.

We estimate the deferred tax liability associated with bonus depreciation from the Tax Act and the prior tax legislation is approximately $118.0 million as
of December 31, 2023, of which approximately 70% is expected to reverse as a deferred income tax benefit in 2024 and most of the remainder during
2025. These amounts exclude bonus depreciation the Company will receive on qualifying expenditures after December 31, 2023.

Leases. We lease retail store and warehouse space for most of our store-based operations, as well as corporate office space for store and e-commerce
supporting functions, under operating leases expiring at various times through 2038, and our stores have an average remaining lease term of
approximately six years. Most of the leases contain renewal options for additional periods ranging from one to 20 years. Approximate future minimum
rental payments required under operating leases that have initial or remaining non-cancelable terms in excess of one year as of December 31, 2023 are
disclosed in Note 7 to the accompanying consolidated financial statements in this Annual Report.

Franchise Loan Guaranty. We have guaranteed the borrowings of certain independent franchisees under a franchise loan agreement (the "Franchise
Loan Facility") with a bank that is a party to our Revolving Facility. As further described in Note 8 to the accompanying consolidated financial statements,
a new Franchise Loan Facility agreement was entered into by the Company on April 1, 2022. This new agreement reduced the total commitment under
the Franchise Loan Facility, from $15.0 million to $12.5 million and extended the commitment termination date to March 31, 2023. As of December 31,
2023, the Franchise Loan Facility has a total commitment amount of $10.0 million and a maturity date of March 30, 2024, due to amendments executed
in 2023. On February 23, 2024, the Company amended its Franchise Loan Facility to conform to the changes resulting from the amendment to its Credit
Facility (described above), and to extend the maturity date to March 29, 2025. We are able to request an additional 364-day extension of our Franchise
Loan Facility, as long as we are not in violation of any of the covenants under that facility or our Revolving Facility, and no event of default exists under
those agreements, until such time as our Revolving Facility expires. We currently expect to include a franchise loan facility as part of any extension or
renewal of our Revolving Facility thereafter. At December 31, 2023, the maximum amount that the Company
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would be obligated to repay in the event franchisees defaulted was $4.9 million, which would be due in full within 75 days of the event of default.

Since the inception of the franchise loan program in 1994, losses associated with the program have been insignificant. However, such losses could be
significant in a future period due to potential adverse trends in the liquidity and/or financial performance of the Company's franchisees resulting in an
event of default or impending defaults by franchisees. The Company records a liability related to estimated future losses from repaying the franchisees'
outstanding debt obligations upon any possible future events of default. This liability is included in accounts payable and accrued expenses in the
consolidated balance sheets and was $1.0 million and $1.3 million as of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively. The liability for both
periods included qualitative consideration of potential losses, including uncertainties impacting the operations and liquidity of our franchisees.
Uncertainties include inflationary pressures in the macroeconomic environment.

Purchase Obligations. The Company has non-cancellable purchase obligations of $18.0 million primarily related to certain advertising and marketing
programs, software licenses, and hardware and software maintenance. Payments under these commitments are scheduled to be $11.3 million in 2024,
$5.6 million in 2025 and $1.1 million in 2026. These amounts include only those purchase obligations for which the timing and amount of payments is
certain. We have no long-term commitments to purchase merchandise nor do we have significant purchase agreements that specify minimum quantities
or set prices that exceed our expected requirements for three months.

Critical Accounting Estimates

Our critical accounting estimates are estimates made in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles ("GAAP") that involve a significant
level of management estimation and have had or are reasonably likely to have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements. Accordingly,
the actual results may differ materially from such estimates. For a discussion of the Company’s significant accounting policies, see Note 1 to the
accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Insurance

We retain a substantial portion of the risk related to employee health, workers’ compensation and general liability claims. However, we maintain stop-loss
coverage to limit the exposure related to certain insurance risks. We base our health insurance liability estimation trends in claim payment history,
historical trends in claims incurred but not yet reported and other components such as expected increases in medical costs, projected premium costs and
the number of plan participants. Additionally, we base our estimates for workers’ compensation, general and product liability on an actuarial analysis
performed by an independent third-party actuary. We review our insurance liability on a regular basis and adjust our accruals accordingly.

Changes in facts and circumstances may lead to a change in the estimated liability due to revisions of the estimated ultimate costs that affect our liability
insurance coverage. Our liabilities could be significantly affected if actual results differ from our expectations or prior actuarial analyses.

Goodwill and Other Intangible Asset Impairment

We review goodwill and other intangible assets for impairment annually, or when events or circumstances indicate it is more-likely-than-not that the value
of the asset may be impaired. In assessing these types of assets for impairment, there are significant estimates and assumptions used to determine the
fair value, including relevant market and economic conditions, anticipated future revenues and cash flows, royalty rates, and discount rates.

During a quantitative assessment, we use a weighted guideline public company method and/or a discounted cash flow method to determine an estimated
fair value. If it is determined that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying value, an impairment charge is recorded to bring the carrying
value down to its fair value.

We conducted a quantitative assessment at October 1, 2023. The analysis requires management to make estimates and assumptions, which may differ
significantly from actual results, particularly if there are significant adverse changes in our operating environment.

Based on a weighted guideline public company method and discounted cash flow method analysis, we estimated that the fair value for our BrandsMart
reporting unit to be more than its carrying value and based on a discounted cash flow method analysis, we estimated that the fair value for our
BrandsMart Leasing reporting unit to be more than its carrying value at October 1, 2023, respectively. Goodwill allocated to the BrandsMart and
BrandsMart Leasing reporting units at October 1, 2023 were $29.2 million and $26.5 million, respectively.

BrandsMart Reporting Unit. The critical assumptions used as part of the weighted guideline public company method were last twelve months, enterprise
value to revenue multiples, and next fiscal year enterprise value to revenue multiples. The critical assumptions used as part of the weighted discounted
cash flow method were a projected long-term revenue growth rate and a discount rate based on a weighted-average cost of capital analysis (adjusted for
company specific risk).
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BrandsMart Leasing Reporting Unit. The critical assumptions used as part of the discounted cash flow method were a projected long-term growth rate
and a discount rate based on a weighted average cost of capital analysis (adjusted for company specific risk).

We performed sensitivity analyses for the BrandsMart and BrandsMart Leasing reporting units during the annual assessment, including considering
reasonably possible alternative assumptions for long-term growth or decline rates and weighted-average cost of capital rates. The sensitivity analyses
performed supported our conclusion of no impairment for either reporting unit as of October 1, 2023.

We may be required to recognize material impairments to the BrandsMart or BrandsMart Leasing goodwill balances in the future if: (i) we fail to
successfully execute on one or more elements of the BrandsMart strategic plan; (ii) actual results are unfavorable to our estimates and assumptions used
to calculate fair value; (iii) the BrandsMart or BrandsMart leasing carrying values increase without an associated increase in the fair value; and/or (iv)
BrandsMart or BrandsMart Leasing is materially impacted by further deterioration of macroeconomic conditions, including inflation and rising interest
rates.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Refer to Note 1 to the accompanying consolidated financial statements for a discussion of recently issued accounting pronouncements.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK

As of December 31, 2023, the Company had $194.5 million of outstanding borrowings under the Credit Facility, further described in Note 8 to the
accompanying consolidated financial statements. Borrowings under the Credit Facility bear interest at a rate per annum equal to, at the option of the
Company, (i) the forward-looking term rate based on the SOFR plus an applicable margin ranging between 1.50% and 2.25%, based on the Company's
Total Net Debt to EBITDA Ratio, or (ii) the base rate plus an applicable margin, which is 1.00% lower than the applicable margin for SOFR loans. The
variable rates associated with these facilities exposes us to the risk of increased costs if interest rates rise while we have outstanding borrowings tied to
variable rates.

In March 2023, the Company entered into a non-speculative interest rate swap agreement for an aggregate notional amount of $100.0 million with a
forward effective date of April 28, 2023 and a termination date of March 31, 2027. The purpose of this hedge is to limit the Company's exposure of its
variable interest rate debt by effectively converting it to fixed interest rate debt. Based on the Company’s variable-rate debt outstanding as of
December 31, 2023, a hypothetical 10% increase or decrease in interest rates would increase or decrease interest expense by $0.7 million on an
annualized basis.

We do not use any significant market risk sensitive instruments to hedge commodity, foreign currency or other risks, and hold no market risk sensitive
instruments for trading or speculative purposes.
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ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Shareholders and the Board of Directors of The Aaron’s Company, Inc.

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of The Aaron’s Company, Inc. (the Company) as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the
related consolidated statements of earnings, comprehensive income (loss), equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2023, and the related notes (collectively referred to as the “consolidated financial statements”). In our opinion, the consolidated financial
statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company at December 31, 2023 and 2022, and the results of its operations
and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2023, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the Company's
internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2023, based on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework), and our report dated February 29, 2024 expressed an adverse
opinion thereon.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s financial
statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the
Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and
the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included
performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures
that respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Critical Audit Matters

The critical audit matters communicated below are matters arising from the current period audit of the financial statements that were communicated or
required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relate to accounts or disclosures that are material to the financial statements and (2)
involved our especially challenging, subjective or complex judgments. The communication of critical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion
on the consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matters below, providing separate
opinions on the critical audit matters or on the accounts or disclosures to which they relate.
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Estimated claims liabilities costs

Description of the Matter At December 31, 2023, the Company recorded $64.1 million associated with its estimated claims liabilities costs, which
primarily relate to workers compensation and vehicle liability insurance for the Aaron’s Business segment (collectively, the
estimated claims liabilities). As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, the estimated claims liabilities
are recorded based on actual reported but unpaid claims and actuarial analysis of the projected claims run off for both
reported and incurred but not reported claims. This analysis is based upon an assessment of the likely outcome or historical
experience.

Auditing the Company's estimated claims liabilities is complex and required us to involve our actuarial specialists due to the
measurement uncertainty associated with the estimates and the use of various actuarial methods. The Company’s analyses
of the estimated claims liabilities consider a variety of factors, including the actuarial loss forecasts, company-specific
development factors, and general industry loss development factors. The estimated claims liabilities are sensitive to
changes in these factors.

How We Addressed the
Matter in Our Audit

We obtained an understanding, evaluated the design, and tested the operating effectiveness of the Company’s controls
over the estimated claims liabilities process. For example, we tested controls over the factors mentioned above that
management used in the calculations and the completeness and accuracy of the historical claims data underlying the
ultimate expected losses.

To evaluate the reserve for estimated claims liabilities, we performed audit procedures that included, among others, testing
the completeness and accuracy of the underlying claims data used in the Company’s actuarial analyses. Additionally, we
involved our actuarial specialists to assist in our evaluation of the key factors mentioned above and management’s
methodologies to establish the actuarially determined ultimate expected losses and to develop a range for ultimate expected
loss estimates based on independently developed assumptions, which we compared to the Company's recorded estimated
claims liabilities.
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Valuation of Goodwill – BrandsMart and BrandsMart Leasing reporting units

Description of the Matter As discussed in Note 3 of the consolidated financial statements, goodwill is tested for impairment at least annually at the
reporting unit level. This requires management to estimate the fair value of the reporting units with goodwill allocated to
them. The Company estimates the fair value based on a combination of the discounted cash flow method and guideline
public-company method for the BrandsMart reporting unit and based on the discounted cash flow method for the
BrandsMart Leasing reporting unit. As of the annual impairment testing date of October 1, 2023, the BrandsMart reporting
unit goodwill balance totaled $29.2 million and the BrandsMart Leasing reporting unit goodwill balance totaled $26.5 million.

Auditing management’s goodwill impairment tests involved especially subjective judgments due to the significant estimation
required in determining the fair value of the reporting units. In particular, the estimate of the fair value for the Company’s
BrandsMart and BrandsMart Leasing reporting units is sensitive to changes in assumptions such as the discount rate, and
expected future net cash flows, specifically projected revenue and operating results and as it relates to the BrandsMart
reporting unit capital expenditures. These assumptions are affected by expectations about future reporting unit operating
performance, market and economic conditions.

How We Addressed the
Matter in Our Audit

We obtained an understanding, evaluated the design and tested the operating effectiveness of controls over the Company’s
goodwill impairment review process. For example, we tested controls over the estimation of the fair value of the reporting
unit, including the Company’s controls over the valuation model, the mathematical accuracy of the valuation model and
development of underlying assumptions used to estimate the fair value of the reporting units. We also tested management’s
review of the reconciliation of the aggregate estimated fair value of the reporting units to the market capitalization of the
Company.

To test the estimated fair value of the Company’s BrandsMart and BrandsMart Leasing reporting units, our audit
procedures included, among others, assessing the valuation methodologies and the completeness and accuracy of the
underlying data used by the Company in its analyses, including testing the significant assumptions discussed above. We
compared the significant assumptions used by management to current industry and economic trends and historical trends at
the reporting units. We performed sensitivity analyses over the significant assumptions to evaluate the changes in the fair
value of the reporting units that would result from changes in these assumptions. We involved valuation specialists to assist
in our evaluation of the valuation methodology and the significant assumptions used in determining the fair value of the
reporting units. We also tested the reconciliation of the aggregate estimated fair value of the reporting units to the market
capitalization of the Company.

We have served as the Company's auditor since 2020.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

Atlanta, Georgia
February 29, 2024
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Shareholders and the Board of Directors of The Aaron's Company, Inc.

Opinion on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have audited The Aaron’s Company, Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2023, based on criteria established in Internal
Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework) (the COSO
criteria). In our opinion, because of the effect of the material weakness described below on the achievement of the objectives of the control criteria, The
Aaron’s Company, Inc. (the Company) has not maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2023, based on the
COSO criteria.

A material weakness is a deficiency, or combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting, such that there is a reasonable possibility
that a material misstatement of the company’s annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. The following
material weakness has been identified and included in management’s assessment.

Management identified a material weakness in internal control over financial reporting in the BrandsMart segment. The design of information technology
general controls (“ITGCs”) related to user access, program change or appropriate segregation of duties for certain IT applications within the BrandsMart
segment was not effective. This ineffective design impacted controls over the completeness and accuracy of information used in the BrandsMart
segment’s business process controls resulting in the impacted controls also being deemed ineffective.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the consolidated
balance sheets of the Company as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the related consolidated statements of earnings, comprehensive income (loss),
equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2023, and the related notes. This material weakness was considered
in determining the nature, timing and extent of audit tests applied in our audit of the 2023 consolidated financial statements, and this report does not
affect our report dated February 29, 2024, which expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

Basis for Opinion

The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness
of internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying Management Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm
registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the
applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects.

Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and
evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered
necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
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Definition and Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting
and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal
control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately
and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as
necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures
of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable
assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material
effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of
compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

Atlanta, Georgia
February 29, 2024
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Management Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Management of The Aaron's Company, Inc. and subsidiaries (the "Company") is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control
over financial reporting as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. Internal control over
financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external reporting purposes in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of
compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

The Company’s management assessed the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2023. In making
this assessment, the Company’s management used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission
(2013 framework) in Internal Control-Integrated Framework.

Management identified a material weakness in internal control over financial reporting in the BrandsMart segment. The design of information technology
general controls ("ITGCs") related to user access, program change and appropriate segregation of duties for certain IT applications within the segment
was not effective. This ineffective design impacted controls over the completeness and accuracy of information used in the segment's business process
controls resulting in the impacted controls also being deemed ineffective.

While this material weakness did not result in a material misstatement of our financial statements, these control deficiencies were not remediated as of
December 31, 2023, and there is a reasonable possibility that it could have resulted in a material misstatement in the Company's annual or interim
financial statements that would not be detected. Accordingly, we determined that this control deficiency constituted a material weakness.

As a result of this material weakness, management has concluded that we did not maintain effective internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2023.

Our auditors, Ernst & Young LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, have audited and reported on our consolidated financial statements
and on the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting. Ernst & Young LLP has issued a report expressing an adverse opinion on the
effectiveness of the Company's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2023, Their reports are contained in Part II, Item 8 of this
Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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THE AARON'S COMPANY, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 

December 31,

2023 2022

 (In Thousands, Except Share Data)

ASSETS:

Cash and Cash Equivalents $ 59,035  $ 27,716  

Accounts Receivable (net of allowances of $ 9,029 in 2023 and $ 8,895 in 2022) 39,782  38,191  

Lease Merchandise (net of accumulated depreciation and allowances of $ 411,641 in 2023 and $ 431,092 in
2022) 622,262  693,795  

Merchandise Inventories, Net 90,172  95,964  

Property, Plant and Equipment, Net 269,833  267,457  

Operating Lease Right-of-Use Assets 465,824  459,950  

Goodwill 55,750  54,710  

Other Intangibles, Net 108,158  118,528  

Income Tax Receivable 10,363  5,716  

Prepaid Expenses and Other Assets 105,397  96,436  

Total Assets $ 1,826,576  $ 1,858,463  

LIABILITIES & SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY:

Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses $ 292,175  $ 264,043  

Deferred Income Taxes Payable 83,217  87,008  

Customer Deposits and Advance Payments 68,391  73,196  

Operating Lease Liabilities 502,692  496,401  

Debt 193,963  242,413  

Total Liabilities 1,140,438  1,163,061  

Commitments and Contingencies (Note 10)

SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY:

Common Stock, Par Value $ 0.50 Per Share: Authorized: 112,500,000 Shares at December 31, 2023 and
December 31, 2022; Shares Issued: 36,656,650 at December 31, 2023 and 36,100,011 at December 31, 2022 18,328  18,050  

Additional Paid-in Capital 750,751  738,428  

Retained Earnings 66,202  79,073  

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss ( 1,355 ) ( 1,396 )

833,926  834,155  

Treasury Shares at Cost: 6,295,216 Shares at December 31, 2023 and 5,480,353 Shares at December 31,
2022 ( 147,788 ) ( 138,753 )

Total Shareholders' Equity 686,138  695,402  

Total Liabilities & Shareholders' Equity $ 1,826,576  $ 1,858,463  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the Consolidated Financial Statements .
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THE AARON'S COMPANY, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EARNINGS  

Year Ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021

 (In Thousands, Except Per Share Data)

REVENUES:

Lease Revenues and Fees $ 1,399,514  $ 1,529,125  $ 1,633,489  

Retail Sales 620,665  585,624  57,568  

Non-Retail Sales 96,710  110,531  128,299  

Franchise Royalties and Other Revenues 23,001  24,154  26,148  

2,139,890  2,249,434  1,845,504  

COSTS OF REVENUES:

Depreciation of Lease Merchandise and Other Lease Revenue Costs 466,648  513,659  531,859  

Retail Cost of Sales 471,946  474,879  38,033  

Non-Retail Cost of Sales 81,977  99,123  116,123  

1,020,571  1,087,661  686,015  

GROSS PROFIT 1,119,319  1,161,773  1,159,489  

OPERATING EXPENSES:

Personnel Costs 507,819  515,144  495,411  

Other Operating Expenses, Net 498,019  490,143  434,491  

Provision for Lease Merchandise Write-Offs 81,495  97,564  67,888  

Restructuring Expenses, Net 15,597  32,717  9,218  

Impairment of Goodwill —  12,933  —  

Separation Costs 201  1,204  6,732  

Acquisition-Related Costs 3,638  14,616  —  

1,106,769  1,164,321  1,013,740  

OPERATING PROFIT (LOSS) 12,550  ( 2,548 ) 145,749  

Interest Expense ( 15,512 ) ( 9,875 ) ( 1,460 )

Other Non-Operating Income (Expense), Net 1,904  ( 2,320 ) 1,581  

LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAXES ( 1,058 ) ( 14,743 ) 145,870  

INCOME TAX (BENEFIT) EXPENSE ( 3,881 ) ( 9,463 ) 35,936  

NET EARNINGS (LOSS) $ 2,823  $ ( 5,280 ) $ 109,934  

EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE $ 0.09  $ ( 0.17 ) $ 3.33  

EARNINGS (LOSS) PER SHARE ASSUMING DILUTION $ 0.09  $ ( 0.17 ) $ 3.26  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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THE AARON'S COMPANY, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

 Year Ended December 31

(In Thousands) 2023 2022 2021

Net Earnings (Loss) $ 2,823  $ ( 5,280 ) $ 109,934  

Other Comprehensive Income (Loss):

Unrealized (Loss) on Derivative Instruments, net of Tax ( 425 ) ( 17 ) —  

Foreign Currency Translation Adjustment, net of Tax 466  ( 640 ) 58  

Total Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) 41  ( 657 ) 58  

Comprehensive Income (Loss) $ 2,864  $ ( 5,937 ) $ 109,992  

 For the year ended December 31, 2023, t he Unrealized Loss on Derivative Instruments is presented net of a tax benefit of $ 0.1 million, and the
Foreign Currency Translation Adjustment is presented net of a tax benefit of $ 0.3 million. The tax components of the prior year amounts are
insignificant.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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THE AARON'S COMPANY, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EQUITY 

 Treasury Stock Common Stock
Additional Paid-

In Capital
Retained
Earnings

Accumulated Other
Comprehensive

Loss Total Equity(In Thousands, Except Per Share) Shares Amount Shares Amount

Balance, January 1, 2021 ( 895 ) $ ( 15,977 ) 35,100  $ 17,550  $ 708,668  $ 1,881  $ ( 797 ) $ 711,325  

Cash Dividends, $ 0.10 per share — — — — — ( 13,269 ) — ( 13,269 )

Stock-Based Compensation — — — — 11,517  — — 11,517  

Reclassification of liability awards to equity

awards — — — — 1,841  — — 1,841  

Issuance of Shares under Equity Plan ( 114 ) ( 2,729 ) 459  229  2,358  — — ( 142 )

Acquisition of Treasury Stock ( 3,571 ) ( 103,098 ) — — — — — ( 103,098 )

Net Earnings — — — — — 109,934  — 109,934  

Foreign Currency Translation Adjustment — — — — — — 58  58  

Balance at December 31, 2021 ( 4,580 ) ( 121,804 ) 35,559  17,779  724,384  98,546  ( 739 ) 718,166  

Cash Dividends, $ 0.11 per share — — — — — ( 14,193 ) — ( 14,193 )

Stock-Based Compensation — — — — 12,814  — — 12,814  

Issuance of Shares under Equity Plans ( 165 ) ( 3,565 ) 541  271  1,230  — — ( 2,064 )

Acquisition of Treasury Stock ( 735 ) ( 13,384 ) — — — — — ( 13,384 )

Net Loss — — — — — ( 5,280 ) — ( 5,280 )

Unrealized Loss on Fuel Hedge Derivative

Instrument — — — — — — ( 17 ) ( 17 )

Foreign Currency Translation Adjustment — — — — — — ( 640 ) ( 640 )

Balance at December 31, 2022 ( 5,480 ) ( 138,753 ) 36,100  18,050  738,428  79,073  ( 1,396 ) 695,402  

Cash Dividends, $ 0.125 per share — — — — — ( 15,694 ) — ( 15,694 )

Stock-Based Compensation — — — — 12,196  — — 12,196  

Issuance of Shares under Equity Plans ( 207 ) ( 2,536 ) 557  278  127  — — ( 2,131 )

Acquisition of Treasury Stock ( 608 ) ( 6,499 ) — — — — — ( 6,499 )

Net Earnings — — — — — 2,823  — 2,823  

Unrealized Loss on Derivative Instruments,

net of tax — — — — — — ( 425 ) ( 425 )

Foreign Currency Translation Adjustment — — — — — — 466  466  

Balance at December 31, 2023 ( 6,295 ) $( 147,788 ) 36,657  $ 18,328  $ 750,751  $ 66,202  $ ( 1,355 ) $ 686,138  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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THE AARON'S COMPANY, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Year Ended December 31,

(In Thousands) 2023 2022 2021

OPERATING ACTIVITIES:

Net Earnings (Loss) $ 2,823  $ ( 5,280 ) $ 109,934  

Adjustments to Reconcile Net Earnings (Loss) to Net Cash Provided by Operating Activities:

Depreciation of Lease Merchandise 459,242  505,966  524,155  

Other Depreciation and Amortization 90,341  86,083  69,687  

Provision for Lease Merchandise Write-Offs 81,495  97,564  67,888  

Non-Cash Inventory Fair Value Adjustment —  23,074  —  

Accounts Receivable Provision 39,889  41,460  27,964  

Stock-Based Compensation 11,949  12,390  13,148  

Deferred Income Taxes ( 12,101 ) ( 13,581 ) 28,725  

Impairment of Assets 3,734  29,478  5,224  

Non-Cash Lease Expense 119,610  112,613  93,113  

Other Changes, Net ( 8,326 ) ( 10,312 ) ( 5,840 )

Changes in Operating Assets and Liabilities:

Lease Merchandise ( 472,155 ) ( 527,511 ) ( 665,381 )

Merchandise Inventories 5,965  5,026  —  

Accounts Receivable ( 41,469 ) ( 45,881 ) ( 23,679 )

Prepaid Expenses and Other Assets ( 2,422 ) 6,284  ( 3,863 )

Income Tax Receivable ( 4,647 ) ( 2,129 ) ( 2,494 )

Operating Lease Right-of-Use Assets and Liabilities ( 122,313 ) ( 124,393 ) ( 106,128 )

Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses 35,427  ( 1,995 ) 6,609  

Customer Deposits and Advance Payments ( 6,628 ) ( 18,424 ) ( 3,022 )

Cash Provided by Operating Activities 180,414  170,432  136,040  

INVESTING ACTIVITIES:

Purchases of Property, Plant & Equipment ( 94,415 ) ( 107,980 ) ( 92,704 )

Proceeds from Dispositions of Property, Plant, and Equipment 17,294  21,519  14,942  

Acquisition of BrandsMart U.S.A., Net of Cash Acquired —  ( 265,630 ) —  

Acquisitions of Businesses and Customer Agreements, Net of Cash Acquired —  ( 1,062 ) ( 10,121 )

Proceeds from Other Investing-Related Activities 245  1,776  2,508  

Cash Used in Investing Activities ( 76,876 ) ( 351,377 ) ( 85,375 )

FINANCING ACTIVITIES:

Repayments on Swing Line Loans, Net ( 19,250 ) 9,250  —  

Proceeds from Revolver and Term Loan 71,094  291,700  —  

Repayments on Revolver, Term Loan and Financing Leases ( 100,469 ) ( 67,793 ) 9,260  

Repayments on Inventory Loan Program, Net —  ( 15,541 ) —  

Dividends Paid ( 14,994 ) ( 13,530 ) ( 9,971 )

Acquisition of Treasury Stock ( 6,499 ) ( 13,384 ) ( 103,098 )

Issuance of Stock Under Stock Option Plans 405  1,501  2,587  

Shares Withheld for Tax Payments ( 2,536 ) ( 3,565 ) ( 2,729 )

Debt Issuance Costs —  ( 2,758 ) —  

Cash (Used in) Provided by Financing Activities ( 72,249 ) 185,880  ( 103,951 )

EFFECT OF EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES ON CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS, AND
RESTRICTED CASH 30  ( 51 ) ( 5 )

Increase (Decrease) in Cash, Cash Equivalents, and Restricted Cash 31,319  4,884  ( 53,291 )

Cash, Cash Equivalents, and Restricted Cash at Beginning of Year 29,341  22,832  76,123  

Cash and Cash Equivalents at End of Year:

Cash and Cash Equivalents $ 59,035  $ 27,716  $ 22,832  

Restricted Cash included in Prepaid Expenses and Other Assets 1,625  1,625  —  

Total Cash, Cash Equivalents, and Restricted Cash at End of Year $ 60,660  $ 29,341  $ 22,832  

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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THE AARON'S COMPANY, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 1: BUSINESS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

As described elsewhere in this Annual Report, the lingering effects of the global pandemic, continued inflationary pressures, general macroeconomic
conditions and rising interest rates have led to significant market disruption and has impacted various aspects of our operations, directly and indirectly.
Throughout these notes to the consolidated financial statements, the impacts of these items on the financial results for the year ended December 31,
2023 and comparable prior periods have been identified to the best of our ability under the respective sections. For a discussion of trends that we believe
have affected our business as a result of these items, see Item 7. "Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations", including the "Highlights," "Consolidated Results of Operations" and "Liquidity and Capital Resources", and Part I, Item 1A "Risk Factors",
above.

BrandsMart U.S.A. Acquisition

On April 1, 2022, the Company completed the previously announced transaction to acquire a 100 % ownership of Interbond Corporation of America,
doing business as BrandsMart U.S.A. The Company paid total consideration of $ 230  million in cash under the terms of the agreement and additional
amounts for working capital adjustments and transaction related fees. Refer to Note 2 to these consolidated financial statements for additional information
regarding the acquisition.

Management believes that the BrandsMart U.S.A. acquisition will strengthen the Company's ability to deliver on its mission of enhancing people’s lives
by providing easy access to high quality furniture, appliances, electronics, and other home goods through affordable lease-to-own and retail purchase
options. Management also believes that value creation opportunities include leveraging the Company's lease-to-own expertise to provide BrandsMart
U.S.A.'s customers enhanced payment options and offering a wider selection of products to millions of Aaron's customers, as well as generating
procurement savings and other cost synergies.

Business Overview

Description of Business

The Company is a leading, technology-enabled, omni-channel provider of lease-to-own ("LTO") and retail purchase solutions of furniture, electronics,
appliances, and other home goods across its brands: Aaron's, BrandsMart U.S.A., BrandsMart Leasing, and Woodhaven Furniture Industries
("Woodhaven").

As of December 31, 2023, the Company's operating and reportable segments are the Aaron's Business and BrandsMart, each as described below.

The Aaron's Business segment is comprised of (i) Aaron's branded Company-operated and franchise operated stores; (ii) aarons.com e-commerce
platform ("aarons.com"); (iii) Woodhaven; and (iv) BrandsMart Leasing (collectively, the "Aaron’s Business").

The operations of BrandsMart U.S.A. (excluding BrandsMart Leasing) comprise the BrandsMart segment (collectively, "BrandsMart").

Aaron's Business Segment

Since its founding in 1955, Aaron's has been committed to serving the overlooked and underserved customer with a dedication to inclusion and improving
the communities in which it operates. Through a portfolio of approximately 1,240 stores and its aarons.com e-commerce platform, Aaron's, together with
its franchisees, provide consumers with LTO and retail purchase solutions for the products they need and want, with a focus on providing its customers
with unparalleled customer service, high approval rates, lease plan flexibility, and an attractive value proposition, including competitive monthly payments
and total cost of ownership, as compared to other LTO providers.

Woodhaven manufactures and supplies a significant portion of the upholstered furniture leased and sold in Company-operated and franchised Aaron's
stores.

Launched in 2022, BrandsMart Leasing offers LTO purchase solutions to customers of BrandsMart U.S.A.

BrandsMart Segment

Founded in 1977, BrandsMart U.S.A. is one of the leading appliance and consumer electronics retailers in the southeast United States and one of the
largest appliance retailers in the country with 11 stores in Florida and Georgia and a growing e-commerce presence on brandsmartusa.com. The
operations of BrandsMart U.S.A. (other than BrandsMart Leasing) comprise the BrandsMart segment.
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THE AARON'S COMPANY, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying consolidated financial statements of the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiaries for the years ended December 31, 2023,
December 31, 2022, and December 31, 2021 reflect the historical results of operations, financial position and cash flows of the Company in accordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States ("U.S. GAAP"). Intercompany balances and transactions between consolidated entities
have been eliminated and reflect the historical results of operations, financial position and cash flows of the Company in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States ("U.S. GAAP").

The preparation of the Company's consolidated financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the amounts reported in these financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual results could differ from those estimates.
Generally, actual experience has been consistent with management's prior estimates and assumptions. In many cases, management's estimates and
assumptions are dependent on estimates of such future developments and may change in the future. In the opinion of management, all adjustments
considered necessary for a fair presentation have been included in the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Reclassifications

The following reclassifications have been made to the prior periods to conform to the current period presentation.

For all previously reported periods prior to April 1, 2022, the Company presented all revenues derived from lease agreements and the related fees, as
well as the retail sale of both new and returned lease merchandise from our Company-operated Aaron's stores and fees from our Aaron's Club program
within one line in the consolidated statements of earnings, presented as lease and retail revenues. Effective April 1, 2022, the Company revised its
presentation to separately present revenues derived from lease agreements at our Company-operated Aaron's stores and e-commerce platform and fees
from our Aaron's Club program as lease revenues and fees in the consolidated statements of earnings, with the sale of both new and returned lease
merchandise from our Company-operated Aaron's stores being classified as retail sales. This revised presentation does not have an impact on total
revenues presented in prior periods.

Similarly, for all previously reported periods prior to April 1, 2022, the Company presented the depreciation expense associated with lease merchandise
as well as the depreciated costs of merchandise sold within one line in the consolidated statements of earnings, presented as the cost of lease and retail
revenues. Effective April 1, 2022, the Company revised its presentation to separately present the depreciation expense associated with lease
merchandise in the consolidated statements of earnings, with the costs associated with merchandise sold through our Company-operated Aaron's stores
presented as retail cost of sales. This revised presentation does not have an impact on total costs of revenues presented in prior periods.

Significant Accounting Policies

Segment Reporting

As of December 31, 2023, the Company has two operating and reportable segments: Aaron's Business and BrandsMart. During the year ended
December 31, 2022, the Company changed its composition of reportable segments to align the reportable segments with the current organizational
structure and the operating results that the chief operating decision maker regularly reviews to analyze performance and allocate resources, which
includes separate segments for the Aaron's Business and BrandsMart, along with an Unallocated Corporate category for remaining unallocated costs.
The Company has retroactively adjusted, for all periods presented, its segment disclosures to align with the current composition of reportable segments.

The Aaron's Business segment provides consumers with LTO and retail purchase solutions through the Company's Aaron's stores in the United States
and Canada and the aarons.com e-commerce platform. This operating segment also supports franchisees of its Aaron's stores. In addition, the Aaron's
Business segment includes the operations of BrandsMart Leasing, which offers lease-to-own solutions to BrandsMart U.S.A. customers, and
Woodhaven, which manufactures and supplies a significant portion of the upholstered furniture leased and sold in Company-operated and franchised
Aaron's stores.

The BrandsMart segment is comprised of the operations of BrandsMart U.S.A. (excluding BrandsMart Leasing), which is one of the leading appliance and
consumer electronics retailers in the southeast United States and one of the largest appliance retailers in the country with 11 stores in Florida and
Georgia and a growing e-commerce presence on brandsmartusa.com.
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THE AARON'S COMPANY, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Revenue Recognition

The Company provides lease and retail merchandise, consisting of appliances, electronics, furniture, and other home goods to its customers for lease
under certain terms agreed to by the customer and through retail sales. The Company's Aaron's stores, aarons.com e-commerce platform, and
BrandsMart Leasing components of the Aaron's Business segment offer leases with flexible ownership plans that can be generally renewed weekly, bi-
weekly, semi-monthly, or monthly up to 12 , 18 or 24 months. The Aaron's Business segment also earns revenue from the sale of merchandise to
customers and Aaron's franchisees, and earns ongoing revenue from Aaron's franchisees in the form of royalties and through advertising efforts that
benefit the franchisees.

The Company's BrandsMart U.S.A. stores and related brandsmartusa.com e-commerce platform offer the sale of merchandise directly to its customers
via retail sales.

See Note 6 to these consolidated financial statements for further information regarding the Company's revenue recognition policies and disclosures.

Earnings (Loss) Per Share

Earnings per share is computed by dividing net earnings (loss) by the weighted average number of shares of common stock outstanding during the
period. The computation of earnings (loss) per share assuming dilution includes the dilutive effect of stock options, RSUs, RSAs, PSUs and other awards
issuable under the Company's ESPP (collectively, "share-based awards") as determined under the treasury stock method, unless the inclusion of such
awards would be anti-dilutive.

The following table shows the calculation of weighted-average shares outstanding assuming dilution:

Year Ended December 31,

(Shares In Thousands) 2023 2022 2021

Weighted Average Shares Outstanding 30,778 30,881 32,992

Dilutive Effect of Share-Based Awards 327  —  730  

Weighted Average Shares Outstanding Assuming Dilution 31,105 30,881 33,722

There was no dilutive effect to the loss per common share for the year ended December 31, 2022 due to the net loss incurred in the period.

For the years ended December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2021, 1.3 million and 0.1 million weighted-average share based awards were excluded from
the computation of earnings per share assuming dilution, respectively, as the awards would have been anti-dilutive for the period.

Lease Merchandise

The Company’s lease merchandise is recorded at the lower of depreciated cost, including overhead costs from our distribution centers, or net realizable
value. The cost of merchandise manufactured by our Woodhaven operations is recorded at cost and includes overhead from production facilities,
shipping costs and warehousing costs. The Company begins depreciating furniture and appliances at the earlier of the lease date or 24 months and one
day from its purchase, while all other lease merchandise begins depreciating at the earlier of the lease date or 12 months and one day from its purchase.
Lease merchandise fully depreciates over the lease agreement period when on lease, generally 12 to 24 months, and generally 36 months when not on
lease. Depreciation is accelerated upon early payout.

1

1 

70



THE AARON'S COMPANY, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The following is a summary of lease merchandise, net of accumulated depreciation and allowances:

December 31,

(In Thousands) 2023 2022

Merchandise on Lease, net of Accumulated Depreciation and Allowances $ 419,531  $ 446,923  

Merchandise Not on Lease, net of Accumulated Depreciation and Allowances 202,731  246,872  

Lease Merchandise, net of Accumulated Depreciation and Allowances $ 622,262  $ 693,795  

Includes Woodhaven's inventory, which is primarily comprised of raw materials, that has been classified within lease merchandise in the consolidated
balance sheets of $ 8.7 million and $ 12.9 million as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

General and administrative overhead costs capitalized into the cost of lease merchandise were $ 54.0 million, $ 55.7 million, and $ 55.0 million for the
years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively. Capitalized overhead costs remaining in lease merchandise were $ 55.9 million and $
55.1 million as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

The Aaron's store-based operations' policies require weekly merchandise counts at its store-based operations, which include write-offs for unsalable,
damaged, or missing merchandise inventories. Monthly cycle counting procedures are performed at both the Aaron's distribution centers and Woodhaven
manufacturing facilities. Physical inventories are also taken at the manufacturing facilities annually. The Company also monitors merchandise levels and
mix by division, store, and distribution center, as well as the average age of merchandise on hand. If obsolete merchandise cannot be returned to
vendors, its carrying amount is adjusted to its net realizable value or written off. Generally, all merchandise not on lease is available for lease or sale. On
a monthly basis, all damaged, lost or unsalable merchandise identified is written off and is included as a component of the provision for lease
merchandise write-offs in the accompanying consolidated statements of earnings.

The Company records a provision for write-offs using the allowance method, which is included within lease merchandise, net within the consolidated
balance sheets. The allowance method for lease merchandise write-offs estimates the merchandise losses incurred but not yet identified by management
as of the end of the accounting period based primarily on historical write-off experience. Other qualitative factors are considered in estimating the
allowance, such as seasonality and the impacts of uncertainty surrounding inflationary and other economic pressures in the current macroeconomic
environment. Therefore, actual lease merchandise write-offs could differ from the allowance. The provision for write-offs is included in provision for lease
merchandise write-offs in the accompanying consolidated statements of earnings. The Company writes off lease merchandise on lease agreements that
are 60 days or more past due on pre-determined dates twice monthly. The Company writes off lease merchandise on lease agreements for its
BrandsMart Leasing operations that are 90 days or more past due on pre-determined dates twice monthly.

The following table shows the components of the allowance for lease merchandise write-offs:

Year Ended December 31,

(In Thousands) 2023 2022 2021

Beginning Balance $ 13,894  $ 12,339  $ 11,599  

Merchandise Written off, net of Recoveries ( 82,477 ) ( 96,009 ) ( 67,148 )

Provision for Write-offs 81,495  97,564  67,888  

Ending Balance $ 12,912  $ 13,894  $ 12,339  

Merchandise Inventories

The Company’s merchandise inventories are stated at the lower of weighted average cost or net realizable value, and consist entirely of merchandise
held for sale by the BrandsMart segment. In-bound freight-related costs from vendors, net of allowances and vendor rebates, are included as part of the
net cost of merchandise inventories. Costs associated with storing and transporting merchandise inventories to our retail stores are expensed as incurred
and included within retail cost of sales in the consolidated statements of earnings.

During the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company recognized a one-time non-cash charge for a fair value adjustment to the acquired BrandsMart
merchandise inventories of $ 23.1 million, which was included within retail cost of sales in the consolidated statements of earnings.
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The Company periodically evaluates aged and distressed inventory and establishes an inventory markdown which represents the excess of the carrying
value over the amount the Company expects to realize from the ultimate sale of the inventory. Markdowns establish a new cost basis for the inventory
and are recorded within retail cost of sales within the consolidated statements of earnings. The write-offs of merchandise inventories associated with the
Company's cycle and physical inventory count processes are also included within retail cost of sales in the consolidated statements of earnings. The
Company records an inventory reserve for the anticipated loss associated with selling inventories below cost. This reserve is based on management’s
current knowledge with respect to inventory levels, sales trends, and historical experience selling or disposing of aged or obsolete inventory.

The following is a summary of merchandise inventories, net of allowances:

(In Thousands) December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022

Merchandise Inventories, gross $ 91,093  $ 96,945  

Reserve for Merchandise Inventories ( 921 ) ( 981 )

Merchandise Inventories, net $ 90,172  $ 95,964  

The following table shows the components of the reserve for merchandise inventories:

Year Ended

(In Thousands) December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022

Beginning Balance $ 981  $ —  

Merchandise Written off ( 618 ) —  

Provision for Write-offs 558  981  

Ending Balance $ 921  $ 981  

Retail and Non-Retail Cost of Sales

Included in retail cost of sales, as well as non-retail cost of sales, is the net book value of merchandise sold via retail and non-retail sales, primarily using
specific identification. The components of cost of sales are further described below.

Depreciation of Lease Merchandise and Other Lease Revenue Costs

The primary items classified under the expense category "Depreciation of Lease Merchandise and Other Lease Revenue Costs" are:

• Depreciation of the capitalized costs (recorded at the lower of depreciated costs or net realizable value) of available and on rent lease
merchandise at the Aaron’s Business segment. Capitalized costs include:

◦ Landed Inventory Costs

◦ Overhead Costs incurred at our internal distribution centers, including transportation costs incurred to transfer inventory from the
Company's fulfillment centers to Company Operated stores

◦ Freight expenses associated with receiving the inventory from our vendors

◦ Costs of manufactured inventory at our Woodhaven operations including overhead from production facilities, shipping costs and
warehousing costs

• Accelerated depreciation associated with early payout transactions

• Amortization of Aaron's Business cooperative advertising consideration, received from vendors, that are not specifically identifiable incremental
costs incurred in selling those vendor's products

• Amortization of rebate credits associated with the leasing of lease merchandise at the Aaron's Business

• External service provider fees associated with hosting the Aaron's Club program
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Retail Cost of Sales - Aaron's Business

The primary items classified under the expense category "Retail Cost of Sales" for the Aaron's Business segment are:

• Costs of the NBV of lease merchandise (recorded at the lower of depreciated costs or net realizable value) at the Aaron's Business segment
including:

◦ Landed Inventory Costs

◦ Overhead Costs incurred at our internal distribution centers, including transportation costs incurred to transfer inventory from the
Company's fulfillment centers to Company Operated stores

◦ Freight expenses associated with receiving the inventory from our vendors

◦ Costs of manufactured inventory at our Woodhaven operations including overhead from production facilities, shipping costs and
warehousing costs

• Amortization of Aaron's Business cooperative advertising consideration, received from vendors, that are not specifically identifiable incremental
costs incurred in selling those vendor's products

• Amortization of rebate credits associated with the retail sale of lease merchandise at the Aaron's Business

Retail Cost of Sales - BrandsMart

The primary items classified under the expense category "Retail Cost of Sales" for the BrandsMart Business segment are:

• Weighed average costs of landed inventory invoice costs (recorded at the lower of weighted average costs or net realizable value)

• Overhead Costs incurred at our internal distribution centers

• Freight expenses associated with receiving the inventory from our vendors

• Transportation costs incurred to transfer inventory from the Company's fulfillment centers to stores

• Cooperative advertising consideration, received from vendors, that are not specifically identifiable incremental costs incurred in selling those
vendor's products

• Vendor rebate credits associated with the retail sale of merchandise inventories

• Subsequent markdowns of merchandise inventories

• Third party transportation and internal vehicle charges associated with customer shipping and handling

• Charges/Provisions for shrink and obsolescence

• Cost of services provided including personnel related costs, replacement costs, and freight expenses

Non-Retail Cost of Sales - Aaron's Business

The primary items classified under the expense category "Non-Retail Cost of Sales" for the Aaron's Business segment are:

• Cost of the NBV of lease merchandise (recorded at the lower of depreciated costs or net realizable value) sold to Aaron's Business franchisees
or wholesale customers of our Woodhaven operations which includes:

◦ Landed Inventory Costs

◦ Overhead Costs incurred at our internal distribution centers

◦ Freight expenses associated with receiving the inventory from our vendors

◦ Costs of manufactured inventory at our Woodhaven operations including overhead from production facilities, shipping costs and
warehousing costs

◦ Transportation costs incurred to transfer inventory from the Company's fulfillment centers to franchisees and non-retail customers

• Amortization of Aaron's Business cooperative advertising consideration, received from vendors, that are not specifically identifiable incremental
costs incurred in selling those vendor's products
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Shipping and Handling Costs

Shipping and handling costs are primarily classified within other operating expenses, net in the accompanying consolidated statements of earnings and
to a lesser extent, capitalized into the cost of lease merchandise and subsequently depreciated or recognized as cost of retail sales. Shipping and
handling costs classified within other operating expenses, net were $ 64.1 million, $ 70.1 million and $ 60.4 million for the years ended December 31,
2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively. Shipping and handling costs capitalized into the cost of lease merchandise were $ 23.3 million, $ 27.4 million and $
25.4 million for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

Advertising

The Company expenses advertising costs as incurred. Advertising production costs are initially recognized as a prepaid advertising asset and are
expensed when an advertisement appears for the first time. The prepaid advertising asset was $ 0.1 million and $ 4.6 million at December 31, 2023 and
December 31, 2022, respectively, and is reported within prepaid expenses and other assets on the consolidated balance sheets.

Total advertising costs are classified within other operating expenses, net in the consolidated statements of earnings. These advertising costs are
presented net of cooperative advertising considerations received from vendors, which represents reimbursement of specific, identifiable and incremental
costs incurred in selling those vendors’ products, and are recorded as a reduction of advertising costs.

The following table shows total advertising costs, net of cooperative advertising consideration:

Year Ended December 31,

(In Thousands) 2023 2022 2021

Advertising Costs, Gross $ 75,153  $ 74,864  $ 80,602  

Less: Cooperative Advertising Considerations ( 33,792 ) ( 35,743 ) ( 26,951 )

Advertising Costs, Net $ 41,361  $ 39,121  $ 53,651  

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company has stock-based employee compensation plans, which are more fully described in Note 13 to these consolidated financial statements. The
Company estimates the fair value for the options granted on the grant date using a Black-Scholes-Merton option-pricing model. The fair value of each
share of restricted stock units ("RSUs"), restricted stock awards ("RSAs") and performance share units ("PSUs") with Company-specific performance
criteria is equal to the market value of a share of the Company's common stock on the grant date. For PSUs that are granted with a total shareholder
return ("TSR") component, management estimates the fair value using a Monte Carlo simulation valuation model, as these awards are subject to a
market condition. For all stock award types, the Company considers whether any material nonpublic information is known to the Company at the time the
awards are granted that could impact the determined grant date fair value. No adjustments to fair value were deemed necessary for the years ended
December 31, 2023, 2022 or 2021 based on these considerations.

The Company estimates the fair value of awards issued under the Company's employee stock purchase plan ("A&R ESPP") using a series of Black-
Scholes-Merton pricing models that consider the components of the "lookback" feature of the plan, including the underlying stock, call option, and put
option. The design of awards issued under the A&R ESPP is more fully described in Note 13 to these consolidated financial statements.
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Separation Costs

Separation costs include actual expenses after November 30, 2020 associated with the separation and distribution from PROG Holdings, Inc. (referred to
herein as "PROG Holdings"), including personnel-related costs and incremental stock-based compensation expense associated with the conversion and
modification of unvested and unexercised equity awards related to Company employees, as well as an allocation of similar expenses related to PROG
Holdings' corporate and shared function employees. See Note 13 to these consolidated financial statements for additional information regarding the
modification of awards that were converted concurrent with the separation and distribution. Separation costs also include one-time expenses incurred by
the Company in order to begin operating as an independent, standalone public entity after the completion of the separation and distribution. These costs
will be fully expensed in the first quarter of 2024.

Acquisition-Related Costs

Acquisition-related costs of $ 3.6 million and $ 14.6 million were incurred during the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively, and
primarily represent third-party consulting in 2023, while in 2022 it included third-party consulting as well as banking and legal expenses associated with
the acquisition of BrandsMart U.S.A completed April 1, 2022.

Income Taxes

The Company and its subsidiaries file U.S. federal consolidated income tax returns in the United States, and separate legal entities file in various state
and foreign jurisdictions. In all periods presented, the income tax provision has been computed for the entities comprising the Company on a standalone,
separate return basis as if the Company were a separate taxpayer.

The provision for income taxes is determined using the asset and liability approach of accounting for income taxes. Under this approach, deferred taxes
represent the future tax consequences expected to occur when the reported amounts of assets and liabilities are recovered or paid. Income taxes as
presented attribute deferred income taxes of the Company's standalone consolidated financial statements in a manner that is systematic, rational and
consistent with the asset and liability method.

The provision for income taxes represents income taxes paid or payable for the current year plus the change in deferred taxes during the year. Deferred
taxes result from differences between the financial and tax basis of the Company’s assets and liabilities and are adjusted for changes in tax rates and tax
laws when such changes are enacted. The Company's largest temporary differences arise principally from the use of accelerated depreciation methods
on lease merchandise for tax purposes. Valuation allowances are recorded to reduce deferred tax assets when it is more likely than not that a tax benefit
will not be realized.

The Company recognizes uncertain tax positions in the consolidated financial statements when it is more likely than not that the tax position will be
sustained upon examination. Uncertain tax positions are measured based on the probabilities that the uncertain tax position will be realized upon final
settlement.

See further details on income taxes within Note 9 to these consolidated financial statements.

Sales Taxes

The Company applies the net basis for sales taxes imposed on goods and services in the consolidated statements of earnings. The Company is required
by the applicable governmental authorities to collect and remit sales taxes. Accordingly, such amounts are charged to the customer, collected, and
remitted directly to the appropriate jurisdictional entity.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company classifies as cash equivalents any highly liquid investments that have maturity dates of three months or less at the time they are
purchased. The Company maintains its cash and cash equivalents at various banks. Bank balances may exceed coverage provided by the Federal
Deposit Insurance Corporation ("FDIC"). However, due to the size and strength of the banks in which balances that exceed the FDIC coverage are held,
any exposure to loss is believed to be minimal. Cash and cash equivalents also includes amounts in transit due from financial institutions related to credit
card and debit card transactions, which generally settle within three business days from the original transaction.
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Supplemental Cash Flow Information

The following table shows supplemental cash flow information:

Year Ended December 31,

(In Thousands) 2023 2022 2021

Net Cash Paid During the Year:

Interest $ 15,973  $ 6,618  $ 991  

Income Taxes $ 11,680  $ 5,498  $ 9,654  

Accounts Receivable

Accounts receivable consist primarily of receivables due from customers on lease agreements, corporate receivables incurred during the normal course
of business (primarily for vendor consideration and third-party warranty providers) and franchisee obligations.

Accounts receivable, net of allowances, consist of the following:

December 31,

(In Thousands) 2023 2022

Customers $ 8,737  $ 9,721  

Corporate 23,660  20,597  

Franchisee 7,385  7,873  

$ 39,782  $ 38,191  

The Company maintains an accounts receivable allowance for the Aaron's Business customer lease agreements, under which its policy is to record a
provision for returns and uncollectible contractually due renewal payments based on historical payments experience, which is recognized as a reduction
of lease revenues and fees within the consolidated statements of earnings. Other qualitative factors are considered in estimating the allowance, such as
current and forecasted business trends. The Company writes off customer lease receivables for its Aaron's Business operations that are 60 days or more
past due on pre-determined dates twice monthly. The Company writes off customer lease receivables for its BrandsMart Leasing operations that are 90
days or more past due on pre-determined dates twice monthly.

The Company also maintains an allowance for outstanding franchisee accounts receivable. The Company's policy is to estimate future losses related to
certain franchisees that are deemed to have a higher risk of non-payment and record an allowance for these estimated losses. The estimated allowance
on franchisee accounts receivable includes consideration of the financial position of each franchisee and qualitative consideration of potential losses
associated with uncertainties impacting the franchisee's ability to satisfy their obligations. Uncertainties include inflationary and other economic pressures
in the current macroeconomic environment. Accordingly, actual accounts receivable write-offs could differ from the allowance. The provision for
uncollectible franchisee accounts receivable is recorded as bad debt expense in other operating expenses, net within the consolidated statements of
earnings.

The allowance related to corporate receivables is not significant for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022.

The following table shows the components of the accounts receivable allowance:

Year Ended December 31,

(In Thousands) 2023 2022 2021

Beginning Balance $ 8,895  $ 7,163  $ 7,613  

Accounts Written Off, net of Recoveries ( 39,755 ) ( 39,728 ) ( 28,414 )

Accounts Receivable Provision 39,889  41,460  27,964  

Ending Balance $ 9,029  $ 8,895  $ 7,163  
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The following table shows the components of the accounts receivable provision, which includes amounts recognized for bad debt expense and the
provision for returns and uncollected payments:

Year Ended December 31,

(In Thousands) 2023 2022

Bad Debt Expense $ 355  $ 124  

Provision for Returns and Uncollectible Renewal Payments 39,534  41,336  

Accounts Receivable Provision $ 39,889  $ 41,460  

Property, Plant and Equipment

The Company records property, plant and equipment at cost. Depreciation and amortization are computed on a straight-line basis over the estimated
useful lives of the respective assets, which range from five to 20 years for buildings and improvements and from one to 15 years for other depreciable
property and equipment.

Costs incurred to develop software for internal use are capitalized and amortized over the estimated useful life of the software, which ranges from five to
ten years . Management uses an agile development methodology in which feature-by-feature updates are made to its software. Certain costs incurred
during the application development stage of an internal-use software project are capitalized when members of management who possess the authority to
do so authorize and commit to funding a feature update and it is probable that the project will be completed and the software will be used to perform the
function intended. Generally, the life cycle for each feature update implementation is one month . Capitalization of costs ceases when the feature update
is substantially complete and ready for its intended use. All costs incurred during preliminary and post-implementation project stages are expensed
appropriately.

Gains and losses related to dispositions and retirements are recognized as incurred. Maintenance and repairs are also expensed as incurred, and
leasehold improvements are capitalized and amortized over the lesser of the expected lease term or the asset's useful life. Depreciation expense for
property, plant and equipment is classified within other operating expenses, net in the accompanying consolidated statements of earnings and was $
79.9 million, $ 76.8 million and $ 64.2 million during the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively. Amortization of previously
capitalized internal use software development costs, which is a component of depreciation expense for property, plant and equipment, was $ 19.6
million, $ 20.8 million and $ 18.6 million during the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

Management assesses its long-lived assets other than goodwill for impairment whenever facts and circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may
not be fully recoverable. If it is determined that the carrying amount of an asset is not recoverable, based on analysis of undiscounted cash flows
expected to be generated by the asset or asset group, management compares the carrying amount of the asset to its fair value as estimated using
discounted expected future cash flows, market values or replacement values for similar assets. The amount by which the carrying amount exceeds the
fair value of the asset, if any, is recognized as an impairment loss.
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Prepaid Expenses and Other Assets

Prepaid expenses and other assets consist of the following:

December 31,

(In Thousands) 2023 2022

Prepaid Expenses $ 14,482  $ 20,218  

Insurance Related Assets 33,035  25,103  

Company-Owned Life Insurance 15,231  13,443  

Deferred Tax Assets 24,137  16,277  

Other Assets 18,512  21,395  

$ 105,397  $ 96,436  

Amounts as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 included restricted cash of $ 1.6  million held as collateral for BrandsMart U.S.A.'s workers' compensation
and general liability insurance policies.

 Amounts included $ 0.9 million and $ 1.9 million for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively, of certain properties classified as
held for sale. Assets held for sale are recorded at the lower of their carrying value or fair value less estimated cost to sell and are classified within
prepaid expenses and other assets in the consolidated balance sheets. Depreciation is suspended on assets upon classification as held for sale. The
highest and best use of these assets is as real estate land parcels for development or real estate properties for use or lease, though the Company has
chosen not to develop or use these properties, and plans to sell them to third parties as quickly as practicable.

Derivative Instruments

In March 2023, the Company entered into a non-speculative interest rate swap agreement for an aggregate notional amount of $ 100.0  million with an
effective date of April 28, 2023 and a termination date of March 31, 2027. The purpose of this hedge is to limit the Company's exposure of its variable
interest rate debt by effectively converting it to fixed interest rate debt. Under the terms of the agreement, the Company will receive a floating interest rate
based on 1-month Chicago Mercantile Exchange ("CME") Term Secured Overnight Financing Rate ("SOFR") and pay a fixed interest rate of 3.87 % on
the notional amount. The Company has accounted for the interest rate swap as a cash flow hedge instrument in accordance with ASC 815, Derivatives
and Hedging. Accordingly, the effective portion of the gains and losses associated with the changes in the fair value of the cash flow hedge instrument
are recognized as a component of accumulated other comprehensive loss in the Company's consolidated balance sheets. Such amounts are reclassified
into earnings in the same period during which the cash flow hedging instrument affects earnings. As of December 31, 2023, the facts and circumstances
of the hedged relationship remain consistent with the initial effectiveness assessment and the hedging instrument remains an effective accounting hedge.

The fair value of the hedge as of December 31, 2023 was a liability of $ 0.5  million, and has been recorded within accounts payable and accrued
expenses in the Company's consolidated balance sheets. During the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company reclassified $ 0.9  million of net
gains from accumulated other comprehensive loss to interest expense. Gains and losses related to the hedge were classified within operating activities in
the consolidated statements of cash flows. See Note 4 to these consolidated financial statements for further information regarding the fair value
determination of the Company's interest rate swap agreement. Derivative instruments in place in prior years were not significant.
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Accumulated Other Comprehensive (Loss) Income

Changes in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) ("AOCI") by component for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 are summarized
below:

Year Ended December 31, 2023

(In Thousands) Derivative Instruments Foreign Currency Total

Balance at December 31, 2022 $ ( 17 ) $ ( 1,379 ) $ ( 1,396 )

Other Comprehensive (Loss) Income, net of Tax ( 425 ) 466  41  

Balance at December 31, 2023 $ ( 442 ) $ ( 913 ) $ ( 1,355 )

Year Ended December 31, 2022

(In Thousands) Derivative Instruments Foreign Currency Total

Balance at December 31, 2021 $ —  $ ( 739 ) $ ( 739 )

Other Comprehensive Loss, net of Tax ( 17 ) ( 640 ) ( 657 )

Balance at December 31, 2022 $ ( 17 ) $ ( 1,379 ) $ ( 1,396 )

Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses

Accounts payable and accrued expenses consist of the following:

December 31,

(In Thousands) 2023 2022

Accounts Payable $ 134,191  $ 106,966  

Estimated Claims Liability Costs 64,082  58,549  

Accrued Salaries and Benefits 39,058  33,932  

Accrued Real Estate and Sales Taxes 20,146  24,030  

Other Accrued Expenses and Liabilities 34,698  40,566  

$ 292,175  $ 264,043  

Estimated Claims Liability Costs

Estimated claims liability costs are accrued primarily for workers compensation and vehicle liability at the Aaron's Business segment, as well as general
liability and group health insurance benefits provided to team members. These liabilities are recorded within estimated claims liability costs within
accounts payable and accrued expenses in the consolidated balance sheets. Estimates for these claims liabilities are made based on actual reported but
unpaid claims and actuarial analysis of the projected claims run off for both reported and incurred but not reported claims. This analysis is based upon an
assessment of the likely outcome or historical experience and considers a variety of factors, including the actuarial loss forecasts, company-specific
development factors, general industry loss development factors and third-party claim administrator loss estimates of individual claims. The Company
makes periodic prepayments to its insurance carriers to cover the projected claims run off for both reported and incurred but not reported claims,
considering its retention or stop loss limits. In addition, we have prefunding balances on deposit and other insurance receivables with the insurance
carriers which are recorded within prepaid expenses and other assets in our consolidated balance sheets.
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Asset Retirement Obligations

The Company accrues for asset retirement obligations, which relate to expected costs to remove exterior signage, in the period in which the obligations
are incurred. These costs are accrued at fair value. When the related liability is initially recorded, the Company capitalizes the cost by increasing the
carrying amount of the related long-lived asset. Over time, the liability is accreted to its settlement value and updated for changes in estimates. Upon
settlement of the liability, the Company recognizes a gain or loss for any differences between the settlement amount and the liability recorded. Asset
retirement obligations, which are included in accounts payable and accrued expenses in the consolidated balance sheets, amounted to $ 2.1 million and
$ 2.2 million as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. The capitalized cost is depreciated over the useful life of the related asset.

Fair Value Measurement

Fair value is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants
at the measurement date. To increase the comparability of fair value measures, the following hierarchy prioritizes the inputs to valuation methodologies
used to measure fair value:

    Level 1—Valuations based on quoted prices for identical assets and liabilities in active markets.

    Level 2—Valuations based on observable inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1, such as quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in
active markets, quoted prices for identical or similar assets and liabilities in markets that are not active, or other inputs that are observable or can
be corroborated by observable market data.

    Level 3—Valuations based on unobservable inputs reflecting management’s own assumptions, consistent with reasonably available assumptions
made by other market participants. These valuations require significant judgment.

The fair values of the Company’s current financial assets and liabilities, such as cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable and accounts payable,
approximate their carrying values due to their short-term nature. The Company's outstanding debt borrowings as of December 31, 2023 and December
31, 2022 were subject to a variable interest rate. Therefore, the fair value of these borrowings also approximates its carrying value. These assets and
liabilities are measured within Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy. The Company also measures certain non-financial assets at fair value on a
nonrecurring basis, such as goodwill, intangible assets, operating lease right-of-use assets, and property, plant and equipment, in connection with
periodic evaluations for potential impairment.

The Company measures a liability related to its non-qualified deferred compensation plan, which represents benefits accrued for participants that are part
of the plan and is valued at the quoted market prices of the participants' investment election, at fair value on a recurring basis. The Company measures
assets held for sale at fair value on a nonrecurring basis and records impairment charges when they are deemed to be impaired.

On April 1, 2022, the Company completed the previously announced acquisition of all of the issued and outstanding shares of capital stock of BrandsMart
U.S.A. For the fair value measurements performed related to the net assets acquired, including acquired intangible assets, the Company utilized multiple
Level 3 inputs and assumptions, such as estimates about costs of capital, future projected performance and cash flows.

The Company performed an interim goodwill impairment analysis for its reporting units as of August 31, 2022 which resulted in the full impairment of the
Aaron's Business reporting unit goodwill. During the fourth quarter of 2022 and 2023, the Company also performed its annual goodwill impairment
analysis for its reporting units. These evaluations required multiple Level 3 inputs and assumptions, such as estimates about costs of capital, future
projected performance, and cash flows. Further details about these goodwill impairment evaluations are described in Note 3 to these consolidated
financial statements.

Foreign Currency

The financial statements of the Company’s Canadian subsidiary are translated from the Canadian dollar functional currency to U.S. dollars using month-
end rates of exchange for assets and liabilities, and average rates of exchange for revenues, costs and expenses. Translation gains and losses of the
subsidiary are recorded in accumulated other comprehensive loss as a component of equity. The Company's assets include assets from Canadian
operations of $ 13.4  million and $ 13.1  million as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

Foreign currency remeasurement gains and losses are recorded primarily due to remeasurement of the financial assets and liabilities of the Company's
Canadian stores between the Canadian dollar and the U.S. dollar and were not significant in 2023, 2022 or 2021.
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Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Adopted

In October 2021, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued ASU 2021-08, Business Combinations (Topic 805): Accounting for Contract
Assets and Contract Liabilities from Contracts with Customers ("ASU 2021-08"), which requires contract assets and contract liabilities (e.g., deferred
revenue) acquired in a business combination to be recognized and measured in accordance with ASC Topic 606, Revenue from Contracts with
Customers, rather than at its assumed acquisition date fair value. The Company elected to early adopt ASU 2021-08 in the second quarter of 2022, and
therefore accounted for deferred revenue contracts acquired in connection with the BrandsMart U.S.A. acquisition under this standard. The adoption of
the standard has no retrospective impact to the Company's historical consolidated and combined financial statements.

Effective in Future Periods

In October 2023, the FASB issued an accounting pronouncement (ASU 2023-06) related to disclosure or presentation requirements for various subtopics
in the FASB’s Accounting Standards Codification ("Codification"). The amendments in the update are intended to align the requirements in the
Codification with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission's ("SEC") regulations and facilitate the application of GAAP for all entities. The effective
date for each amendment is the date on which the SEC removal of the related disclosure requirement from Regulation S-X or Regulation S-K becomes
effective, or if the SEC has not removed the requirements by June 30, 2027, this amendment will be removed from the Codification and will not become
effective for any entity. Early adoption is prohibited. We do not expect this update to have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.

In November 2023, the FASB issued an accounting pronouncement (ASU 2023-07) related to the disclosure of incremental segment information on an
annual and interim basis. This update is effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2023, and interim periods within fiscal years beginning
after December 15, 2024, and requires retrospective application to all prior periods presented in the financial statements. We plan to adopt this
pronouncement beginning with our fiscal year ended December 31, 2024, and we do not expect it to have a material effect on our consolidated financial
statements.

In December 2023, the FASB issued an accounting pronouncement (ASU 2023-09) related to income tax disclosures. The amendments in this update
are intended to enhance the transparency and decision usefulness of income tax disclosures primarily through changes to the rate reconciliation and
income taxes paid information. This update is effective for annual periods beginning after December 15, 2024, though early adoption is permitted. We
plan to adopt this pronouncement for our fiscal year beginning January 1, 2025, and we do not expect it to have a material effect on our consolidated
financial statements.
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NOTE 2: ACQUISITIONS

BrandsMart U.S.A. Acquisition

On April 1, 2022, the Company completed the acquisition of BrandsMart U.S.A for a total consideration of $ 230  million in cash under the terms of the
agreement and additional amounts for working capital adjustments and transaction related fees. Consideration transferred also included the off-market
value associated with certain operating leases entered into in conjunction with the transaction, which is further described in the table below.
Measurement period adjustments recorded during the year ended December 31, 2023 primarily relate to opening balance adjustments to certain asset
and liability balances further illustrated in the table below:

(In Thousands)

Preliminary Amounts
Recognized as of
Acquisition Date

2023 Measurement Period
Adjustments

Final Amounts
Recognized as of
Acquisition Date

Cash Consideration to BrandsMart U.S.A. $ 230,000  $ —  $ 230,000  

Acquired Cash 15,952  —  15,952  

Estimated Excess Working Capital, net of Cash 35,599  —  35,599  

Non-Cash Off-Market Lease Agreement 6,823  —  6,823  

Aggregate Consideration Transferred 288,374  —  288,374  

Total Purchase Consideration, Net of Cash Acquired $ 272,422  $ —  $ 272,422  

Estimated Fair Value of Identifiable Assets Acquired and Liabilities Assumed

Accounts Receivable 4,310  —  4,310  

Merchandise Inventories 124,064  173  124,237  

Property, Plant and Equipment 22,053  ( 1,361 ) 20,692  

Operating Lease Right-of-Use Assets 160,210  —  160,210  

Other Intangibles 122,950  —  122,950  

Prepaid Expenses and Other Assets 9,049  ( 80 ) 8,969  

Total Identifiable Assets Acquired 442,636  ( 1,268 ) 441,368  

Accounts Payable and Accrued Expenses 25,340  ( 2,050 ) 23,290  

Customer Deposits and Advance Payments 25,332  1,822  27,154  

Operating Lease Liabilities 158,712  —  158,712  

Debt 15,540  —  15,540  

Total Liabilities Assumed 224,924  ( 228 ) 224,696  

Net Assets Acquired 217,712  ( 1,040 ) 216,672  

Goodwill 54,710  1,040  55,750  

Total Estimated Fair Value of Net Assets Acquired $ 272,422  $ —  $ 272,422  

Franchisee Acquisitions

The Company acquired the store operations of various Aaron's franchisees during the year ended December 31, 2021, for a combined purchase price of
$ 10.6 million. The franchisee acquisitions have been accounted for as business combinations and the results of operations of the acquired businesses
are included in the Company’s results of operations from their dates of acquisition. The primary tangible asset acquired as part of these transactions was
lease merchandise and the primary intangible assets allocated to were reacquired franchise rights and customer lease contracts during the year ended
December 31, 2021. As a result of these business combinations, the Company recorded $ 5.6 million in goodwill during the year ended December 31,
2021. The effect of these acquisitions on the consolidated financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021 was not
significant. There were no material measurement period adjustments recognized in 2023 or 2022 related to the 2021 franchisee acquisitions and there
were no franchise acquisitions in 2023 or 2022.
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NOTE 3: GOODWILL AND INTANGIBLES

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of the identifiable net tangible and intangible assets acquired in connection with
business acquisitions. All acquisition-related goodwill balances are allocated amongst the Company's reporting units based on the nature of the acquired
operations that originally created the goodwill and are comprised of the following:

(i) Aaron’s Business (a component of the Aaron’s Business operating segment)
• Aaron’s branded Company-operated and franchise operated stores,
• Aarons.com e-commerce platform ("aarons.com") and,
• Woodhaven

(ii) BrandsMart Leasing (a component of the Aaron’s Business operating segment)
(iii) BrandsMart (the sole component of the BrandsMart operating segment)

Management considered the aggregation of the BrandsMart Leasing reporting unit and Aaron's Business reporting unit as a single reporting unit and
determined that these components were economically dissimilar and reviewed separately by the segment managers of the Aaron's Business operating
segment, and therefore should not be aggregated.

The Company’s goodwill is not amortized but is subject to an impairment test at the reporting unit level annually as of October 1 and more frequently if
events or circumstances indicate that an impairment may have occurred. An interim goodwill impairment test is required if the Company believes it is
more likely than not that the carrying amount of its reporting unit exceeds the reporting unit's fair value.

The Company concluded that the need for an interim goodwill impairment test was triggered as of August 31, 2022. Factors that led to this conclusion
included:

(i) the continued decline in the Company's stock price and market capitalization during the third quarter of 2022,
(ii) uncertainty regarding the short-term and long-term impacts that adverse macroeconomic conditions, including inflation and rising interest

rates, may have on the financial health of our Aaron's Business customers and franchisees.

The Company determined that the Aaron’s Business Reporting Unit’s goodwill was fully impaired and recorded a goodwill impairment charge of $ 12.9
million during the quarter ended September 30, 2022. The Company concluded that given the recency of the BrandsMart acquisition, the provisional
nature of the goodwill balance, the carrying value of our acquisition accounting as preliminary and subject to adjustment during the measurement period,
the BrandsMart reporting unit goodwill was not impaired as of September 30, 2022.

The Company also performed its annual goodwill impairment test on the remaining goodwill balance allocated to BrandsMart Leasing and BrandsMart
reporting units as of its annual testing dates, October 1, 2022, and 2023, respectively, and determined that no impairment had occurred and that the fair
value of the reporting units were in excess of their carrying amounts. The Company also determined that there were no events that occurred or
circumstances that changed during the fourth quarter of 2023 that would more likely than not reduce the fair value of the reporting units below their
carrying amounts.

Management engaged the assistance of a third-party valuation firm to perform the goodwill impairment tests mentioned above. This entailed
assessments of the Aaron's Business, BrandsMart, and BrandsMart Leasing reporting units' fair values relative to their respective carrying values that
were derived using a combination of both income and market approaches and by performing a market capitalization reconciliation, which included
assessments of the control premiums implied from the Company's estimated fair values of its reporting units. The fair value measurements involved
significant unobservable inputs (Level 3 inputs, as discussed more fully below). The income approaches utilized the discounted future expected cash
flows, which required assumptions about short-term and long-term revenue growth or decline rates, operating margins, capital requirements, and a
weighted-average cost of capital.

The market approaches, which includes the guideline public company methods, utilized pricing multiples derived from an analyses of comparable publicly
traded companies. We believe the comparable companies we evaluate as marketplace participants serve as an appropriate reference when calculating
fair value because those companies have similar risks, participate in similar markets, provide similar products and services for their customers, and
compete with us directly.

The following table provides information related to the carrying amount of the Company’s goodwill:
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(In Thousands) Aaron's Business BrandsMart BrandsMart Leasing Total

Balance at January 1, 2022 $ 13,134  $ —  $ —  $ 13,134  

Acquisitions —  62,268  —  62,268  

Currency Translation Adjustments ( 94 ) —  —  ( 94 )

Acquisition Accounting Adjustments ( 107 ) ( 34,075 ) 26,517  ( 7,665 )

Impairment Loss ( 12,933 ) —  —  ( 12,933 )

Balance at December 31, 2022 $ —  $ 28,193  $ 26,517  $ 54,710  

Acquisitions —  —  —  —  

Currency Translation Adjustments —  —  —  —  

Acquisition Accounting Adjustments —  1,040  —  1,040  

Balance at December 31, 2023 $ —  $ 29,233  $ 26,517  $ 55,750  

Definite-Lived Intangible Assets

The following table summarizes information related to the Company's definite-lived intangible assets at December 31:

2023 2022

(In Thousands) Gross
Accumulated
Amortization Net Gross

Accumulated
Amortization Net

Customer Relationships $ 209  $ ( 164 ) $ 45  $ 696  $ ( 455 ) $ 241  

Reacquired Franchise Rights 4,122  ( 2,976 ) 1,146  5,440  ( 3,539 ) 1,901  

Non-Compete Agreements 256  ( 152 ) 104  320  ( 111 ) 209  

Expanded Customer Base 862  ( 818 ) 44  1,440  ( 1,157 ) 283  

Trade Names 108,000  ( 9,450 ) 98,550  108,000  ( 4,050 ) 103,950  

Customer List 14,700  ( 6,431 ) 8,269  14,700  ( 2,756 ) 11,944  

Total $ 128,149  $ ( 19,991 ) $ 108,158  $ 130,596  $ ( 12,068 ) $ 118,528  

The Company's definite-lived intangible assets were acquired in connection with store-based business acquisitions, asset acquisitions of customer
contracts, franchisee acquisitions, and the BrandsMart U.S.A. acquisition. The customer relationship intangible asset is amortized on a straight-line basis
over a three-year estimated useful life. Reacquired franchise rights are amortized on a straight-line basis over the remaining life of the franchisee’s ten-
year license term. The non-compete intangible asset is amortized on a straight-line basis over the life of the agreement (generally one to five years ).
The expanded customer base intangible asset represents the estimated fair value paid in an asset acquisition for the ability to advertise and execute
lease agreements with a larger pool of customers in the respective markets, and is generally amortized on a straight-line basis over two to six years .
The trade names acquired in the BrandsMart U.S.A. acquisition are amortized over a 20-year estimated useful life, and the customer list acquired in the
BrandsMart U.S.A. acquisition is amortized over a four-year estimated useful life.

Total amortization expense of the Company's definite-lived intangible assets included in other operating expenses, net in the accompanying consolidated
statements of earnings was $ 10.3 million, $ 9.3 million and $ 5.5 million during the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

As of December 31, 2023, estimated future amortization expense for the next five years related to the Company's definite-lived intangible assets is as
follows:

(In Thousands)  

2024 $ 9,776  

2025 9,489  

2026 6,512  

2027 5,432  

2028 5,400  
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NOTE 4: FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT

Financial Assets and Liabilities Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis

The following table summarizes financial liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis:

December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022

(In Thousands) Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Deferred Compensation Liability $ —  $ ( 10,574 ) $ —  $ —  $ ( 8,621 ) $ —  

Interest Rate Swap Liability $ —  $ ( 468 ) $ —  $ —  $ —  $ —  

The Company maintains The Aaron's Company, Inc. Deferred Compensation Plan, which is an unfunded, nonqualified deferred compensation plan for a
select group of management, highly compensated employees and non-employee directors. The liability represents benefits accrued for plan participants
and is valued at the quoted market prices of the participants’ investment elections, which consist of equity and debt "mirror" funds. As such, the Company
has classified the deferred compensation liability as a Level 2 liability, which is recorded in accounts payable and accrued expenses in the consolidated
balance sheets.

In March 2023, the Company entered into an interest rate swap agreement for an aggregate notional amount of $ 100.0  million which is further
described in Note 1 to these consolidated financial statements. The fair value of the interest rate swap agreement is derived by using widely accepted
valuation techniques and reflects the contractual terms of the interest rate swap including the period to maturity and uses observable market-based
inputs, including interest rate curves. The fair value associated with the interest rate swap is recorded within prepaid expenses and other assets (when
the resulting fair value is an asset) or accounts payable and accrued expenses (when the resulting fair value is a liability) within the Company's
consolidated balance sheets.

NOTE 5: PROPERTY, PLANT, AND EQUIPMENT

The following is a summary of the Company’s property, plant, and equipment:

December 31

(In Thousands) 2023 2022

Land $ 10,043  $ 11,740  

Buildings and Improvements 44,013  43,309  

Leasehold Improvements and Signs 155,912  134,312  

Vehicles 103,067  96,543  

Fixtures and Equipment 102,848  105,362  

Software - Internal Use 164,262  143,091  

Construction in Progress 8,212  15,080  

588,357  549,437  

Less: Accumulated Depreciation and Amortization ( 318,524 ) ( 281,980 )

$ 269,833  $ 267,457  

Includes accumulated amortization of internal-use software development costs which amounted to $ 113.6 million and $ 93.4 million as of
December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

1
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NOTE 6: REVENUE RECOGNITION

The following table disaggregates revenue by source:

Year Ended December 31,

(In Thousands) 2023 2022 2021

Lease Revenues and Fees $ 1,399,514  $ 1,529,125  $ 1,633,489  

Retail Sales 620,665  585,624  57,568  

Non-Retail Sales 96,710  110,531  128,299  

Franchise Royalties and Fees 22,312  23,376  25,129  

Other 689  778  1,019  

Total $ 2,139,890  $ 2,249,434  $ 1,845,504  

Includes revenues from Canadian operations of $ 17.2 million, $ 18.6 million and $ 22.7 million during the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and
2021, which are primarily lease revenues and fees.

Lease Revenues and Fees

The Aaron's Business segment, which includes BrandsMart Leasing, provides lease merchandise, consisting of furniture, appliances, electronics,
computers, and other home goods to their customers for lease under certain terms agreed to by the customer. The Aaron's Business segment offers
leases with flexible ownership plans that can be generally renewed weekly, bi-weekly, semi-monthly, or monthly up to 12 , 18 or 24 months and does not
require deposits upon inception of customer agreements. The customer has the right to acquire ownership either through an early purchase option or
through payment of all required lease payments through the end of the ownership plan. Aaron's also offers customers the option to obtain a membership
in the Aaron’s Club program. The benefits to customers of the Aaron's Club program are separated into three general categories: (a) lease protection
benefits; (b) health & wellness discounts; and (c) dining, shopping and consumer savings. Lease agreements offered by the Aaron's Business segment
including the Aaron's Club program memberships and BrandsMart Leasing, are cancellable at any time by either party without penalty, and as such,
these offerings are renewable period to period arrangements.

Lease revenues related to the leasing of merchandise and Aaron's Club membership fees are recognized as revenue in the month they are earned.
Payments received prior to the month earned are recorded as deferred lease revenue, and this amount is included in customer deposits and advance
payments in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. Substantially all of the prior year deferred lease revenue was recognized in the current year
according to lease terms. Lease payments due but not received prior to month end are recorded as accounts receivable in the accompanying
consolidated balance sheets. Lease revenues are recorded net of a provision for returns and uncollectible renewal payments.

All of Aaron's customer lease agreements, including BrandsMart Leasing, are considered operating leases. The Company maintains ownership of the
lease merchandise until all payment obligations are satisfied under lease agreements. Initial direct costs related to customer agreements are expensed
as incurred and have been classified as other operating expenses, net in the accompanying consolidated statements of earnings. The consolidated
statements of earnings effects of expensing the initial direct costs as incurred are not materially different from amortizing initial direct costs over the lease
ownership plan.

Substantially all lease revenues and fees were within the scope of ASC 842, Leases, during the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021.
Included in lease revenues and fees above, the Company had $ 24.8  million, $ 27.2  million and $ 27.3  million of other revenue during the years ended
December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, respectively, within the scope of ASC 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers, which is included in lease
revenues and fees above in the accompanying consolidated statements of earnings.

1
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Retail Sales

All retail sales revenue is within the scope of ASC 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers,  during the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and
2021.

Aaron's Business

Revenues from the retail sale of lease merchandise to individual consumers are recognized at the point of sale and are recorded within retail sales in the
accompanying consolidated statements of earnings. Generally, the transfer of control occurs near or at the point of sale for retail sales. Aaron's Business
retail sales are not subject to a returns policy. All retail sales revenue is within the scope of ASC 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers,  during
the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021.

BrandsMart

Revenues from the retail sale of merchandise inventories are recorded within retail sales in the accompanying consolidated statements of earnings and
are recognized at a point in time that the Company has satisfied its performance obligation and transferred control of the product to the respective
customer. Revenues associated with retail sales transactions for which control has not transferred are deferred and are recorded within customer
deposits and advance payments within the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. Substantially all of the prior year deferred retail sales were
recognized in the current year.

Retails sales at the BrandsMart segment, both in store and online, are subject to the segment's 30-day return policy. Accordingly, an allowance, based on
historical returns experience, for sales returns is recorded as a component of retail sales in the period in which the related sales are recorded as well as
an asset for the returned merchandise. The return asset and allowance for sales returns was $ 2.5  million and $ 3.4  million as of December 31, 2023
and $ 3.0  million and $ 4.0  million as of December 31, 2022, respectively. The return asset and allowance for sales returns was recorded within prepaid
and other assets and accounts payable and accrued expenses within the accompanying consolidated balance sheets, respectively.

Additional protection plans can be purchased by BrandsMart U.S.A. customers that provides extended warranty coverage on their product purchases,
with payment being due for this protection at the point of sale. A third-party underwriter assumes the risk associated with the coverage and is primarily
responsible for fulfillment. The Company is an agent to the contract and records the fixed commissions. These fixed commissions on the warranty
coverages are included within retail sales in the accompanying consolidated statements of earnings on a net basis.

Non-Retail Sales

Revenues for the non-retail sale of merchandise to Aaron's franchisees are recognized when control transfers to the franchisee, which is upon delivery of
the merchandise and are recorded within non-retail sales in the accompanying statements of earnings. All non-retail sales revenue is within the scope of
ASC 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers,  during the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021.

Franchise Royalties and Fees

We have existing agreements with our current Aaron's franchisees to govern the operations of franchised stores. Our standard agreement is for a term of
ten years , with one ten-year renewal option. Franchisees are obligated to remit to us royalty payments of 6 % of the weekly cash revenue payments
received, which is recognized as the fees become due.

The Company guarantees certain debt obligations of some of the franchisees and receives guarantee fees based on the outstanding debt obligations of
such franchisees. Refer to Note 10 to these consolidated financial statements for additional discussion of the franchise-related guarantee obligation. The
Company also charges fees for advertising efforts that benefit the franchisees, which are recognized at the time the advertising takes place.

Substantially all franchise royalties and fee revenue is within the scope of ASC 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers . Of the franchise royalties
and fees, $ 17.8 million, $ 18.6 million and $ 19.8 million during the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021 respectively, is related to franchise
royalty income that is recognized as the fees become due. The remaining revenue is primarily related to advertising fees charged to franchisees.
Franchise royalties and fees are recorded within franchise royalties and other revenues in the accompanying consolidated statements of earnings.
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NOTE 7: LEASES

Lessor Information

Refer to Note 6 to these consolidated financial statements for further information about the Company's revenue generating activities as a lessor. All of the
Company's customer lease agreements are considered operating leases, and the Company currently does not have any sales-type or direct financing
leases.

Lessee Information

The Company leases retail store and warehouse space for most of its store-based operations, as well as corporate office space for store and e-
commerce supporting functions (collectively "real estate leases"), transportation vehicles, and office equipment under operating leases expiring at various
times through 2038. The Company does not record lease liability or right-of-use assets for any leases that have a lease term of under 12 months or less
at commencement. For all leases in which it is a lessee, the Company has elected to include both lease and non-lease components as a single
component and account for it as a lease. Operating lease costs are recorded on a straight-line basis and are primarily classified within other operating
expenses, net in the consolidated statements of earnings.

Real Estate Leases

Most of the Company’s real estate leases contain renewal options for additional periods ranging from one to 20 years. At lease inception or upon
modification, the Company does not consider renewal options to be reasonably certain for exercise except for leases associated with restructuring
programs described in Note 11 to these consolidated financial statements. Additionally, renewal option rental rates are in line with market rates and do
not include significant penalties or business disruptions if the Company elects not to exercise. Leases related to restructuring programs variable
occupancy costs that continue to be incurred after the impairment of operating lease right-of-use assets are recognized within restructuring expenses,
net in the consolidated statements of earnings.

Residual Value Guarantees

Real estate and office equipment leases do not contain any material residual value guarantees; however, vehicle leases include a residual value that is
guaranteed to the lessor, which ensures that the vehicles will be returned to the lessor in reasonable working condition.

Other Lease Information

The Company did not have any finance lease costs in 2023 or 2022. In 2021, finance lease costs and their associated cash flow impacts were
immaterial. The Company’s total operating lease costs are comprised of the following:

Year Ended December 31,

(In Thousands) 2023 2022 2021

Operating Lease cost:

Non-Cash Lease Expense classified within Other Operating Expenses, Net 118,759  111,452  91,467  

Non-Cash Lease Expense classified within Restructuring Expenses, Net 851  1,161  1,616  

Sublease Receipts ( 1,663 ) ( 2,090 ) ( 2,442 )

Total Operating Lease cost $ 117,947  $ 110,523  $ 90,641  

 Includes short-term and variable lease costs, which are not significant. Short-term lease expense include lease terms of greater than one month, but
not greater than 12 months.

Excludes right-of-use asset impairment charges of $ 3.1 million, $ 11.2 million and $ 4.2 million recognized during the years ended December 31,
2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively, which were recognized within restructuring expenses, net in the consolidated statements of earnings and within
impairment of assets in the consolidated statements of cash flows.

The Company has anticipated future sublease receipts from executed sublease agreements of $ 1.2  million in 2024, $ 0.9  million in 2025, $ 0.5
 million in 2026, $ 0.1  million in 2027, $ 0.1  million in 2028, and $ 0.1  million thereafter.
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Additional information regarding the Company’s leasing activities is as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

(In Thousands) 2023 2022 2021

Cash paid for amounts included in measurement of Operating Lease Liabilities 130,221  130,273  111,555  

Right-of-Use Assets obtained in exchange for new Operating Lease Liabilities $ 114,564  $ 294,109  $ 133,528  

During the year ended December 31, 2022, $ 160.2  million of the right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for new operating lease liabilities relates to
the acquisition of BrandsMart U.S.A. The carrying value of these right-of-use assets was subsequently reduced by the $ 6.8  million value of the off-
market element of the BrandsMart U.S.A. lease agreements, which is reflected in the amounts noted in the table above.

The Company uses its incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate for its leases, as the implicit rate in the lease is not readily determinable. Below is
a summary of the weighted-average discount rate and weighted-average remaining lease term for operating leases:

December 31,

2023 2022

Weighted Average
Discount Rate

Weighted Average
Remaining Lease Term (in

years)
Weighted Average

Discount Rate

Weighted Average
Remaining Lease Term (in

years)

Operating Leases 4.7  % 6.0 4.1  % 6.3

The table below is a summary of undiscounted operating lease liabilities that have terms in excess of one year and reconciles to the present value of the
operating lease liabilities included in the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2023.

(In Thousands) Total

2024 $ 119,504  

2025 110,368  

2026 91,546  

2027 77,169  

2028 56,777  

Thereafter 124,852  

Total Future Undiscounted Cash Flows 580,216  

Less: Interest 77,524  

Present Value of Lease Liabilities $ 502,692  

Future undiscounted cash flows do not include $ 6.0 million of future operating lease payments for leases that have not yet commenced. These leases
will commence during 2024.

Sale-Leaseback Transactions

The Company entered into one and four sale and leaseback transactions during the years ended December 31, 2023, and 2022, respectively. The 2023
transaction related to five Company-owned Aaron’s store properties and the 2022 transactions related to a total of seven Company-owned Aaron’s store
properties. Net proceeds from the sales were $ 9.1  million and $ 12.9  million, respectively. Proceeds are presented within proceeds from dispositions of
property, plant, and equipment in the consolidated statement of cash flows. The Company recognized gains of $ 5.4  million in 2023 and $ 8.5  million in
2022, which were classified within other operating expenses, net in the consolidated statements of earnings.
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NOTE 8: INDEBTEDNESS

The following is a summary of the Company’s debt, net of applicable unamortized debt issuance costs:

(In Thousands) December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022

Revolving Facility $ 25,000  $ 69,250  

Term Loan, Due in Installments through April 2027 168,963  173,163  

Total Outstanding Borrowings under the Credit Facility 193,963  242,413  

Total Debt 193,963  242,413  

Less: Current Maturities 6,388  23,450  

Long-Term Debt $ 187,575  $ 218,963  

Includes unamortized debt issuance costs of $ 0.6  million and $ 0.7  million at December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022. The Company has
included $ 2.2  million and $ 2.9  million of debt issuance costs as of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively, related to the revolving
credit facility within prepaid expenses and other assets in the consolidated balance sheets.

Revolving Credit Facility and Term Loan

To finance the BrandsMart U.S.A. acquisition, on April 1, 2022 the Company entered into a new unsecured credit facility (the "Credit Facility") which
replaced its previous $ 250  million unsecured credit facility. The Credit Facility provides for a $ 175  million term loan (the "Term Loan") and a $ 375
 million revolving credit facility (the "Revolving Facility"), which includes (i) a $ 35  million sublimit for the issuance of letters of credit on customary terms,
and (ii) a $ 35  million sublimit for swing line loans on customary terms. The Company pays a commitment fee on unused balances related to the
revolving facility, which ranges from  0.20 % to  0.30 % as determined by the Company's ratio of total net debt to EBITDA (as defined by the agreement).
All borrowings for swing line loans under the Revolving Facility are short-term in nature. The weighted average interest rate on the outstanding short-
term borrowings as of December 31, 2023, under the Revolving Facility was 7.08 %.

On April 1, 2022, the Company borrowed $ 175  million under the Term Loan and $ 117  million under the Revolving Facility to finance the purchase
price for the BrandsMart U.S.A. acquisition and other customary acquisition and financing-related closing costs and adjustments. The Company expects
that future additional borrowings under the Revolving Facility will be used to provide for working capital and capital expenditures, to finance future
permitted acquisitions and for other general corporate purposes. As of December 31, 2023, $ 169.5 million and $ 25.0 million remained outstanding
under the Term Loan and Revolving Facility, respectively, compared to $ 173.9 million and $ 69.3 million outstanding at December 31, 2022.

Borrowings under the Revolving Facility and the Term Loan bear interest at a rate per annum equal to, at the option of the Company, (i) the forward-
looking term rate based on SOFR plus an applicable margin ranging between 1.50 % and 2.25 %, based on the Company's Total Net Debt to EBITDA
Ratio, or (ii) the base rate (as defined in the Credit Facility) plus an applicable margin, which is 1.00 % lower than the applicable margin for SOFR loans.

The loans and commitments under the Revolving Facility mature or terminate on April 1, 2027. The Term Loan amortizes in quarterly installments,
commencing on December 31, 2022, in an aggregate annual amount equal to (i) 2.50 % of the original principal amount of the Term Loan during the first
and second years after the closing date, (ii) 5.00 % of the original principal amount of the Term Loan during the third, fourth and fifth years after the
closing date, with the remaining principal balance of the Term Loan to be due and payable in full on April 1, 2027.

On February 23, 2024, the Company amended its revolving credit and term loan agreement (the "Credit Facility") to, among other things: (i) decrease the
Revolving Facility commitment from $ 375  million to $ 275  million, (ii) include a Security Agreement consisting of a first priority lien (subject to Permitted
Liens) on certain agreed upon assets of the Borrower and Guarantors, including a pledge of the capital stock of all existing and future Material
Subsidiaries of Holdings and excluding Real Property, and (iii) amend the existing Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio to lower the required minimum
threshold.

Franchise Loan Facility Amendment

On April 1, 2022, the Company also entered into a new $ 12.5  million unsecured franchise loan facility (the "Franchise Loan Facility"), which replaced its
previous $ 15.0  million amended and restated unsecured franchise loan facility dated as of November 10, 2021. The Franchise Loan Facility operates as
a guarantee by the Company of certain debt obligations of certain Aaron's franchisees (the "Borrower") under a franchise loan program.
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In the event these franchisees are unable to meet their debt service payments or otherwise experience an event of default, the Company would be
unconditionally liable for the outstanding balance of the franchisees’ debt obligations under the Franchise Loan Facility, which would be due in full within
90 days of such event of default. Borrowings under the Franchise Loan Facility bear interest at a rate per annum equal to SOFR plus an applicable
margin ranging between 1.50 % and 2.25 %, based on the Company's Total Net Debt to EBITDA Ratio (as defined in the Franchise Loan Facility). The
Franchise Loan Facility is available for a period of 364 days commencing on April 1, 2022, and permits the Borrower to request extensions for additional
364 -day periods. As of December 31, 2023, the Franchise Loan Facility has a total commitment amount of $ 10.0 million and a maturity date of March
30, 2024, due to amendments executed in 2023. On February 23, 2024, the Company amended its Franchise Loan Facility to conform to the changes
resulting from the amendment to its Credit Facility (described above), and to extend the maturity date to March 29, 2025.

Financial Covenants

The Credit Facility and the Franchise Loan Facility contain customary financial covenants including (a) a maximum Total Net Debt to EBITDA Ratio of
2.75 to 1.00 and (b) a minimum Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio of 1.75 to 1.00.

If the Company fails to comply with these covenants, the Company will be in default under these agreements, and all borrowings outstanding could
become due immediately. Under the Credit Facility and Franchise Loan Facility, the Company may pay cash dividends in any year so long as, after
giving pro forma effect to the dividend payment, the Company maintains compliance with its financial covenants and no event of default has occurred or
would result from the payment. The Company is in compliance with all of these covenants at December 31, 2023.

The table below shows all scheduled maturities for borrowings outstanding under the Revolving Facility and Term Loan as of December 31, 2023:

(In Thousands) Total

2024 $ 6,388  

2025 8,575  

2026 8,575  

2027 170,425  

Total $ 193,963  

Amount includes $ 25.0 million of outstanding borrowings under the Revolving Facility as of December 31, 2023.
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NOTE 9: INCOME TAXES

On April 1, 2022, the Company acquired BrandsMart U.S.A. in a deemed asset acquisition for federal and state income tax purposes. Due to the early
adoption of ASU 2021-08, the Company recorded a deferred tax asset of $ 1.1  million related to the assumed acquisition date fair value of deferred
revenue with an offsetting reduction to goodwill. No additional deferred tax assets or liabilities were recorded as part of business combination accounting.

The following is a summary of the Company’s income tax (benefit) expense:

Year Ended December 31,

(In Thousands) 2023 2022 2021

Current Income Tax (Benefit) Expense

Federal $ 3,697  $ 152  $ 140  

State 3,786  2,988  6,073  

Foreign ( 162 ) ( 131 ) 998  

7,321  3,009  7,211  

Deferred Income Tax (Benefit) Expense:

Federal ( 3,411 ) ( 4,417 ) 28,505  

State ( 8,067 ) ( 8,074 ) 172  

Foreign 276  19  48  

( 11,202 ) ( 12,472 ) 28,725  

Income Tax (Benefit) Expense $ ( 3,881 ) $ ( 9,463 ) $ 35,936  

Significant components of the Company’s deferred income tax liabilities and assets are as follows:

December 31,

(In Thousands) 2023 2022

Deferred Tax Liabilities:

Lease Merchandise and Property, Plant and Equipment $ 151,687  $ 182,070  

Operating Lease Right-of-Use Assets 116,372  114,868  

Prepaid Expenses 4,578  5,412  

Other, Net 5,476  5,697  

Total Deferred Tax Liabilities 278,113  308,047  

Deferred Tax Assets:

Goodwill and Other Intangibles 49,104  55,733  

Accrued Liabilities 16,893  16,614  

Advance Payments 11,812  12,913  

Operating Lease Liabilities 126,437  125,056  

Net Operating Loss 8,207  15,436  

Stock-Based Compensation 3,364  3,695  

263A Inventory Capitalization 2,028  2,018  

Other Comprehensive Income 449  —  

Other, Net 1,151  5,851  

Total Deferred Tax Assets 219,445  237,316  

Less Valuation Allowance 412  —  

Net Deferred Tax Liabilities $ 59,080  $ 70,731  
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Activity in the Company's deferred tax asset valuation allowance is as follows:

Year Ended

(In Thousands) December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022

Beginning Balance $ —  $ —  

Valuation allowance provided for taxes related to:

State net operating loss carryforwards 412  —  

Ending Balance $ 412  $ —  

The Company’s effective tax rate differs from the statutory United States federal income tax rate as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021

Statutory Rate 21.0  % 21.0  % 21.0  %

Increases (Decreases) in United States Federal Taxes

Resulting From:

State Income Taxes, net of Federal Income Tax Benefit ( 38.9 ) 1.5  3.7  

Nondeductible Officers Compensation ( 36.6 ) ( 9.1 ) 0.3  

Permanent Differences ( 60.6 ) ( 2.0 ) 0.4  

Remeasurement of net Deferred Tax Liabilities 504.6  34.1  0.2  

Federal Tax Credits 125.2  15.1  ( 1.6 )

Stock-Based Compensation - Tax Deficiency ( 89.2 ) ( 1.6 ) 0.1  

Valuation Allowance ( 39.0 ) —  —  

Other, net ( 19.7 ) 5.2  0.5  

Effective Tax Rate 366.8  % 64.2  % 24.6  %

The net income tax benefit recognized in 2022 includes a $ 5.1  million deferred income tax benefit generated by the remeasurement of state deferred
tax assets and liabilities in connection with the acquisition of BrandsMart U.S.A.

The net income tax benefit recognized in 2023 includes a $ 5.3  million deferred income tax benefit generated by the remeasurement of state deferred
tax assets and liabilities in connection with an election to file a consolidated state income tax return and a change in the expected state apportionment
percentages related to an election to treat Aaron's, LLC, a subsidiary of the Company, as a corporation for income tax purposes effective January 1,
2023.

At December 31, 2023, the Company had $ 0.2  million of federal tax credit carryforwards which will begin to expire in 2031. In addition, at December 31,
2023, the Company had $ 8.2  million of tax-effected state net operating loss carryforwards which will begin to expire in 2027 and state tax credit
carryforwards of $ 0.8  million which will begin to expire in 2031.

A valuation allowance has been provided where it is more likely than not that deferred tax assets related to state net operating loss carryforwards will not
be realized. As of December 31, 2023, the valuation allowance totaled $ 0.4  million for state net operating loss carryforwards.

The Company files a federal income tax return in the United States and files in various state and foreign jurisdictions. The Company filed its initial U.S.
federal income tax return for the year ended December 31, 2020; currently, there are no open IRS examinations. With few exceptions, the Company is
no longer subject to foreign and state and local tax examinations by tax authorities for years before 2020.
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The following table summarizes the activity related to the Company’s uncertain tax positions:

Year Ended December 31,

(In Thousands) 2023 2022 2021

Balance at January 1, $ 439  $ 470  $ 683  

Additions Based on Tax Positions Related to the Current Year —  —  —  

Additions for Tax Positions of Prior Years 281  109  —  

Prior Year Reductions —  —  ( 104 )

Statute Expirations ( 154 ) ( 140 ) ( 109 )

Settlements —  —  —  

Amounts Transferred to Former Parent —  —  —  

Balance at December 31, $ 566  $ 439  $ 470  

As of December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, the amount of uncertain tax benefits that, if recognized, would affect the effective tax rate is $ 0.7  million, $
0.5  million and $ 0.5  million, respectively, including interest and penalties.

During the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021 the Company did not recognize any interest and penalties. The Company had $ 0.2  million
of accrued interest and penalties at December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, respectively. The Company recognizes potential interest and penalties related
to uncertain tax benefits as a component of income tax (benefit) expense .

NOTE 10: COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

Guarantees

The Company has guaranteed certain debt obligations of some of its Aaron's franchisees under a franchise loan program (the "Franchise Loan Facility")
as described in further detail in Note 8 to these consolidated financial statements. The Company has recourse rights to franchisee assets securing the
debt obligations, which consist primarily of lease merchandise and fixed assets. Since the inception of the franchise loan program in 1994, the
Company's losses associated with the program have been insignificant. However, such losses could be significant in a future period due to potential
adverse trends in the liquidity and/or financial performance of Aaron's franchisees resulting in an event of default or impending defaults by franchisees.

The Company entered into a new Franchise Loan Facility agreement on April 1, 2022, which has been amended several times since that date. As of
December 31, 2023, the Franchise Loan Facility has a total commitment amount of $ 10.0 million and a commitment termination date of March 30, 2024.
On February 23, 2024, the Company amended its Franchise Loan Facility to conform to the changes resulting from the amendment to its Credit Facility
(described above), and to extend the maturity date to March 29, 2025. At December 31, 2023, the maximum amount that the Company would be
obligated to repay in the event franchisees defaulted was $ 4.9 million. The Company is subject to financial covenants under the Franchise Loan Facility
as detailed in Note 8 to these consolidated financial statements. At December 31, 2023, the Company was in compliance with all covenants under the
Franchise Loan Facility agreement.

The Company records a liability related to estimated future losses from repaying the franchisees' outstanding debt obligations upon any possible future
events of default. This liability is included in accounts payable and accrued expenses in the consolidated balance sheets and was $ 1.0 million and $ 1.3
million at December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. The balances at December 31, 2023 and 2022 included qualitative consideration of potential
losses, associated with uncertainties impacting the operations and liquidity of our franchisees. Uncertainties include inflationary pressures in the current
macroeconomic environment.
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Legal Proceedings

From time to time, the Company is party to various legal and regulatory proceedings arising in the ordinary course of business, certain of which have
been described below. The Company establishes an accrued liability for legal and regulatory proceedings when it determines that a loss is both probable
and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated. The Company continually monitors its litigation and regulatory exposure and reviews the
adequacy of its legal and regulatory reserves on a quarterly basis. The amount of any loss ultimately incurred in relation to matters for which an accrual
has been established may be higher or lower than the amounts accrued for such matters due to the inherent uncertainty in litigation, regulatory and
similar adversarial proceedings, and substantial losses from these proceedings or the costs of defending them could have a material adverse impact
upon the Company’s business, financial position, and results of operations.

At December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company had accrued $ 0.7 million and $ 2.7 million, respectively, for pending legal and regulatory matters for
which it believes losses are probable and is management’s best estimate of its exposure to loss. The Company records these liabilities in accounts
payable and accrued expenses in the consolidated balance sheets.

Those matters for which a loss is reasonably possible but not probable and those matters for which a reasonable estimate is not possible are not
included within these estimated ranges and, therefore, the estimated ranges do not represent the Company’s maximum loss exposure.

In Jacob Atkinson v. Aaron’s, LLC dba Aaron’s Sales & Lease Ownership, LLC , Civil Action No. 2:23-cv-01742-BJR (W.D. Wash.), filed on October 11,
2023, currently before the United States District Court for the Western District of Washington, plaintiff alleges that the Company violated Washington’s
Equal Pay and Opportunity Act, RCW 49.58.110, because certain of the Company’s job postings did not include a wage scale or salary range. Because
the statute is new, issues including standing, applicability as to who it covers, and the constitutionality of the statutory penalty have not been determined.
Plaintiff seeks injunctive and declaratory relief and also seeks certification of a putative class. On January 22, 2024, the Company filed a motion to
dismiss the lawsuit.

The assessment as to whether a loss is probable or reasonably possible, and as to whether such loss or a range of such losses is estimable, often
involves significant judgment about future events, and the outcome of litigation is inherently uncertain. Other than as described above, there is no
material pending or threatened litigation against the Company that remains outstanding as of December 31, 2023.

Other Contingencies

At December 31, 2023, the Company had non-cancelable commitments primarily related to certain advertising and marketing programs, software
licenses, and hardware and software maintenance of $ 18.0 million. Payments under these commitments are scheduled to be $ 11.3 million in 2024, $
5.6 million in 2025 and $ 1.1 million in 2026.

Management regularly assesses the Company’s insurance deductibles, monitors litigation and regulatory exposure with the Company’s attorneys, and
evaluates its loss experience. The Company also enters into various contracts in the normal course of business that may subject it to risk of financial loss
if counterparties fail to perform their contractual obligations.

NOTE 11: RESTRUCTURING

As management continues to execute on its long-term strategic plan, additional benefits and charges are expected to result from our restructuring
programs. The extent of any future charges related to our restructuring programs are not currently estimable and depend on various factors including the
timing and scope of future cost optimization initiatives.

Operational Efficiency and Optimization Restructuring Program

During the third quarter of 2022, the Company initiated the Operational Efficiency and Optimization Restructuring Program intended to strengthen
operational efficiencies and reduce the Company’s overall costs. Management believes that this restructuring program will help the Company sharpen its
operational focus, optimize its cost profile, allocate capital resources towards long-term strategic objectives, and generate incremental value for
shareholders through investments in technological capabilities, and fulfillment center logistics competencies. Since initiation, the program resulted in the
closure or consolidation of 38 Company-operated Aaron's stores through the year ended December 31, 2023. This program also includes the Hub and
Showroom model to optimize labor in markets, store labor realignments, optimization of the Company's supply chain, the centralization and optimization
of store support center, operations, and multi-unit store oversight functions, as well as other real estate and third party spend costs reductions.
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Total net restructuring expenses under the Operational Efficiency and Optimization Restructuring Program related to the initiatives described above were
$ 6.4 million during the year ended December 31, 2023. Such expenses were recorded within the Unallocated Corporate category for segment reporting
and were comprised mainly of professional advisory fees, severance, operating lease right-of-use asset impairment charges, fixed asset impairment
charges and continuing variable occupancy costs incurred related to closed stores. Management expects future restructuring expenses (reversals) due to
potential early buyouts of leases with landlords, as well as continuing variable occupancy costs related to closed stores.

Since inception of the Operational Efficiency and Optimization Restructuring Program, the Company has incurred charges of $ 18.0 million under the
plan. These cumulative charges are primarily comprised of operating lease right-of-use asset and fixed impairment charges, continuing variable
occupancy costs incurred related to closed stores, professional advisory fees, and severance related to reductions in its store support center and Aaron's
Business store oversight functions.

In January 2024, the Company completed a headcount reduction of its store support center to more closely align with current business conditions
resulting in the recognition of $ 2.1 million in severance charges.

Real Estate Repositioning and Optimization Restructuring Program

During the first quarter of 2020, the Company initiated a real estate repositioning and optimization restructuring program. This program includes a
strategic plan to remodel, reposition, and consolidate our Company-operated Aaron's store footprint over the next two to three years . We believe that
such strategic actions will allow Aaron's to continue to successfully serve our markets while continuing to utilize our growing aarons.com platform.
Management expects that this strategy, along with our increased use of technology, will enable us to reduce store count while retaining a significant
portion of our existing customer relationships as well as attract new customers. Since initiation, the program has resulted in the closure, consolidation, or
relocation of 250 Company-operated stores through 2023. This program also resulted in the closure of one administrative store support building and a
further rationalization of our store support center staff, which included a reduction in employee headcount in those areas to more closely align with
current business conditions. As of December 31, 2023, we have identified approximately 12 remaining stores for closure, consolidation, or relocation that
have not yet been closed and vacated, which generally are expected to close during 2024.

Total net restructuring expenses under the real estate repositioning and optimization restructuring program of $ 9.2 million were recorded for the year
ended December 31, 2023. Restructuring expenses were recorded within the Unallocated Corporate category for segment reporting and were comprised
mainly of operating lease right-of-use asset and fixed asset impairment charges related to the vacancy or planned vacancy of stores identified for
closure.

Since inception of the real estate repositioning and optimization program, the Company has incurred charges of $ 70.8 million under the plan. These
cumulative charges are primarily comprised of operating lease right-of-use asset and fixed impairment charges, losses recognized related to contractual
lease obligations, and severance related to reductions in store support center and field support staff headcount. We expect future restructuring expenses
(reversals) due to potential future early buyouts of leases with landlords, as well as continuing variable occupancy costs related to closed stores.

The following table summarizes restructuring charges incurred under the Company's restructuring programs:

Year Ended December 31,

(In Thousands) 2023 2022 2021

Right-of-Use Asset Impairment $ 3,121  $ 11,214  $ 4,162  

Operating Lease Charges 7,129  7,150  4,827  

Fixed Asset Impairment 967  5,032  658  

Severance 2,096  3,137  262  

Professional Advisory Fees 1,720  4,881  —  

Other Expenses 665  1,362  384  

Gain on Sale of Store Properties ( 101 ) ( 59 ) ( 1,075 )

Total Restructuring Expenses, Net $ 15,597  $ 32,717  $ 9,218  
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The following table summarizes the corresponding accrual balances as of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022 for the restructuring programs:

(In Thousands) Severance
Operating Lease

Charges
Professional Advisory

Fees

Balance at December 31, 2022 $ 695  $ 2,200  $ 1,032  

Restructuring Charges $ 2,096  $ 2,016  $ 1,720  

Payments $ ( 2,620 ) $ ( 3,367 ) $ ( 2,748 )

Balance at December 31, 2023 $ 171  $ 849  $ 4  

Operating lease charges payable at December 31, 2023 relate to accrued maintenance charges at various properties vacated in conjunction with the
restructuring programs discussed herein. These liabilities are included within accounts payable and accrued expenses in the consolidated balance
sheets. All other operating lease charges incurred during the year ended December 31, 2023 were expensed as incurred and are not reflected in this
table as they do not impact the restructuring accrual.

NOTE 12. SEGMENTS

Segment Reporting

For all periods prior to April 1, 2022, the Company only had one operating and reportable segment. Effective as of April 1, 2022 and in connection with
the acquisition of BrandsMart U.S.A., the Company updated its reportable segments to align the reportable segments with the current organizational
structure and the operating results that the chief operating decision maker regularly reviews to analyze performance and allocate resources, which
includes two operating and reportable segments: Aaron's Business and BrandsMart, along with an Unallocated Corporate category for remaining
unallocated costs.

The Aaron's Business segment provides consumers with LTO and retail purchase solutions through the Company's Aaron's stores, along with its
franchisees, in the United States and Canada and the aarons.com e-commerce platform. In addition, the Aaron's Business segment includes the
operations of BrandsMart Leasing, which offers a lease-to-own solution to customers of BrandsMart U.S.A., and Woodhaven, which manufactures and
supplies a significant portion of the upholstered furniture leased and sold in Company-operated and franchised Aaron's stores.

The BrandsMart segment includes the operations of BrandsMart U.S.A. (other than BrandsMart Leasing), which is one of the leading appliance and
consumer electronics retailers in the southeastern United States and one of the largest appliance retailers in the country with 11 stores in Florida and
Georgia and a growing e-commerce presence on brandsmartusa.com. The results of BrandsMart have been included in the Company's consolidated
results from the April 1, 2022 acquisition date.

Measurement of Segment Profit or Loss and Segment Assets

The Company evaluates segment performance based primarily on revenues and earnings (loss) from operations before unallocated corporate costs,
which are evaluated on a consolidated basis and not allocated to the Company's business segments. Intersegment sales between BrandsMart and the
Aaron's Business pertaining to BrandsMart Leasing, are recognized at retail prices. Since the intersegment profit affects cost of goods sold, depreciation
and lease merchandise valuation, they are adjusted when intersegment profit is eliminated in consolidation. The Company determines earnings (loss)
before income taxes for all reportable segments in accordance with U.S. GAAP.

Unallocated Corporate costs are presented separately and generally include unallocated costs associated with the following: equity-based compensation,
interest income and expense, information security, executive compensation, legal and compliance, corporate governance, accounting and finance, human
resources and other corporate functions. The Unallocated Corporate category also includes acquisition-related costs, restructuring charges and
separation costs for which the individual operating segments are not being evaluated.

The Company does not evaluate performance or allocate resources based on segment asset data, and therefore total segment assets are not presented.
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Year Ended December 31, 2023

(In Thousands) Aaron's Business BrandsMart

Elimination of
Intersegment

Revenues Total

Lease Revenues and Fees $ 1,399,514  $ —  $ —  $ 1,399,514  

Retail Sales 27,248  604,413  ( 10,996 ) 620,665  

Non-Retail Sales 96,710  —  —  96,710  

Franchise Royalties and Fees 22,312  —  —  22,312  

Other 689  —  —  689  

Total $ 1,546,473  $ 604,413  $ ( 10,996 ) $ 2,139,890  

Year Ended December 31, 2023

(In Thousands) Aaron's Business BrandsMart
Unallocated
Corporate Elimination Total

Gross Profit $ 976,547  $ 143,660  $ —  $ ( 888 ) $ 1,119,319  

Earnings (Loss) Before Income Taxes 99,041  ( 5,029 ) ( 94,416 ) ( 654 ) ( 1,058 )

Depreciation and Amortization 75,221  14,244  876  —  90,341  

Capital Expenditures 75,497  13,195  5,723  —  94,415  

 Earnings before income taxes for the Aaron's Business segment during the year ended December 31, 2023 included gains of $ 5.4  million related to a
sale and leaseback transaction for five Company-owned Aaron's store properties.

 The loss before income taxes for the Unallocated Corporate category during the year ended December 31, 2023 was impacted by restructuring
charges of $ 15.6 million, BrandsMart U.S.A. acquisition-related costs of $ 3.6 million and separation-related costs of $ 0.2 million.

 Excludes depreciation of lease merchandise, which is not included in the chief operating decision maker's measure of depreciation and amortization.

Year Ended December 31, 2022

(In Thousands) Aaron's Business BrandsMart

Elimination of
Intersegment

Revenues Total

Lease Revenues and Fees $ 1,529,125  $ —  $ —  $ 1,529,125  

Retail Sales 39,693  552,465  ( 6,534 ) 585,624  

Non-Retail Sales 110,531  —  —  110,531  

Franchise Royalties and Fees 23,376  —  —  23,376  

Other 778  —  —  778  

Total $ 1,703,503  $ 552,465  $ ( 6,534 ) $ 2,249,434  

Year Ended December 31, 2022

(In Thousands) Aaron's Business BrandsMart
Unallocated
Corporate Elimination Total

Gross Profit $ 1,061,266  $ 101,364  $ —  $ ( 857 ) $ 1,161,773  

Earnings (Loss) Before Income Taxes 122,220  ( 11,171 ) ( 125,021 ) ( 771 ) ( 14,743 )

Depreciation and Amortization 74,333  10,520  1,230  —  86,083  

Capital Expenditures 98,305  3,499  6,176  —  107,980  

 Earnings before income taxes for the Aaron's Business segment during the year ended December 31, 2022 included gains of $ 8.5 million related to
sale and leaseback transactions for seven Company-owned Aaron's store properties.

The loss before income taxes for the BrandsMart segment during the year ended December 31, 2022 was impacted by a one-time, non-cash charge
for a fair value adjustment to the acquired merchandise inventories of $ 23.1 million.
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 The loss before income taxes for the Unallocated Corporate category during the year ended December 31, 2022 was impacted by restructuring
charges of $ 32.7 million, BrandsMart U.S.A. acquisition-related costs of $ 14.6 million, a goodwill impairment charge of $ 12.9 million to fully write-off
the goodwill balance of the Aaron's Business reporting unit and separation-related costs of $ 1.2 million.

 Excludes depreciation of lease merchandise, which is not included in the chief operating decision maker's measure of depreciation and amortization.

Year Ended December 31, 2021

(In Thousands) Aaron's Business BrandsMart

Elimination of
Intersegment

Revenues Total

Lease Revenues and Fees $ 1,633,489  $ —  $ —  $ 1,633,489  

Retail Sales 57,568  —  —  57,568  

Non-Retail Sales 128,299  —  —  128,299  

Franchise Royalties and Fees 25,129  —  —  25,129  

Other 1,019  —  —  1,019  

Total $ 1,845,504  $ —  $ —  $ 1,845,504  

Year Ended December 31, 2021

(In Thousands) Aaron's Business BrandsMart
Unallocated
Corporate Elimination Total

Gross Profit $ 1,159,489  $ —  $ —  $ —  $ 1,159,489  

Earnings (Loss) Before Income Taxes 223,448  —  ( 77,578 ) —  145,870  

Depreciation and Amortization 67,836  —  1,851  —  69,687  

Capital Expenditures 85,053  —  7,651  —  92,704  

 Excludes depreciation of lease merchandise, which is not included in the chief operating decision maker's measure of depreciation and amortization.

The loss before income taxes for the Unallocated Corporate category during the year ended December 31, 2021 was impacted by restructuring
charges of $ 9.2 million and separation-related costs of $ 6.7 million .

NOTE 13: STOCK COMPENSATION

Description of Plans

The Company grants stock options, RSUs, RSAs and PSUs to certain employees and directors of the Company under the 2020 Equity and Incentive
Plan ("the 2020 Plan"), and previously did so under Aaron's Inc. stock-based compensation plans. The Aaron's Inc. stock-based compensation plans
were discontinued in connection with the separation and distribution from PROG Holdings effective November 30, 2020. The 2020 Plan was approved by
the Company's Board of Directors on November 11, 2020 and subsequently amended and restated with shareholder approval on August 25, 2021 to
increase the number of shares available under the 2020 Plan. Beginning in 2021, as part of the Company’s long-term incentive compensation program
and pursuant to the Company’s 2020 Plan, the Company granted a mix of stock options, RSUs, RSAs and PSUs to eligible employees and directors. As
of December 31, 2023, the aggregate number of shares of common stock that may be issued or transferred under the 2020 Plan is 1,301,147 .

Conversion at Separation and Distribution

In accordance with the terms of the Employee Matters Agreement between The Aaron's Company and PROG Holdings, all unexercised, unissued and/or
unvested share-based awards previously granted to The Aaron's Company employees and directors under the Aaron's, Inc. equity plans through the
separation and distribution date of November 30, 2020 were converted at the time of distribution to replacement stock options, RSUs, PSUs and RSAs.

The replacement awards were converted using formulas designed to preserve the intrinsic economic value of the awards after taking into consideration
the distribution. Employees who held unvested RSAs and PSUs of Aaron's Holdings Company, Inc. on the record date of November 27, 2020 generally
had the option to elect one of two conversion methods for determining the replacement awards:

3

4

2

1

1

2 
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i) to receive replacement awards of both The Aaron's Company and PROG Holdings for the number of whole units, rounded down to the nearest
whole unit, of The Aaron's Company and PROG Holdings common stock that they would have received as a shareholder of Aaron's Holdings
Company, Inc. at the date of separation, which is one share of The Aaron's Company for every two shares of PROG Holdings (i.e., "the
shareholder method"); or

ii) to receive replacement awards only of the respective employer's common stock of an amount determined by a conversion ratio determined by
calculating the product of the pre-distribution share price of Aaron's Holdings Company, Inc. and the pre-distribution number of awards being
cancelled and replaced pursuant to this conversion, and then dividing the product by the post-distribution volume weighted adjusted three-day
average share price of the respective employer's common stock rounded down to the nearest whole share (i.e., "the employee method").

In accordance with the Employee Matters Agreement, the conversion of certain awards, including substantially all unvested and unexercised vested
stock options, was required to be determined following the employee method. The conversion of RSUs held by the Company's board of directors was
required to be determined following the shareholder method.

Under both the shareholder method and the employee method, the terms and conditions of the converted awards were replicated, and, as necessary,
adjusted to ensure that the vesting schedules were unchanged and the awards were converted in accordance with the Employee Matters Agreement. As
a result, on the separation date, 2.9  million shares of The Aaron's Company, Inc. common stock (the "converted awards") were converted and deemed
issued under the 2020 Plan. In connection with the conversion, certain employees and directors of The Aaron's Company have outstanding equity awards
of PROG Holdings, which are not reflected in the tables below.

The Company accounted for the conversion of the awards as award modifications in accordance with ASC 718. The Company compared the fair value of
the outstanding awards immediately prior to the conversion with the fair value immediately after the conversion, and determined that the conversion of
equity awards held by The Aaron's Company employees resulted in incremental compensation expense of $ 5.5 million which reflects the incremental fair
value of the converted awards. Of this total amount, $ 1.1 million was related to vested but unexercised or unissued equity awards and was recognized
immediately on the separation and distribution date. The remaining incremental expense was amortized and recognized over the remaining service
periods of the respective awards, with $ 2.7 million being recognized during the year ended December 31, 2021. The amount recognized during the
years ended December 31, 2022 and 2023 was immaterial . The incremental compensation expense associated with the converted award modifications
was included as a component of separation costs in the consolidated statements of earnings during the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and
2021.

Stock-based Compensation Expense

The Company has elected a policy to estimate forfeitures in determining the amount of stock compensation expense. Total long-term incentive stock-
based compensation expense recognized by the Company was $ 11.9 million, $ 12.1 million and $ 12.8 million for the years ended December 31, 2023,
2022 and 2021, respectively. These costs were included as components of personnel costs, separation costs, and retirement charges, as applicable, in
the consolidated statements of earnings.

The total income tax benefit recognized in the consolidated statements of earnings for stock-based compensation arrangements was $ 2.9 million, $ 3.1
million and $ 3.2 million in the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively. For the year ended December 31, 2023, compensation
cost exceeded the tax deduction resulting in recognition of a tax deficiency of $ 0.9 million. For the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, tax
deductions exceeded compensation cost, resulting in recognition of tax benefits of $ 0.1 million and $ 0.6 million, respectively. Tax deficiencies and
benefits related to compensation cost are included within operating cash flows.

As of December 31, 2023, there was $ 14.8 million of total unrecognized compensation expense related to non-vested stock-based compensation. This
expense is expected to be recognized by the Company over a period of 1.42 years.

Stock Options

Under the 2020 Plan, options granted become exercisable after a period of one to three years and unexercised options lapse 10 years after the date of
the grant. The vesting schedules of converted awards were unchanged by the conversion. Unvested options are subject to forfeiture upon termination of
service. The Company recognizes compensation expense for options that have a graded vesting schedule on a straight-line basis over the requisite
service period. Upon stock option exercises, shares are to be issued by the Company with common stock or from its treasury shares, based on treasury
share availability.
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The Company determines the fair value of stock options on the grant date using a Black-Scholes-Merton option pricing model that incorporates expected
volatility, expected option life, risk-free interest rates and expected dividend yields. The expected volatility is based upon a time-weighted average of the
Company's historical life-to-date volatility and the historical volatility of a group of similar peers over the most recent period generally commensurate with
the expected estimated life of each respective grant, as well as implied volatilities from traded options on the Company's stock. Due to limited Company-
specific exercise history following the November 30, 2020 separation and distribution, the expected life of the options is derived utilizing the simplified
method, which finds the midpoint of the vesting date and the end of the contractual term. The risk-free interest rates are determined using the implied
yield available for zero-coupon U.S. Treasury STRIPS that have a term equal to the expected life of the grant. The expected dividend yields are based on
the approved annual dividend rate and market price of the underlying common stock at the time of grant.

The Company granted 273,000 , 148,000 , and 194,000 stock options during the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, respectively. The
weighted-average fair value of options granted and the weighted-average assumptions used in the Black-Scholes-Merton option pricing model for such
grants were as follows:

2023 2022 2021

Dividend Yield 4.17  % 2.10  % 1.84  %

Expected Volatility 53.86  % 55.38  % 55.73  %

Risk-free Interest Rate 4.17  % 1.90  % 0.87  %

Expected Term (in years) 6.0 6.0 6.0

Fair Value of Stock Options Granted $ 4.58  $ 9.45  $ 9.56  

The table below summarizes the Company's stock option activity for the year ended December 31, 2023:

Options
(In Thousands)

Weighted Average
Exercise Price

Weighted Average
Remaining

Contractual Term
(in Years)

Aggregate
Intrinsic Value
(in Thousands)

Weighted
Average Fair

Value

Outstanding at January 1, 2023 879  $ 15.45  

Granted 273  12.00  

Exercised ( 8 ) 10.78  

Forfeited/expired ( 23 ) 14.80  

Outstanding at December 31, 2023 1,121  14.66  6.61 $ 527  $ 5.77  

Expected to Vest 400  15.61  8.17 —  6.44  

Exercisable at December 31, 2023 708  14.16  5.42 527  5.40  

The aggregate intrinsic value amounts in the table above represent the closing price of the Company's common stock on December 31, 2023 in excess
of the exercise price, multiplied by the number of in-the-money stock options as of that same date. Options outstanding that are expected to vest are net
of estimated future option forfeitures.

The aggregate intrinsic value of options exercised by the Company's employees, which represents the value of The Aaron's Company, Inc. common
stock at the time of exercise in excess of the exercise price was insignificant for the year ended December 31, 2023, and was $ 0.1 million and $ 1.8
million for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

The total grant-date fair value of options vested during the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021 was $ 1.4 million, $ 1.2 million, and $ 0.9
million, respectively.

The following table summarizes information about the Company's stock options outstanding at December 31, 2023:

 Options Outstanding Options Exercisable

Range of Exercise
Prices

Number Outstanding
December 31, 2023

(In Thousands)

Weighted Average
Remaining Contractual

Life 
(in Years)

Weighted Average
Exercise Price

Number Exercisable
December 31, 2023

(In Thousands)
Weighted Average

Exercise Price

$ 0.00 -$ 10.00 124  2.61 $ 7.19  124  $ 7.19  

  $ 10.01 -$ 20.00 672  6.88 12.67  411  13.09  

$ 20.01 -$ 30.00 325  7.60 21.63  173  21.67  

  $ 0.00 -$ 30.00 1,121  6.61 14.66  708  14.16  
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Restricted Stock

Restricted stock units or restricted stock awards (collectively, "restricted stock") may be granted to employees and directors under the 2020 Plan and
typically vest over one to three-year periods. Restricted stock grants are settled in stock and may be subject to one or more objective employment,
performance or other forfeiture conditions as established at the time of grant. The Company generally recognizes compensation expense for restricted
stock with a graded vesting schedule on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period as restricted stock is not subject to performance metrics.
Upon vesting, shares are issued by the Company with common stock or from its treasury shares, based on treasury share availability. Any shares of
restricted stock that are forfeited may again become available for issuance. Certain unvested time-based restricted stock awards entitle participants to
vote and accrue dividends, if declared by the Board of Directors, during the vesting period. The accrued dividends for these awards are forfeitable upon
termination prior to vesting. As of December 31, 2023, there are 882,000 unvested restricted stock awards that contain voting rights, but are not
presented as outstanding on the consolidated balance sheet.

The fair value of restricted stock is generally based on the fair market value of common stock on the date of grant. The fair value of the converted awards
was adjusted in accordance with the Employee Matters Agreement and conversion methodology to ensure that the economic value of the awards was
unchanged by the conversion.

The Company granted 683,000 , 557,000 , and 347,000 shares of restricted stock at weighted-average fair values of $ 11.99 , $ 21.38 , and $ 22.89
during the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, respectively. The following table summarizes information about restricted stock activity
during 2023:

Restricted Stock
(In Thousands)

Weighted Average
Fair Value

Non-vested at January 1, 2023 857  $ 21.16  

Granted 683  11.99  

Vested ( 326 ) 19.30  

Forfeited/unearned ( 110 ) 17.04  

Non-vested at December 31, 2023 1,104  16.44  

The total vest-date fair value of restricted stock described above that vested during the period was $ 3.8 million, $ 4.3 million, and $ 3.1 million during the
years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, respectively.

Performance Share Units

For performance share units granted prior to December 31, 2021, the number of shares earned is determined at the end of a one-year performance
period based upon achievement of various Company-specific performance criteria, which have included adjusted EBITDA, revenue, adjusted pre-tax
profit and return on capital metrics. When the performance criteria are met, the award is earned and one-third of the award vests. Another one-third of
the earned award is subject to an additional one-year service period and the remaining one-third of the earned award is subject to an additional two-year
service period. For performance share units granted during the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, the number of shares earned is determined
at the end of a three-year performance period based upon the average achievement of Company-specific adjusted EBITDA metrics for each of the three
performance years. When the performance criteria are met, the award is earned and will cliff vest.

The fair value of performance share units with Company-specific performance criteria is based on the fair market value of common stock on the date of
grant. The compensation expense associated with performance share units with a graded vesting schedule is amortized on an accelerated basis over
the vesting period and performance share units with a cliff vesting schedule are amortized on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period based
on the projected assessment of the level of performance that will be achieved and earned. In the event the Company determines it is no longer probable
that the minimum Company-specific performance criteria specified in the plan will be achieved, all previously recognized compensation expense is
reversed in the period such a determination is made.

During the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company also issued performance share units with a relative total shareholder return ("TSR")
component. For the TSR performance share units, the number of shares earned is determined based on the Company's share price performance
relative to a specified peer group's stock performance at the end of a three-year performance period. When the market-based performance criteria are
met, the TSR performance share units will cliff vest.
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The fair value of each TSR performance share unit is determined using a Monte Carlo simulation. The compensation expense associated with
performance share units with a cliff vesting schedule is amortized on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period and is based upon the
assumption of 100% achievement of the TSR goal. In the event that the market-based performance criteria are not achieved, the TSR awards will not
vest; however the compensation expense associated with TSR awards will not be reversed even if the threshold level of TSR is not achieved.

The assumptions used in the Monte Carlo valuation for the TSR performance share units granted during the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022
were as follows:

2023 2022

Risk-free Interest Rate 4.61  % 1.72  %

Expected Dividend Yield 4.17  % 2.10  %

Expected Volatility 57.35  % 60.68  %

Expected Term (in years) 2.82 years 2.85 years

Fair Value of TSR Performance Share Units Granted $ 15.81  $ 32.09  

Upon vesting, all performance share units are to be issued by the Company with common stock or from its treasury shares, based on treasury share
availability. The number of performance-based shares which could potentially be issued ranges from zero to 200 % of the target award. The vesting
schedules and performance achievement levels of converted awards were unchanged by the conversion.

The Company granted 398,000 , 355,000 , and 136,000 performance share units at weighted-average fair values of $ 13.91 , $ 26.77 , and $ 27.54
during the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively. The following table summarizes information about the Company's performance
share unit activity during the year ended December 31, 2023:

Performance Share Units
(In Thousands)

Weighted Average
Fair Value

Non-vested at January 1, 2023 485  $ 23.17  

Granted 398  13.91  

Vested ( 189 ) 18.42  

Forfeited/unearned ( 46 ) 19.82  

Non-vested at December 31, 2023 648  16.18  

The total vest-date fair value of performance share units described above that vested during the period was $ 2.3 million and $ 4.6 million, and $ 3.9
million during the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, respectively.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

Effective November 30, 2020, the Company's Board of Directors approved the Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the "2020 ESPP"), which is a tax-
qualified plan under Section 423 of the Internal Revenue Code. The 2020 ESPP was subsequently amended and restated with shareholder approval on
May 3, 2023 in the form of The Aaron's Company, Inc. Amended and Restated Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the "A&R ESPP") to:

• Increase the Share Reserve from 200,000 to 1,050,000 ;

• Allow participation of highly compensated employees of the Company or a subsidiary who are subject to the disclosure requirements of Section
16(a) of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934 ("Section 16 officers"); and

• Remove the requirement that employees must hold shares of Common Stock purchased for one year prior to exercise.

The purpose of the A&R ESPP is to encourage ownership of the Company's common stock by eligible employees. Eligible employees are allowed to
purchase common stock of the Company during six-month offering periods at the lower of: (a) 85 % of the closing trading price per share of the common
stock on the first trading date of an offering period in which a participant is enrolled; or (b) 85 % of the closing trading price per share of the common
stock on the last day of an offering period. Employees participating in the A&R ESPP can contribute up to an amount not exceeding 10 % of their base
salary and wages up to an annual maximum of $ 25,000 in total fair market value of the common stock. The first offering period began on January 1,
2021. As of December 31, 2023, the aggregate number of shares of common stock that may be issued under the A&R ESPP was 836,435 .
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The compensation cost is measured on the grant date based on eligible employees' expected withholdings and is recognized over each six-month
offering period. During the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, the Company issued 34,092 , 110,911 , and 68,562 , shares to employees
under the A&R ESPP at a weighted average purchase price of $ 9.25 , $ 11.21 , and $ 18.28 , respectively. Total compensation cost recognized in
connection with the A&R ESPP was $ 0.1 million, $ 0.3 million, and $ 0.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively
and are included as a component of personnel costs in the consolidated statements of earnings.

NOTE 14: COMPENSATION ARRANGEMENTS

Deferred Compensation

The Company maintains The Aaron's Company, Inc. Deferred Compensation Plan, which is an unfunded, nonqualified deferred compensation plan for a
select group of management, highly compensated employees and non-employee directors. On a pre-tax basis, eligible employees can defer receipt of up
to 75 % of their base compensation and up to 75 % of their incentive pay compensation, and eligible non-employee directors can defer receipt of up to
100 % of their cash and stock director fees.

Compensation deferred under the plan is recorded as a deferred compensation liability, which is recorded in accounts payable and accrued expenses in
the consolidated balance sheets. The deferred compensation plan liability was $ 10.6 million and $ 8.6 million as of December 31, 2023 and 2022,
respectively. Liabilities under the plan are recorded at amounts due to participants, based on the fair value of participants’ selected investments, which
consist of equity and debt "mirror" funds. The obligations are unsecured general obligations of the Company and the participants have no right, interest or
claim in the assets of the Company, except as unsecured general creditors. The Company has established a rabbi trust to fund obligations under the plan
primarily with company-owned life insurance policies. The value of the assets within the rabbi trust, which is primarily the cash surrender value of the life
insurance, was $ 15.2 million and $ 13.4 million as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively, and is included in prepaid expenses and other assets
in the consolidated balance sheets. The Company recorded a gain of $ 1.9 million during the year ended December 31, 2023, a loss of $ 2.3 million
during the year ended December 31, 2022, and a gain of $ 1.6 million during the year ended December 31, 2021, related to changes in the cash
surrender value of the life insurance plans. These gains and losses were recorded within other non-operating income (expense), net in the consolidated
statements of earnings.

Benefits of $ 0.7 million, $ 1.3 million and $ 2.3 million were paid to plan participants during the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021,
respectively. The terms of The Aaron's Company, Inc. deferred compensation plan include a discretionary match. The match allows eligible employees to
receive 100 % matching by the Company on the first 3 % of contributions and 50 % on the next 2 % of contributions for a total of a 4 % match. The
annual match is not to exceed $ 13,200 , $ 12,200 , and $ 11,600 for an individual employee for 2023, 2022, and 2021, respectively, and is subject to a
three-year cliff vesting schedule. Deferred compensation expense for the matching contributions was not significant during the periods presented
herein.    

401(k) Defined Contribution Plan

The Company maintains a 401(k) retirement savings plan for employees who meet certain eligibility requirements. The Aaron's Company, Inc. 401(k)
savings plan allows employees to contribute up to 75 % of their annual compensation in accordance with federal contribution limits with 100 % matching
by the Company on the first 3 % of compensation and 50 % on the next 2 % of compensation for a total of a 4 % match. The Company’s expense
related to the plan was $ 6.3 million in 2023, $ 6.3 million in 2022 and $ 5.6 million in 2021.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan

See Note 13 to these consolidated financial statements for more information regarding the Company's compensatory Employee Stock Purchase Plan.
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NOTE 15: RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Related Party Transactions with the Sellers of BrandsMart U.S.A.

Effective as of the BrandsMart U.S.A. acquisition date, the Company entered into lease agreements for six store locations retained by the sellers of
BrandsMart U.S.A., including Michael Perlman, who was employed by the Company for a short period following the acquisition. While Mr. Perlman was
no longer employed by the Company as of December 31, 2022, the Company continued to treat the lease agreements as potential related party
transactions under the Company's Related Party Transactions Policy through December 2023. The lease agreements include initial terms of ten years ,
with options to renew each location for up to 20 years thereafter. The Company has recorded these leases within operating lease right-of-use assets and
operating lease liabilities in the Company's consolidated balance sheets. The six operating leases are considered to be above market. The value of the
off-market element of the lease agreements has been included as a component of the consideration transferred to the sellers of BrandsMart U.S.A. and
has been recognized as a reduction to the operating lease right-of-use-asset.

The total amounts paid to the sellers of BrandsMart U.S.A. during the year ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 related to real estate activities, including
rental payments, maintenance and taxes, were $ 12.9  million and $ 9.9  million, respectively.

The remaining receivable related to the finalized working capital settlement due from the sellers of BrandsMart U.S.A. was insignificant as of December
31, 2022, and was fully paid off in the second quarter of 2023.
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ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Disclosure Controls and Procedures

An evaluation of the Company's disclosure controls and procedures, as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, was carried out by management, with the participation of the Chief Executive Officer (CEO) and Chief Financial Officer (CFO), as of the end of the
period covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K. Based on management’s evaluation, the CEO and CFO concluded that the Company’s disclosure
controls and procedures were not effective as of December 31, 2023, as a result of the material weakness described below.

Management's Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

See Management's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting and the Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm on our internal
control over financial reporting in Item 8, which are incorporated herein by reference.

Material Weakness

On April 1, 2022, the Company acquired 100% ownership of Interbond Corporation of America, doing business as BrandsMart U.S.A. The operations of
BrandsMart U.S.A. (excluding BrandsMart Leasing) comprise the BrandsMart segment (collectively, "BrandsMart") and represent approximately 28% of
the Company’s total revenues for the year ended December 31, 2023. BrandsMart was not included in the Company's assessment of the effectiveness
of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2022, as the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC") rules provide companies
one year to assess controls at an acquired entity. Additionally, prior to being acquired by the Company, BrandsMart was not required to file reports with
the SEC. Accordingly, during the year ended December 31, 2023, we performed our first comprehensive assessment of the design and operating
effectiveness of internal controls over financial reporting at BrandsMart.

Management identified a material weakness in internal control over financial reporting in the BrandsMart segment. The design of information technology
general controls ("ITGCs") related to user access, program change or appropriate segregation of duties for certain IT applications within the segment was
not effective. This ineffective design impacted controls over the completeness and accuracy of information used in the segment's business process
controls resulting in the impacted controls also being deemed ineffective.

Remediation Efforts

Management has and will continue to evaluate the design and operating effectiveness of ITGCs for key applications at BrandsMart. Where needed,
access rights and assigned job responsibilities are being modified to resolve instances of inappropriate user access capabilities, program changes, and
segregation of duties conflicts. Additionally, management is working to standardize the BrandsMart ITGCs to operate consistently with the Company's
existing ITGC control structure.

We expect that the material weakness will be remediated in 2024, once the remediated controls have operated for a sufficient period for management to
conclude, through testing, that the controls are designed and operating effectively.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Other than the remediation efforts described above, there were no changes in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting, as defined in Rule
13a-15(f) under the Exchange Act, during the three months ended December 31, 2023, that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially
affect, the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION

Securities Trading Plans of Directors and Officers

During the three months ended December 31, 2023, no director or officer (as defined in Rule 16a-1(f) of the Exchange Act) of the Company adopted or
terminated any "Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement" or any "non-Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement," as such terms are defined in Item 408 of Regulation S-
K except as set forth below:
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Name and Title Action Date of Action Duration of Trading Arrangements

Rule 10b5-1 Trading
Arrangement?

(Y/N)*

Aggregate Number of
Securities Subject to
Trading Arrangement

Douglas Lindsay

Chief Executive Officer

Terminate November 10, 2023 November 2, 2023 - October 31, 2024 Y 112,566 shares of Common

Stock

Denotes whether the trading plan is intended, when adopted, to satisfy the affirmative defense of Rule 10b5-1(c).

ITEM 9C. DISCLOSURE REGARDING FOREIGN JURISDICTIONS THAT PREVENT INSPECTIONS

Not applicable.

* 
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PART III

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The information required in response to this Item is contained under the captions "Nominees to Serve as Directors", "Executive Officers Who Are Not
Directors", "Communicating with the Board of Directors and Corporate Governance Documents", and "Composition, Meetings and Committees of the
Board of Directors" in the Proxy Statement to be filed with the SEC pursuant to Regulation 14A. These portions of the Proxy Statement are hereby
incorporated by reference.

We have adopted a written code of business conduct and ethics that applies to all our directors, officers and team members, including our principal
executive officer, principal financial officer, principal accounting officer or controller and other executive officers identified pursuant to this Item 10 who
perform similar functions, which we refer to as the Selected Officers. The code is posted on our investor website at http://www.investor.aarons.com. We
will disclose any material changes in or waivers from our code of business conduct and ethics applicable to any Selected Officer on our investor website
at http://www.investor.aarons.com or by filing a Form 8-K.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required in response to this Item is contained under the captions "Compensation Discussion and Analysis," "Summary Compensation
Table," "Grants of Plan Based Awards in Fiscal Year 2023," "Outstanding Equity Awards at 2023 Fiscal Year-End," "Option Exercises and Stock Vested
in Fiscal Year 2023," "Non-Qualified Deferred Compensation as of December 31, 2023," "Potential Payments Upon Termination or Change in Control,"
"Non-Management Director Compensation in 2023," "Employment Agreements with Named Executive Officers," "Annual Cash Incentive Awards," "The
Aaron's Company, Inc. Amended and Restated 2020 Equity and Incentive Plan," "Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation" and
"Compensation Committee Report" in the Proxy Statement. These portions of the Proxy Statement are hereby incorporated by reference.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information required in response to this Item is contained under the captions "Beneficial Ownership of Common Stock" and "Securities Authorized for
Issuance under Equity Compensation Plans" in the Proxy Statement. These portions of the Proxy Statement are hereby incorporated by reference.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information required in response to this Item is contained under the captions "Certain Relationships and Related Transactions" and "Composition,
Meetings and Committees of the Board of Directors" in the Proxy Statement. These portions of the Proxy Statement are hereby incorporated by
reference.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

The information required in response to this Item is contained under the caption "Audit Matters" in the Proxy Statement. This portion of the Proxy
Statement is hereby incorporated by reference.
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PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENTS and SCHEDULES

a) 1. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The following financial statements and notes thereto of The Aaron’s Company, Inc. and the related Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting
Firm are set forth in Item 8.

Consolidated Balance Sheets—December 31, 2023 and 2022

Consolidated Statements of Earnings—Years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss)—Years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021

Consolidated Statements of Equity—Years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows—Years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm (PCAOB ID: 42 )

2. FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

All schedules for which provision is made in the applicable accounting regulations of the SEC have been omitted because they are not applicable, or the
required information is included in the financial statements or notes thereto.

3. EXHIBITS

EXHIBIT
NO. DESCRIPTION OF EXHIBIT

Plan of acquisition, reorganization, arrangement, liquidation or succession

2.1† Stock Purchase Agreement, dated as of February 23, 2022, by and among Aaron’s Retail Solutions, LLC, Interbond Enterprises, Inc.,
the Sellers named therein and Michael Perlman, in his individual capacity and in his Capacity as the Seller’s Representative thereunder
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 of the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on February 24, 2022).

Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws

3.1 Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation of The Aaron’s Company, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 of the
Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on December 1, 2020).

3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of The Aaron’s Company, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 of the Registrant’s Current
Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on December 1, 2020).

Instruments Defining the Rights of Security Holders, Including Indentures

4.1 Description of Registrant’s Securities Registered Pursuant to Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 4.1 of the Registrant's Current Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on February 24, 2022).

Material Contracts

10.1 Transition Services Agreement, dated as of November 29, 2020, by and between PROG Holdings, Inc. (formerly Aaron’s Holdings
Company, Inc.) and The Aaron’s Company, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-
K filed with the SEC on December 1, 2020).

10.2 Tax Matters Agreement, dated as of November 29, 2020, by and between PROG Holdings, Inc. (formerly Aaron’s Holdings Company,
Inc.) and The Aaron’s Company, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with
the SEC on December 1, 2020).

10.3 Employee Matters Agreement, dated as of November 29, 2020, by and between PROG Holdings, Inc. (formerly Aaron’s Holdings
Company, Inc.) and The Aaron’s Company, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-
K filed with the SEC on December 1, 2020).

10.4 Assignment Agreement, dated as of November 29, 2020, by and among Prog Leasing, LLC, Aaron’s, LLC and The Aaron’s Company,
Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 of the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on December 1, 2020).
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10.5† Credit Agreement, dated as of April 1, 2022, among Aaron’s, LLC as the borrower, The Aaron’s Company, Inc., the several banks and
other financial institutions from time to time party thereto and Truist Bank, in its capacity as administrative agent (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on April 1, 2022).

10.6† Loan Facility Agreement and Guaranty, dated as of April 1, 2022, among Aaron’s, LLC, as the sponsor, The Aaron’s Company, Inc. the
several banks and other financial institutions from time to time party thereto and Truist Bank, in its capacity as administrative agent
(incorporated herein by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the SEC on April 1, 2022).

10.7 First Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of February 23, 2024, among Aaron’s, LLC, as the borrower, The Aaron’s Company,
Inc., the other Guarantors (as defined therein) party thereto, the several banks and other financial institutions party thereto and Truist
Bank, in its capacity as administrative agent (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1  of the Registrant's Current Report on Form 8-K
filed with the SEC on February 26, 2024).

10.8 Second Amendment to Loan Facility Agreement and Guaranty, dated as of February 23, 2024, among Aaron’s, LLC, as the sponsor,
The Aaron’s Company, Inc., the other Guarantors (as defined therein) party thereto, the several banks and other financial institutions
party thereto and Truist Bank, in its capacity as servicer (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10. 2 of the Registrant's Current Report on
Form 8-K filed with the SEC on February 26, 2024).

Management Contracts and Compensatory Plans or Arrangements

10.9 Aaron’s 401(k) Retirement Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-8 (333-
252198) filed with the SEC on January 19, 2021).

10.10* Executive Severance Pay Plan of The Aaron’s Company, Inc. (originally effective February 1, 2014 as amended and restated through
November 8, 2022).

10.11 First Amendment to the Executive Severance Pay Plan of The Aaron’s Company, Inc. (as amended and restated), effective January 27,
2021 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 of the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
2020, filed with the SEC on February 23, 2021).

10.12 The Aaron’s Company, Inc. 2020 Equity and Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.1 to the Registrant’s Registration
Statement on Form S-8 (333-250900) filed with the SEC on November 19, 2020).

10.13** Form of Executive Performance Share Award Agreement under the Aaron’s, Inc. 2015 Equity and Incentive Plan (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.14 of the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020, filed with the SEC
on February 23, 2021).

10.14** Amendment to Form of Executive Performance Share Award Agreement under the Aaron's, Inc. 2015 Equity and Incentive Plan
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.15 of the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020,
filed with the SEC on February 23, 2021).

10.15** Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement under the Aaron's, Inc. 2015 Equity and Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.16 of the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020, filed with the SEC on February 23,
2021).

10.16** Form of Director Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement under the Aaron’s, Inc. 2015 Equity and Incentive Plan (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.17 of the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020, filed with the SEC
on February 23, 2021).

10.17* The Aaron’s Company, Inc. Amended and Restated Employee Stock Purchase Plan (incorporated by reference to Appendix B to the
Registrant’s Definitive Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A (Commission File No. 001-39681), filed with the SEC on March 23, 2023).

10.18 The Aaron’s Company, Inc. Deferred Compensation Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.3 to the Registrant’s Registration
Statement on Form S-8 (333-250900) filed with the SEC on November 19, 2020).

10.19 Amended and Restated Severance and Change-in-Control Agreement by and between The Aaron's Company, Inc. and Douglas A.
Lindsay, dated as of November 30, 2020 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 of the Registrants Current Report on Form 8-K filed
with the SEC on December 1, 2020).

10.20 Amended and Restated Severance and Change-in-Control Agreement by and between The Aaron’s Company, Inc. and Kelly Wall,
dated as of November 30, 2020 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.11 of the Registrants Current Report on Form 8-K filed with the
SEC on December 1, 2020).

10.21 Offer letter of Rachel G. George (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.22 of the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2020, filed with the SEC on February 23, 2021).

10.22 Form of Indemnification Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 of the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed with
the SEC on December 1, 2020).

10.23* The Aaron’s Company, Inc. Compensation Plan for Non-Employee Directors, as amended and restated, effective April 1, 2023.
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10.24 The Aaron’s Company, Inc. Amended and Restated 2020 Equity and Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Appendix A of the
Registrant’s Definitive Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A (Commission File No. 001-39681), as filed with the SEC on July 14, 2021).

10.25 Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement under The Aaron’s Company, Inc. Amended and Restated 2020 Equity and Incentive Plan
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.32 of the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on February 24, 2022).

10.26 Form of Executive Performance Share Award Agreement under The Aaron’s Company, Inc. Amended and Restated 2020 Equity and
Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.33 of the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on
February 24, 2022).

10.27 Amended and Restated Executive Severance Pay Plan of the Aaron’s Company, Inc., dated May 3, 2022 (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 of the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on July 25, 2022).

10.28 Form of Director Restricted Stock Award Agreement under The Aaron’s Company, Inc. Amended and Restated 2020 Equity and
Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on
October 24, 2022).

 

Other Exhibits and Certifications

21* Subsidiaries of the Registrant.

23* Consent of Ernst & Young LLP.

31.1* Certification of the Chief Executive Officer of The Aaron’s Company, Inc. pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

31.2* Certification of the Chief Financial Officer of The Aaron’s Company, Inc. pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.1* Certification of the Chief Executive Officer of The Aaron’s Company, Inc. furnished herewith pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002.

32.2* Certification of the Chief Financial Officer of The Aaron’s Company, Inc. furnished herewith pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002.

97.1* The Aaron's Company, Inc. Incentive-Based Compensation Recoupment Policy .

101.INS XBRL Instance Document - The instance document does not appear in the interactive data file because its XBRL tags are embedded
within the inline XBRL document.

101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document

101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document

101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Labels Linkbase Document

101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

104 Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as Inline XBRL and embedded within Exhibit 101)

† The Company hereby agrees to furnish supplementally a copy of any omitted schedule or exhibit to the SEC upon the request of the SEC.

* Filed herewith.

** Certain equity awards under this form of agreement were granted by Aaron’s, Inc. prior to the spin-off of the Company from PROG Holdings, Inc.
Such awards were adjusted pursuant to the Employee Matters Agreement between the Company and PROG Holdings, Inc. to relate to the Company’s
common stock and are generally subject to the same terms and conditions as this form of agreement.

(b) EXHIBITS

The exhibits listed in Item 15(a)(3) are included elsewhere in this Report.

(c) FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SCHEDULES

The financial statements listed in Item 15(a)(1) are included in Item 8 in this Report.

ITEM 16. FORM 10-K SUMMARY

None.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15 (d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed
on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, on February 29, 2024.
 

The Aaron's Company, Inc.

By:  /s/ C. Kelly Wall

 C. Kelly Wall

 Chief Financial Officer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the
registrant and in the capacities indicated on February 29, 2024.
 

SIGNATURE   TITLE

/s/ Douglas A. Lindsay  Chief Executive Officer and Director 
(Principal Executive Officer)Douglas A. Lindsay

/s/ C. Kelly Wall  Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer)

C. Kelly Wall

/s/ Douglass L. Noe  Vice President and Corporate Controller 
(Principal Accounting Officer)Douglass L. Noe

/s/ Wangdali Bacdayan Director

Wangdali Bacdayan

/s/ Laura N. Bailey  Director

Laura N. Bailey

/s/ Kelly H. Barrett  Director

Kelly H. Barrett

/s/ Walter G. Ehmer Director

Walter G. Ehmer

/s/ Hubert L. Harris, Jr. Director

Hubert L. Harris, Jr.

/s/ Timothy A. Johnson Director

Timothy A. Johnson

/s/ Kristine K. Maloski Director

Kristine K. Malkoski

/s/ Marvonia P. Moore Director

Marvonia P. Moore

/s/ John W. Robinson, III Director

John W. Robinson, III
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Exhibit 10.10

EXECUTIVE SEVERANCE PAY PLAN
OF

THE AARON’S COMPANY, INC.

Originally Effective February 1, 2014,
as Amended and Restated through November 8, 2022

SECTION I
Establishment and Purpose of Plan

1.1    The Executive Severance Pay Plan of The Aaron’s Company, Inc. (the “Plan”) was originally established by
Aaron’s, Inc., effective February 1, 2014, and was amended and restated, effective as of November 30, 2020, in connection
with the spin-off of The Aaron’s Company, Inc. (the “Company”) from its former parent, Aaron’s Holdings Company, Inc. The
Plan was further amended effective January 27, 2021 and amended and restated effective May 4, 2022. The Company
hereby further amends and restates the Plan effective as of November 8, 2022 (the “Effective Date”). The Plan shall
continue in effect until terminated by the Company, subject to the provisions of Section X below.

1.2    The purposes of the Plan include (i) providing certain executives of the Company and/or any affiliate or
subsidiary with severance pay benefits in the event of the termination of their employment, (ii) better enabling the Company
and its affiliates and subsidiaries to attract and retain highly qualified executives, (iii) providing executives protection in the
event of a change in control of the Company so that the executives are focused on pursuing transaction opportunities that
are beneficial to shareholders, and (iv) retaining critical talent in the event of a potential change in control transaction.

SECTION II
Definitions

The following words and phrases shall have the meanings set forth below where used in the Plan, unless the context
clearly indicates otherwise.

2.1    “Administrator” means the Company in its capacity as Plan “administrator” and “named fiduciary” within the
meaning of ERISA. The Committee shall act as the Administrator unless and until it delegates such authority and
responsibility to one or more officers or a committee.

2.2    “Annual Salary” means, with respect to a Participant, the Participant’s annual base salary, exclusive of any
bonus pay, commissions, overtime pay or other additional compensation, in effect at the time of his or her Separation from
Service.

2.3    “Board” means the Board of Directors of the Company.

2.4    “Cause” means, unless provided otherwise in an individual agreement between the Executive and his or her
Employer, with respect to an Executive:

(a) the commission by the Executive of an act of fraud, embezzlement, theft or proven dishonesty, or any
other illegal act or practice (whether or not resulting in criminal prosecution or conviction);

(b) the willful engaging by the Executive in misconduct which is deemed by the Committee, in good faith, to
be materially injurious to the Company or an affiliate or subsidiary of the Company, monetarily or otherwise;



(c) the willful and continued failure or habitual neglect by the Executive to perform his or her duties with the
Company or an affiliate or subsidiary of the Company substantially in accordance with the operating and personnel
policies and procedures of the Company, affiliate or subsidiary generally applicable to all of their employees.

For purposes of this Plan, no act or failure to act by the Executive shall be deemed to be “willful” unless done
or omitted to be done by the Executive not in good faith and without reasonable belief that the Executive’s action or
omission was in the best interest of the Company and/or an affiliate or subsidiary of the Company. “Cause” under
either (a), (b) or (c) shall be determined by the Committee in its sole discretion.

2.5    A “Change in Control” means:

(a) The acquisition (other than from the Company) by any person of beneficial ownership (within the
meaning of Rule 13d-3 promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (but without regard to
any time period specified in Rule 13d-3(d)(1)(i))), of thirty-five percent (35%) or more of the combined voting power of
then outstanding securities of the Company entitled to vote generally in the election of directors (the “Outstanding
Company Voting Securities”); excluding, however, (1) any acquisition by the Company or (2) any acquisition by an
employee benefit plan (or related trust) sponsored or maintained by the Company or any corporation controlled by the
Company;

(b) A majority of the members of the Board is replaced during any twelve (12)-month period by directors
whose appointment or election is not endorsed by a majority of the members of the Board before the date of the
appointment or election; or

(c) Consummation by the Company of a reorganization, merger, or consolidation or sale of all or
substantially all of the assets of the Company (a “Transaction”); excluding, however, a Transaction pursuant to which
all or substantially all of the individuals or entities who are the beneficial owners, respectively, of the Outstanding
Company Voting Securities immediately prior to such Transaction will beneficially own, directly or indirectly, more
than fifty percent (50%) of the combined voting power of the outstanding securities of such corporation entitled to vote
generally in the election of directors of the corporation resulting from such Transaction (including, without limitation, a
corporation which as a result of such transaction owns the Company or all or substantially all of the Company’s
assets either directly or indirectly) in substantially the same proportions relative to each other as their ownership,
immediately prior to such Transaction, of the Outstanding Company Voting Securities.

Provided, however, a Change in Control shall not be deemed to occur unless the transaction also constitutes a
change in the ownership or effective control of the Company or a change in the ownership of a substantial portion of
the assets of the Company, each as defined in Code Section 409A(a)(2)(A)(v) and the regulations promulgated
thereunder.

2.6    “COBRA” means the Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1985, as amended.

2.7    “COBRA Charge” means the dollar amount of the applicable Employer’s monthly premium in effect for
continued coverage under the applicable Employer’s group health insurance plan in which the Participant participates on the
Executive’s Termination Date, pursuant to the requirements of COBRA, less the administrative charge imposed by such
Employer for such
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coverage, less the portion of the premium paid by an active employee for the type of coverage in effect for the Participant
under such health plan on the Participant’s Termination Date.

2.8    “Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended from time to time, and any regulations
promulgated thereunder.

2.9    “Committee” means the Compensation Committee of the Board.

2.10    “Company” means The Aaron’s Company, Inc., its successors and assigns, or, following a Change in
Control, the surviving entity resulting from such event.

2.11    “Disability” means that the Executive, due to physical or mental injury or illness, is unable to perform the
essential functions of the Executive’s position with or without reasonable accommodation for a period of 180 days, whether
or not consecutive, occurring within any period of 12 consecutive months, subject to any limitation imposed by federal, state
or local laws, including, without limitation, the Americans with Disabilities Act. Eligibility for disability benefits under any policy
for long-term disability benefits provided to the Executive by the Company or the Executive’s Employer, or a determination
of total disability by the Social Security Administration, shall conclusively establish the Executive’s Disability.

2.12    “Employer” means the Company, or any affiliate or subsidiary of the Company that has adopted the Plan as
a participating employer with the consent of the Company, as reflected on Exhibit B from time to time.

2.13    “ERISA” means the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended.

2.14    “Executive” means each executive of the Company and any other Employer who has a salary grade of 18,
19, 20 or 21 (or such other classification determined by the Committee from time to time) unless excluded from participation
by the Committee, and any other key employee of an Employer who is specifically designated on Exhibit A attached hereto
as eligible to participate in the Plan by the Committee from time to time.

2.15    “Good Reason” shall mean, without an Executive’s express written consent, the occurrence of any of the
following circumstances within the two (2)-year period following the date of a Change in Control of the Company:

(a) A material diminution in the Executive’s annual base salary other than as a result of an across-the-
board base salary reduction similarly affecting other Executives;

(b) A material diminution in the Executive’s authority, duties, or responsibilities;

(c) A material change in the geographic location at which the Executive must perform services for his or
her Employer (for this purpose, the relocation of the Executive’s principal office location to a location more than fifty
(50) miles from its current location will be deemed to be material); or

(d) A material breach of this Plan by the Company;

provided that any of the events described above shall constitute Good Reason only if (i) Executive provides the Company
written notice of the existence of the event or circumstances constituting Good Reason (with sufficient specificity for the
Company to respond to such claim) within sixty (60) days of the initial existence of such event or circumstances, (ii)
Executive cooperates in good faith
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with the Company’s or the applicable Employer’s efforts to cure such event or circumstance for a period not less than thirty
(30) days following Executive’s notice to the Company (the “Cure Period”), (iii) notwithstanding such efforts, the Company or
the applicable Employer fails to cure such event or circumstances prior to the end of the Cure Period, and (iv) Executive
terminates employment with the Company and all affiliates and subsidiaries of the Company within sixty (60) days after the
end of the Cure Period.

2.16    “Involuntary Termination” means the termination of an Executive’s employment by his or her Employer
other than due to Cause, death or Disability; provided that for purposes of determining eligibility for Severance Pay Benefits
under Section 5.1 of the Plan, in no event shall Executive be deemed to have been subject to an Involuntary Termination if
he or she is offered employment in a different role or position with the Company, or any affiliate or subsidiary of the
Company, which the Committee in its sole discretion determines is a comparable position (taking into account total
compensation, benefits and location), and the Executive refuses to accept such new role or position.

2.17    “Participant” means each Executive who is currently entitled to severance pay benefits under the Plan in
the event of his or her Separation from Service.

2.18    “Plan” means this Executive Severance Pay Plan of The Aaron’s Company, Inc. and its successors as set
forth in this document, as it may be amended from time to time.

2.19    “Section 409A” means Section 409A of the Code.

2.20    “Separation from Service” means an Executive’s Involuntary Termination or, within two (2) years following
the date of a Change in Control, the Executive’s resignation of his or her employment with the Company and all affiliates
and subsidiaries of the Company for Good Reason.

2.21    “Severance Pay Benefits” means the aggregate benefits payable to a Participant upon his or her
Separation from Service, as determined pursuant to the provisions of Section V or VI below.

2.22    “Target Bonus” means (a) with respect to a Participant who has an annual target bonus (expressed as a
percentage of Annual Salary or as a dollar amount or otherwise), the Participant’s target annual bonus under his or her
Employer’s annual bonus program in which the Participant is covered at the time of his or her Separation from Service, and
(b) with respect to all other Participants, the average of the Participant’s actual annual bonus payouts for each of the two (2)
years prior to the year of the Participant’s Separation from Service.

2.23    “Termination Date” means the date of the Participant’s Separation from Service.

2.24    “Waiver and Release Agreement” means an agreement prepared by the Company, with terms satisfactory
to the Company in its sole discretion, which will include, among other provisions, a legally-binding general waiver of claims
against the Company and its affiliates and subsidiaries, a deadline for the Executive’s delivery of the Waiver and Release
Agreement to the Company, a deadline for the Executive’s revocation of the Waiver and Release Agreement (if applicable),
and affirmative and negative covenants (which may include, but which are not limited to, covenants regarding confidentiality,
non-solicitation, non-disparagement and non- competition). Different forms of the Waiver and Release Agreement may be
used from one business unit to another, from one state to another, and from one Executive to another, as determined by the
Company in its sole discretion.

4



SECTION III
Participation; Contributions; General Provisions

3.1    An Executive who is not party to an individual employment or severance agreement with his or her
Employer that provides for severance benefits will become a Participant in the Plan upon his or her Separation from Service.
An Executive who is party to an individual employment or severance agreement with his or her Employer that provides for
severance benefits will not participate in the Plan; the severance benefits, if any, to which such an Executive is entitled from
his or her Employer will be determined solely in accordance with the terms of such individual employment or severance
agreement.

3.2    If an Executive is rehired by the Company or an affiliate or subsidiary of the Company while receiving
benefits under this Plan, any remaining, unpaid Severance Pay Benefits shall be forfeited upon rehire, and no additional
benefits shall be paid.

3.3    The Company and any other Employer will pay the entire cost of all benefits provided under the Plan, solely
from its general assets. The Plan is “unfunded,” and no Executive is required to make any contribution to the Plan.

3.4    This Plan is not intended to constitute an “employee pension benefit plan” within the meaning of Section 3 of
ERISA and the corresponding Department of Labor regulations and other guidance.

SECTION IV
Waiver and Release Agreement

A Participant’s entitlement to Severance Pay Benefits is conditioned upon the Participant’s execution and submission
to the Administrator of, and failure to revoke, a Waiver and Release Agreement. The Administrator will present the Waiver
and Release Agreement to a Participant at the time of the Participant’s Separation from Service. Failure to submit the
signed Waiver and Release Agreement to the Administrator by the deadline, or revocation of a signed Waiver and Release
Agreement, will render the Participant ineligible for Severance Pay Benefits. In addition, if a Participant breaches the terms
of a Waiver and Release Agreement, the Participant shall not be eligible for any further Severance Pay Benefits and may be
required to repay any Severance Pay Benefits already paid to the Participant.

SECTION V
Severance Pay Benefits

A Participant shall be entitled to Severance Pay Benefits in accordance with the terms of either Section 5.1 or 5.2
below. A Participant’s Severance Pay Benefits may be reduced or subject to forfeiture or recoupment upon the breach of
any agreement with the Company or Employer, as determined by the Administrator.

5.1    Termination other than in Connection with a Change in Control. A Participant shall be entitled to the following
benefits in the event of his or her Separation from Service if Section 5.2 does not apply to the Participant and if the
Participant timely signs, submits to the Company and, if applicable, does not revoke a Waiver and Release Agreement as
described in Section 4 above:

(a) Salary Benefits. The Participant’s Employer shall pay the Participant a lump sum payment equal to his
Annual Salary in effect immediately prior to his Termination Date, subject to Section 5.3(a).

5



(b) COBRA Premiums. If the Participant participates in a group health insurance plan of the Company or
his or her Employer immediately prior to the Participant’s Separation From Service, the Participant’s Employer will
pay the Participant a lump sum payment equal to the monthly COBRA Charge, multiplied by twelve (12), grossed up
for the estimated taxes payable on such payment (as determined by the Company).

(c) Annual Bonus. In addition to the amounts set forth in Sections 5.1(a) and (b) above, the Participant’s
Employer will pay the Participant a lump sum amount equal to the Participant’s Target Bonus under the Employer’s
annual bonus plan for the fiscal year of the Participant’s Separation from Service. Notwithstanding the above, this
Section 5.1(c) is not intended to provide the Participant with duplicative benefits and shall not apply to the extent that
pursuant to the terms of the annual bonus plan, the Participant has received or is already entitled to receive a
payment under or with respect to such annual bonus plan for the fiscal year of the Participant’s Separation from
Service.

5.2    Termination in Connection with a Change in Control. A Participant shall be entitled to the following benefits in
the event of his or her Separation from Service within the two (2)-year period following the effective date of a Change in
Control if the Participant timely signs, submits to the Company and, if applicable, does not revoke a Waiver and Release
Agreement as described in Section 4 above:

(a) Salary Benefits. A Participant who is employed by the Company or any other Employer shall be entitled
to receive the amount of severance pay based on the Participant’s salary grade as indicated in the chart below. Any
other Participant who is specifically designated by the Committee as eligible to participate in the Plan from time to
time shall be entitled to receive the amount of severance pay indicated on Exhibit A.

Salary Grade Amount of Severance Pay
21 24 months of Annual Salary

+ 24 months of Target Bonus
18,19 or 20 18 months of Annual Salary

+ 18 months of Target Bonus

(b) COBRA Premiums. If the Participant participates in a group health insurance plan of the Company or
his or her Employer immediately prior to the Participant’s Separation From Service, the Participant’s Employer will
pay the Participant a lump sum amount equal to the monthly COBRA Charge, multiplied by the number of months
used to calculate the amount of severance pay as provided in the table in Section 5.2(a) above, grossed up for the
estimated taxes payable on such payment (as determined by the Company).

(c) Annual Bonus. In addition to the amounts set forth in Sections 5.2(a) and (b) above, the Participant’s
Employer will pay the Participant a lump sum amount equal to the Participant’s Target Bonus under the Employer’s
annual bonus plan for the fiscal year of the Participant’s Separation from Service, prorated based on the number of
days completed in the year as of the Termination Date. Notwithstanding the above, this Section 5.2(c) is not intended
to provide the Participant with duplicative benefits and shall not apply to the extent that in connection with the Change
in Control or pursuant to the terms of the annual bonus plan, the Participant has received or is already entitled to
receive a payment under or with respect to such annual bonus plan for the fiscal year of the Participant’s Separation
from Service.
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5.3    Payment of Severance Pay Benefits

(a) The salary benefits payable to a Participant under Section 5.1(a) or Section 5.2(a) above shall be paid to the a
lump sum in cash on the sixtieth (60th) day following the date of the Participant’s Termination Date. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, to the extent that the salary benefits payable to a Participant under Section 5.1(a) or Section 5.2(a) above are
not exempt as a short-term deferral (within the meaning of Section 409A of the Code) or qualify for the two-times
compensation exemption of Treasury Reg. § 1.409A-1(b)(9)(iii), then such salary benefits shall be paid in accordance
with the applicable Employer’s standard payroll schedule for the payment of base salary to executives, in substantially
equal installments over the specified number of months (e.g., 12 months under Section 5.1(a)). Payment of such
installments will begin on the sixtieth (60th) day following the Participant’s Termination Date.

(b) The lump sum payment for COBRA Premiums payable under Section 5.1(b) or Section 5.2(b) and the lump
sum payment of bonuses payable under Section 5.1(c) or 5.2(c) will be paid to the Participant in a lump sum in cash on
the sixtieth (60th) day following the date of the Participant’s Termination Date.

(c) The amount of the Severance Pay Benefits payable to a Participant that are exempt from Section 409A may
be reduced, in the sole discretion of the Administrator, by any debt of the Participant to his or her Employer arising out of
the employment relationship between the Participant and such Employer.

(d) A Participant’s Employer shall deduct from the Severance Pay Benefits to be paid to such Participant or any
beneficiary all federal, state and local withholding and other taxes and charges required to be deducted under applicable
law.

5.4    Restrictive Covenants. In consideration of the Severance Pay Benefits payable to a Participant under
Section 5.1 or Section 5.2 above, the Participant shall be required to agree to certain covenants including, without limitation,
covenants regarding maintaining his or her Employer’s confidential information, refraining from soliciting the Employer’s
employees, suppliers, and customers, refraining from competing with the Employer, and refraining from making disparaging
remarks, all of which shall be set forth in the Waiver and Release Agreement. If a Participant violates any of the provisions in
the Waiver and Release Agreement, such Participant shall immediately forfeit his right to receive any Severance Pay
Benefits, his or her Employer shall have no further obligation to make any payment of Severance Pay Benefits to such
Participant, and such Participant shall be obligated to repay any Severance Pay Benefits already paid pursuant to the Plan.

5.5    Section 280G Limitation. Notwithstanding any provision of this Plan to the contrary, if any payment or benefit
to be paid or provided hereunder (or otherwise) would be a “Parachute Payment,” within the meaning of Section 280G of the
Code, or any successor provision thereto, but for the application of this sentence, then the payments and benefits to be paid
or provided hereunder (or otherwise) shall be reduced to the minimum extent necessary (but in no event to less than zero)
so that no portion of any such payment or benefit, as so reduced, constitutes a Parachute Payment; provided, however, that
the foregoing reduction shall not be made if the total of the unreduced aggregate payments and benefits to be provided to
Executive, determined on an after-tax basis (taking into account the excise tax imposed pursuant to Section 4999 of the
Code, or any successor provision thereto, any tax imposed by any comparable provision of state law, and any applicable
federal, state and local income taxes), exceeds by at least ten percent (10%) the total after-tax amount of such aggregate
payments and benefits after application of the foregoing reduction. The determination of whether any reduction in such
payments or benefits to be provided hereunder is required pursuant to the preceding sentence shall be made at the expense
of the Company, if
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requested by Executive or the Company, by the Company’s independent accountants. The fact that Executive’s right to
payments or benefits may be reduced by reason of the limitations contained in this Section shall not of itself limit or
otherwise affect any other rights of Executive under this Agreement. In the event that any payment or benefit intended to be
provided hereunder is required to be reduced pursuant to this Section and no such payment or benefit qualifies as a “deferral
of compensation” within the meaning of and subject to Section 409A (“Nonqualified Deferred Compensation”), Executive
shall be entitled to designate the payments and/or benefits to be so reduced in order to give effect to this Section. The
Company shall provide Executive with all information reasonably requested by Executive to permit Executive to make such
designation. In the event that any payment or benefit intended to be provided hereunder is required to be reduced pursuant
to this Section and any such payment or benefit constitutes Nonqualified Deferred Compensation or Executive fails to elect
an order in which payments or benefits will be reduced pursuant to this Section, then the reduction shall occur in the
following order: (a) reduction of cash payments described in Sections 5.1 or 5.2 (with such reduction being applied to the
payments in the reverse order in which they would otherwise be made, that is, later payments shall be reduced before
earlier payments); (b) cancellation of acceleration of vesting on any equity awards for which the exercise price exceeds the
then fair market value of the underlying equity; and (c) cancellation of acceleration of vesting of equity awards not covered
under (c) above. Within any category of payments and benefits (that is, (a), (b) or (c)), a reduction shall occur first with
respect to amounts that are not Nonqualified Deferred Compensation within the meaning of Internal Revenue Code Section
409A and then with respect to amounts that are. In the event that acceleration of vesting of equity awards is to be cancelled,
such acceleration of vesting shall be cancelled in the reverse order of the date of grant of such equity awards, that is, later
equity awards shall be canceled before earlier equity awards.

SECTION VI
Special Severance Arrangements

The Administrator may in its sole discretion make exceptions to the severance pay guidelines set forth in this
document at any time in its sole discretion. As a result, it is possible that an Executive will not receive severance benefits in
a circumstance otherwise covered by this document; it is possible that the severance benefits of a Participant may be
different than the terms set forth in this document; and it is possible that an employee of the Company or its affiliates or
subsidiaries who is not otherwise eligible for severance benefits may be designated as a Participant and awarded severance
benefits under this Plan.

SECTION VII
Death Benefits

Upon the death of any Participant after his Termination Date and prior to his or her having received all of his or her
Severance Pay Benefits, any unpaid amount of the Severance Pay Benefits shall be paid in a single lump sum to the
Participant’s spouse, or if the Participant has no surviving spouse at the time such payment is to be made, to the
Participant’s estate, within ninety (90) days after the date of the Participant’s death.

SECTION VIII
Rights and Duties of Participants

8.1    No Participant or any other person shall have any interest in any fund or in any specific asset or assets of
the Employers by reason of any amounts or benefits payable under the Plan. Any Executive, former Executive, Participant,
former Participant, or other individual, person, entity, representative, or group of one or more of the foregoing (collectively, a
“Claimant”) under this Plan shall have the status of a general unsecured creditor of the applicable Employer.
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8.2    Every person receiving or claiming payments under the Plan shall be conclusively presumed to be mentally
competent until the date on which the Administrator receives a written notice in a form and manner acceptable to the
Administrator that such person is incompetent and that a guardian, conservator or other person legally vested with the
interest of his or her estate has been appointed. In the event a guardian or conservator of the estate or any person receiving
or claiming payments under the Plan shall be appointed by a court of competent jurisdiction, payments under this Plan may
be made to such guardian or conservator provided that the proper proof of appointment and continuing qualification is
furnished in a form and manner acceptable to the Administrator. Any such payments so made shall be a complete discharge
of any liability or obligation of the applicable Employer or Administrator regarding such payments.

8.3    Each person entitled to receive a payment under this Plan, whether a Participant, a duly designated
beneficiary, a guardian or otherwise, shall provide the Administrator with such information as it may from time to time deem
necessary or in its best interest in administering the Plan. Any such person shall also furnish the Administrator with such
documents, evidence, data or other information as the Administrator may from time to time deem necessary or advisable.

SECTION IX
Administrator

9.1    The Plan shall be administered by the Administrator. The Administrator may designate a committee or
individual to carry out one or more of the Administrator’s responsibilities as Administrator. Any reference in this document to
the “Administrator” shall be deemed to include any such committee or individual. An Executive who is such an individual or a
member of such committee shall not participate in any decision involving an election made by him or relating in any way to
his individual rights, duties and obligations as a Participant under the Plan.

9.2    The Administrator shall have absolute and exclusive discretionary authority to decide all questions of
eligibility for benefits and to determine the amount of such benefits, to establish rules, forms and procedures for the
administration of the Plan, to construe and interpret any and all provisions of the Plan, including but not limited to the
discretion to resolve ambiguities, inconsistencies, or omissions conclusively and to decide any and all questions of fact,
interpretation, definition, computation or administration arising in connection with the operation of this Plan. As a result,
benefits under the Plan will be paid only if the Administrator determines in its discretion that the Participant (or other
Claimant) is entitled to them. All determinations of the Administrator in matters within its jurisdiction, irrespective of their
character or nature, including, but not limited to, all questions of equity, construction and interpretation, including resolution
of any ambiguity in the Plan, shall be final, binding and conclusive on all parties. In construing or applying the provisions of
the Plan, the Administrator shall have the right to rely upon a written opinion of legal counsel, which may be independent
legal counsel or legal counsel regularly employed by the Company, whether or not any question or dispute has arisen as to
any distribution from the Plan. Any interpretation or determination made pursuant to such discretionary authority shall be
upheld on judicial review, unless it is shown that the interpretation or determination was arbitrary and capricious or an abuse
of discretion.

9.3    The Administrator shall be responsible for maintaining books and records for the Plan.

SECTION X
Amendment or Termination

The Company hereby reserves the right to (and may, at any time, through action of the Board, the Committee or
either entity’s delegate) amend, modify, terminate or discontinue the Plan at any time, provided, however, that no
amendment or termination of, or discontinuance of
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participation in, the Plan will decrease the amount of any Severance Pay Benefits awarded but not yet fully paid to a
Participant prior to the date of such amendment or termination without the written consent of the Participant and no such
amendment that would have a material adverse effect on an Executive shall be effective until the one (1)-year anniversary of
the date such amendment is adopted, unless the Executive provides written consent to such amendment. In addition, for the
two (2)-year period following the date of a Change in Control, the Company may not amend, modify, terminate or
discontinue the Plan in any manner that is materially adverse to an Executive, unless the Executive provides written consent
to such amendment.

SECTION XI
Not a Contract of Employment

This Plan shall not be deemed to constitute a contract of employment between an Executive and his or her Employer,
nor shall any provision hereof restrict the right of the Employer to discharge an Executive or to restrict the right of an
Executive to terminate his or her employment.

SECTION XII
Claims Procedure

12.1    A Claimant may make a claim for benefits under the Plan by filing a written claim with the Administrator.
Determinations of each such claim shall be made as described below; provided, however, that the Claimant and the
Administrator may agree to extended periods of time for making determinations beyond those periods described below.

12.2    The Administrator will notify a Claimant of its decision regarding his claim within a reasonable period of
time, but not later than ninety (90) days following the date on which the claim is filed, unless special circumstances require a
longer period for processing of the claim and the Claimant is notified in writing of the reasons for an extension of time prior
to the end of the initial ninety (90) day period and the date by which the Administrator expects to make the final decision. In
no event will the Administrator be given an extension for processing the claim beyond one hundred eighty (180) days after
the date on which the claim is first filed with the Administrator unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Claimant and the
Administrator.

12.3    If a claim is denied, the Administrator will notify the Claimant of its decision in writing. Such notification will
be written in a manner calculated to be understood by the Claimant and will contain the following information: the specific
reason(s) for the denial; a specific reference to the Plan provision(s) on which the denial is based; a description of additional
information necessary for the Claimant to perfect his claim, if any, and an explanation of why such material is necessary;
and an explanation of the Plan’s claim review procedure and the applicable time limits under such procedure and a
statement as to the Claimant’s right to bring a civil action under ERISA after all of the Plan’s review procedures have been
satisfied.

12.4    The Claimant shall have sixty (60) days following receipt of the notice of denial to file a written request with
the Administrator for a review of the denied claim. The decision by the Administrator with respect to the review must be
given within sixty (60) days after receipt of the request, unless special circumstances require an extension and the Claimant
is notified in writing of the reasons for an extension of time prior to the end of the initial sixty (60) day period and the date by
which the Administrator expects to make the final decision. In no event will the decision be delayed beyond one hundred
twenty (120) days after receipt of the request for review unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Claimant and the
Administrator.

12.5    Every Claimant will be provided a reasonable opportunity for a full and fair review of an adverse
determination. A full and fair review means the following: the Claimant will be given the opportunity to submit written
comments, documents, records, etc. with regard to the
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claim, and the review will take into account all information submitted by the Claimant, regardless of whether it was reviewed
as part of the initial determination; and the Claimant will be provided, upon request and free of charge, with copies of all
documents and information relevant to the claim for benefits.

12.6    The Administrator will notify the Claimant of its decision regarding an appeal of a denied claim in writing.
The decision will be written in a manner calculated to be understood by the Claimant, and will include: the specific reason(s)
for the denial and adverse determination; a reference to the specific Plan provisions on which the denial is based; a
statement that the Claimant is entitled to receive, upon request and free of charge, reasonable access to and copies of all
information relevant to the Claimant’s claim for benefits; and a statement regarding the Claimant’s right to bring a civil action
under ERISA.

12.7    If the Administrator fails to follow these procedures consistent with the requirements of ERISA with respect
to any claim, the Claimant will be deemed to have exhausted all administrative remedies under the Plan and will have the
right to bring a civil action under Section 502(a) of ERISA. This Article XII shall be interpreted such that the claims
procedures applicable under the Plan conform to the claims review requirements of Part 5, Title I, of ERISA, and the
applicable provisions set forth in Department of Labor Regulation Section 2560.503-1.

12.8    Before filing any claim or action, the Claimant must first fully exhaust all of the Claimant’s actual or potential
rights under the claims procedures of Article XII, including such rights as the Administrator may choose to provide in
connection with novel claims or issues or in particular situations. For purposes of the prior sentence, any Claimant that has
any claim, issue or matter that implicates in whole or in part –

(a) The interpretation of the Plan,

(b) The interpretation of any term or condition of the Plan,

(c) The interpretation of the Plan (or any of its terms or conditions) in light of applicable law,

(d) Whether the Plan or any term or condition under the Plan has been validly adopted or put into effect, or

(e) Any claim, issue or matter deemed similar to any of the foregoing by the Administrator,

(or two or more of these) shall not be considered to have satisfied the exhaustion requirement of this Section 12.8 unless
the Claimant first submits the claim, issue or matter to the Administrator to be processed pursuant to the claims procedures
of Section 12.1 or to be otherwise considered by the Administrator, and regardless of whether claims, issues or matters that
are not listed above are of greater significance or relevance. The exhaustion requirement of this Section 12.8 shall apply
even if the Administrator has not previously defined or established specific claims procedures that directly apply to the
submission and consideration of such claim, issue or matter, and in which case the Administrator (upon notice of the claim,
issue or matter) shall either promptly establish such claims procedures or shall apply (or act by analogy to) the claims
procedures of Section XII that apply to claims for benefits. Upon review by any court or other tribunal, this exhaustion
requirement is intended to be interpreted to require exhaustion in as many circumstances as possible (and any steps
necessary to effect this intent should be taken).
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12.9    Any claim or action that is filed in court against or with respect to the Plan, Administrator, or Employer must
be filed within the applicable time frame that relates to the claim or action, as follows:

(a) Claims or actions for Severance Pay Benefits must be filed within two (2) years of the later of the date
the Participant received the Severance Pay Benefits or the date of the Claimant’s Separation from Service.

(b) For all other claims or actions, the claim or action must be filed within two (2) years of the date when
the Claimant knew or should have known of the actions or events that gave rise to the claim or action.

Any claim or action filed after the applicable time frame stated above will be void.

12.10    Any claim or action in connection with the Plan must be filed in the United States District Court of the
Northern District of Georgia.

12.11    If a claim for benefits arises during the twenty-four (24)-month period following the date of a Change in
Control, the Company shall pay or reimburse Executive for all reasonable costs (including reasonable legal fees) incurred by
the Executive to enforce his rights under this Plan if the Executive prevails on at least one material issue with respect to
such claims.

SECTION XIII
Construction and Expense

13.1    Whenever the context so requires, words in the masculine include the feminine and words in the feminine
include the masculine and the definition of any term in the singular may include the plural.

13.2    All expenses of administering the Plan shall be paid by the Company unless provided herein to the
contrary.

13.3    The Plan shall be construed, administered and governed in all respects under and by the applicable laws of
the State of Georgia, except to the extent preempted by ERISA.

13.4     An Executive may not rely upon any oral statement regarding the Plan.

13.5    This Plan and any properly adopted amendments shall be binding on the parties hereto and their respective
heirs, administrators, trustees, successors, and assignees and on all Beneficiaries of the Participant.

13.6     Service of legal process may be made upon the Administrator at the Company headquarters or upon such
other person as may be designated by the Company for this purpose.

13.7     The records of the Plan will be maintained on the basis of a year that begins each January 1 and ends the
next following December 31.

13.8    The Company intends that all benefits provided under this Plan shall either be exempt from or comply with
Section 409A. However, the Administrator shall operate this Plan in accordance with the requirements of Section 409A and
the corresponding Department of Treasury guidance with respect to those benefits provided under this Plan that are, in fact,
subject to Section 409A. In order to ensure compliance with Section 409A, the provisions of this Section 13.8 shall govern in
all cases over any contrary or conflicting provision in the Plan.
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(a) It is the intent of this Plan to comply with the requirements of Section 409A and the corresponding
Department of Treasury guidance with respect to any nonqualified deferred compensation subject to Section 409A,
and any ambiguities in the Plan will be interpreted and this Plan will be applied to comply with these requirements
with respect to such compensation.

(b) To the extent necessary to comply with Section 409A, references in this Plan to “termination of
employment” or “terminates employment” (and similar references) shall have the same meaning as “separation from
service” under Section 409A(a)(2)(A)(i), and no payment subject to Section 409A that is payable upon a termination
of employment shall be paid unless and until the Participant incurs a “separation from service” under Section 409A(a)
(2)(A)(i) (a “409A Separation from Service”). In addition, if the Participant is a “specified employee” within the
meaning of Section 409A(a)(2)(B)(i) at the time of his or her 409A Separation from Service, any nonqualified deferred
compensation subject to Section 409A that would otherwise have been payable on account of, and within the first six
(6) months following, the Participant’s 409A Separation from Service, and not by reason of another event under
Section 409A(a)(2)(A), will become payable on the first business day after six (6) months following the date of the
Participant’s 409A Separation from Service or, if earlier, the date of the Participant’s death.

(c) Each installment payment payable under Section 5.1, 5.2 or 5.3 above is a separate payment within the
meaning of the final regulations under Section 409A. Each such payment that is made within two and one-half (2-1/2)
months following the end of the year that contains the date of the Participant’s Separation from Service is intended to
be exempt from Section 409A as a short-term deferral within the meaning of the final regulations under Section 409A;
each other payment is intended to be exempt under the two-times compensation exemption of Treasury Reg. §
1.409A-1(b)(9)(iii) up to the limitation on the availability of that exemption specified in the regulation; and each
payment that is not exempt from Section 409A shall be subject to delay (if necessary) in accordance with subsection
(b) above.

[The remainder of this page intentionally left blank]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Plan has been executed by a duly authorized officer of the Company to be effective as
of the Effective Date.

THE AARON’S COMPANY, INC.

By: _________________________
Title: EVP, Chief Financial Officer

[Signature Page to Executive Severance Pay Plan of The Aaron’s Company, Inc.]



EXHIBIT A

Specifically Designated
Executives

None.



EXHIBIT B

Participating Employers

As of November 8, 2022:

1. Aaron’s, LLC
2. Woodhaven Furniture Industries, LLC

Effective January 1, 2023:

3. BrandsMart U.S.A.
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THE AARON’S COMPANY, INC.
AMENDED AND RESTATED

EMPLOYEE STOCK PURCHASE PLAN

Amended and Restated Effective May 3, 2023

THE AARON’S COMPANY, INC.
AMENDED AND RESTATED

EMPLOYEE STOCK PURCHASE PLAN
SECTION 1

PURPOSE, SCOPE AND ADMINISTRATION OF THE PLAN

1.1    Establishment of Plan. The Aaron’s Company, Inc., a Georgia corporation (the “Company”), hereby amends and
restates The Aaron’s Company, Inc. Employee Stock Purchase Plan, which was originally effective as of November 30,
2020 (the “Original Effective Date”). This Aaron’s Company, Inc. Amended and Restated Employee Stock Purchase Plan
(the “Plan”) was approved by the Company’s Board of Directors on March 20, 2023 and by the Company’s shareholders on
May 3, 2023 (“Amendment Effective Date”).

1.2    Purpose and Scope. The purpose of the Plan is to assist employees of the Company and its Designated
Subsidiaries in acquiring a stock ownership interest in the Company pursuant to a plan which is intended to qualify as an
“employee stock purchase plan” under Section 423 of the Code and to help such employees provide for their future security
and to encourage them to remain in the employment of the Company and its Designated Subsidiaries.

SECTION 2
DEFINITIONS

Whenever the following terms are used in the Plan, they shall have the meaning specified below unless the context clearly
indicates to the contrary. The singular pronoun shall include the plural where the context so indicates.

2.1    “Administrator” shall mean the Committee, or such individuals to which authority to provide administrative
services under this Plan has been delegated under Section 7.1 hereof.

2.2    “Agent” means the brokerage firm, bank or other financial institution, entity or person(s), if any, engaged,
retained, appointed or authorized to act as the agent of the Company or an agent of an Employee with regard to the Plan.

2.3    “Amendment Effective Date” shall have such meaning as set forth in Section 1.1 hereof.

2.4    “Board” shall mean the Board of Directors of the Company.

2.5    “Code” shall mean the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended.

2.6    “Committee” shall mean the Compensation Committee of the Board.

2.7    “Common Stock” shall mean the common stock, par value $0.50 per share, of the Company.
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2.8    “Company” shall mean The Aaron’s Company, Inc., a Georgia corporation, and its successors and assigns.

2.9    “Compensation” of an Employee shall mean the base salary and wages paid to the Employee from the
Company or any Designated Subsidiary on each Payday as compensation for services to the Company or any Designated
Subsidiary, before deduction for any deferral contributions made by the Employee to any tax-qualified or nonqualified
deferred compensation plan, but excluding bonuses, commissions, military pay, education or tuition reimbursements,
imputed income arising under any group insurance or benefit program, travel expenses, business and moving
reimbursements, income received in connection with any stock options, restricted stock, restricted stock units, performance
shares or other compensatory equity or equity-based awards and all contributions made by the Company or any Designated
Subsidiary for the Employee’s benefit under any employee benefit plan now or hereafter established. Such Compensation
shall be calculated before deduction of any income or employment tax withholdings but shall be withheld from the
Employee’s net income.

2.10    “Designated Subsidiary” shall mean each Subsidiary that has been designated by the Board or the Committee
from time to time in its sole discretion as eligible to participate in the Plan, including any Subsidiary in existence on the
Original Effective Date and any Subsidiary formed or acquired following the Original Effective Date, in accordance
with Section 7.2 hereof.

2.11    “Eligible Employee” shall mean an Employee who (i) has been employed by the Company or a Designated
Subsidiary for at least six (6) months and (ii) customarily works more than twenty (20) hours per week. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, the Committee may exclude from participation in the Plan as an Eligible Employee (x) any Employee that is a
“highly compensated employee” of the Company or any Designated Subsidiary (within the meaning of Section 414(q) of the
Code), or that is such a “highly compensated employee” (A) with compensation above a specified level or (B) who is an
officer or subject to the disclosure requirements of Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act, and/or (y) any Employee who is a
citizen or resident of a foreign jurisdiction (without regard to whether such Employee is also a citizen of the United States or
a resident alien (within the meaning of Section 7701(b)(1)(A) of the Code)) if either (i) the grant of the Option is prohibited
under the laws of the jurisdiction governing such Employee, or (ii) compliance with the laws of the foreign jurisdiction would
cause the Plan or the Option to violate the requirements of Section 423 of the Code; provided that any exclusion in clauses
(x) and/or (y) shall be applied in an identical manner under each Offering Period to all Employees of the Company and all
Designated Subsidiaries, in accordance with Treasury Regulation Section 1.423-2(e).

2.12    “Employee” shall mean any person who renders services to the Company or a Designated Subsidiary as an
“employee” within the meaning of Section 3401(c) of the Code pursuant to an employment relationship with such employer.
For purposes of the Plan, the employment relationship shall be treated as continuing intact while the individual is on military
leave, sick leave or other leave of absence approved by the Company or Designated Subsidiary that meets the
requirements of Treasury Regulation Section 1.421-1(h)(2). Where the period of leave exceeds three (3) months, or such
other period specified in Treasury Regulation Section 1.421-1(h)(2), and the individual’s right to re-employment is not
guaranteed either by statute or by contract, the employment relationship shall be deemed to have terminated on the first day
immediately following such three (3)-month period, or such other period specified in Treasury Regulation Section 1.421-1(h)
(2).

2.13    “Enrollment Date” shall mean the first date of each Offering Period.
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2.14    “Exercise Date” shall mean the last Trading Day of each Offering Period, except as provided in Section
5.3 hereof.

2.15    “Exchange Act” shall mean the U.S. Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

2.16    “Fair Market Value” shall mean, as of any date, the value of Common Stock determined as follows:
(a)    If the Common Stock is (i) listed on any national securities exchange, (including, without limitation, the New York Stock
Exchange), (ii) listed on any national market system, or (iii) listed, quoted or traded on any automated quotation system, its
Fair Market Value shall be the closing sales price for a share of Common Stock as quoted on such exchange or system for
such date or, if there are no sales for a share of Common Stock reported on the date in question, the closing sales price for
a share of Stock on the last preceding date for which such quotation exists, as reported in The Wall Street Journal or such
other source as the Administrator deems reliable;
(b)    If the Common Stock is not listed on a national securities exchange, national market system, or automated quotation
system, but the Common Stock is regularly quoted by a recognized securities dealer, its Fair Market Value shall be the mean
of the high bid and low asked prices for such date or, if there are no high bid and low asked prices for a share of Common
Stock on such date, the high bid and low asked prices for a share of Common Stock on the last preceding date for which
such information exists, as reported in The Wall Street Journal or such other source as the Administrator deems reliable; or
(c)    If the Common Stock is neither listed on a national securities exchange, national market system, or automated
quotation system, nor regularly quoted by a recognized securities dealer, its Fair Market Value shall be established by the
Administrator in good faith.

2.17    “Grant Date” shall mean the first Trading Day of an Offering Period.

2.18    “New Exercise Date” shall have such meaning as set forth in Section 5.3(b) hereof.

2.19    “Offering Period” shall mean such period of time commencing on such date(s) as determined by the
Administrator, in its sole discretion, and with respect to which Options shall be granted to Participants. The duration and
timing of Offering Periods may be established or changed by the Administrator at any time, in its sole discretion; provided,
that unless otherwise determined by the Administrator, each Offering Period shall be six (6) months in duration and the first
day of each such Offering Period shall be the first Trading Day of such six (6)- month period. Notwithstanding the foregoing,
in no event may an Offering Period exceed twenty-seven (27) months.

2.20    “Option” shall mean the right to purchase shares of Common Stock pursuant to the Plan during each Offering
Period.

2.21    “Option Price” shall mean the purchase price of a share of Common Stock hereunder as provided in Section
4.2 hereof.

2.22    “Original Effective Date” shall have such meaning as set forth in Section 1.1 hereof.

2.23    “Participant” shall mean any Eligible Employee who elects to participate in the Plan.
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2.24    “Parent” shall mean any entity that is a parent corporation of the Company within the meaning of Section 424
of the Code and the regulations promulgated thereunder.

2.25    “Payday” shall mean the regular and recurring established day for payment of Compensation to an Employee
of the Company or any Designated Subsidiary.

2.26    “Plan” shall have such meaning as set forth in Section 1.1 hereof.

2.27    “Plan Account” shall mean a bookkeeping account established and maintained by the Company in the name of
each Participant.

2.28    “Subsidiary” shall mean any entity that is a subsidiary corporation of the Company within the meaning of
Section 424 of the Code and the regulations promulgated thereunder. In addition, with respect to any sub-plans adopted
under Section 7.1(d) hereof which are designed to be outside the scope of Section 423 of the Code, Subsidiary shall include
any corporate or noncorporate entity in which the Company has a direct or indirect equity interest or significant business
relationship.

2.29    “Trading Day” shall mean a day on which the principal securities exchange, national market system, or
automated quotation system on which the Common Stock is listed is open for trading or, if the Common Stock is not listed on
a national securities exchange, shall mean a business day, as determined by the Administrator in good faith.

2.30    “Withdrawal Election” shall have such meaning as set forth in Section 6.1(a) hereof.

SECTION 3
PARTICIPATION

3.1    Eligibility.
(a)     Any Eligible Employee who shall be employed by the Company or a Designated Subsidiary on a given Enrollment
Date for an Offering Period shall be eligible to participate in the Plan during such Offering Period, subject to the
requirements of Sections 4 and 5 hereof, and the limitations imposed by Section 423(b) of the Code and the regulations
promulgated thereunder.
(b)     Notwithstanding any provision of the Plan to the contrary, no Eligible Employee shall be granted an Option under the
Plan (i) to the extent that, immediately after the grant of the Option, such Eligible Employee (or any other person whose
stock would be attributed to such Eligible Employee pursuant to Section 424(d) of the Code) would own stock of the
Company or any Parent or any Subsidiary and/or hold outstanding options to purchase stock possessing five percent (5%)
or more of the total combined voting power or value of all classes of the stock of the Company or any Parent or any
Subsidiary, or (ii) to the extent that his or her rights to purchase stock under all employee stock purchase plans (within the
meaning of Section 423 of the Code) of the Company or any Parent or any Subsidiary accrues (within the meaning of
Section 423(b)(8) of the Code) at a rate that exceeds twenty five thousand dollars ($25,000) of the Fair Market Value of
such stock (determined at the time the Option is granted) for each calendar year in which such Option is outstanding at any
time, as determined in accordance with Section 423 of the Code and the regulations promulgated thereunder.

3.2    Election to Participate; Payroll Deductions.
(a)    An Eligible Employee may become a Participant in the Plan only by means of payroll deduction. Each individual who is
an Eligible Employee as of an Offering Period’s Enrollment Date may elect to participate in such Offering Period and the
Plan by properly completing a



Exhibit 10.17

payroll deduction authorization and submitting it to the Company, in accordance with the enrollment procedures established
by the Administrator, in its sole discretion.
(b)    Subject to Section 3.1(b) hereof, by submitting a payroll deduction authorization, the Eligible Employee authorizes
payroll deductions in an amount (i) equal to at least one percent (1%) of the Participant’s Compensation as of each Payday
of the Offering Period following the Enrollment Date, but not more than ten percent (10%) of the Participant’s Compensation
as of each Payday of the Offering Period following the Enrollment Date (or such other maximum percentage as the
Committee may establish from time to time before an Offering Period begins); and (ii) that shall be expressed as a whole
number percentage. Amounts deducted from a Participant’s Compensation with respect to an Offering Period pursuant to
this Section 3.2 shall be deducted each Payday through payroll deduction and credited to the Participant’s Plan Account.
(c)    During an Offering Period, a Participant may decrease (to as low as zero) the amount deducted from such Participant’s
Compensation, but only once during such Offering Period. To make such a change, the Participant must submit a new
payroll deduction authorization authorizing the new rate of payroll deductions at least 10 calendar days before the Exercise
Date for such Offering Period. For the avoidance of doubt, a Participant may not increase the amount deducted from such
Participant’s Compensation during an Offering Period.
(d)    Notwithstanding the foregoing, upon the termination of an Offering Period, each Participant in such Offering Period
shall automatically participate in the immediately following Offering Period at the same payroll deduction percentage as in
effect at the termination of the prior Offering Period, unless such Participant delivers to the Company a different election with
respect to the successive Offering Period in accordance with Section 3.2(a) hereof, or unless pursuant to Section 6.2 hereof,
such Participant has ceased to be an Eligible Employee.
(e)    No payroll deduction authorization shall become binding upon the Company until it has been accepted by the
Administrator. Only the Administrator is authorized to accept payroll deduction authorizations and the actions of any person
other than the Administrator (subject to the Committee’s right to delegate pursuant to Section 7.1(a) hereof) shall be of no
effect. The Administrator shall have the right, in its sole discretion, to reject any payroll deduction authorization that (i) does
not comply with the requirements of this Plan or the deadlines, forms or procedures developed by the Administrator, or (ii) is
submitted by a person who is not an Eligible Employee or whose status as Eligible Employee is suspended or revoked.
Such rejection may be effected by not making payroll deductions under this Plan or, if such deductions have been made, by
returning, without interest, such amounts to the person for whose benefit such deductions were made. The rejection of a
payroll deduction authorization for one or more Offering Periods shall not affect the ability or right of the Administrator to
accept or reject a payroll deduction authorization for any subsequent Offering Period.

SECTION 4
PURCHASE OF SHARES

4 . 1    Grant of Option. Each Participant shall be granted an Option with respect to an Offering Period on the
applicable Grant Date. Subject to adjustment in accordance with Section 5.3 hereof and the limitations of Section
3.1(b) hereof, the number of shares of Common Stock subject to a Participant’s Option shall be determined by dividing (a)
such Participant’s payroll deductions accumulated prior to such Exercise Date and retained in the Participant’s Plan Account
on such Exercise Date by (b) the applicable Option Price; provided that in no event shall a Participant be permitted to
purchase during each Offering Period more than five hundred (500) shares of Common Stock. The Committee may, for
future Offering Periods, increase or decrease, in its sole discretion, the maximum number of shares of Common Stock that a
Participant may purchase during such future Offering Periods. Each Option shall expire on the Exercise Date for the
applicable Offering Period immediately after the automatic exercise of the Option in accordance with Section 4.3 hereof,
unless such Option terminates earlier in accordance with Section 6 hereof.
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4 .2    Option Price. The “Option Price” per share of Common Stock to be paid by a Participant upon exercise of the
Participant’s Option on the applicable Exercise Date for an Offering Period shall be equal to eighty five percent (85%) of the
lesser of the Fair Market Value of a share of Common Stock on (a) the applicable Grant Date and (b) the applicable Exercise
Date; provided that in no event shall the Option Price per share of Common Stock be less than the par value per share of
the Common Stock.

4.3    Purchase of Shares.
(a)    On the applicable Exercise Date for an Offering Period, each Participant shall automatically and without any action on
such Participant’s part be deemed to have exercised his or her Option to purchase at the applicable per share Option Price
the largest number of whole shares of Common Stock which can be purchased with the amount in the Participant’s Plan
Account. Any balance less than the per share Option Price that is remaining in the Participant’s Plan Account (after exercise
of such Participant’s Option) as of the Exercise Date shall be carried forward to the next Offering Period, unless the
Participant has elected to withdraw from the Plan pursuant to Section 6.1 hereof or, unless pursuant to Section 6.2 hereof,
such Participant has ceased to be an Eligible Employee. Any balance not carried forward to the next Offering Period in
accordance with the prior sentence promptly shall be refunded to the applicable Participant without interest. For the
avoidance of doubt, in no event shall an amount greater than or equal to the per share Option Price as of an Exercise Date
be carried forward to the next Offering Period.
(b)    As soon as practicable following the applicable Exercise Date, the number of shares of Common Stock purchased by
such Participant pursuant to Section 4.3(a) hereof shall be delivered (either in share certificate or book entry form), in the
Committee’s sole discretion, to either (i) the Participant or (ii) an account established in the Participant’s name at a stock
brokerage or other financial services firm designated by the Company. If the Company is required to obtain from any
commission or agency authority to issue any such shares of Common Stock, the Company shall seek to obtain such
authority. Inability of the Company to obtain from any such commission or agency authority which counsel for the Company
deems necessary for the lawful issuance of any such shares shall relieve the Company from liability to any Participant
except to refund to the Participant such Participant’s Plan Account balance, without interest thereon.
(c)    If the Company is prevented by applicable securities laws from selling stock as of any date, no purchase shall be made
on such date and Options shall remain in effect unless withdrawn and the purchases shall occur as soon as practicable after
the Administrator determines that restrictions preventing the sale of stock have been removed or otherwise cease to
exist; provided, that such Options shall expire and may not be exercised after the expiration of the twenty-seven (27) month
period starting on the Grant Date applicable to such Options.

4 . 4    Transferability of Rights. An Option granted under the Plan shall not be transferable, other than by will or the
applicable laws of descent and distribution and is exercisable during the Participant’s lifetime only by the Participant. No
option or interest or right to the Option shall be available to pay off any debts, contracts or engagements of the Participant
or his or her successors in interest or shall be subject to disposition by pledge, encumbrance, assignment or any other
means whether such disposition be voluntary or involuntary or by operation of law by judgment, levy, attachment,
garnishment or any other legal or equitable proceedings (including bankruptcy), and any attempt at disposition of the option
shall have no effect.

SECTION 5
PROVISIONS RELATING TO COMMON STOCK
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5.1    Common Stock Reserved. Subject to adjustment as provided in Section 5.3 hereof, a total of 1,050,000 shares
of Common Stock are available for sale under the Plan (consisting of 200,000 shares available as of the Original Effective
Date plus 850,000 shares made available as of the Amendment Effective Date). Shares of Common Stock made available
for sale under the Plan may be authorized but unissued shares, treasury shares of Common Stock, reacquired shares of
Common Stock reserved for issuance under the Plan, or shares of Common Stock acquired on the open market.

5 .2    Restrictions on Sale. The Administrator may, in its sole discretion, place restrictions on the sale or transfer of
shares of Common Stock purchased under the Plan during any Offering Period by notice to all Participants of the nature of
such restrictions given in advance of the commencement of such Offering Period. Any certificate issued for shares of
Common Stock or book entry evidencing shares of Common Stock pursuant to Section 7.13 hereof that are restricted, shall,
in the sole discretion of the Administrator, contain a legend disclosing the nature and duration of the restriction. Any such
restrictions and exceptions determined by the Administrator shall be applicable equally to all shares of Common Stock
purchased during the Offering Period for which the restrictions are first applicable. In addition, any restrictions and
exceptions applicable to the Common Stock shall remain applicable during subsequent Offering Periods unless otherwise
determined by the Administrator. If the Administrator should change or eliminate any restrictions for a subsequent Offering
Period, notice of such action shall be given to all Participants, in such time and manner as the Administrator deems
appropriate.

5.3    Adjustments Upon Changes in Capitalization, Dissolution, Liquidation, Corporate Transaction.
(a)    Changes in Capitalization. In the event that any dividend or other distribution (whether in the form of cash, Common
Stock, or other property), recapitalization, stock split, reverse stock split, reorganization, merger, consolidation, split- up,
spin-off, combination, repurchase, or exchange of Common Stock or other securities of the Company, or other change in the
Company’s structure affecting the Common Stock occurs, then in order to prevent dilution or enlargement of the benefits or
potential benefits intended to be made available under the Plan, the Committee will, in such manner as it deems equitable,
adjust the number of shares and class of Common Stock that may be delivered under the Plan, the Purchase Price per
share and the number of shares of Common Stock covered by each outstanding option under the Plan, and the numerical
limits of Sections 4.1 and 5.1 hereof.

(b)    Dissolution or Liquidation. In the event of the proposed dissolution or liquidation of the Company, the Offering Period
then in progress shall be shortened by setting a new Exercise Date (the “New Exercise Date”), and shall terminate
immediately prior to the consummation of such proposed dissolution or liquidation, unless provided otherwise by the
Committee. The New Exercise Date shall be before the date of the Company’s proposed dissolution or liquidation. The
Administrator shall notify each Participant in writing, at least ten 10 business days prior to the New Exercise Date, that the
Exercise Date for the Participant’s Option has been changed to the New Exercise Date and that the Participant’s Option
shall be exercised automatically on the New Exercise Date, unless prior to such date the Participant has elected to withdraw
from the Plan pursuant to Section 6.1 hereof or, pursuant to Section 6.2 hereof, such Participant has ceased to be an
Eligible Employee.

(c)    Corporate Transaction. In the event of the occurrence of a merger, consolidation, acquisition of property or stock,
separation, reorganization or other corporate event described in Section 424 of the Code with respect to the Company, each
outstanding Option shall be assumed or an equivalent option substituted by the successor corporation or a Parent or
Subsidiary of the successor corporation. In the event that the successor corporation refuses to assume or substitute for the
Option, any Offering Periods then in progress shall be shortened by setting a New
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Exercise Date and any Offering Periods then in progress shall end on the New Exercise Date. The New Exercise Date shall
be before the date of the Company’s proposed sale or merger. The Administrator shall notify each Participant in writing, at
least ten (10) business days prior to the New Exercise Date, that the Exercise Date for the Participant’s Option has been
changed to the New Exercise Date and that the Participant’s Option shall be exercised automatically on the New Exercise
Date, unless prior to such date the Participant has elected to withdraw from the Plan pursuant to Section 6.1 hereof or,
pursuant to Section 6.2 hereof, such Participant has ceased to be an Eligible Employee.

5 . 4    Insufficient Shares. If the Administrator determines that, on a given Exercise Date, the number of shares of
Common Stock with respect to which Options are to be exercised would exceed the number of shares of Common Stock
remaining available for sale under the Plan on such Exercise Date, the Administrator shall make a pro rata allocation of the
shares of Common Stock available for issuance on such Exercise Date in as uniform a manner as shall be practicable and
as the Administrator shall determine in its sole discretion to be equitable among all Participants exercising Options to
purchase Common Stock on such Exercise Date, and unless additional shares are authorized for issuance under the Plan,
no further Offering Periods shall take place and the Plan shall terminate pursuant to Section 7.5 hereof. If the Plan is so
terminated, then the balance of the amount credited to the Participant’s Plan Account which has not been applied to the
purchase of shares of Common Stock shall be paid to such Participant in one lump sum in cash within thirty (30) calendar
days after such Exercise Date, without any interest thereon.

5.5    Rights as Stockholders. With respect to shares of Common Stock subject to an Option, a Participant shall not be
deemed to be a stockholder of the Company and shall not have any of the rights or privileges of a stockholder. A Participant
shall have the rights and privileges of a stockholder of the Company when, but not until, shares of Common Stock have
been delivered to the Participant or deposited in the designated brokerage account following exercise of his or her Option.

SECTION 6
TERMINATION OF PARTICIPATION

6.1    Cessation of Contributions; Voluntary Withdrawal.
(a)    A Participant may elect to withdraw from the Plan by delivering written notice of such election to the Company in such
form and at such time prior to the Exercise Date for the then-current Offering Period as may be established by the
Administrator (a “Withdrawal Election”). A Participant electing to withdraw from the Plan may withdraw all, but not less than
all, of the funds then credited to the Participant’s Plan Account as of the date on which the Withdrawal Election is received
by the Company (or its designee), in which case amounts credited to such Plan Account shall be returned to the Participant
in one (1) lump-sum payment in cash within thirty (30) calendar days after such election is received by the Company (or its
designee), without any interest thereon, and the Participant shall cease to participate in the Plan and the Participant’s Option
for such Offering Period shall automatically terminate. Upon receipt of a Withdrawal Election, the Participant’s payroll
deduction authorization and his or her Option to purchase under the Plan shall terminate. If a Participant withdraws from the
Offering Period, payroll deductions will not resume at the beginning of the succeeding Offering Period, unless the
Participant re-enrolls in the Plan in accordance with the provisions of Section 3.
(b)    A participant’s withdrawal from the Plan shall not have any effect upon his or her eligibility to participate in any similar
plan which may hereafter be adopted by the Company or in succeeding Offering Periods which commence after the
termination of the Offering Period from which the Participant withdraws.
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(c)    A Participant who ceases contributions to the Plan during any Offering Period shall not be permitted to resume
contributions to the Plan during that Offering Period.

6 . 2    Termination of Eligibility. Upon a Participant’s ceasing to be an Eligible Employee, for any reason, such
Participant’s Option for the applicable Offering Period shall automatically terminate, he or she shall be deemed to have
elected to withdraw from the Plan, and such Participant’s Plan Account shall be paid to such Participant or, in the case of his
or her death, to the person or persons entitled thereto pursuant to applicable law, within thirty (30) calendar days after such
cessation of being an Eligible Employee, without any interest thereon.

SECTION 7
GENERAL PROVISIONS

7.1    Administration.
(a)    The Plan shall be administered by the Committee, which shall be composed of members of the Board. The Committee
may delegate administrative tasks under the Plan to the Administrator to assist in the administration of the Plan, including
establishing and maintaining an individual securities account under the Plan for each Participant. Any person to whom the
duty to perform an administrative function is delegated shall act on behalf of and shall be responsible to the Committee for
such function.
(b)    It shall be the duty of the Administrator to conduct the general administration of the Plan in accordance with the
provisions of the Plan. The Administrator shall have the power, subject to, and within the limitations of, the express
provisions of the Plan:

(i) To establish Offering Periods;
(ii) To determine when and how Options shall be granted and the provisions and terms of each Offering Period (which

need not be identical);
(iii) To select Designated Subsidiaries in accordance with Section 7.2 hereof;
(iv) To develop such forms and procedures as the Administrator in its discretion deems necessary or helpful to the

orderly administration of this Plan; and
(v) To construe and interpret the Plan, the terms of any Offering Period and the terms of the Options and to adopt such

rules for the administration, interpretation, and application of the Plan as are consistent therewith and to interpret, amend or
revoke any such rules. The Administrator, in the exercise of this power, may correct any defect, omission or inconsistency in
the Plan, any Offering Period or any Option, in a manner and to the extent it shall deem necessary or expedient to make the
Plan fully effect, subject to Section 423 of the Code and the regulations promulgated thereunder.
(c)    The Administrator may adopt rules or procedures relating to the operation and administration of the Plan to
accommodate the specific requirements of local laws and procedures. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the
Administrator is specifically authorized to adopt rules and procedures regarding handling of participation elections, payroll
deductions, payment of interest, conversion of local currency, payroll tax, withholding procedures and handling of stock
certificates which vary with local requirements. In its sole discretion, the Board may at any time and from time to time
exercise any and all rights and duties of the Committee or the Administrator under the Plan.
(d)    The Committee may adopt sub-plans applicable to particular Designated Subsidiaries or locations, which sub-plans
may be designed to be outside the scope of Section 423 of the Code. The rules of such sub-plans may take precedence
over other provisions of this Plan, with the exception of Section 5.1 hereof, but unless otherwise superseded by the terms of
such sub-plan, the provisions of this Plan shall govern the operation of such sub-plan.
(e)     All expenses and liabilities incurred by the Administrator in connection with the administration of the Plan shall be
borne by the Company. The Administrator may, with the approval of the Committee, employ attorneys, consultants,
accountants, appraisers, brokers or other persons. The Committee, the Administrator, the Company and its officers and
directors shall be entitled to rely upon the advice, opinions or valuations of any such persons. All actions
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taken and all interpretations and determinations made by the Administrator in good faith shall be final and binding upon all
Participants, the Company and all other interested persons. No member of the Board, the Committee or the Administrator
shall be personally liable for any action, determination or interpretation made in good faith with respect to the Plan or the
options, and all members of the Board, the Committee and the Administrator shall be fully protected by the Company in
respect to any such action, determination, or interpretation.
(f)     All communications from an Eligible Employee to the Administrator under, or in connection with, this Plan shall be
deemed to have been filed with the Administrator when actually received in the form specified by the Administrator at the
location, or by the person, designated by the Administrator for the receipt of such communications. The Administrator, in its
sole discretion, may accept or reject communications not complying with the forms and procedures developed by the
Administrator.
(g)     In the event that payroll deductions are made or shares of Common Stock are purchased in error, the Administrator
shall take such action as the Administrator in its sole discretion deems necessary or appropriate to correct such error as
soon as practicable after the Administrator has knowledge of the error.

7 . 2    Designation of Subsidiary Corporations. The Board or the Committee shall designate from among the
Subsidiaries, as determined from time to time, the Subsidiary or Subsidiaries that shall constitute Designated Subsidiaries.
The Board or the Committee may designate a Subsidiary, or terminate the designation of a Subsidiary, without the approval
of the stockholders of the Company.

7 . 3    Reports. Individual accounts shall be maintained by the Administrator for each Participant in the Plan.
Statements of Plan Accounts shall be given by the Administrator to Participants at least annually, which statements shall set
forth the amounts of payroll deductions, the Option Price, the number of shares purchased and the remaining cash balance,
if any.

7.4    No Right to Employment. Nothing in the Plan shall be construed to give any person (including any Participant)
the right to remain in the employ of the Company, a Parent, or a Subsidiary or to affect the right of the Company, any
Parent, or any Subsidiary to terminate the employment of any person (including any Participant) at any time, with or without
cause, which right is expressly reserved.

7.5    Amendment and Termination of the Plan.
(a)     The Board or the Committee may, in its sole discretion, amend, suspend, or terminate the Plan at any time and for any
reason; provided, however, that without approval of the Company’s
stockholders given within twelve (12) months before or after action by the Board or the Committee, the Plan may not be
amended to increase the maximum number of shares of Common Stock subject to the Plan or change the designation or
class of Eligible Employees; and provided, further, that without approval of the Company’s stockholders, the Plan may not
be amended in any manner that would cause the Plan to no longer be an “employee stock purchase plan” within the
meaning of Section 423(b) of the Code.
(b)     In the event the Administrator determines that the ongoing operation of the Plan may result in unfavorable financial
accounting consequences, the Administrator may, to the extent permitted under Section 423 of the Code, in its discretion
and, to the extent necessary or desirable, modify or amend the Plan to reduce or eliminate such accounting consequence
including, but not limited to:

(i) altering the Option Price for any Offering Period including an Offering Period underway at the time of the change in
Option Price;

(ii) shortening any Offering Period so that the Offering Period ends on a new Exercise Date, including an Offering Period
underway at the time of the Administrator action; and

(iii) allocating shares of Common Stock.
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Such modifications or amendments shall not require stockholder approval or the consent of any Participant.
(c)    If the Plan is terminated, the Administrator may elect to terminate all outstanding Offering Periods either immediately or
once shares of Common Stock have been purchased on the next Exercise Date (which may, in the sole discretion of the
Administrator, be accelerated). If any Offering Period is terminated before its scheduled expiration, all amounts that have not
been used to purchase shares of Common Stock will be returned to Participants (without interest, except as otherwise
required by law) as soon as administratively practicable.

7 .6    Use of Funds; No Interest Paid. All funds received by the Company by reason of purchase of Common Stock
under the Plan shall be included in the general funds of the Company free of any trust or other restriction and may be used
for any corporate purpose to the extent permitted by applicable law. No interest shall be paid to any Participant or credited
under the Plan, except as otherwise required by law.

7.7    Term. No Option may be granted during any period of suspension of the Plan or after termination of the Plan.

7.8    Effect Upon Other Plans. The adoption of the Plan shall not affect any other compensation or incentive plans in
effect for the Company, any Parent, or any Subsidiary. Nothing in the Plan shall be construed to limit the right of the
Company, any Parent, or any Subsidiary (a) to establish any other forms of incentives or compensation for Employees of
the Company or any Parent or any Subsidiary, or (b) to grant or assume Options otherwise than under the Plan in
connection with any proper corporate purpose, including, but not by way of limitation, the grant or assumption of Options in
connection with the acquisition, by purchase, lease, merger, consolidation or otherwise, of the business, stock or assets of
any corporation, firm or association.

7 . 9    Notice of Disposition of Shares. Each Participant shall give the Company prompt written notice of any
disposition or other transfer of any shares of Common Stock, acquired pursuant to the exercise of an Option, if such
disposition or transfer is made (a) within two (2) years after the applicable Grant Date or (b) within one (1) year after the
transfer of such shares of Common Stock to such Participant upon exercise of such Option. The Company may direct that
any certificates evidencing shares acquired pursuant to the Plan refer to such requirement.

7.10    Tax Withholding. The Company or any Parent or any Subsidiary shall be entitled to require payment in cash or
deduction from other compensation payable to each Participant of any sums required by federal, state or local tax law to be
withheld with respect to any purchase of shares of Common Stock under the Plan or any sale of such shares.

7 . 1 1    Governing Law. The Plan and all rights and obligations thereunder shall be construed and enforced in
accordance with the laws of the State of Georgia.

7.12    Notices. All notices or other communications by a participant to the Company under or in connection with the
Plan shall be deemed to have been duly given when received in the form specified by the Company at the location, or by the
person, designated by the Company for the receipt thereof.

7.13    Conditions To Issuance of Shares.
(a)     Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, the Company shall not be required to issue or deliver any certificates
or make any book entries evidencing shares of Common Stock pursuant to the exercise of an Option by a Participant, unless
and until the Committee or the Administrator has determined, with advice of counsel, that the issuance of such shares of
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Common Stock is in compliance with all applicable laws, regulations of governmental authorities and, if applicable, the
requirements of any securities exchange, national market system, or automated quotation system on which the shares of
Common Stock are listed or traded. In addition to the terms and conditions provided herein, the Committee or the
Administrator may require that a Participant make such reasonable covenants, agreements, and representations as the
Committee or the Administrator, in its discretion, deems advisable in order to comply with any such laws, regulations, or
requirements.
(b)    All certificates for shares of Common Stock delivered pursuant to the Plan and all shares of Common Stock issued
pursuant to book entry procedures are subject to any stop-transfer orders and other restrictions as the Administrator deems
necessary or advisable to comply with federal, state, or foreign securities or other laws, rules and regulations and the rules
of any securities exchange, national market system, or automated quotation system on which the shares of Common Stock
are listed, quoted, or traded. The Administrator may place legends on any certificate or book entry evidencing shares of
Common Stock to reference restrictions applicable to the shares of Common Stock (including the restrictions provided in
Section 5.2 hereof).
(c)    The Administrator shall have the right to require any Participant to comply with any timing or other restrictions with
respect to the settlement, distribution or exercise of any Option, including a window-period limitation, as may be imposed in
the sole discretion of the Administrator.
(d)    Notwithstanding any other provision of the Plan, unless otherwise determined by the Administrator or required by any
applicable law, rule or regulation, the Company may, in lieu of delivering to any Participant certificates evidencing shares of
Common Stock issued in connection with any Option, record the issuance of shares of Common Stock in the books of the
Company (or, as applicable, its transfer agent or stock plan administrator).

7.14    Equal Rights and Privileges. Except with respect to sub-plans designed to be outside the scope of Section 423
of the Code, all Eligible Employees shall have equal rights and privileges under this Plan to the extent required under
Section 423 of the Code or the regulations promulgated thereunder so that this Plan qualifies as an “employee stock
purchase plan” within the meaning of Section 423 of the Code or the regulations promulgated thereunder. Any provision of
this Plan that is inconsistent with Section 423 of the Code or the regulations promulgated thereunder shall, without further
act or amendment by the Company or the Board, be reformed to comply with the equal rights and privileges requirement of
Section 423 of the Code or the regulations promulgated thereunder.

7.15    Limitation on Liability. Neither the Company nor any affiliate or anyone acting on the behalf of the Company or
an affiliate shall be responsible in whole or in part for any act done in good faith or any good faith omission to act. Without
limiting the first sentence, such entities shall not be responsible for any prices at which shares of Stock are purchased or
sold, the time at which any purchase or sale is made under this Plan, or the change in value of any class of stock of the
Company.

7 . 1 6    Plan Document Controls. In the event of any conflict between the provisions of this Plan and any other
document or communication, this Plan shall control, and the conflicting provisions of such other document or communication
shall be null and void ab initio.

7.17    Severability. In the event any provision of this Plan shall be held illegal or invalid for any reason, the illegality or
invalidity shall not affect the remaining parts of this Plan, and this Plan shall be construed and enforced as if the illegal or
invalid provision had not been included.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Plan is executed as of March 20, 2023, the date the Board approved this Plan, to be
effective as of May 3, 2023.
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THE AARON’S COMPANY, INC.
By:_/s/ C. Kelly Wall
Name: C. Kelly Wall
Title: Chief Financial Officer
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THE AARON’S COMPANY, INC. 
COMPENSATION PLAN FOR NON-EMPLOYEE DIRECTORS

Amended and Restated Effective April 1, 2023

1. Purpose and General Provisions.

1.1 Establishment of Plan. The Aaron’s Company, Inc., a Georgia corporation hereby amends and restates
this Compensation Plan for Non-Employee Directors, effective as of April 1, 2023.

1.2 Purpose. The purpose of the Plan is to attract and retain highly-qualified individuals who are not
employed by the Company or any of its subsidiaries or affiliates to serve on the Company’s Board of Directors and to
provide such directors with rewards that motivate superior oversight and protection of the Company’s business. This Plan
aligns the interests of the non-employee directors with the long-term interests of the Company’s shareholders by providing
that a significant part of such directors’ compensation is directly linked to the value of the Company’s common stock.

2. Definitions.

“Affiliate” means a corporation or other entity that, directly or through one or more intermediaries, controls, is
controlled by or is under common control with, the Company.

“Annual Retainer” means the annual fee payable by the Company to a Non-Employee Director with respect to his or
her service as a member of the Board as in effect from time to time and as indicated in the attached Appendix I.

“Audit Committee” means the Audit Committee of the Board.

“Board” means the Board of Directors of the Company, as constituted from time to time.

“Chair” means a Non-Employee Director occupying the seat of authority with respect to the Board or a Committee.

“Chair Annual Retainer” or “Chair Quarterly Retainer” means the annual or quarterly fee payable by the Company
to a Chair with respect to his or her service as a Chair as in effect from time to time and as indicated in the attached
Appendix I.

“Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as it may be amended from time to time. Any reference to a
section of the Code shall be deemed to include a reference to any regulations promulgated thereunder.

“Committee” means a standing committee of the Board.

“Committee Chair” means the Non-Employee Director serving as the Chair of a Committee.

“Common Stock” means the “Common Stock” of the Company as defined in the Equity and Incentive Plan.

“Company” means The Aaron’s Company, Inc., a Georgia corporation, including its successors and assigns.



“Compensation Committee” means the Compensation Committee of the Board.

“Effective Date” shall mean April 1, 2023.

“Equity and Incentive Plan” means The Aaron’s Company, Inc. 2020 Equity and Incentive Plan, as it may be
amended from time to time.

“Fair Market Value” means “Fair Market Value” as defined in the Equity and Incentive Plan.

“Lead Director” means a Non-Employee Director occupying the seat of authority with respect to the Board.

“Lead Director Annual Retainer” or “Lead Director Quarterly Retainer” means the annual or quarterly fee
payable by the Company to a Lead Director with respect to his or her service as a Lead Director as in effect from time to
time and as indicated in the attached Appendix I.

“Member Quarterly Retainer” means the quarterly fee payable by the Company to a member of a Committee
(including the Chair of such Committee) with respect to his or her service on such Committee as in effect from time to time
and as indicated in the attached Appendix I.

“Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee” means the Nominating and Corporate Governance
Committee of the Board.

“Non-Employee Director” means a member of the Board who is not an officer or employee of the Company or any
of its subsidiaries or Affiliates.

“Plan” means The Aaron’s Company, Inc. Compensation Plan for Non-Employee Directors, as set forth herein, as it
may be amended from time to time.

“Quarterly Payment Dates” has the meaning set forth in Section 5.2 of this Plan.

“Quarterly Retainer” means the quarterly fee payable by the Company to a Non- Employee Director with respect to
his or her service as a member of the Board as in effect from time to time and as indicated in the attached Appendix I.

“RSU” has the meaning set forth in the Equity and Incentive Plan.

“Section 409A” means Section 409A of the Code and all authoritative interpretive guidance issued thereunder.

3. Administration. This Plan shall be administered by the Compensation Committee which shall have the authority
to construe and interpret this Plan, prescribe, amend and rescind rules relating to this Plan’s administration and take any
other actions necessary or desirable for the administration of this Plan. The Compensation Committee may correct any
defect or supply any omission or reconcile any inconsistency or ambiguity in this Plan. The decisions of the Compensation
Committee shall be final and binding on all persons. All expenses of administering this Plan shall be borne by the Company.

4. Eligibility. Each Non-Employee Director shall be eligible to receive the compensation provided hereunder. For
the avoidance of doubt, directors who are also employees



of the Company or any of its subsidiaries or affiliates do not receive additional compensation for service as a director and
shall not be eligible to participate in this Plan.

5. Non-Employee Director Compensation.

5.1 Annual Retainers.

(a) Each Non-Employee Director who is elected or appointed to the Board shall receive an Annual
Retainer (or Chair Annual Retainer, or Lead Director Annual Retainer, if any) for each year of the Board term that
commences on election or appointment at such meeting. The amount of the Annual Retainer shall be determined by the
Board from time to time and be set forth in the attached Appendix I. The amount of a Chair Annual Retainer or Lead Director
Annual Retainer (if any) may be different from the Annual Retainers for other Non-Employee Directors, as determined by the
Board from time to time.

(b) Annual Retainers (including, for purposes of this Section 5.1, Chair Annual Retainers, or Lead
Director Annual Retainers, if any) shall be paid as set forth in the attached Appendix I. To the extent any Annual Retainers
are payable in shares of Common Stock of the Company (or in RSUs), the number of shares of Common Stock paid (or the
number of RSUs granted) shall be determined by dividing the dollar amount of the Annual Retainer(s) by the Fair Market
Value of a share of the Common Stock on the business day immediately preceding the payment date (or grant date),
rounded down to the nearest whole share. The vesting schedule(s) for such Annual Retainer(s) shall also be set forth in the
attached Appendix I.

5.2 Quarterly Retainers.

(a) Each Non-Employee Director who is elected or appointed to the Board at an annual meeting of
shareholders shall receive a Quarterly Retainer for each calendar quarter in which he or she serves on the Board. The
amount of the Quarterly Retainer shall be determined by the Board from time to time as set forth in the attached Appendix I.

(b) Each Non-Employee Director who is appointed as a Chair or a Lead Director shall receive a
Chair Quarterly Retainer or Lead Director Quarterly Retainer, as applicable, for each calendar quarter in which he or she
serves on the Board in such capacity. The amount of a Chair Quarterly Retainer or Lead Director Quarterly Retainer, as
applicable, may be different from the Quarterly Retainers for other Non-Employee Directors, as determined by the Board
from time to time.

(c) Each Non-Employee Director who serves as a member of a Committee (including as the Chair of
such Committee) shall receive a Member Quarterly Retainer for each calendar quarter in which he or she serves on the
Board in such capacity. The amount of a Member Quarterly Retainer may be different from the Quarterly Retainers for other
Non-Employee Directors, as determined by the Board from time to time.

(d) Except as otherwise provided herein, each Quarterly Retainer (including each Chair Quarterly
Retainer, Lead Director Quarterly Retainer and/or Member Quarterly Retainer, as applicable) shall be paid in cash, in
arrears, on the 10th business day after the end of each calendar quarter (“Quarterly Payment Dates”).

(e) Each Non-Employee Director may elect to have the Company pay all or a portion of his or her
Quarterly Retainer(s) (and any Chair Quarterly Retainer, Lead Director Quarterly Retainer and/or Member Quarterly
Retainer, as applicable), in Common Stock, in lieu of cash by submitting the form of election as set forth in the attached
Appendix II. The number of shares of Common Stock paid to each electing Non-Employee Director shall be



determined by dividing the dollar amount of the Quarterly Retainer(s) (and/or any Chair Quarterly Retainer, Lead Director
Quarterly Retainer and/or Member Quarterly Retainer, as applicable) by the Fair Market Value of a share of Common Stock
on the business day immediately preceding the Quarterly Payment Date, rounded down to the nearest whole share, and
shall be paid/issued on the same schedule as Quarterly Retainers (and any Chair Quarterly Retainer, Lead Director
Quarterly Retainer and/or Member Quarterly Retainer, as applicable) paid in cash. Any election by a Non-Employee Director
to receive or not receive his or her Quarterly Retainer(s) in Common Stock must be made prior to the quarter for which cash
payment or Common Stock issuance is desired, or as may be determined by the Compensation Committee from time to
time. Any election must comply with all rules established from time to time by the Board, including any insider trading policy
or other similar policy. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if any Non-Employee Director ceases to serve on the Board prior to
the Quarterly Payment Date for any calendar quarter, each Quarterly Retainer (and each Chair Quarterly Retainer, Lead
Director Quarterly Retainer and/or Member Quarterly Retainer, as applicable) payable to such Non-Employee Director for
such calendar quarter shall be paid in cash (regardless of any election made by such Non-Employee Director in accordance
with this Section 5.2(e)).

6. Equity Compensation. Grants of equity awards set forth in this Plan shall be made under the Equity and
Incentive Plan as in effect from time to time, subject to all of the applicable terms and conditions thereof, and only to the
extent that shares of Common Stock remain available for issuance under the Equity and Incentive Plan. This Plan does not
constitute a separate source of Common Stock for the payment of equity compensation hereunder. The terms of the Equity
and Incentive Plan are fully incorporated into this Plan with respect to any equity compensation paid hereunder. In the event
of any inconsistency between the Equity and Incentive Plan and this Plan with respect to equity compensation, the terms of
the Equity and Incentive Plan shall control. Common Stock issued pursuant to this Plan either (i) in lieu of all or a portion of a
Non-Employee Director’s Quarterly Retainer pursuant to Section 5.2(e) of this Plan or (ii) in settlement of any RSUs granted
to a Non-Employee Director that have vested as set forth in Appendix I shall be fully vested and unrestricted shares of
Common Stock.

7. Total Compensation Limit . Notwithstanding any other provisions of this Plan, in no event shall the aggregate
dollar value of: (i) all Annual Retainers; (ii) all Quarterly Retainers; and (iii) any other form of cash compensation, and/or
other grants of RSUs or other types of equity made under the Equity and Incentive Plan or otherwise, received by any Non-
Employee Director in any fiscal year of the Company exceed Seven Hundred Fifty Thousand Dollars ($750,000). For such
purposes, the value of equity and equity-based awards shall be measured as of the date of grant based on the grant date
fair value for financial reporting purposes. Reimbursement of expenses incurred by Non-Employee Directors in connection
with carrying out their duties as a Non- Employee Director of the Company shall not be included in the determination of
whether the compensation earned by any Non-Employee Director exceeds the aforementioned limit on Non- Employee
Director compensation.

8. General Provisions.

8.1 Pro-Rata Payments. A Non-Employee Director who is appointed or elected to the Board after the
annual meeting of shareholders shall receive a pro-rated portion of the Annual Retainer and Quarterly Retainer for the Board
term based on the number of complete days of the calendar year and calendar quarter during which the Non-Employee
Director serves as a member of the Board, unless otherwise determined by the Board.

8.2 No Fractional Shares of Common Stock. Notwithstanding any provision herein to the contrary, in no
case shall any fractional shares of Common Stock be issued pursuant



to this Plan. To the extent any fractional share of Common Stock would otherwise be issued pursuant to this Plan, such
fractional share shall be rounded down to the nearest whole share.

8.3 Unfunded Obligations. The amounts to be paid to Non-Employee Directors under this Plan are
unfunded obligations of the Company. The Company is not required to segregate any monies or other assets from its
general funds with respect to these obligations. Non- Employee Directors shall not have any preference or security interest
in any assets of the Company other than as a general unsecured creditor.

8.4 No Right to Continued Board Membership. Neither this Plan nor any compensation paid hereunder will
confer on any Non-Employee Director the right to continue to serve as a member of the Board or in any other capacity.

8.5 Non-Assignment. Any and all rights of a Non-Employee Director respecting payments under this Plan
may not be assigned, transferred, pledged or encumbered in any manner, other than by will or the laws of descent and
distribution, and any attempt to do so shall be void.

8.6 Successors and Assigns. This Plan shall be binding on the Company and its successors and assigns.

8.7 Entire Plan. This Plan, together with the Equity and Incentive Plan, constitutes the entire plan with
respect to the subject matter hereof and supersedes all prior plans with respect to the subject matter hereof.

8.8 Compliance with Law. The obligations of the Company with respect to payments under this Plan are
subject to compliance with all applicable laws and regulations.

8.9 Term of Plan. This Plan shall become effective on the Effective Date and will remain in effect until it is
revised or terminated by further action of the Board.

8.10 Termination and Amendment . The Board may at any time amend, modify or terminate this Plan in
whole or in part. Notwithstanding the foregoing, no amendment or termination of this Plan may impair the right of a Non-
Employee Director to receive any amounts accrued hereunder prior to the effective date of such amendment or termination.

8.11 Applicable Law. The law of the State of Georgia shall govern all questions concerning the construction,
validity and interpretation of this Plan, without regard to such state’s conflict of law rules.

8.12 Section 409A. This Plan is intended to comply with the requirements of Section 409A, to the extent
applicable, and shall be interpreted accordingly. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Company makes no representations or
covenants that any compensation paid or awarded under this Plan will comply with Section 409A.

8.13 Withholding. To the extent required by applicable Federal, state or local law, a Non-Employee Director
must make arrangements satisfactory to the Company for the payment of any withholding or similar tax obligations that arise
in connection with this Plan.

8.14 Severability. If any provision of this Plan shall for any reason be held to be invalid or unenforceable,
such invalidity or unenforceability shall not affect any other provision hereof, and this Plan shall be construed as if such
invalid or unenforceable provision were omitted.



8.15 Headings. The headings of sections herein are included solely for convenience and shall not affect the
meaning of any of the provisions of this Plan.

[Signature page follows]



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this Plan is executed as of May 3, 2023, the date the Board approved this Plan, to be
effective as of April 1, 2023.

THE AARON’S COMPANY, INC.

By:     
Name: Rachel G. George
Title: Executive Vice President, General Counsel, Corporate Secretary, and
Chief Corporate Affairs Officer
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The Aaron’s Company, Inc. Compensation Plan 
for Non-Employee Directors

As Approved by the Board, Effective April 1, 2023

Description Amount Comment

Annual Retainer - RSU $135,000

Each Annual Retainer will be in the form of
RSUs, which will be granted on the date of the
annual meeting of shareholders (the “Grant
Date”) and, unless otherwise determined by the
Board prior to the Grant Date in accordance
with the Equity and Incentive Plan, will vest in
full on the one-year anniversary of the Grant
Date. Vesting is generally subject to the Non-
Employee Director’s continued service on the
Board, but if the Non-Employee Director’s
service on the Board terminates prior to the
applicable vesting date, a pro rata portion of the
RSUs shall vest upon the date of such
termination.

Quarterly Retainer - Cash $20,000

Can make election to receive shares of fully
vested Common Stock as set forth in Section
5.2(e) of the Plan. With respect to any Non-
Employee Director who begins or ends her or
his service on the Board after the beginning but
prior to the end of a calendar quarter, the
amount of the Quarterly Retainer paid to that
Non-Employee Director for that calendar
quarter shall be the product of: (1) the full
amount of the Quarterly Retainer in effect at
that time; multiplied by: (2) a fraction, the
numerator of which shall be the number of days
during that calendar quarter that she or he
served as a Non-Employee Director, and the
denominator of which shall be the total number
of days in that calendar quarter.

 New Non-Employee Directors who join the Board on a date other than the date of the annual meeting of
shareholders will receive the full amount of the Annual Retainer (in RSUs) if they join the Board on a date that is less than
seven months after the date of the most recent annual meeting of shareholders, and such RSUs will have an effective grant
date of the date on which the Non-Employee Director joins the Board and shall vest (subject to continued Board service) on
the first anniversary of the grant date; provided that if the Non-Employee Director’s service on the Board terminates prior to
the applicable vesting date, a pro rata portion of the RSUs shall vest upon the date of such termination. The number of
RSUs granted to any new Non-Employee Director who joins the Board on a date that is seven months or more after the date
of the most recent annual meeting of shareholders will be determined by the Board in its

1

1



discretion. Non-Employee Directors who will not serve on the Board following an annual meeting of shareholders will not
receive the Annual Retainer granted on the date of such annual meeting of shareholders.



Compensation for Committee Members, Committee Chairs & Lead Director

Description Amount 
Board Chair -
Quarterly Cash Retainer $25,000
Audit Committee Member - Quarterly Cash Retainer $3,750

Audit Committee Chair - Quarterly Cash
Retainer $6,250
Compensation Committee Member - Quarterly Cash
Retainer $2,500

Compensation Committee Chair - Quarterly Cash
Retainer $5,000
Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee
Member - Quarterly Cash Retainer $1,875

Nominating and Corporate Governance Committee
Chair - Quarterly Cash Retainer $3,750
Lead Director (who also serves as a Committee Chair) –
Quarterly Cash Retainer

$6,250

Lead Director (who does not serve as a Committee
Chair) – Quarterly Cash Retainer

$10,000

     Amount is in addition to the quarterly cash retainer received by non-employee directors of $20,000 set forth
above. Can make election to receive shares of fully vested Common Stock as set forth in Section 5.2(e) of the Plan.

    Where a Non-Employee Director becomes the Chair of the Board or any Board Committee or Lead Director or a
member of a Committee, or ceases serving in such capacity, after the beginning but prior to the end of a calendar quarter,
the amount of the Chair Quarterly Retainer, Lead Director Quarterly Retainer and/or Member Quarterly Retainer (as
applicable) paid to that Non-Employee Director for that calendar quarter shall be the product of: (1) the full amount of the
Chair Quarterly Retainer, Lead Director Quarterly Retainer and/or Member Quarterly Retainer (as applicable) in effect at that
time; multiplied by: (2) a fraction, the numerator of which shall be the number of days during that calendar quarter that the
Non-Employee Director served as the Chair of the Board or such Board Committee or Lead Director or member of such
Committee (as applicable), and the denominator of which shall be the total number of days in that calendar quarter.

Appendix II

THE AARON’S COMPANY, INC. COMPENSATION PLAN
FOR NON-EMPLOYEE DIRECTORS
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Election to Receive Shares in Lieu of Cash
for quarterly retainers

To be effective for the [] term of the Board (“Board Term”), commencing January 1, [ ] and any future Board Term as
provided below.

Election to Receive Shares

Pursuant to Section 5.2(e) of The Aaron’s Company, Inc. Compensation Plan for Non-Employee Directors (the “Plan”), I
hereby elect to receive all or a portion of my Quarterly Retainers (and all or a portion of my Chair Quarterly Retainer, Lead
Director Quarterly Retainer and/or Member Quarterly Retainer, as applicable) (collectively, “ Cash Fees”) as further set forth
below in shares of the Company’s common stock (“Shares”) in lieu of cash in accordance with this election and the Plan.
Capitalized terms used but not defined herein shall have the meanings set forth in the Plan.

Quarterly Retainer Election

I hereby elect to receive ____ % of the Quarterly Retainer(s) (and any Chair Quarterly Retainer, Lead Director
Quarterly Retainer and/or Member Quarterly Retainer, as applicable) due to me on each Quarterly Payment Date in
Shares having an equivalent value determined in accordance with Section 5.2(e) of the Plan.

Type of Shares Issued

Shares issued in lieu of Cash Fees shall be fully vested and unrestricted shares of the Company’s common stock issued
pursuant to this Plan and The Aaron’s Company, Inc. 2020 Equity Incentive Plan (“ Equity and Incentive Plan”), as in effect
from time to time. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if there are not sufficient Shares available under the Equity and Incentive
Plan for any reason, the Cash Fees will be paid in cash.

Number of Shares

The number of Shares paid shall be determined by dividing the dollar amount of the Cash Fees subject to the election by
the Fair Market Value of a Share on the business day immediately preceding the payment date, rounded down to the
nearest whole Share. Pursuant to Sections 5.2(e) and 8.2 of the Plan, the Company shall not issue any fractional Shares.

Duration of Election

I understand that this election will continue in effect (including future Board terms) until I timely submit a new election form
modifying or revoking this election.

Withholding

I understand and agree that the Company may take such action as it deems necessary or appropriate to satisfy any
obligations it may have to withhold federal, state or local income or other taxes incurred by reason of payments made
pursuant to this Plan.



Acknowledgement

I acknowledge receipt of a copy of the Plan and acknowledge and agree that this election is made pursuant to the Plan and
is subject to all of the terms and conditions thereof. If my service on the Board ceases prior to the Quarterly Payment Date
for a calendar quarter, I acknowledge that the Cash Fees for such calendar quarter will be paid in cash in accordance with
Section 5.2(e) of the Plan.

I acknowledge that the Shares issued to me are also subject to the applicable terms and conditions of the Equity and
Incentive Plan as in effect from time to time and acknowledge receipt of a copy of the Equity and Incentive Plan.

Signature of Non-Employee Director:     

Printed Name:     

Date:     

RETURN COMPLETED FORM TO:

Accepted by Plan Administrator:     

Printed Name:         

Date:         
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NAME STATE OR COUNTRY OF INCORPORATION

Aaron's, LLC Georgia

Aaron Investment Company, LLC Delaware

Aaron’s Canada, ULC Canada

Aaron’s Logistics, LLC Georgia

Envizzo, LLC Georgia

Aaron’s Procurement Company, LLC Georgia

Aaron’s Strategic Services, LLC Georgia

Aaron's Business Real Estate Holdings, LLC Georgia

Aaron's US HoldCo, Inc. Georgia

Woodhaven Furniture Industries, LLC Georgia

99LTO, LLC Georgia

Retail RTO Solutions, LLC Georgia

Interbond Retail Solutions, LLC Georgia

Interbond of America, LLC Georgia

BrandsMart Service, LLC Georgia

BrandsMart U.S.A. of Georgia, LLC Georgia

BrandsMart USA of South Dade, LLC Georgia

BrandsMart U.S.A. of Clayton County, LLC Georgia

BrandsMart USA Dadeland, LLC Georgia
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Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the following Registration Statements:

1) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-250900) pertaining to The Aaron’s Company, Inc. 2020 Equity and Incentive Plan, The Aaron’s
Company, Inc. Employee Stock Purchase Plan and The Aaron’s Company, Inc. Deferred Compensation Plan

2) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-252198) pertaining to The Aaron’s 401(k) Retirement Plan,
3) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-259062) pertaining to The Aaron’s Company, Inc. Amended and Restated 2020 Equity and Incentive

Plan, and
4) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-271620) pertaining to The Aaron’s Company, Inc. Amended and Restated Employee Stock Purchase

Plan;

of our reports dated February 29, 2024, with respect to the consolidated financial statements of The Aaron’s Company, Inc. and the effectiveness of
internal control over financial reporting of The Aaron’s Company, Inc. included in this Annual Report (Form 10-K) of The Aaron’s Company, Inc. for the
year ended December 31, 2023.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

Atlanta, Georgia
February 29, 2024
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CERTIFICATION

I, Douglas A. Lindsay, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of The Aaron’s Company, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make
the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by
this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected or is reasonably
likely to materially affect the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
controls over financial reporting.

Date: February 29, 2024 /s/ Douglas A. Lindsay

Douglas A. Lindsay

Chief Executive Officer and Director 
(Principal Executive Officer)
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CERTIFICATION

I, C. Kelly Wall, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of The Aaron’s Company, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make
the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by
this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected or is reasonably
likely to materially affect the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
controls over financial reporting.

Date: February 29, 2024 /s/ C. Kelly Wall

C. Kelly Wall

Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer)
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CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED
PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Douglas A. Lindsay, Chief Executive Officer of The Aaron’s Company, Inc. (the “Company”), certify, pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 2002, 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, that:

(1) The Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Company for the annual period ended December 31, 2023 (the “Report”) fully complies with the
requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: February 29, 2024   /s/ Douglas A. Lindsay

  Douglas A. Lindsay

  

Chief Executive Officer and Director 
(Principal Executive Officer)
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CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350, AS ADOPTED
PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, C. Kelly Wall, Chief Financial Officer of The Aaron’s Company, Inc. (the “Company”), certify, pursuant to section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002, 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, that:

(1) The Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Company for the annual period ended December 31, 2023 (the “Report”) fully complies with the
requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: February 29, 2024   /s/ C. Kelly Wall

  C. Kelly Wall

Chief Financial Officer (Principal Financial Officer)
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THE AARON’S COMPANY, INC.

Incentive-Based Compensation Recoupment Policy

1.0 PURPOSE/OBJECTIVE

The Aaron’s Company, Inc. (the “Company”) is committed to promoting high standards of honest and ethical business conduct and
compliance with applicable laws, rules and regulations. As part of this commitment, the Company has adopted this Policy. This
Policy is designed to comply with Section 10D of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”) and
related rules of the New York Stock Exchange, Inc. or any other national securities exchange or national securities association on
which the Company is a listed issuer from time to time (as applicable, the “Stock Exchange”) and explains when the Company will
seek recovery of Incentive-Based Compensation awarded or paid to a Covered Employee.

Notwithstanding anything in this Policy to the contrary, at all times, this Policy remains subject to interpretation and operation in
accordance with the final rules and regulations promulgated by the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”), the final
listing standards adopted by the Stock Exchange, and any applicable SEC or Stock Exchange guidance or interpretations issued
from time to time regarding such Incentive-Based Compensation recovery requirements (collectively, the “Guidance”).

Please refer to Section 5 for the definitions of capitalized terms used throughout this Policy.

2.0 SCOPE

This Policy applies to the Company and all Covered Employees.

3.0 POLICY STATEMENT

If the Company is required to prepare a Restatement then the Company will reasonably promptly recover from Covered Employees
all Recoverable Incentive-Based Compensation Received during the Recovery Period in accordance with this Policy.

4.0 POLICY

4.1 Effectiveness

As of the Effective Date, this Policy supersedes and replaces the previous policy of the Company, which was effective
as of November 11, 2020 (the “Predecessor Policy”). This Policy will apply to any Incentive-Based Compensation that
is Received by a Covered Employee on or after the Effective Date. This Policy will survive and continue
notwithstanding any termination of a Covered Employee’s employment with the Company and its affiliates. The
Predecessor Policy will continue to apply to any Incentive-Based Compensation that is Received prior to the Effective
Date.

4.2 Administration of Policy

The Compensation Committee will have full authority to administer this Policy in accordance with the Guidance, and
will have full and exclusive authority and discretion to supplement, amend, repeal, interpret, construe, modify, replace
and/or enforce (in whole or in part) this Policy, including the authority to correct any defect, supply any omission or
reconcile any ambiguity, inconsistency or conflict in the Policy. The Compensation Committee will, subject to the
provisions of this Policy and the Guidance, make such determinations and interpretations and take such actions in
connection with this Policy as it deems necessary, appropriate or advisable. All determinations and interpretations
made by the Compensation Committee will be final, binding and conclusive, subject to the Guidance.
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4.3 Method of Recovery

Subject to applicable law, the Compensation Committee may seek recovery in the manner it chooses, including by
seeking reimbursement from the Covered Employee, by electing to withhold unpaid compensation, by set-off (to the
extent permissible under Section 409A of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code (the “Code”), or by rescinding or canceling
unvested stock, restricted stock units, options or other equity-related awards.

4.4 Impracticable Recovery

The Company is not required to recover Recoverable Incentive-Based Compensation to the extent that the
Compensation Committee determines it Impracticable to do so in compliance with this Policy and the Guidance.

4.5 No Additional Payments Required

This Policy does not require the Company to award a Covered Employee an additional payment if the restated or
accurate financial results would have resulted in higher Incentive-Based Compensation.

4.6 Other Actions

In the reasonable exercise of its business judgment under this Policy, the Compensation Committee may determine
whether and to what extent additional action is appropriate to address the circumstances surrounding a Restatement
to minimize the likelihood of any recurrence and to impose such other discipline as it deems appropriate.

4.7 Other Claims and Rights

The remedies under this Policy are in addition to, and not in lieu of, any legal and equitable claims the Company or
any of its affiliates may have or any actions that may be imposed by law enforcement agencies, regulators,
administrative bodies, or other authorities.

The exercise by the Company of any rights pursuant to this Policy will not impact any other rights or remedies that the
Company or any of its affiliates may have with respect to any Covered Employee, including, but not limited to,
termination of employment or institution of civil or criminal proceedings.

4.8 No Indemnification, Reimbursement or Insurance

Notwithstanding the terms of any other policy, program, agreement or arrangement, neither the Company nor any of
its affiliates will (i) indemnify or reimburse a Covered Employee for the loss of any Incentive-Based Compensation
under this Policy, or (ii) pay premiums on any insurance policy that would cover a Covered Employee’s potential
obligations under this Policy.

4.9 Successors

This Policy will be binding and enforceable against all Covered Employees and their successors, beneficiaries, heirs,
executors, administrators, or other legal representatives.

4.10 Amendment; Termination

The Board may amend or terminate this Policy at any time and shall amend this Policy to the extent deemed
necessary or appropriate to reflect any regulations adopted by the Securities and Exchange Commission under
Section 10D(b)(2) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, any rules or standards applicable to the Company adopted
by the
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Stock Exchange, any related guidance from a governmental agency which has jurisdiction over the administration of
such provision, any judicial interpretation of such provision and any changes in applicable law.

4.11 Governing Law

To the extent not preempted by U.S. federal law, this Policy will be governed by and construed in accordance with the
laws of the State of Georgia, without reference to principles of conflict of laws.

5.0 DEFINITIONS

For purposes of this policy,

5.1 “Applicable Period” means the three completed fiscal years of the Company immediately preceding the earlier of:
i. the date the Board, a committee of the Board, or the officer or officers of the Company authorized to take such

action if Board action is not required, concludes (or reasonably should have concluded) that a Restatement is
required; or

ii. the date a regulator, court or other legally authorized entity directs the Company to undertake a Restatement.

The “Applicable Period” also includes any transition period (that results from a change in the Company’s fiscal year) within or
immediately following the three completed fiscal years identified in the preceding sentence (provided, however, that if a
transition period between the last day of the Company’s previous fiscal year and the first day of its new fiscal year comprises
a period of nine to 12 months, such period would be deemed to be a completed fiscal year).

5.2 “Board” means the Board of Directors of the Company.

5.3 “Compensation Committee” means the Company’s committee of independent directors responsible for executive
compensation decisions, or in the absence of such a committee, a majority of the independent directors serving on the
Board.

5.4 “Covered Employees” means current and former officers of the Company for purposes of Section 16 of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as determined by the Board or the Compensation Committee. Covered Employees
include, at a minimum, “executive officers” as defined in Rule 3b-7 under the Exchange Act and identified under Item
401(b) of Regulation S-K.

5.5 “Effective Date” means October 2, 2023.

5.6 “Financial Performance Measure” means a measure that is determined and presented in accordance with the
accounting principles used in preparing the Company’s financial statements (including “non-GAAP” financial
measures, such as those appearing in the Company’s earnings releases or Management Discussion and Analysis),
and any measure that is derived wholly or in part from such measure.

Financial Performance Measures also include stock price and total shareholder return.

5.7 “Impracticable.” Recovery of Recoverable Incentive-Based Compensation is “Impracticable” only if the
Compensation Committee has determined in good faith that:

5.2.1 the direct expense paid to a third party to assist in enforcing this Policy would exceed the Recoverable
Incentive-Based Compensation and the Company has
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(A) made a reasonable attempt to recover such amounts and (B) provided documentation of such attempts to
recover to the Stock Exchange;

5.2.2 recovery would likely cause an otherwise tax-qualified retirement plan, under which benefits are broadly
available to employees of the Company, to fail to meet the requirements of Section 401(a)(13) or Section
411(a) of the Code and regulations thereunder; or

5.2.3 recovery would violate home country law that was adopted prior to November 28, 2022 and the Company has
obtained a supporting legal opinion of home country counsel to that effect that is delivered and acceptable to
the Stock Exchange.

5.8 “Incentive-Based Compensation” means any compensation that is granted, earned, or vested based wholly or in
part upon the attainment of a Financial Performance Measure.

5.9 “Received.” Incentive-Based Compensation is “Received” by a Covered Employee in the Company’s fiscal period
during which the Financial Performance Measure specified in the Incentive-Based Compensation award is attained,
even if the payment or grant of the Incentive-Based Compensation occurs after the end of that period.

5.10 “Recoverable Incentive-Based Compensation” means the amount of any Incentive-Based Compensation
(calculated on a pre-tax basis) Received by a Covered Employee during the Applicable Period that is in excess of the
amount that the Covered Employee otherwise would have Received if the calculation were based on the Restatement.

For Incentive-Based Compensation based on stock price or total shareholder return, “Recoverable Incentive-Based
Compensation” means the amount determined by the Compensation Committee based on a reasonable estimate of
the effect of the Restatement on the stock price or total shareholder return upon which the Incentive-Based
Compensation was Received (in which case, the Company will maintain documentation of such determination of that
reasonable estimate and provide such documentation to the Stock Exchange).

Recoverable Incentive-Based Compensation does not include any Incentive-Based Compensation Received by a
person:

(i) before such person began service in a position or capacity meeting the definition of a Covered
Employee,

(ii) was not a Covered Employee at any time during the performance period for that Incentive-Based
Compensation, or

(iii) during any period when the Company did not have a class of its securities listed on a national securities
exchange or a national securities association.

For purposes of clarity, Recoverable Incentive-Based Compensation may include Incentive-Based Compensation
Received by a person while serving as an employee if such person previously served as a Covered Employee at any
time during the performance period for the Incentive-Based Compensation and then transitioned to a non-Covered
Employee role.

5.11 “Restatement” means an accounting restatement of any of the Company’s financial statements filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission under the Exchange Act, or the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, due to the
Company’s material noncompliance with any financial reporting requirement under U.S. securities laws, regardless of
whether Company or Covered Employee misconduct was the cause for such restatement.
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“Restatement” includes any required accounting restatement to correct an error in previously issued financial
statements that is material to the previously issued financial statements (commonly referred to as “Big R”
restatements), or that would result in a material misstatement if the error were corrected in the current period or left
uncorrected in the current period (commonly referred to as “little r” restatements).

6.0 COMPLIANCE AND REPORTING

6.1    Acknowledgement by Covered Employees

The Company will provide notice to and seek acknowledgement of this Policy from each Covered Employee.

6.2    Condition to Eligibility for Incentive-Based Compensation

After the Effective Date, the Company must be in receipt of a Covered Employee's acknowledgement as a condition to such
Covered Employee’s eligibility to receive Incentive-Based Compensation.
The failure to provide such notice to or obtain an acknowledgement from any Covered Employee will have no impact on the
applicability or enforceability of this Policy.

6.3    Incorporation into Awards

The terms of this policy will be deemed to be expressly incorporated into the terms of any award for Incentive-Based
Compensation that will be covered by this Policy.

7.0 REVIEW CYCLE

The Policy Owner will review this Policy no less frequently than 12 months following its initial adoption or most recent revision.
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